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“I would like to thank and praise the entire 
BICE team, our suppliers and our strategic 
partners. Their dedication has been 
particularly important in an especially 
adverse environment after two years of 
the pandemic, preceded by Chile’s social 
unrest.”

Letter from
the Chairman Bernardo Matte L.

Chairman of the Board
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16.3%
Banco BICE’s return
on equity

Dear Shareholders:
It is with great pride and satisfaction that 
I present you with the annual report and 
consolidated financial statements of Banco 
BICE and its subsidiaries for 2021. I invite you 
to review our results, together with relevant 
facts regarding the prevailing economic and 
financial environment this year. 

Strong expansion was the highlight of 2021, 
with GDP growth of 12.0%, led by private 
consumption based on monetary and fiscal 
stimuli, including pension fund withdrawals, 
fiscal transfer programs to households and 
liquidity facilities provided by the Chilean 
Central Bank. This growth was also influenced 
by record copper prices, closing the year at 
US$4.46/lb., among its highest levels ever. The 
momentum within domestic demand has 
exacerbated cost and price pressures, and 
generated inflationary pressures that resulted 
in a 7.2% increase in the CPI for the year, 
leading the Chilean Central Bank to gradually 

Letter from
the Chairman

banking institutions, Banco BICE chose to 
resort to foreign capital markets in order to 
complement and diversify its source of funds, 
beginning with the issuance of a CHF110 million 
5-year bond in Switzerland during October 
this year. 

Regarding our results, Banco BICE achieved 
record consolidated net Income in 2021 
of Ch$105,131 million, which represents a 
41% increase over the previous year and 
is consistent with overall banking industry 
growth. This is equivalent to a return on equity 
of 16.3% for the Bank, which is ahead of the 
industry with 15.4%.

The Bank’s operating income reached 
Ch$308,170 million in 2021, an increase of 
30% compared to 2020, which exceeds 
the industry growth of 22%. Meanwhile, the 
banking industry’s loans recorded real growth 
of 10.9%. On its part, risk indicators moderated 

withdraw its expansionary monetary stimuli 
and raise the monetary policy rate from 0.5% 
in 2020 to 4.0% in 2021.

Despite increasing economic dynamism 
in Chile, the financial markets continued 
to experience volatility in response to the 
uncertainties caused by the persistence of the 
coronavirus pandemic and the appearance 
of new variants worldwide, specific events in 
significant economies such as China and the 
political-economic conditions in Chile. The 
main effect on the local capital market has 
been a huge reduction in liquidity and depth 
in the debt markets, particularly over the 
medium and long-term. This was caused by 
the growing expectation of disruption to the 
pension fund industry, which is the principal 
source of financing for all local industries and 
specifically for banks.

In this context, similarly to several other 
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“Banco BICE achieved record consolidated net Income 
in 2021 of Ch$ 105,131 million, which represents a 41% 
increase over the previous year and is consistent with 
overall banking industry growth”.

compared to their increases in previous years. 
Thus, the banking sector closed 2021 with a 
significant decrease in provision expenses of 
29% compared to 2020. 

Banco BICE’s risk ratio over total loans 
increased slightly to 1.67%, which was 
much lower than the average for the 
financial sector, while maintaining its total 
provisions on 2.58% of total loans, and 
ending the year with a risk coverage ratio 
to non-performing loans of 3.88, which 
was the highest in the sector, where the 

Bernardo Matte L.

Chairman of the Board

average coverage ratio was 2.86 times.

As for the Bank and its subsidiaries’ 
management efforts, I cannot fail to mention 
the growth in the corporate customer base 
and the retail market, the profits contributed 
by the subsidiaries and the Bank’s favorable 
rating by its own customers, who recognized 
it once again as among the best in service 
quality among banks operating in Chile.

On behalf of the Board of Directors of Banco 
BICE which I chair, I would like to close by 

thanking our customers for their preference 
and loyalty. I would also like to thank and praise 
the entire BICE team, our suppliers and our 
strategic partners. Their dedication has been 
particularly important in an especially adverse 
environment after two years of the pandemic, 
preceded by Chile’s social unrest. They have 
maintained the Bank’s operational continuity 
and continue to achieve steady progress with 
our digital and cultural transformation.

Yours sincerely,
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Board of
Directors

A

new

BICE
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1. Bernardo Matte L.
Chairman of the Board
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Director

2. Juan Eduardo Correa G.
Vicepresidente

8. René Lehuedé F.
Director

6. José Miguel Irarrázaval E.
Director

3. Kathleen C. Barclay
Director

9. Rodrigo Donoso M.
Director
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Economic and
Financial Outlook

supplies. Labor shortages, business closures, 
rising energy and raw material prices, and 
shortages of some essential goods are 
holding back growth and exacerbating cost 
pressures. Inflation has risen sharply in some 
regions, even from the beginning of this 
recovery phase. Production in most OECD 
countries has already exceeded levels at 
the end of 2019 and is gradually returning to 
expected pre-pandemic levels. Accordingly, 
the world economy is expected to grow by 
5.6% in 2021. 

As a result, copper price reached a record 
value of US$4.86 per pound at the beginning 
of May and an average of US$4.25 for the 
year, an increase of 52% compared to 2020. 
The price of oil has also increased, averaging 
US$68 per barrel for Brent, compared to 
US$39 in 2020. These increases, together with 
higher freight prices, have increased the cost 
pressures faced by companies worldwide. In 
fact, the cost of maritime freight has tripled, 

markets. Circumstances have not been 
the same for all economies, with significant 
delays in countries that have faced difficulties 
controlling the pandemic, where there is no 
significant short-term vaccination plan, where 
political power is limited or where internal 
tensions have risen. The evolution of external 
conditions was closely linked to progress with 
vaccinations and the reopening of developed 
economies, which has resulted in consumer 
and business confidence rebounding and 
strengthening, along with economic activity 
in sectors lagging behind.

Although global economy continues to 
recover from the impact of the pandemic, 
data for the last few months of 2021 have 
reflected weaker-than-expected dynamism, 
particularly third quarter activity was weaker 
than forecast for main economies. Despite 
variability in control over the pandemic, 
demand has remained dynamic, while 
shortages are increasingly appearing in 

At the beginning of 2021, both local and 
international economic conditions were still 
being affected by people’s mobility due to 
the pandemic. However, the global economy 
was recovering from the shock caused by 
the pandemic, while mobility had increased 
and the fight against the disease continued. 
Economic activity, employment and revenue 
figures exceeded expectations in a significant 
number of countries, although there continued 
to be large differences between sectors, with 
the trade in goods contrasting with services. 
China led the recovery with several indicators 
already matching or exceeding their pre-
pandemic levels. 

Global financial markets picked up on this 
panorama and encouraged increased risk-
taking, so stock market values and asset prices 
generally rose. Thus, financial conditions 
remained favorable, particularly due to stable 
long-term rates, lower corporate spreads and 
risk premiums, and capital inflows to emerging 
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Over the course of the year, the Chilean economy 
performed better than expected, as the impact of 
quarantine on economic activity was significantly less 
than anticipated.

fixed capital formation grew slightly during the 
first quarter, then expanded by over 20% in the 
second quarter, close to 30% in the third quarter, 
and just below 20% in the fourth quarter. 

However, this recovery in domestic demand 
has been followed by a sharp deterioration 
in local financial conditions, which is largely 
explained by the impact of massive pension 
funds withdrawals and the persistence of 
political-legislative uncertainty. In fact, the 
increase in long-term interest rates was 
double the increase in similar economies. 
The 10-year Chilean peso bond yield (BTP-10) 
has risen by around 300 basis points during 
2021 from 2.65% to 5.75% with a high degree 
of volatility, and the 10-year UF bond yield 
(BTU-10) by around 250 basis points from 
-0.25% to 2.25%. This was mainly explained by 
a higher perception of risk, according to the 
Chilean Central Bank. This increase in long-
term rates has resulted in a loss of value in 
the most conservative funds of the pension 

year, the Chilean economy performed better 
than expected, as the impact of quarantine on 
economic activity was significantly less than 
anticipated. In fact, although activity declined 
during March and April, the consequences of 
increased health restrictions fell to about one-
fifth of their impact from the beginning of the 
pandemic. Several factors have contributed 
to this result: Greater business adaptation to 
the demands of social distancing; favorable 
financial conditions; less restrictions under the 
government’s Step by Step plan; and the surge 
in demand as a result of the government’s 
support measures. In the latter, withdrawals of 
savings from pension funds and massive fiscal 
transfers have been a significant stimulus to 
private consumption, which has driven the 
economic upswing. Private consumption 
grew by over 5% in the first quarter, 35% in the 
second quarter, 27% in the third quarter, and is 
estimated to be close to 15% in the last quarter 
of the year, with increased spending on durable 
goods forming a strong component. Gross 

while the prices of other consumables and 
commodities, such as construction materials, 
food and agricultural products, have also 
risen significantly. Not surprisingly, inflation has 
continued to rise worldwide, both in developed 
and emerging economies, which has altered 
the transitory perception of the inflationary 
phenomenon. There have been significant 
surprises in the data for the last months of 
the year in several developed countries, and 
annual inflation has reached levels not seen 
for more than a decade in some of them. 
This trend has also appeared in emerging 
countries, especially in Latin America. The 
climbing inflation has been uneven across 
countries, and it has been higher in economies 
with significant stimulus policies.

Chilean Economy
The domestic economic outlook for 2021 
began with some pessimism due to the 
pandemic. However, over the course of the 
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gradually closing the output gap, and help 
to ensure that recent inflationary dynamics 
do not have a persistent impact on the price 
formation process. 

Finally, the Chilean economy experienced GDP 
growth of 12% in 2021, with inflation closing 
the year at 7.2%, well above the middle of the 
Chilean Central Bank’s target range. The US 
dollar exchange rate rose 20% during the year, 
closing at Ch$847, despite a drop of almost 
3% at the beginning of May, when it reached 
close to Ch$690. Subsequently, it climbed 
continuously and was impacted by uncertainty 
regarding changes to be introduced by 
the Constitutional Convention, which has a 
predominately socialist orientation.

2022 Outlook
Global recovery is continuing, according to 
the latest OECD Economic Outlook, but its 
momentum has slowed and imbalances 

been reinforced by other global phenomena 
already described, such as the increase in 
world demand, disruptions in the international 
supply chains due to the pandemic, and rising 
commodity prices. Higher inflation has lingered 
sufficiently long to risk provoking second-
round effects in contract indexation and 
wage increases. The challenge of containing 
inflationary pressures has led the Chilean 
Central Bank to withdraw domestic demand 
stimulus measures applied during the crisis. 
After keeping the Monetary Policy Rate at its 
technical minimum of 0.5% during the first half 
of 2021, the second half began with limited 
increases, which became more significant as 
the semester progressed, reaching 4.0% by the 
end of the year, with expectations that these 
hikes would continue in 2022. Therefore, public 
spending should be amended to match the 
approved budget for 2022, which would initiate 
a convergence towards sustainable medium-
term levels of debt. These amendments to 
fiscal and monetary plans will contribute to 

funds, continued mutual fund redemptions 
and the cost of mortgages and other long-
term financing instruments rising. Short-term 
rates have also significantly increased in 
recent months, linked to changes in monetary 
policy. Accordingly, the preference for foreign 
currency assets has increased, with a greater 
demand for deposits and checking accounts 
in US dollars and for financial instruments 
invested abroad, and this phenomenon 
has appeared across the board. Therefore, 
despite the high copper price and the higher 
interest rate differential, the Chilean peso has 
depreciated significantly by almost 18% during 
2021, and the US dollar exchange rate is well 
above its average for the last two decades.

The extraordinary expansion in domestic 
demand, coupled with Chilean peso 
depreciation caused by idiosyncratic factors, 
has gradually increased inflation throughout 
the year from 3% at the end of 2020, to 7.2% 
at the end of 2021. These characteristics have 

12.0%
GDP growth
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The Chilean economy experienced GDP growth of 12% 
in 2021, with inflation of 7.2% at year end.

is a deterioration in health conditions 
caused by COVID-19. This could lead to new 
restrictions that could jeopardize recovery, 
and clarify that an urgent priority must 
be securing better access to vaccines 
for less developed countries. Faster, well-
coordinated vaccine deployment around 
the world is not only essential to reduce 
mortality and prevent new variants from 
emerging, but would also help address 
some of the difficulties that are impeding 
recovery, such as allowing factories, ports 
and borders to fully reopen.

Global recovery would also be affected if 
there is a sharp slowdown in the Chinese 
economy, triggered by a weak real estate 
market concerned about the financial health 
of some of its largest real estate developers. 
The impact of this potential slowdown would 
quickly spread to other countries, especially 
if it brought uncertainty to global financial 
markets and aggravated supply issues.

are appearing. The failure to ensure a rapid 
and effective vaccination program in every 
country is proving costly, and a high degree 
of uncertainty remains as new variants of the 
virus continue to emerge. However, global 
economic growth is expected to remain high 
during 2022 and reach 4.5%, before returning 
to pre-pandemic levels of around 3.2% in 2023. 

Meanwhile, inflationary pressures are proving 
stronger and more persistent than initially 
anticipated, with consumer price inflation in 
OECD countries expected to begin to ease in 
2022, before moderating as key obstacles are 
resolved, capacity expands, people rejoin the 
labor force and demand rebalances.

The OECD stresses that the risk of continued 
supply-side shocks associated with new 
waves of COVID-19 infections could lead to 
more prolonged and intense inflationary 
pressure. The emergence of the Omicron 
variant has exposed another risk, which 
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The Chilean Economy in 2022
Macroeconomic conditions continue to be 
show grater uncertainty than usual, with 
forecasts highly linked on how the pandemic 
evolves and its effects on income for 
companies and individuals, together with 
political uncertainty caused by the arrival 
of a left-wing government. Furthermore, 
inflationary pressures have already had a 
visible effect on the finances of households 
and companies. 

Containing inflationary pressures will require 
withdrawing the domestic demand stimulus 
measures introduced during the crisis. This 
requires continuing to increase the Monetary 
Policy Rate over the short-term, as already 
announced by the monetary authority, and 
positioning it above its nominal neutral value 
for most of the monetary policy horizon, which 
is consistent with the 3% inflation target. Market 
expectations are for the Monetary Policy 
Rate to exceed 6.0% by mid-year, returning 

to around 4.0% by the end of 2024. However, 
public spending should be amended to match 
the approved budget for 2022, which would 
initiate a convergence towards sustainable 
medium-term levels of debt.

This must be achieved while there is persistent 
uncertainty and significant deterioration in 
the local capital market, which has triggered 
significant increases in long-term interest 
rates and reduced the appetite for Chilean 
financial assets. Households and the non-
financial corporate sector experienced 
significant capital outflows and increased 
their preference for US dollar-denominated 
assets. External financial conditions are also 
subject to deterioration risks, as the principal 
economies respond to increases in inflation.

These characteristics all result in an expectation 
that the expansion of the domestic economy 
will significantly reduce during 2022 and 2023, 
which is consistent with the expected change 

Furthermore, there is concern about how 
fast pandemic-related public sector 
support will be withdrawn. Fiscal and 
monetary authorities must provide clear 
policy guidance, in order to maintain 
market confidence and public support. 
The magnitude of these stimuli in the 
principal global economies and in Chile 
has contributed to short-term economic 
recovery, and both credit suppliers and 
users remain resilient, with ample available 
liquidity in a particularly challenging context.

The OECD forecasts global growth of 4.5% 
for 2022, supported by forecast growth 
of 5.1% in China (8.1% in 2021), 3.7% in the 
United States (5.6% in 2021), 4.3% in the Euro 
Zone (5.2% in 2021) and 4.7% in the United 
Kingdom (6.9% in 2021). A greater slowdown 
is expected in Latin America, with growth in 
Brazil of 5.0% in 2021 falling to 1.4% in 2022, 
similarly in Mexico from 5.9% to 3.3% and in 
Argentina from 8.0% to 2.5%. 
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The Chilean Central Bank forecasts that the economy 
will grow between 1.5% and 2.5% in 2022, and between 
0.0% and 1.0% in 2023.

in macroeconomic momentum and closing 
the output gap. Therefore, the Chilean Central 
Bank forecasts that the economy will grow 
between 1.5% and 2.5% in 2022, and between 
0.0% and 1.0% in 2023. This forecast is based on 
a contraction in private consumption, due to 
the suppression of direct fiscal transfers and 
no further liquidity from withdrawing pension 
savings. This is all coupled with tighter financial 
conditions and monetary policy measures. 

Gross fixed capital formation is also expected 
to be weak over the next two years. This 
behavior will be fundamentally driven by 
tighter financial conditions, as a result of 
structural changes in the local capital market 
and persistent uncertainty. Its behavior will 
largely depend on how and when the solution 
to pension savings is approached. The main 
risk to local financial stability will derive from 

for the last 15 to 20 years by the end of the 
forecast horizon, according to the monetary 
authority. Whether this exchange rate will return 
to its historical levels will be limited by changes 
in national savings over the last two years, 
despite the fact that terms of trade are expected 
to remain high. Copper price forecasts expect 
no major changes, anticipating it will remain 
above US$ 4/pound during 2022, while the oil 
price could continue to rise. 

Although the economic recovery has been 
faster than expected, Chile continues to 
experience uncertainties that make it difficult 
to fully recover from the pandemic and 
reach a new equilibrium. It needs to adapt to 
the structural changes of recent years, and 
those that may be introduced by the political 
authorities that will take office in March 2022, in 
addition to the ongoing constitutional process.

further forced asset liquidations that continue 
to erode resource intermediation and the 
subsequent rise in uncertainty. The monetary 
authority currently estimates a reduction 
of close to 2% in 2022, and then a marginal 
increase in 2023. Public investment and the 
momentum of large projects would not offset 
the impact of local uncertainty and high long-
term interest rates on other components 
of private investment within these Chilean 
Central Bank forecasts. Long-term interest 
rate increases, local currency depreciation 
and stock market contractions have been 
at the extremes of international movements. 
This raises the likelihood of further credit 
contractions, which would adversely affect 
highly leveraged sectors.

Another significant factor is the US dollar 
exchange rate, which will be above its average 
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Banco BICE
in Figures

MM$ 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

INCOME STATEMENT:

Net Operating Revenues 177,290 193,330 198,542 214,377 229,240 271,313

Operating Expenses -94,064 -102,155 -112,487 -119,914 -135,787 -144,413

Operating Income 83,226 91,175 86,055 94,463 93,453 126,900

Consolidated Annual Net Income 67,678 71,222 67,040 69,144 74,641 105,140

BALANCE SHEET:

Loans and Accounts Receivable from Clients 4,299,167 4,722,675 5,443,369 6,148,215 6,136,019 6,943,725

Securities Held for Trading 557,828 646,140 407,754 607,592 435,693 528,967

Total Assets 5,815,487 6,620,435 7,404,573 8,593,893 9,140,598 9,992,452

Demand Deposits and Other Demand Liabilities 899,275 997,111 1,104,005 1,380,960 2,077,200 2,585,727

Time Deposits and Other Time Liabilities 2,900,227 3,032,261 3,356,752 4,052,414 3,077,829 2,698,687

Debt Securities Issued 1,040,991 1,328,284 1,544,247 1,652,842 1,828,900 1,970,812

Equity 455,763 505,349 552,494 601,111 656,581 646,694

Profit Reinvestment Ratio 70% 70% 70% 70% 70% 70%

Local Credit Rating (Fitch, Feller) AA AA AA AA AA AA

International Credit Rating (Fitch, S&P) BBB+ BBB+ BBB+ BBB+ BBB+ BBB+
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Banco BICE
in Figures

MAIN ANNUALIZED RATIOS:

Return on Equity 14.8% 14.1% 12.1% 11.5% 11.4% 16.3%

Return on Assets 1.2% 1.1% 0.9% 0.8% 0.8% 1.1%

Adequacy ratio 14.0% 13.6% 13.3% 12.6% 13.7% 13.4%

Risk Ratio 1.06% 0.96% 1.05% 1.11% 1.41% 1.45%

Past Due Loans over Total Loans 0.15% 0.25% 0.26% 0.34% 0.41% 0.67%

Total Provisions over Past Due Loans 13.76 7.64 7.25 6.08 6.02 3.85

OTHER INFORMATION:

N° of Current Accounts 86,827 93,726 100,091 106,651 112,769 101,625

N° of Sight Accounts 55,783 52,860 54,892 55,893 66,780 84,097

N° of Time Deposits 24,440 23,809 25,249 25,141 27,349 27,961

N° of Credit Cards 46,510 49,892 53,050 54,909 55,751 55,925

N° of Mutual Fund Holders 42,295 44,421 46,960 47,940 53,078 65,319

N° of Employees 1,336 1,374 1,381 1,426 1,534 1,527

N° of Branches 27 28 26 26 24 23

Funds managed by BICE Inversiones Administradora General de Fondos S.A. 2,116,781 2,430,751 2,524,894 2,890,497 3,262,802 3,413,786

BICE Inversiones total shares in custody 534,051 944,981 1,153,958 1,350,051 1,125,576 1,272,786

MM$ 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
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CEO’s
General Review Alberto Schilling R.

CEO

“BICE has unveiled a new corporate purpose, which 
will solidify its culture and sense of belonging, and 
unify its long-term vision around the following 
maxim: “We enhance your wellbeing by creating a 
unique financial experience with a human touch.”
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CEO’s
General Review

During 2021, there were several drivers 
of uncertainty and volatility in local and 
international markets, mainly due to the 
coronavirus pandemic and its variants. In 
Chile, these included an environment of 
political and social unrest that began at the 
end of 2019, which also resulted in a prevailing 
electoral agenda including the election and 
appointment of the Constituent Convention 
and municipal, regional, congressional and 
presidential elections. This uncertainty was 
reflected in reduced liquidity in fixed income 
markets and highly fluctuating exchange 
rates during the year, resulting in the US dollar 
exchange rate closing at 850.25.

Furthermore, this year saw the most 
noticeable effects of the monetary and fiscal 
stimuli introduced by authorities to mitigate 
the effects of health restrictions on the 
economy. GDP growth for 2021 is forecast to 
be around 11% compared to 2020. Although 
this dynamism has restored growth, it has also 

and iv) healthy organic growth in loans. This 
effects were able to offset higher loan portfolio 
provisions and increased support expenses.

During 2021, Banco BICE adopted the capital 
and risk management standards established 
by the Basel III principles, which required 
implementing new governance models and 
resources. Our indicators were also modified 
to comply with those standards, so by the end 
of the year risk-weighted assets, which took 
account of credit, market and operational risk, 
reached Ch$6,815,626 million with core capital 
of Ch$646,697 million and regulatory capital 
of Ch$914,151 million. Accordingly, the Bank 
closed the year with sufficient solvency, as its 
CET 1 ratio was 9.5% and its total capitalization 
ratio was 13.4%.

The previous five-year planning period came 
to an end at 2021 closing. Its main features 
included improving our value offerings to 
customers, a large increase in the number 

led the Chilean Central Bank to hike interest 
rates towards the end of the year by raising 
the Monetary Policy Rate from 0.5% to 4.0% 
in order to avoid overheating the economy, 
given that accumulated inflation for the year 
soared well above its target range to 7.2%.

Nevertheless, the Bank’s operating 
environment was relatively normal and 
it adapted to a significant percentage of 
employees working remotely, which remained 
above 50% for almost the entire year, due to 
the health and capacity restrictions imposed 
during the pandemic.

Despite this changing and uncertain setting, 
Banco BICE achieved record net Income of 
Ch$105,131 million, an increase of 41% over its 
net Income for 2020, resulting in a ROE of 16.3%. 
These results were driven by i) better credit 
spreads, ii) lower cost of funds as this was 
sourced from the Chilean Central Bank, iii) 
higher UF gap results due to higher inflation 
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We prepared a strategic plan for 2022-2024 during 
2021, with the support of the global consulting firm The 
Boston Consulting Group. Together we defined the 
complementary emphases to Banco BICE’s core business.

of customers, excellent risk management 
that gives us industry leadership and steady 
progress with digital transformation. These 
were complemented by our business results 
and the relocation to a new head office that 
began during the fourth quarter. This involved 
over 40% of employees and triggered 
significant changes in the Bank’s systems, 
which included improving the Bank’s public 
website, implementing a new ERP with SAP and 
a new Money Desk core system with Calypso. 

Meanwhile, we prepared a strategic plan 
for 2022-2024 during 2021, with the support 
of the global consulting firm The Boston 
Consulting Group. Together we defined the 
complementary emphases to Banco BICE’s 
core business, which aims to increase the 
transactionality and reciprocity of customers, 
serve a greater number of customers in 
similar but new segments and build new 
capabilities with disruptive businesses. As a 
result, we expect significant business growth 

40.9%
Increase in net income

situation and becoming a market benchmark 
in terms of service quality and customer 
experience.

The SME Division, known for providing 
personalized, high-quality, simple and agile 
service to our customers, in 2021 continued 
to modernize Its customer service channels, 
automated processes and provided 
completely digital products and services. 
These initiatives took on particular importance 
and priority, while focusing on delving into the 
SME segments.

The Retail Banking Division continued to 
improve its value offering to customers 
during the year and complemented its 
products with new features, standing out 
the new Dividendo Reducido BICE mortgage 
loan, which allows certain customers 
to reduce their monthly repayments by 
deferring a significant proportion of the 
loan principal to the final installment. 

in terms of loan volumes, AUM and demand 
deposits. Coincidentally, BICE has unveiled a 
new corporate purpose, which will solidify its 
culture and sense of belonging, and unify its 
long-term vision around the following maxim: 
“We enhance your wellbeing by creating a 
unique financial experience with a human 
touch.” Thus, both elements will guide us, 
define our services and products, shape the 
relationship with our customers and society, 
and the cultural attitudes within the company, 
while also promoting BICE as a powerful 
employer brand in touch with its environment, 
with an inspiring, well-articulated and 
executed purpose. 

Regarding our business areas, during 2021, 
the Wholesale Banking Division continued 
its transformation process, placing special 
Importance keeping our customers at the 
center of our daily duties, developing new 
and innovative products that meet the 
requirements triggered by the economic 
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Additionally, we introduced agile and simple 
digital onboarding in order to attract a 
large number of individual customers, and 
we achieved significant growth in consumer 
loans, following a campaign focused on 
customers with potentially high value for 
Banco BICE.

As for BICE Inversiones, the Bank’s Asset 
Management Division, it was able to capture 
new customers and third-party assets 
under management, responding to their 
investment and diversification requirements. 
This division, which provides specialist 
services covering mutual and investment 
fund management, securities brokerage 
and portfolio management, reached, during 
2021, an average amount managed in 
third-party assets of over Ch$10,251 billion 
(US$12,103 million). In addition, it focused its 
efforts on adapting its commercial strategy, 
to attract and promote customers through 
digital channels in its different segments: 

1.45%
Risk ratio

The Distribution Desk continued to focus on 
increasing the sales of treasury products to 
our customers.

Likewise, it continued to generate profits by 
taking mismatches in the balance sheet, taking 
positions and trading in interest rates and 
exchange rates. Despite the worldwide mobility 
restrictions imposed by the pandemic, the 
International Area maintained close links with 
correspondent banks and other multilateral 
organizations, in order to ensure that excellent 
services are provided to customers dealing with 
foreign counterparties. This year also saw the first 
bond issue abroad with a CHF 110 million (US $120 
million) placement in the Swiss market, which 
attracted new investors and funding sources.

Financial Results Analysis
Total assets of the Bank and its subsidiaries 
increased by 9% over 2020. The Bank’s 
main earning assets (customer loans and 

Smart, Assets, Companies, High Net Worth 
and Institutional.

A cornerstone of Banco BICE’s business 
strategy is risk management. Considering the 
diverse segments served by the Bank and its 
subsidiaries, risk management is differentiated 
and comprehensive, with policies and 
processes approved by the Board of Directors. 
Although our credit risk management and 
efficiency indicators deteriorated as a result 
of the economic downturn caused by the 
COVID-19 crisis, they remained above the 
industry average during 2021.

Finally, the Treasury and Balance Sheet 
Division (formerly the Finance and 
International Division) was restructured to 
strengthen its corporate role of managing 
the liquidity of the Bank and its subsidiaries 
and secure sufficient funding to grow 
the business and profitably manage any 
balance sheet mismatches within risk limits. 
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The Bank’s consolidated operating income was 
Ch$306,870 million for 2021, an increase of 27% over the 
previous year.

receivables + trading instruments + investment 
instruments held-for-sale), measured at their 
year-end values, increased by Ch$890,976 
million or 12% over the previous year. This is 
explained by a 21% rise in trading instruments, 
and an increase in customer loans and 
receivables of Ch$807,706 million or 13% over 
the previous year. 

Loans recorded a 13% increase as of year-end 
2021, mainly due to an increase in commercial 
loans of 13%, mortgage loans of 12.9% and 
consumer loans of 14%.

Regarding liabilities, there was a 45% increase 
in borrowings from financial institutions as 
a result of the additional facilities provided 

The Bank’s consolidated operating income 
was Ch$306,870 million for 2021, an increase 
of 27% over the previous year, driven mainly by 
higher income from the Treasury segment. As 
for credit risk provisions, including additional 
provisions, increased by 85%, resulting in a 
coverage ratio of total provisions to non-
performing loans of 3.9 times.

Total operating expenses rose from 
Ch$121,618 million at the end of 2020 to 
Ch$132,001 million in 2021, an increase of 9%. 
As a result, operating income increased by 
36% compared to 2020. Finally, net Income 
increased by 41% compared to the previous 
year and totaled Ch$105,131 million.

by the Chilean Central Bank, and a 25% 
increase in financing from demand and 
checking account balances as a result of the 
heightened liquidity generated by customers 
during the year. Deposits and other time 
deposits decreased by 12% compared to 2020, 
as customers used the Chilean Central Bank’s 
financing facilities during 2021.

As of December 31, 2021, risk-weighted 
assets take account of credit, financial and 
operational risk, reached Ch$6,815,626 million, 
with core capital of Ch$646,697 million 
and regulatory capital of Ch$914,151 million. 
Accordingly the Bank closed the year with 
sufficient solvency, as its CET 1 ratio was 9.5% 
and its total capitalization ratio was 13.4%.
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Management
Team

1 2

54

87

1211

3

6

109

13

1. Alberto Schilling R.
CEO

2. Paul Abogabir M.
Digital Transformation Executive Director

3. Marcelo Espinoza D.
Chief Treasury and Balance Sheet Officer

4. José Pedro Balmaceda M.
Risk Management Executive Director

5. Eduardo Barrientos B.
Controller

6. Marcelo Clemente C.
Operations and Technology Executive Director

7. Rony Jara A.
Legal Counsel

8. Pablo Jerez H.
Finance, Planning and Financial Control Executive 
Director, and People and Human Developement 
Executive Director (interim)

9. Cristián Gaete P.
Wealth and Asset Management Executive Director

10. Alice Martins G.
Marketing and Customer Experience Executive Director

11. Claudia Miranda R.
SME Banking and Branches Executive Director

12. Robert Puvogel L.
Wholesale Banking Executive Director

13. Cornelio Saavedra C.
Retail Banking and Mortgage Executive Director
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Subsidiaries

6

1

43

5

2
1. Federico Díaz G.
Chief Executive Officer of BICE Factoring S.A.

2. Gerardo Edwards S.
Chief Executive Officer of BICE Corredores de Seguros Ltda.

3. Cristián Gaete P.
Chief Executive Officer of BICE Inversiones Corredora de Bolsa S.A.

4. Patricio Sandoval F.
Chief Executive Officer of BICE Agente de Valores Ltda.

5. Javier Valenzuela G.
Chief Executive Officer of BICE Inversiones Administradora General de Fondos S.A.
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Wholesale
Banking Division

Our mission is to be the number one bank 
in service quality and customer experience, 
with a focus on growing the revenue from our 
commercial relationships.

Robert Puvogel L.

Wholesale Banking Executive Director
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Banco BICE’s Wholesale Banking Division is 
comprised of the following departments: 
Corporations and Economic Groups, 
Large Industrial and Services Companies, 
Financial Institutions and Infrastructure, 
Large Real Estate and Construction 
Companies and Transactional Services.

Its mission is to be the number one bank in 
service quality and customer experience, 
with a focus on growing the revenue from 
our commercial relationships.

We made significant progress with our 
digital transformation initiatives during 2021, 
specifically in local and foreign currency 
transactional services. The first results 
from the improvements in this channel 
are beginning to appear with a renewed 
customer experience that maintains 
our excellent service quality and close 
relationships with account executives.

Despite the volatile environment with 
high degrees of uncertainty, the division 
achieved its commercial goals, with a 
significant increase in loans, deposit 
balances and the volume of customer 
transactions.

Corporations and Economic Groups
Huge uncertainty was the predominant 
feature of 2021, due to the effects of the 
pandemic across Chile and worldwide, the 
uncertain electoral outlook, rising inflation 
and high volatility in the capital markets, 
which slowed down several investment 
initiatives and new business. Nevertheless, 
coordination between various bank 
departments achieved an increase in 
annual revenue of 10%, explained by a 
universally good performance in volumes 
of loans, deposit balances, commissions 
and money desk products.

We continued our strategy of diversifying 
loans within the infrastructure sector 
and granted major loans for fiber optic 
networks and power transmission and 
distribution.  

We continued to make progress developing 
new digital products and technological 
solutions that will undoubtedly improve 
our customers’ experience of their 
interactions with the Bank.

Financial Institutions and Infrastructure
Despite the effects of uncertainty and 
the pandemic in 2021, companies in 
the financial sector, In their majority, 
managed to earn good profits as a result 
of increased overall market activity, the 
lifting of mobility restrictions, positive 
returns on investments, the indirect effects 
of pension fund withdrawals and fiscal 
stimuli. The infrastructure sector also 
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managed to reverse its losses in 2020 as a 
result of increased traffic during the year.  

Accordingly, the Financial Institutions and 
Infrastructure department experienced 
a 6.0% increase in average loans, and a 
13.2% increase in its net interest margin by 
the end of 2021. This is mainly explained 
by increases in spreads, commissions and 
average deposit balances. The volume of 
customers grew by 14.5% and the average 
deposit balances grew by 12.4% compared 
to 2020.

This department has a dedicated 
team with extensive experience serving 
financial institutions and creating specific 
solutions tailored to their needs. During 
the year we consolidated loans to the 
life insurance industry and granted new 
loans to investment funds, especially 
those investing in residential income 

assets. We also have a team with vast 
experience in the infrastructure sector, 
financing projects like a road concession 
in northern Chile and VAT payments for 
the construction of several photovoltaic 
solar energy projects.

Finally, the Agency department signed three 
new mandates to act as Local Account 
and Guarantee Agent for funding granted 
by foreign banks, which increased our 
customer base. We were also appointed 
the bondholders’ representative for 10 new 
issuance contracts.

Real Estate and Construction Sector
Sales in the real estate sector during the 
first nine months of 2021 continued the 
recovery and upward trend that began at 
the end of the previous year, which was 
associated with the easing of lockdowns 

for COVID-19 and the strengthening of 
digital channels for sales promotions. 
This rebound began to slow in October 
2021 as a result of volatility within the 
capital market, due to instability within 
the pension system, resulting in lower 
demand for long-term papers and the 
consequent lower demand for long-term 
mortgage loans. The industry also began 
to encounter cost increases associated 
with shortages of labor and construction 
materials caused by the pandemic.

Nevertheless, the industry became 
more mature and robust during the 
last quarter of 2021, with consolidated 
developers achieving good sales and low 
indebtedness levels.

This department will focus on improving 
its digital channels in 2022 and increasing 
its profitability, by providing a wider range 

The industry became more mature and robust during 
the last quarter of 2021, with consolidated developers 
achieving good sales and low indebtedness levels.
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of products and services to its customers 
and attracting new customers.

Transactional Services
The Transactional Services department had 
to lead several projects with the common 
goal of achieving an excellent customer 
experience during 2021. These projects 
included: Discovery of the New Foreign 
Currency Experience (with EY and the 
Digital Transformation team); Adding the 
BICEPass App to corporate segments using 
a second authentication factor and the 
Implementation of digital mandates to our 
Multibanco Pac service.

We continued our hallmark this year 

by developing solutions that cover the 
specific requirements of our corporate 
customers, such as sending statements 
via Swift to various post boxes and paying 
the 10% pension fund withdrawals in foreign 
currency. Our commercial management 
was expanded to evaluate transactional 
service leads that our customers leave 
on the Bank’s public website.

Additionally, a consulting process 
performed by BCG during the second 
half of the year helped us to define the 
strategic initiatives and enablers that will 
strengthen our Transactional Services and 
expand our revenue base.
 
We achieved a 16% increase in services 

in local currency compared to 2020, 
as defined by the number of monthly 
customers and the number of products 
they use. Payment volumes increased 
by 20%, while transfer volumes fell by 
10% compared to the previous year, 
which was explained by financial sector 
customers who processed unusual 
amounts associated with pension fund 
withdrawals during 2020. 

Meanwhile, foreign trade business 
volumes increased by 57% compared to 
2020, in line with domestic trade figures, 
which grew by 40.1% between January and 
September compared to 2020. This year 
we increased our number of customers 
with monthly transactions by 8%.

A consulting process performed by BCG during the 
second half of the year helped us to define the strategic 
initiatives and enablers that will strengthen our 
Transactional Services and expand our revenue base.
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2021 Key 
Transactions

MM$ 35,000

Long-term structures 
financing.

UF 600,000

Multifamily building 
financing 5 year tenor. 

MM$ 20,000

1 year working capital  
line.

MM$  7,500

VAT financing portfolio 
solar power plants.

MM$ 10,000

3 year working capital 
line. 

SOCIEDAD 
CONCESIONARIA 
DEL NORTE S.A.

COMPAÑÍAS 
DE SEGURO: 
CONFUTURO
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SME’s and Branches
Division

2021 has been a time of consolidation 
for the division, where a main pillar was 
portfolio segmentation, which aims 
to understand and satisfy the specific 
needs of the companies that comprise 
each segment.

Claudia Miranda R.

SME Banking and Branches Executive Director
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Banco BICE’s SME’s and Branches Division provided 
financial support for our customers, such as state-
backed loans, while providing customers with self-
service tools to improve their experience when mobility 
was restricted.

The year 2021 has been challenging 
for the entire banking industry and 
for our customers, who have begun 
to recover pre-pandemic levels after 
rather difficult internal and external 
circumstances. 

Banco BICE’s SME’s and Branches 
Division provided financial support for 
our customers, such as state-backed 
loans, while providing customers 
with self-service tools to improve 
their experience when mobility was 
restricted. The simplification of credit 
processes has progressed, in order to 
improve response times, and internal 
segmentation has been enhanced using 
specialized executives. Furthermore, 
automating processes will help us 
achieve a significant market presence 
in the small and medium-sized business 
segment over the next three years.

2021 has been a time of consolidation 
for the division, where a main pillar 
was portfolio segmentation, which 
aims to understand and satisfy the 
specific needs of the companies that 
comprise each segment. Accordingly, 
new duties have been assigned to the 
commercial team to support these 
changes, resulting in an increase in 
loans of around 17% with respect to the 
previous year, as well as better pricing 
associated with each segment.

Finally, our digitalization and 
simplification process involved 
launching payment installments 
for our lease contracts using our 
website, implementing simulations and 
processed transactions for customer-
managed factoring products, creating 
a platform that allows customers to 
manage documents, implementing 

automatic renewals for overdraft lines, 
automating part of the credit approval 
process and implementing other 
projects.

Agribusiness and Food Sector  
Banco BICE once again demonstrated its 
support and commitment to developing 
the local agricultural sector in 2021. 

Despite the difficulties caused by the 
pandemic during the year, Chile’s food 
exports continued to safely reach their 
destinations. Food production does 
not allow for interruptions. Similarly, 
BICE supplies financial services and 
must deliver its financial products and 
services in a timely and high-quality 
manner.

Banco BICE understands that the success 
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and continuous improvement of the 
customer experience.

Factoring
The year 2021 has been a time of 
significant challenges for BICE Factoring, 
as the industry was affected by the 
global economic conditions caused 
by the COVID-19 pandemic during 
2020. Nevertheless, we recovered and 
grew our business volumes this year, 
and we closed 2021 by achieving our 
commercial expectations.

We have technologically developed our 
platforms since 2018, with significant 
milestones such as electronic signature on 
assignment contracts, which has resulted 
in around 70% of monthly transactions 
being completed using this channel, thus 
meeting the goal for 2021. Furthermore, 

on encouraging our customers to lease 
assets using government guarantees, pre-
approved campaigns and leasing credit 
lines. This product is the main financing 
source for capital goods required by 
customers in all segments, particularly 
small and medium-sized companies. 

We have continued to develop 
technological improvements that 
digitize and simplify leasing contracts 
and processes for customers, by 
increasing the use of electronic 
signatures and installment payments 
using the website.

We will continue to strengthen this 
product as a source of asset financing 
for our customers in 2022. Our efforts 
will include advising from our team 
of specialized account executives, 
pre-approved leasing campaigns 

of this industry is based on sustainably 
producing high quality food. The keys 
to maintaining a successful business 
over the years include introducing 
new technologies to orchards and 
processing plants and efficiently 
using water. We want to contribute to 
dealing with these challenges, which 
encourages us to continue supporting 
an industry that is fundamental to our 
social and economic development.

This has resulted in an increase in the 
volume of loans granted to this sector, 
making it the Bank’s fourth largest sector. 

 
Leasing 
There was a clear increase in business 
and investment during 2021 compared 
to the previous year, despite shortages 
of some goods. Therefore, we focused 

17%
Growth in loans in the SME 
Banking Division 
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A main growth objective for 2022 will be progressing 
our technological developments focused on delivering 
a better service experience for our customers.

a transaction simulator has been added 
to the public website for BICE Factoring 
S.A., so customers and non-customers 
can simulate factoring transactions, and 
receive relevant information on potential 
financing conditions. Finally, we began 
to implement a new customer service 
platform during the year and the first 
stage went into production. This change 
improves the customer experience and 

interaction with BICE Factoring and 
simplifies internal processes.

A main growth objective for 2022 will 
be progressing our technological 
developments focused on delivering 
a better service experience for our 
customers, using a platform that 
simulates, approves and completes 
transactions online.
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US$ 2,115,000 

Financing agricultural 
field plantation. 

MM$ 3,000

Financing mining 
investments.

US$ 2,475,000

Financing.

MM$ 7,000

Investments financing.

MM$ 2,185

Financing 
manufacturing of 
electric transportation. 

MM$ 2,800

Financing purchase of 
agricultural property.

US$ 7,000,000

Long-term financing. 

MM$ 4,900

Long-term financing. 

MM$ 1,458

Financing facilities 
expansion.

MM$ 4,949

Financing for the purchase 
of an agro-residential 
property with agricultural 
use in Colina.

2021 Key 
Transactions

AGRÍCOLA 
QUIAHUE

SOCIEDAD 
MINERA 
PACIFICO DEL 
SUR LTDA.

ANAGRA S.A.
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MM$ 11,300

Apartment building in 
Santiago Centro. 

MM$ 9,900

Land purchase and 
Real Estate financing 
(MM$2,900 completed).

MM$ 5,350

Apartment building in 
Talca.

MM$ 7,272

Industrial warehouse in 
Lampa.

MM$ 7,900

Real estate project 
finance.

MM$ 5,400

Apartment building and 
Stripcenter in Quilpue.

MM$ 4,300

Liability management. 

MM$ 4,000

Guarantees with 
Stand by Letter Drager 
Germany.

MM$ 3,440

Equipment Leasing and 
Capital Financing
work start up.

MM$ 6,000

3- year term loan, 
montly installment.

INMOBILIARIA 
FAI FRANKLIN 
(GRUPO FLESAN)

INMOBILIARIA 
SAN AGUSTÍN
DE TALCA
(GRUPO FLESAN)

INMOBILIARIA RUTA 
DESARROLLO III

INMOBILIARIA 
QUILLOTA DRAGER CHILE

2021 Key 
Transactions
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UF 10,000 

Vehicule leasing.

UF 5,400 

Parque Prieto 
apartment building 
project finance.

UF 5,900 

Real estate project 
finance for Puerta del 
Sol houses stages IV - V.

2021 Key 
Transactions
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Retail and Mortgage
Division

During 2021, the Retail and Mortgage 
Division continued to focus on its objective 
of delivering excellent service by providing 
comprehensive, flexible and cost-effective 
solutions to meet its customers’ needs. 

Cornelio Saavedra C.

Retail Banking and Mortgage Executive Director
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these commercial divisions and encourages 
customer bonding and loyalty. It has 
achieved sustained growth in the number of 
new customers, loans and AUM. This project 
will be expanded in 2022 to include the entire 
branch network and provide omni-channel 
products and services. 

During 2021, significant coordination took 
place between the Private Banking and the 
High Net Worth departments within BICE 
Inversiones, which focused on increasing 
cross-sales to customers of the Bank 
and BICE Inversiones. This objective was 
successfully achieved with the number of 
customers increasing in both departments. 
This resulted in new AUM contributions for 
BICE Inversiones from both its Chilean and 
international platforms, and new checking 
accounts and loans at the Bank that were 
partially guaranteed with financial assets, 
which further improved cross sales. Thanks 

Reducido BICE, which features postponing 
repayment of a percentage of the loan 
until the last installment, and reduces the 
financial burden on customers. 

Consumer loans performed well in 2021 
with annual growth of 12%, compared 
to 2% growth for the industry. This good 
performance was partly explained by 
a new multidisciplinary working group 
drawn from the Product, Marketing, Risk 
and Commercial departments, whose 
objective has been to increase loans 
within this segment.

During 2021, the “BICE One” pilot project 
began. This project aims to integrate BICE 
Inversiones, the SME’s and Branches Division, 
and the Retail Division. It strengthens the 
range of universal products and services 
with a unique approach using a new method 
that cross-matches opportunities between 

During 2021, the Retail and Mortgage 
Division continued to focus on its objective 
of delivering excellent service by providing 
comprehensive, flexible and cost-effective 
solutions to meet its customers’ needs. It 
emphasized providing proactive services 
that are immediately available in all 
channels provided by Banco BICE.

The annual volume of mortgage loans 
increased by 9.5%, which retained Banco 
BICE’s leadership position in the industry. 
This growth was supported by sales using its 
traditional channels, commercial account 
executives and mortgage specialists. The 
latter built strong relationships with real 
estate developers involved in projects 
financed by the Wholesale divisions. The 
Retail and Mortgage Division continued 
its policy of providing a wide range of 
products and developed a new and 
innovative mortgage loan called Dividendo 

During 2021, significant coordination took place 
between the Private Banking and the High Net Worth 
departments within BICE Inversiones, which focused on 
increasing cross-sales to customers of the Bank and 
BICE Inversiones.
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have achieved record transaction volumes 
using our credit and debit cards, with good 
confluence levels and payment media use. 

During the year, BICE Corredores de 
Seguros actively created synergies within 
BICECORP, through strategic projects 
aimed at promoting businesses involving 
the group’s companies. Particularly, the 
marketing and commercial management 
of customers referred by the Bank to high-
cost individual insurance and group life 
and health insurance, as both of these 
products are brokered by BICE Corredores 
de Seguros in alliance with BICE Vida.

During 2021, COVID-19 insurance was 
introduced in alliance with BICE Vida and 
sales volumes were extremely good.

The objective is to adapt to the 
requirements and operating styles of 
these customers, and encourage them to 
promptly open checking accounts, then 
cross-match with our investment and 
insurance products, to achieve an equal 
or superior quality of service and build 
their loyalty, in order to position ourselves 
as their main bank. 

We have a strategic agreement with 
Visa and have continued to introduce 
commercial and business development 
initiatives for debit and credit cards, along 
with consulting projects to deepen our 
knowledge of our customers and their 
engagement, correctly assign credit limits 
and identify improvement opportunities 
within our loyalty program. Accordingly, we 

to the success of this project, we plan to 
extend the business synergies between 
these two departments next year.

We have continued to develop our Banca 
Joven product with new benefits aimed 
specifically at young professionals and 
university students. 

We have also implemented a more 
efficient customer service model, 
which is aligned with the segment’s 
profitability. We have migrated a group 
of customers within this segment from 
traditional portfolios to a customer 
service model based on Contact Center 
executives. This channel offers 24/7 
services and encourages self-service 
using digital channels.   
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BICE Inversiones
Division

We continue to make progress 
in integrating ESG criteria for our 
asset classes, in accordance with 
the provisions of our Sustainable 
Investment Policy and our 
commitments to PRI.

Cristián Gaete P.

Bice Inveriones Division Executive Director,
and CEO BICE Corredores de Bolsa S.A. 
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Average assets under 
management

MM$ 11,163

BICE Inversiones provides specialist 
services covering mutual and investment 
fund management, securities brokerage 
and portfolio management. It managed 
third-party assets of over Ch$11,163 billion 
on average during 2021. During the year, 
this division continued to develop its 
commercial strategy, based on multiple 
products and customized advisory 
services for each customer segment.

Mutual Funds and Investment Funds
BICE Inversiones Administradora General 
de Fondos S.A., subsidiary of Banco 
BICE, generated revenue of Ch$25,479 
million, operating income of Ch$7,278 
million and closed 2021 with net Income 
of Ch$6,061 million.

Average assets under management in 
mutual funds totaled Ch$2,882 billion 

during 2021, and in investment funds 
totaled Ch$532 billion. The company held 
a significant position within the industry 
with an average market share in mutual 
funds of 5.7%.
 
We continue to make progress in 
integrating ESG criteria for our asset 
classes, in accordance with the provisions 
of our Sustainable Investment Policy and 
our commitments to PRI, as we have been 
a signatory to this organization since 
2019. We contribute to analyzing and 
integrating ESG aspects into investment 
decision making for the local industry. 
We participate in collaborative initiatives 
with various investor associations and 
working groups that bring together 
professional managers. We communicate 
the advantages of responsible investment 
through different events such as capsules, 
webinars and forums. We meet with 

issuers to achieve objectives that relate 
to ESG information disclosure, climate 
change, better ESG management and 
more ambitious goals within this frame.

We transformed our BICE Acciones Mundo 
Activo fund into the BICE Acciones Mundo 
Sustentable fund during 2021. This fund 
combines a solid asset allocation process 
with an instrument selection process that 
incorporates ESG criteria. This fund was 
evaluated by MSCI and given an ESG “AA” 
rating this year, which places it in the top 
83% of comparable funds worldwide.

BICE Inversiones Administradora General 
de Fondos S.A. was recognized in the 
2021 Salmón APV awards, selected by LVA 
Índices and Diario Financiero. The award 
was given for our BICE Acciones Chile 
Activo serie APV mutual fund, which won 
first place in the Large Cap Domestic Equity 
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BICE Inversiones Administradora General de Fondos S.A. 
was recognized in the 2021 Salmón APV awards, selected 
by LVA Índices and Diario Financiero.

Net Worth and Corporate segment, respond 
to a highly specialized team of investment 
executives with extensive experience in the 
market, who stand out because of their 
rigorous investment portfolio management.

The asset management model delivers 
high quality service where specialization, 
confidentiality and a long-term investment 
philosophy with a primary focus on capital 
preservation are paramount. This creates 
an attractive value proposition for our 
customers, who delegate the management 
of their assets within portfolios tailored to 
their needs.

Financial Intermediation
BICE Inversiones Corredores de Bolsa S.A., 
subsidiary of Banco BICE, achieved revenue 
of Ch$21,531 million for 2021, operating 
income of Ch$5,666 million and reached 

Investment Funds: 
• BICE Stepstone SCOF I 
• BICE GAIP 
• BICE Stepstone V 
• BICE Global Credit Opportunities II 
• BICE Logística 
• BICE Inmobiliario V  
• BICE Alternativos
 
These bring the total number of mutual and 
investment funds to 60.

Asset Management
The Domestic Asset Management portfolio 
averaged Ch$2,066 billion, while the 
International Asset Management portfolio 
averaged Ch$881 billion, which makes BICE 
Inversiones one of the main asset managers 
of third-party funds that provides portfolio 
management services. The excellent results 
of this service, required mainly by the High 

Fund category. It was also recognized in 
the El Mercurio Investment Ranking with 
second place among the best mutual fund 
managers for high net worth customers. 
The economics team received third place 
for interest rate forecasting in Chile at the 
2021 Analyst Forecast Awards, presented 
by FocusEconomics.

We also launched eight mutual funds and 
seven investment funds during 2021, so 
both products now total 60 funds:

Mutual Funds:
• BICE Estructurado UF 
• BICE Smart Prudente 
• BICE Smart Entusiasta 
• BICE Smart Audaz 
• BICE Temático Global 
• BICE Balanceado Global Dólar 
• BICE Renta Global Ahorro Dólar  
• BICE Renta Global 

42

An
nu

al
 R

ep
or

t B
an

co
 B

IC
E 

20
21

Bu
si

ne
ss

 
Pe

rf
or

m
an

ce



a specialized team in the Alternative & 
Institutional Assets department.

Finally, we successfully closed an 
alliance with Goldman Sachs Asset 
Management, the largest investment 
vehicle of Goldman Sachs that provides 
investment and advisory services to the 
world’s leading institutions, financial 
advisors and individuals. It draws on 
its extensive global network and expert 
knowledge in all regions and markets 
to manage over US$2 trillion in assets. 
This alliance will enable us to provide 
our customers with an additional 
wide range of attractive international 
investment products.

We also launched the new BICE Inversiones 
public website (www.banco.bice.cl/
inversiones) together with the Bank’s 
new website, where online password 
generation will soon be enabled for current 
customers who do not have one.

Regarding our range of products, we 
highlight the BICE Alternatives fund as a 
product for investors seeking exposure 
to global alternative assets as well as 
underlying assets. This product aims to 
produce a return in US dollars of close to 
10% for investors. 

We also initiated the process to offer 
our own private debt funds, by recruiting 

a net Income of Ch$4,715 million. Thus, 
the market share by brokerage revenue, 
among the entire Chilean brokerage 
market, was 3.9% in 2021.

A new customer-focused strategy was 
launched this year, including new service 
models and value propositions, which 
promoted product differentiation by 
segment and market.

The objectives achieved during the 
year included strengthening digital 
onboarding for BICE Inversiones and the 
new approach to investing in mutual 
funds using the Bank’s website, together 
with the Smart offer as a “simple” offer.
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BICE Inversiones Products

BALANCED:

BICE Estrategia Más Conservadora  

BICE Estrategia Conservadora 

BICE Estrategia Balanceada  

BICE Estrategia Agresiva 

BICE Estrategia Más Agresiva  

BICE Smart Prudente

BICE Smart Entusiasta

BICE Smart Audaz

BICE Balanceado Global

MONEY MARKET:

BICE Tesorería

BICE Liquidez Pesos

BICE Liquidez Dólar  

FIXED INCOME:

BICE Renta Corto Plazo

BICE Renta Pesos 

BICE Renta UF 

BICE Renta Largo Plazo

BICE Renta Más Largo Plazo

BICE Bonos Latam

BICE Renta Global

BICE Renta Global Dólar

BICE Renta Global Ahorro Dólar

BICE Estructurado UF

QUANTITATIVE STRATEGIES:

BICE Tendencias

DOMESTIC EQUITIES:

BICE Acciones Chile Activo  

BICE Acciones Chile Mid Cap 

BICE Acciones Chile Selectivo 

INTERNATIONAL EQUITIES:

BICE Acciones Norteamérica  

BICE Acciones Europa 

BICE Acciones Japón  

BICE Acciones Latam

BICE Acciones Mercados Emergentes  

BICE Acciones Asia 

BICE Acciones India

BICE Acciones Mundo Sustentable 

BICE Temático Global

BICE Commodities

MUTUAL FUNDS
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Investment Funds

FUND ASSET CATEGORIES

Siglo XXI   Chilean Small Cap Equities

BICE Renta Variable Internacional Foreign Equity Income

BICE Deuda Nacional Chilean Private and Public Fixed Income

BICE Deuda Latam Latin American Fixed Income

BICE Inmobiliario II
Real estate development projects for residential and office properties for sale

BICE Inmobiliario III

BICE Inmobiliario IV
Leveraged (commercial) real estate projects for rental purposes

BICE Rentas Inmobiliarias

BICE Energías Renovables Development and operation of electricity generation plants that use renewable energy

Linzor BICE Private Equity II Latin American Private Equity

AINA Portfolio of hotels in European cities

BICE Monarch IV Debt in Distress

BICE Stepstone IV
Global Private Equity, co-investment strategies with other managers

BICE Stepstone V

BICE Global Credit Opportunities (fondo Blackock)
Opportunistic Debt

BICE Global Credit Opportunities II (fondo Blackock)

Deuda Latam HY Latin American Opportunistic Debt 

BICE Stepstone SSOF Private Debt

BICE Secundarios RE II Real Estate Developments

BICE Stepstone SCOF Private Debt

BICE Alternativos Private Equity

BICE Logística Infraestructure

BICE Inmobiliario V Leveraged (commercial) real estate projects for rental purposes

BICE GAIP Private Equity

BICE Stepstone SCLE Private Debt
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Domestic Equities

Investment Fund Units

ETFs and Foreign Equities listed on Santiago Exchange

Arbitrage

Short Sale

Fixed Income and Financial Brokering

Spot Dollar

Forward Dollar

Foreign Markets

Domestic Portfolio Management

Brokerage

Asset Management
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Treasury and Balance
Sheet Division

The Treasury and Balance Sheet Division’s 
main functions are to manage the Bank’s 
liquidity, to profitably manage balance sheet 
mismatches and to generate income through 
its investment, derivative and foreign 
currency brokerage services for customers or 
the Bank’s proprietary trading portfolio. 

Marcelo Espinoza D.

Treasury and Balance Sheet Executive Director
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The Treasury and Balance Sheet Division’s 
main functions are to manage the Bank’s 
liquidity, to profitably manage balance 
sheet mismatches and to generate 
income through its investment, derivative 
and foreign currency brokerage services 
for customers or the Bank’s proprietary 
trading portfolio. This is complemented 
by monitoring the long-term investment 
book, which includes corporate bonds 
issued in Chile and abroad. It has also 
been assigned the counterpart role for 
our international correspondent banks, 
so it manages the relationship with 
banks and multilateral organizations to 
ensure that we provide good services to 
customers who perform foreign financial 
or trade transactions.

The year 2021 was characterized by highly 
volatile market factors that influence 
liquidity management and mismatches 
in the Bank’s balance sheet, mostly 
associated with the tense socio-political 
environment in Chile.

Long-term interest rates significantly 
increased as a consequence of pension 
savings withdrawals and their negative 
impact on demand for long-term assets 
among institutional investors.

The volume of financial brokerage 
transactions significantly decreased 
for tenors longer than 90 days, which 
has made it more difficult for financial 
institutions to obtain financing and has 

consequently affected liquidity risks for 
the Bank and the financial market.

Daily volatility in the exchange rate has 
increased and overall it has continued 
its upward trend, which led the Chilean 
peso to depreciate against the US dollar 
by more than 15% during the year. This 
is due to the US dollar appreciating 
against other world currencies and to 
domestic events in Chile, which caused 
the demand for foreign currencies to 
significantly increase.

Additionally, the Chilean Central Bank 
sharply increased the Monetary Policy 
Rate by 350 percentage points during 
the second half of 2021, in response to 
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Important milestones in 2021 included the first bond 
issued by Banco BICE in the Swiss market over a five-
year term. The aim was to diversify our funding sources 
in the context of lower liquidity.

better-than-budgeted results. The volume 
of foreign exchange transactions also 
remained within our estimates, which 
provides greater certainty to the objective 
of growing the area’s business over the 
long-term.

The division’s results were above budget 
for the year, particularly income growth 
from maturity mismatches, which was 
reflected in its net interest and indexation 
income. Furthermore, as of the second 
quarter of 2021, these results begun to be 
presented separately for each business 
department within the division.

an increase in annual inflation above 
its target.

Important milestones in 2021 included 
the first bond issued by Banco BICE in the 
Swiss market for CHF 110 million (US$120 
million) over a five-year term. The aim 
was to diversify our funding sources in 
the context of lower liquidity. 

On its part, the distribution of financial 
products, where the purchase and sale of 
foreign currencies is the most important 
product, has successfully taken advantage 
of exchange rate volatility to achieve 
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Innovation at
the service of

our customers
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Operations and
Technology Division

The pandemic continued throughout 2021, 
so the Operations and Technology Division 
continued to face significant internal 
and external challenges to maintaining 
operational continuity, supporting the 
business strategy of the Bank and its 
subsidiaries and implementing its digital 
transformation projects. 

Marcelo Clemente C.

Operations and Technology Executive Director
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It stands out, the enabling of Banco BICE’s new 
corporate buildings that took place during 2021, 
which required collaborative efforts from various 
departments, especially the Administration and IT 
departments.   

The pandemic continued throughout 
2021, so the Operations and Technology 
Division continued to face significant 
internal and external challenges to 
maintaining operational continuity, 
supporting the business strategy of 
the Bank and its subsidiaries and 
implementing its digital transformation 
projects. It stands out, the enabling of 
Banco BICE’s new corporate buildings 
that took place during 2021, which 
required collaborative efforts from 
various departments, especially the 
Administration and IT departments.  

New projects were developed during 
2021 in order to continue improving the 
Bank’s operational continuity, operational 
efficiency and scalability, while strictly 
complying with industry requirements, new 
cyber-security demands and regulations 
issued by industry regulators.

The cultural evolution associated with 
Banco BICE’s digital transformation 
continued to strengthen, which was 
accompanied by the IT Evolution project, 
which serves as the IT department’s 
strategic plan. It was developed to 
provide the Bank with the cutting-
edge technological tools it requires to 
face the challenges imposed by digital 
transformation.

The systems renewal project advanced 
during 2021, as the Bank began to 
implement the Derivatives module of 
the Calypso solution. This is a high-
level product that will manage front to 
bank office processes for interest rates, 
currencies, spot transactions, currency 
options and guarantees granted to and 
received from third parties. This new 
system provides the Bank with state-of-
the-art technological infrastructure for 

its derivatives products, and streamlines 
the challenges faced by the Money Desk 
division. In this sense, the implementation 
of the SAP Cloud module to replace our 
current planning system (ERP) is important 
and reaffirms our technological ambitions. 
This new system will be implemented in 
two phases, with the first expected to be 
completed during January 2022 and the 
second phase, which involves accounting 
for banking products and completion is 
scheduled for the second half of 2022.

Our commercial management and 
customer-centric focus evolved as 
several functions were incorporated into 
our Salesforce (CRM) platform, such as 
Vista 360, which manages all the relevant 
information about our customers and 
their products on a single platform. This 
project consolidates the entire information 
structure into the cloud as the first use case 
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The systems renovation process continued with the 
Implementation of the last stage of the Openworkplace 
project in 2021, which forms part of the systems 
renewal plan for BICE Inversiones.

gives them a consolidated overview of 
all their customers’ investment portfolios, 
where they can instruct trades, manage 
proposals and recommendations for 
all kinds of investment products from a 
single platform. 

The Consolidated Treasury project 
became fully operational in February 2021. 
This gives Treasury staff at the Shared 
Services Center serving the subsidiaries 
of BICE Inversiones a consolidated 
overview of customer payments for their 
investments. This will reduce the operating 
burden and provide the customer with 
greater transparency when paying for their 
investments, regardless of the product.

Throughout the year, the Operations and 
Technology Division was fully focused on 
improving our customers’ experience of 
our digital channels. Therefore, the Retail 

effect in January 2022, as well as new 
requirements for the Swift platform, and 
other regulatory requirements.

Our Factoring subsidiary launched a 
Virtual Branch project, which provides 
our customers with a range of products 
based around digital channels and self-
service. They can now generate offers 
regarding issued documents, perform 
spot transactions without assistance 
from the account executive, evaluate 
transactions in real time and access other 
functionalities. 

The systems renovation process 
continued with the Implementation of 
the last stage of the Openworkplace 
project in 2021, which forms part of 
the systems renewal plan for BICE 
Inversiones. Openworkplace is a single 
platform for investment executives and 

for data governance and the migration 
to Salesforce Financial, which represents 
an evolution for this platform. It improves 
commercial management and support 
for our customers with services tailored to 
their needs.

Additional important projects involving 
regulatory requirements were implemented 
during 2021, such as the risk reports 
requested by the CMF, within the framework 
of supervising Basel III implementation, 
which applies to all banks established 
in Chile and branches of foreign banks 
operating in the local market. These reports 
cover the business and management 
departments, such as Credit Risk, Financial, 
Planning, Operational, Strategic and 
Accounting departments. Also, a plan was 
prepared to implement the regulator’s 
amendments to the Compendium of 
Accounting Standards, which came into 
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project was implemented together with 
VISA, which analyzes online credit card 
transactions mainly for international 
markets. It uses an engine and behavioral 
models to determine a transaction’s risk 
score and, depending on the outcome, 
then requests additional authentication 
from customers. This platform should 
significantly reduce fraud during online 
credit card purchases and it is expected 
to start operating in January 2022.

All the challenges imposed by the IT security 
roadmap were met during 2021 with 
respect to the cyber-security aspects of 
the IT Evolution Plan. The goals associated 
with each initiative were achieved, as 

We continuing to improve our customer 
experience by upgrading the Bank’s 
mobile phone application, where the initial 
version with improvements was very well 
received by users, and was followed by a 
new version of this app. It was developed 
using the latest technologies on the 
market and has already been released as 
a pilot to a small group of customers who 
can perform their usual transactions, such 
as viewing their balance and the latest 
movements on their checking accounts 
and credit cards, initiating electronic 
transfers, paying their credit cards and 
activating or blocking cards. 

In terms of transaction security, the 3DS 

segment completely renewed its interface 
for balances, statements and the latest 
movements in checking accounts and 
local and foreign currency credit cards. 
The mutual fund investment portal was 
improved and an extension was created to 
explore and explain the benefits provided 
by the Bank. We continued to strengthen 
customer onboarding for our fully digital 
GO BICE account, and we digitally attracted 
more than 9,000 new customers using this 
platform during 2021. Meanwhile, 80% of 
the public website for this segment was 
migrated to completely new technology, 
which includes an updated design, new 
software architecture, state-of-the-art 
monitoring and Cloud infrastructure. 
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a new development standard. These 
new platforms and their benefits are 
being used mainly by the development 
departments responsible for the digital 
channels that provide services to 
customers. This new technology was 
implemented under universal definitions 
for software architecture and best 
practices that reduce development 
times and increase team autonomy. 
Cloud environments were increasingly 
used by Google (GCP), Microsoft (Azure) 
and Oracle (OCI) during 2021, and they 
mainly focused on promoting our digital 
channels. Hybrid architecture relying on 
Premise + Cloud has also benefited from 
a new high-speed navigation network 
directly connected to the large Cloud 
environments mentioned above, which 
results in faster response times for our 
digital channels and meets our customers’ 
requirements. An end-to-end application 

warnings and monitoring coverage. There 
was an increase in the number of use 
cases and security warnings increased 
by 98% from 87 to 174 cases.

The PAM (Privileged Access Management) 
feature was also implemented, with the 
aim of protecting user accounts with 
extensive privileges and protecting both 
workstations and servers. Additionally, 
the data leakage protection solution 
was replaced, in order to safeguard 
information extracted from emails and 
simultaneously protect users browsing the 
Internet. Security controls were activated 
throughout the Office 365 suite, which 
protect the Bank’s information when 
using this software on personal devices. 

Regarding technological architecture, the 
use of the microservices platform and API 
exposure was consolidated, establishing 

was the security maturity target for 
the year. New cyber-security controls 
were implemented for workstations that 
extended the scope of these controls 
to cover situations where they are used 
outside the Bank. Accordingly, users 
working from home have the same 
protection as those working at the Bank’s 
premises. All warnings are processed by 
the firewall’s artificial intelligence engine 
and then reported to the Bank’s Security 
Operation Center (SOC). Progress with 
incident response and actively searching 
for cyber-security threats led to identifying 
fake bank sites used for phishing and other 
frauds, which were promptly mitigated to 
avoid any subsequent effects.

For central monitoring, performed by 
the SOC, the number of integrated data 
sources was increased by 140% from 167 
to 405, which improved the quality of 

Regarding technological architecture, the use of 
the microservices platform and API exposure was 
consolidated, establishing a new development standard.
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Significant progress was made with 
technological upgrades in the following 
areas:

• Workstation migration project to 
Windows 10

• Elimination of technologically obsolete 
switches in branches and platforms

• Renewal of telephone equipment

• Renewal of storage  

The headquarters relocation to new 
corporate buildings was used to 
implement a new network topology, 
which includes a high-speed, high-
bandwidth fiber optic ring to ensure 
connectivity with the Data Centers. 
A multi-service data network was 
implemented to support IoT (Internet 

Another important aspect has been 
establishing an end-to-end secure 
software development process, 
which begins with including security 
requirements while an initiative is 
being developed through to certifying 
developments as a result of pentesting 
and validations using automated tools 
that verify compliance with international 
standards. Security guidelines and cyber-
security controls were duly formalized 
and standardized.

The Quality Control department 
incorporated new standards and profiles 
that focus on automated tests. Automated 
software tests have been subdivided into 
smoke tests, stress/performance tests 
and regression tests (overall application 
review). Currently 90% of smoke tests on 
digital channel tests are automated. 

monitoring tool focused mainly on digital 
channels was implemented during the 
last quarter of 2021, which provides 
important information regarding 
application behavior. It covers response 
times, errors and technical performance 
indicators that enable digital channels to 
be improved, corrected and synced. 

Another important aspect of the IT 
Evolution plan has been introducing 
the DevSecOps (Develop, Security and 
Operations) methods and tools, which 
have become the backbone of LAB 
developments and gradually of the 
overall IT plan. DevSecOps has become 
the orchestrator of software development 
from the moment the idea is conceived 
through to producing each component 
that is subsequently transformed into 
services for customers.
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The Operations department achieved significant 
milestones regarding process redesign, efficiency, 
control and management during 2021.

of 5% over the previous year, and while 
supporting new business in the investment 
department, such as creating 20 new 
investment funds and introducing Clever 
as a new placement agent.

Finally, Banco BICE has implemented high-
standard physical security systems that 
incorporate state-of-the-art technologies, 
in order to safeguard the physical security 
of our employees, customers and the 
general public. The security architecture 
for the new head office has been designed 
using this criterion. 

Video Surveillance (CCTV) systems 
with cameras using IP communication 
technology have been implemented, which 
feature facial recognition and integrate 

The Operations department achieved 
significant milestones regarding 
process redesign, efficiency, control and 
management during 2021. This included 
completing a process improvement 
project for the Bank and its subsidiaries, 
which identified and documented more 
than 3,000 sub-processes and found 
1,600 opportunities for improvement, of 
which more than 300 have already been 
addressed. 

We continuously seek efficiency, and 
some processes were redesigned and 
automated using robots, thus alleviating 
the operational burden of the Operations 
department, without affecting its service 
levels. This was achieved despite an 
average increase in transaction volumes 

of Things) users with high security and 
reliability standards integrated with 
cyber-security platforms, which will 
facilitate mobility and collaboration. 

Additional processes associated 
with IT Service Management were 
also addressed, in order to achieve 
continuous improvement. This involved 
implementing recommendations issued 
by the CMF, Internal Audit, Operational 
Risk and best practices. 

Regarding operational continuity, High 
service uptime levels were achieved for 
our customers. The disaster recovery plan 
(DRP) was successfully tested during the 
year, in coordination with the Operational 
Risk department.
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Banco BICE has implemented high-standard physical 
security systems that incorporate state-of-the-art 
technologies, in order to safeguard the physical security of 
our employees, customers and the general public.

hall systems, which streamlines the use of 
these facilities for the Bank’s employees 
and the management of these areas. 
 
Vehicle access control barriers have 
been installed for greater security 
and to ensure that only previously 
authorized people and vehicles can 
enter, and to streamline the entry and 
exit process. These systems have been 
complemented by TAG technology and 
cameras that read license plates and 
rapidly open barriers.

with alarm systems, among other 
functionalities. These features facilitate 
the prevention and prompt detection 
of risks within sensitive areas through 
processes carried out by the operators at 
the Monitoring Center. The new security 
standard also included high-speed 
turnstile access control systems that use 
corporate smart cards or virtual cards in 
smartphones.

Furthermore, these access control 
devices feed the attendance and dining 

The Security department is responsible 
for developing specific security 
procedures in addition to the important 
technological improvements already 
mentioned. These provide security 
to commercial and operational 
activities and their respective control 
processes. It also arranges training 
and informative campaigns within the 
organization to strengthen the new 
BICE security culture.
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Risk Division

Banco BICE has a deep-rooted risk 
management culture within its business 
departments, entities and teams. It has 
a solid governance structure, which is 
supported by suitable management 
processes and tools.

José Pedro Balmaceda M.

Risk Management Executive Director
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exposures are identified and controlled 
using risk appetite indicators. These are 
monitored and reported routinely to 
the Overall Risk Committee and Board 
of Directors to ensure that the Bank 
remains within its desired risk limits. These 
include: i) Structural Balance Sheet Risk, 
ii) Liquidity Risk, iii) Market Risk, iv) Credit 
Risk, v) Concentration Risk, vi) Operational, 
Continuity and Information Security 
Risk, vii) Reputational Risk and finally viii) 
Business Continuity Risk.

The Bank’s efforts to manage these risks 
are described as follows:

Credit Risk
Credit risk examines the risk of financial 
losses caused by the default, or 
deterioration in the credit quality, of a 
counterparty that the Bank has financed, or 
with whom it has a contractual obligation. 

The ability to effectively manage risk 
is crucial to maintaining a competitive 
advantage and serving our customers 
and local communities. The Risk Division 
is responsible for comprehensively 
managing all the risks faced by the 
Bank. It helps the business departments 
to achieve their strategic objectives by 
securing a suitable control environment, 
while ensuring alignment with the Bank’s 
risk appetite.

Banco BICE has a deep-rooted risk 
management culture within its business 
departments, entities and teams. It has 
a solid governance structure, which is 
supported by suitable management 
processes and tools.

The Bank has defined its risk appetite and 
this is clearly expressed and integrated 
into its strategic planning process, 
where all the organization’s material risk 

This risk is managed by specialized 
managers and involves the entire credit 
risk cycle, covering the credit approval, 
follow-up and recovery stages.

The Bank’s approach to credit risk 
management is designed to keep 
credit risk exposure within acceptable 
parameters, while maximizing the risk-
return balance. This approach shapes its 
desired credit portfolio, ensures alignment 
with its defined risk appetite and embeds 
credit risk management into its daily 
functions.

The credit risk function participates in 
evaluating the loans submitted to various 
committees, defines credit risk policies and 
procedures, develops and independently 
validates methods and tools that support the 
measurement and management of credit 
risk and continuously monitors customers, 
portfolios and economic sectors.
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regarding the Bank’s customer portfolio. 
These committees are comprised of 
several approval levels, based on the 
amount and risk associated with each 
credit application. These committees 
involve the commercial department, 
senior management and Bank directors, 
depending on the committee approval 
level. The digitization of most of these 
committees was a significant milestone 
in 2021, which has streamlined approvals 
and improved information security.

• Follow-up: The Bank has several formal 
follow-up forums, in addition to daily and 
operational procedures. The main forums 
are the risk committees and the 5% follow-
up committee, which are formal committees 
drawn from the commercial and risk 
management departments. Their functions 
are to review risk assessments, ensure that 
they are correctly performed and determine 
provisions for the individual portfolio.

information gathering stage and analyzes 
the financial situation of customers in 
this segment. It also participates in the 
customer acceptance and loan granting 
process and performs continuous follow-
up of customers and economic sectors 
in this portfolio. It is responsible for the 
credit process for all customers in this 
segment, for the preparation of sector 
studies, customer financial forecasts and 
participates directly and actively in the 
evaluation of loans granted to customers 
in this segment.

The Bank’s credit policy and process 
establishes how to comply with the 
instructions issued by the Financial Market 
Commission (CMF) in the Compendium 
of Accounting Standards and the Bank’s 
internal regulations. These primarily consider:

• Credit Committee: This is a formal 
committee that makes credit decisions 

The Bank’s credit policy establishes 
approval levels using a committee 
hierarchy, which is continuously reviewed. 
The latest amendment was approved 
in 2021, with the objective of making the 
credit process more agile and efficient. 

The credit risk function must effectively 
support the Bank’s commercial dynamics, 
while complying with regulatory 
requirements and best practices and 
contributing to the digital transformation 
process. It provides a risk perspective that 
considers both specific transactions and 
an overview of the entire credit portfolio. 

The Bank’s credit risk is managed by the 
Corporate Credit Risk department, the 
Retail Credit Risk and Modeling department 
and the Loan Restructuring department.  

The Corporate Credit Risk department 
participates during the financial 
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Banco BICE achieved positive risk indicators in 2021, 
among the best in the domestic financial market, as a 
result of its efficient risk management. 

a decrease compared to the end of the 
previous year’s 377 months, as a result of 
increases in write-offs during 2021. Despite 
these figures, the Bank has comfortable 
coverage indicators.

The Loan Restructuring department is 
responsible for managing all the Bank’s 
individual and corporate customers who 
are in some degree of financial difficulty. 
This portfolio is managed by teams 
that specialize in court and pre-court 
collections.

Financial and Market Risk  
Market risks are monitored by the 
Financial and Market Risk department, 
which forms part of the Risk Division. 
Market risk is mainly measured using the 
procedures and standards established by 
the Board of Directors, prior to review and 
approval by the Treasury and Balance 

customer payment behavior and capacity.

Banco BICE achieved positive risk 
indicators in 2021, among the best in the 
domestic financial market, as a result of 
its efficient risk management. 

The Bank achieved 1.67% for the provisions 
to loans ratio as of December 2021, which 
was very similar to the 1.60% it achieved as 
of December 2020. The non-performing 
loan portfolio (>90 days) was 0.67% as 
of December 2021, slightly higher than 
the 0.40% achieved at the end of the 
previous year. 

The coverage ratio of total provisions 
to non-performing loans was 3.9 as of 
December 2021, which was higher than for 
the financial market.

Total provision coverage over write-offs 
was 167 months as of December 2021, 

• Reporting: The Corporate Credit Risk 
department is responsible for preparing 
monthly management reports and 
sector or contingency reports, which are 
submitted to senior management and the 
Bank’s directors.

The Retail Credit Risk Management and 
Modeling department is responsible for 
the credit process for individual and 
corporate customers in this segment. The 
risk management function participates in 
evaluating credit transactions, producing 
pre-approved credit offers and developing 
models and methods that support both 
risk management and commercial 
strategies. This department manages the 
credit policies and procedures for this 
customer segment, which are supported 
by acceptance and behavioral statistical 
tools. It manages the acceptance and 
credit approval stage, and subsequently 
manages the continuous monitoring of 
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portfolio. The Bank calculates the VaR as 
an estimate of the maximum expected 
loss in market value for a given portfolio 
over a ten-day horizon, with a confidence 
level of 99.00%. A confidence level of 97.5% 
is used for the CVaR. The VaR/CVaR is also 
independently measured for the held-for-
sale portfolio.
 

Liquidity Risk
The Balance Sheet and Liquidity department 
manages liquidity risk using a liquid asset 
portfolio, to ensure that the Bank always 
has sufficient liquidity to cover any short-
term fluctuations and long-term financing 
obligations, and to meet regulatory and 
internal liquidity requirements.

Interest rate sensitivity in the Bank’s 
structural balance sheet is mainly 
measured by quantifying the impact of 
parallel movements in real and nominal 
interest rate curves for Chilean pesos and 
US dollars on its financial results and its 
balance sheet. This is complemented by 
sensitivity analysis that applies historical 
movements to these curves. The Treasury 
Division’s Trading and Investment 
department manages the Bank’s trading 
portfolios and keeps them within permitted 
loss limits, which are calculated and 
set by the Market Risk department. The 
Bank uses the Value at Risk (VaR/CVaR) 
historical simulation method to monitor 
the sensitivity of its exchange rate and 
interest rate market risks in the trading 

Sheet Committee. The Treasury and 
Balance Sheet Division uses its Trading 
and Investments department, Balance 
Sheet and Liquidity department and 
Foreign Currency department to manage 
the Bank’s balance sheet, especially in 
relation to liquidity and sensitivity analysis. 
This Division has the following functions, 
which are monitored by the Treasury and 
Balance Sheet Committee: i) Optimize the 
cost of liabilities by identifying the most 
efficient financing strategies, including 
bond issuance and bank lines, ii) Manage 
short and long-term regulatory liquidity 
limits, iii) Manage inflation risk, iv) Manage 
interest rate risk in both local and foreign 
currencies, and v) Manage any currency 
mismatches.
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cash flow mismatches from net income 
receivable in relation to capital. The 30-day 
mismatch cannot exceed the Bank’s core 
capital once, and the 90-day mismatch 
cannot exceed it twice, in accordance 
with current regulations. As of December 
31, 2021, the 30-day indicator in foreign 
currency was the only applicable limit and 
it was 20%, which amply complied with this 
requirement.  

2. Liquidity Coverage Ratio (LCR) 
The LCR measures liquid assets over 
30-day net cash outflows. It is used by 
banks worldwide and forms part of the 
Basel III standards. A minimum of 60% 
was required of Chilean banks with effect 
from 2019, which will gradually increase to 
reach 100% in 2023. A minimum of 80% is 
required for 2021. The objective of the LCR 
is to build short-term resilience into the 
banks’ liquidity risk profile. Therefore, the 
LCR ensures that these organizations have 

1. 30-day Regulatory Liquidity Ratio in 
foreign currency.  

2. Liquidity Coverage Ratio (LCR).  

3. Net Stable Funding Ratio (NSFR). 
 
The Chilean Central Bank decided to 
suspend the local currency, foreign 
currency and consolidated 30 and 90 day 
mismatch indicators until at least March 
31, 2022. It also issued a consultation 
regulation, which suggested that it may 
eliminate these liquidity indicators and 
keep only the 30-day foreign currency 
mismatch indicator. It also stated that 
it may bring forward minimum LCR 
compliance to 100% in 2022 and introduce 
NSFR as a regulatory limit, with an initial 
value of 60%.

1. 30-day Regulatory Liquidity Ratio in 
foreign currency
The Regulatory Liquidity Ratio limits 

High Quality Liquid Assets (ALAC for its 
acronym in Spanish) are an important 
component of liquidity risk management. 
These are balance sheet assets, mainly 
comprised of financial investments issued 
by governments with low credit risk and 
supported by a deep secondary market. 

These assets are classified into three 
levels according to Basel III standards, with 
Level 1 assets being the most liquid and 
Level 3 the least liquid. As of December 31, 
2021, the Bank’s ALAC totaled Ch$935,283 
million and were mainly Level 1 and Level 
2 liquid assets. They were mostly Chilean 
government bonds, Chilean Central Bank 
bonds, US Treasury bonds and German 
government bonds. 

The main liquidity indicators managed 
by the Bank’s Balance Sheet and Liquidity 
department are as follows: 
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managed using the VaR/CVaR method 
and sensitivity measurements involving 
changes of 1 basis point. The Bank 
remained within its limits during 2021, 
although interest rates experienced 
greater volatility while pension funds 
were being withdrawn, which affected the 
VaR/CVaR for this portfolio. However, they 
remain low. 

The Bank has more assets than liabilities 
exposed to long-term interest rates in 
index-linked local currencies within the 
banking book portfolio. The opposite is true 
for Chilean pesos, as checking accounts 
bring high stability. The balance sheet is 
matched in foreign currencies. Banco BICE 
manages this risk by performing a sensitivity 
analysis with respect to local and foreign 
currencies. Limits are set using historical 
simulations in relation to the maximum 
loss that interest rate movements may 
impose on capital and net financial 

Central Bank is considering the introduction 
of a limit for banks of 60% for 2022. 

Foreign Exchange Risk
The Treasury and Balance Sheet Committee 
has established that the Bank should not 
be significantly exposed to overnight and 
intra-day foreign currencies. Therefore, 
almost all foreign exchange risk is included 
in the trading book, which is managed by 
the Treasury and Balance Sheet Division 
and monitored using Value at Risk (VaR/
CVaR) limits. The foreign exchange VaR/
CVaR position was US$52 million on average 
in 2021, with a maximum of US$211 million 
and a minimum of US$2 million, always 
remaining within the established limits. 

Interest Rate Risk
Interest rate risk for the fixed-income 
portfolio of the trading portfolio is 

an adequate pool of unencumbered High 
Quality Liquid Assets that can be easily 
and immediately converted into cash in 
the private markets to meet short-term 
liquidity requirements. As of December 
2021, Banco BICE’s individual LCR was 
221% and its consolidated LCR was 
212%, well above the minimum required 
by the current standard, and already 
above the 110% required as an internal 
warning. This reflects the conservative 
liquidity policies imposed by the Board 
of Directors through the Treasury and 
Balance Sheet Committee.  

3. Net Stable Funding Ratio (NSFR)
The NSFR is required by Basel III and provides 
a sustainable maturity structure for assets 
and liabilities, so banks can maintain a stable 
funding profile in relation to their business. 
As of December 31, 2021, the individual NSFR 
was 102% and the consolidated NSFR was 
100%. As previously mentioned, the Chilean 
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controls in business or support 
processes, human or system errors, or 
losses resulting from external events. 
This risk is inherent to all the Bank’s 
transactions, products, systems and 
processes and has a wide variety of 
causes, including human error, fraud, 
system failures, supplier failures, natural 
events and other causes.

Banco BICE has established a 
management framework supported 
by corporate governance composed 
of the Board of Directors and the 
Operational Risk, Business Continuity, 
and Information Security committees. 
It has also established policies on 
operational risks, information security 
and cyber-security, fraud, business 
continuity, and risk management for 
outsourced services, which have all 
been duly approved by the Board of 
Directors.

moderate rises in inflation have a positive 
effect on indexation income, while a fall in 
the value of the UF negatively affects the 
Bank’s margins. The Treasury and Balance 
Sheet Committee manage this risk by 
establishing limits on the difference between 
UF-denominated assets and liabilities, which 
may not exceed 15% of the Bank’s interest-
earning assets. An exposure limit has been 
added to the forecast margin loss for the 
next 12 months in the event of an unexpected 
drop in inflation of 1.2%. These mismatches 
are managed on a daily basis by the 
Treasury and Balance Sheet department, 
and the limits are calculated and monitored 
by Financial and Market Risk department.

Operational Risk
Integrated Operational Risk Management 
Model
Operational risk is the risk of financial 
losses caused by missing or inadequate 

income budgeted for the year. The Bank 
performs this simulation by calculating 
the effect on net interest and indexation 
income, as well as the hypothetical impact 
on the Bank’s capital of these movements 
on the entire balance sheet. The maximum 
impact that these movements can have 
on interest and indexation income is set at 
20% of net interest and indexation income. 
The maximum impact on capital is 8% of 
capital, according to an internal method 
that considers correlations between the 
various rates. A limit of 15% of capital has 
been set using a regulatory method, which 
will become effective in April 2023 and only 
considers currency losses.

Inflation Risk 
Banco BICE has assets and liabilities that 
are indexed to movements in the Unidad 
de Fomento (UF). The Bank generally has 
more assets than liabilities in UF. Therefore, 

Banco BICE has established a management framework 
supported by corporate governance composed of the 
Board of Directors and the Operational Risk, Business 
Continuity, and Information Security committees.
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Operational Risk Loss Performance
Operating risk losses of Ch$588 million 
were recorded during 2021, which is 2% 
lower than the losses recorded during 
2020, which represents 0.22% of operating 
revenue.

OPERATIONAL RISK LOSSES (MCH$) 2020 2021 CHANGES %

Internal Fraud 2 0 (100%)

External Fraud (163) 343 310.4%

Labor relations and workplace safety 0 0 0%

Customers, products and business practices 10 13 30%

Damage to property, plant and equipment 0 0 0%

Business impact and systems failure 86 28 (67.4%)

Operational errors 665 203 (67.4%)

TOTAL 600 588 (2.0%)

The Operational Risk department at the Bank and its 
subsidiaries is aligned with the organization’s digital 
transformation framework and understands the current 
changing and challenging.
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Operational Risk Department’s Roles and 
Responsibilities
Operational risk is managed by the 
Operational Risk department at the Bank 
and its subsidiaries. It has recruited a 
team of professionals with vast experience 
in operational risk, information security, 
business continuity and fraud prevention, 
whose main objective is to add value 
to Banco BICE and its subsidiaries, by 
promptly identifying operational risks and 
managing the mitigation measures that 
would minimize their occurrence or impact. 

Robust Operational Risk Management 
Model
The main achievements associated with 
operational risk management in 2021 were 
as follows:

• Improved the capture and automation 
of key risk indicators (KRI).

• Developed various improvement 
proposals, aimed at improving efficiency 
and reducing the risks in processes 
operated by the Bank and its subsidiaries, 
in line with digital transformation.

• Documented all the business and 
support processes.

• Strengthened the management model 
and follow-up of operational risk action 
plans.

• Amended the loss event database to 
meet the new APRO capital requirements.

• Incorporated and expanded the extent 
of control testing for processes at the Bank 
and its subsidiaries.

• Arranged online training covering 
operational risk, business continuity and 
information security issues for the entire 
organization.

• Increased the number of outsourced 
service providers, which are regularly 
monitored.

• Raised our maturity levels and developed 
our capabilities to counter cyber-security 
related threats.

Operational Risk in Digital Transformation
It supports new ideas and initiatives 
using all the available tools, while always 
seeking a balance between agility and 
correctly identifying the Bank’s risks. The 
Operational Risk department adopts this 
spirit when supporting digital projects 
from start to finish at all times. It aims to 
adapt to each department’s innovative 
vertical structure and responds to them 
with agility when identifying the risks, 
controls and initiatives associated with 
new products and services launched 
during 2021, always with a focus on 
maximizing value creation.

The Bank’s Operational Risk Management it’s aligned with the 
organization’s digital transformation framwork, supporting 
new ideas and iniciatives with the available means.
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Digital Transformation
Division

Banco BICE continued to digitally 
transform during 2021, as defined 
during 2019. The objective is to position 
itself as a leader in growth and 
customer experience.

Paul Abogabir M.

Digital Transformation Executive Director
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Banco BICE continued to digitally transform 
during 2021, as defined during 2019. The 
objective is to position itself as a leader in 
growth and customer experience.

New agile teams were created within the 
Digital Transformation department that 
have been accelerating and deepening 
this objective within the framework of 
this plan during 2021. Together with the 
IT Evolution plan from the Operations 
and Technology Division, they have 
established the foundations to address 
our competitive challenges. These 
are greater local and international 
competition, increasingly empowered 
and demanding customers, technological 
changes that change how we compete 
in multiple industries (e.g., through new 
products, services and changes in entry 
barriers), a pandemic that forced us to 
accelerate the adoption of new working 
practices, and other challenges.

During this period, we made progress on 
multiple fronts and significantly improved 
our digital channels to become customer 
experience leaders by addressing some of 
the primary difficulties facing users in the 
personal and business world. We increased 
our digital product teams to nine, who work 
hand in hand with the Bank’s commercial 
divisions. These are Companies and 
Branches, Corporations, Retail and 
Investments. This has strengthened 
customer acquisition and on-line product 
capture under a collaborative framework 
together with all the Bank’s service 
departments, such as HR, Marketing, Risk, 
Operations and Technology.

We have achieved some fully digital 
onboarding. For example, BICE Inversiones 
captured around 50% of their individual 
customers online during 2021, and GoBICE 
almost doubled their capture capacity for 
retail banking customers in 2021. We aim to 

improve our customers’ experience when 
navigating the retail and company websites 
and applications. Accordingly, we have: (i) 
examined the main reason for customer 
calls to our contact center; (ii) improved 
how our mobile application is used and 
experienced, (iii) planned and addressed 
part of the technological obsolescence 
of the individual website by migrating 
over 80% of customer traffic, in addition 
to laying the groundwork to accelerate 
future changes and the foundations for a 
change in this direction for the corporate 
website, and (iv) built some of the main 
foreign trade transactions using updated 
experience and technology.

All these initiatives and improvements 
have required a tremendous commitment 
from the entire organization, which has 
resulted in multiple changes that have 
enabled BICE to progress towards the 
culture it desires as an organization, whose 
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We expect 2022 to be a key year that strengthens the 
Digital Transformation department by accelerating its 
impact on the business and value creation for all BICE 
commercial departments.

will require defining a new operational 
model, together with mature and high-
performance teams, who are empowered 
and focused on frequently and continuously 
adding value, while having the end-to-
end capabilities that depend on their 
individual challenges. We are convinced 
that through continuous improvement, 
constant learning and innovation, we will 
become a well-recognized bank in Chile 
as measured by customer experience. 
We will always strive to achieve sufficient 
profitability for our shareholders and 
fulfillment for our employees, while 
respecting our responsibilities to the 
country and our local communities.

purpose is to adapt the organization to 
new ways of working using new practices, 
tools, people, etc. 

The digital team played an important role in 
responding to the two major challenges in 
2021, which were defining a new corporate 
purpose and defining the 2022-2024 
strategic plan and its main initiatives, for 
which digital success is fundamental. 

Finally, we expect 2022 to be a key year that 
strengthens the Digital Transformation 
department by accelerating its impact 
on the business and value creation for 
all BICE commercial departments. This 
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Marketing
and Customer
Experience

During 2021, the Marketing and 
Customer Experience division focused 
on supporting the Bank’s strategy, 
promoting digital transformation 
projects and beginning to prepare a 
new brand position within a strategy 
that will be implemented in 2022.

Alice Martins G.

Marketing and Customer Experience Executive Director
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Marketing and Product Strategy
In 2021, we introduced a new method to 
discover and develop new products, which has 
not only reduced uncertainty surrounding the 
launch of new products, but also increased 
their probability of success, as it uses a highly 
customer-focused approach.

We have consolidated our GO BICE 
digital account for retail customers, 
adding thousands of customers and new 
functionalities that have enriched its value 
proposition. It achieved a net promoter score 
(NPS) of over 55 points, which makes it one of 
the Bank’s leading products. We launched the 
new Dividendo Reducido BICE mortgage loan, 
where customers acquiring a property can 
reduce their repayment installments, as a 
percentage of the loan principal is repaid with 
the final loan installment. We have developed 
a consumer loan with similar characteristics, 
which gives our customers lower loan 
repayment installments so they can use 

these additional resources to balance their 
cash flows, for example, with investments or 
to change their car. Finally, we successfully 
implemented Google Pay, so our credit and 
debit card customers can now securely make 
payments using their cell phones.
 
We implemented our renewed proposal for the 
Visa Business Credit Card for our business and 
corporate customers. Its new features include 
accumulating BICE Dollars, updated expense 
management and improved coverage available 
from our associated insurance policies. This 
new card will be available to our customers 
during early 2022. We strengthened our SME 
value proposition by developing segmentation, 
loyalty plans, customer service models and 
product sets. Finally, we promoted our value 
proposition and commercial approach to our 
corporate customers, which incorporates an 
expanded range of BICE products. This enriches 
our offering and leverages the product portfolio 
from the Bank’s commercial divisions.

We are constantly developing alliances 
and new business, in order to leverage our 
brand and products with third parties who 
can enhance our value proposition. We are 
developing alliances to add more customers 
that we expect to finalize during the first half 
of 2022.

Data and Advanced Analytics Department
In 2021, we intensified our drive to become 
a data-driven organization by launching a 
data governance program, with key roles 
and responsibilities for constantly monitoring 
data management within the Bank and 
organizing information with optimal quality 
standards. We began migrating a significant 
proportion of our data to Google Cloud. This 
project has also improved the company’s 
long-term analytical capabilities.

We launched the Vista 360° project to 
strengthen the relationship between 
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We reorganized our teams to respond to the 
requirements of the Marketing and other commercial 
departments. We created the Business Intelligence, 
Advanced Analytics and Vista 360° Cell units.

understanding of the behavior, needs and 
desires of our customers. We introduced 
micro-segmentation in 2020, which is essential 
to aligning the sale of products and services. 
We began with BICE Inversiones, where we 
developed a footprint for this segmentation 
that uses data to characterize our customers’ 
profiles. We then organized our campaigns 
and used differentiated language to deliver 
targeted offers through various contact 
channels. For example, this is reflected in the 
rate our customers opened our emails, which 
increased from an average of 23.6% to 32.8%.

Performance Marketing
During 2021, the Performance Marketing team 
focused on acquiring new customers. In this 
sense, its initiatives were divided into three 
areas:

1.   Implementing digital acquisition campaigns: 
The objective was to generate leads and 

Segment Management
A main focus during 2021 was to change our 
approach. We implemented new governance 
with the Bank’s commercial divisions, which 
aligned commercial initiatives and objectives 
with the marketing strategy for each segment. 
This strengthened key measures and initiatives, 
such as the Consumer, SME, Onboarding and 
Smart Funds projects with BICE Inversiones. 
Accordingly, we jointly built a roadmap for our 
main commercial campaigns and amended 
the timing to match each country and 
business context, while ensuring compliance 
with the objectives and expectations of our 
internal customers.
 
This joint roadmap with the businesses 
continued to develop the foundation for each 
segment by reviewing and updating our value 
proposition. This continuous development helps 
us to redesign our products and promote new 
projects related to the growth and profitability 
of each segment. We are driven by a profound 

account executives and customers, which 
centralizes information to bring us closer to 
our customers’ requirements.

We reorganized our teams to respond to the 
requirements of the Marketing and other 
commercial departments. We created the 
Business Intelligence, Advanced Analytics 
and Vista 360° Cell units.

The Advanced Analytics unit closed our 
first 2021 analytics project, which included 
a segmentation review, improvements to 
product pricing and a newly introduced NBA 
model that shapes our action plans.

The Business Intelligence unit initiated a self-
service information model that simplifies the 
analysis process and improves employee 
understanding and visualization of this 
data. We explored a new data visualization 
platform within our CRM Tableau.
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important milestone was reached in 2021 in 
relation to the Bank’s digital transformation 
objectives. After jointly analyzing the 
requirements and refining prototypes, 
we officially launched the new Retail and 
Investments public websites during the 
last quarter of the year. These significantly 
improve our customers’ browsing experience 
and site security. They are also easier to 
manage and provide greater speed in terms 
of day-to-day modifications amendments 
and optimizations. 

These new public websites are a key resource 
for acquiring new customers, as a content 
strategy can be developed that boosts 
organic acquisition, together with a better 
understanding of user behavior and how to 

new customers using digital channels. Some 
of the products were Portability, Consumer 
Loans, Dividendo Reducido BICE, Mandatory 
Car Insurance Policies and Factoring. We 
mainly focused on customer acquisition using 
GO BICE, which successfully closed the year 
with more than 9,000 new customers, and 
on acquiring new digital customers for BICE 
Inversiones, which achieved more than 2,800.

Team restructuring began to take shape 
this year, with the aim of working as part 
of a multidisciplinary cell, whose purpose 
will be to contribute to acquiring Retail 
and Investment banking customers, and to 
increase the number of consumer loans.

2.  Redesigning the public website: An 

optimize interfaces and improve conversion 
within the websites.

3. Automating and using the Marketing Cloud: 
Finally, a Marketing Cloud platform specialist 
was recruited during the year. This new position 
aims to take full advantage of the capabilities 
of this platform by creating automated flows 
of orchestrated and multichannel marketing 
strategies, which trigger communications 
that support customer acquisition and 
monetization in response to significant 
customer behavior. This new position also 
aims to help the team during automation 
implementation, which will result in more 
efficient processes and increase the time 
dedicated to tasks with greater impact on the 
organization’s objectives.
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Customer Experience Department
The Customer Experience department 
worked with all the Bank’s segments on 
a measurement plan during 2021. This is 
a strategic initiative because living and 
managing our customers’ experience is very 
important to BICE. Therefore, our strategic 
plan focused on moving to the next level and 
systematizing the process. We decided to 
measure our Net Promoter Score (NPS) and 
create a Close the Loop culture. 

Measuring is Not Enough
We chose the loyalty indicator NPS to be a 
strategic variable, as it focuses on increasing 
the number of promoters and decreasing the 
number of detractors. We correlated the NPS 
variables with profitability, since a promoting 
customer becomes more closely attached to 
the Bank, and therefore willing to purchase 
again and recommend us.

Experience measurement
NPS/ISN Survey

Implementation of initiatives

Priorization of initiatives Iniciatives brainstorming

Identify main aches

Contact and recording aches 
detractor/passive customer
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During 2021, the foundations were laid for a loyalty 
model for the entire organization, which focuses on 
three pillars: BICE Customer Experience, Engagement 
and Value.

Customer Loyalty
During 2021, the foundations were laid for 
a loyalty model for the entire organization, 
which focuses on three pillars: BICE 
Customer Experience, Engagement and 
Value, which will be used to profitably 
manage customer loyalty. The Customer 
Experience pillar involved deploying the 
Close the Loop process, where we listen to 
our customers, learn from their feedback 
and respond accordingly in order to create 
initiatives that meet their expectations 
and increase their satisfaction. The Retail 
and BICE Inversiones divisions are already 
executing initiatives, and the Corporate 
and Business divisions will soon be added 
to this process.
 
The Customer Experience pillar was 
complemented by launching the new 

We listened online to our customers 
and learned from them. After taking this 
measurement, we will identify our customers’ 
main issues, then work as a team to decide 
how to resolve them. After that, we prioritize 
and implement these solutions and finally 
remeasure our performance and impact. This 
process is repeated with multidisciplinary 
teams and is known as Close the Loop.

The Customer Journey
We are committed to listening to our 
customers and managing their experience 
with us during their digital and face-to-
face journeys, while recording all of this 
information in our CRM. We have defined 
a tactical measurement variable, the 
Satisfaction Index, which aims to generate 
a wow moment and provide exceptional, 
personalized service.
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new and renovated benefits, promotions, 
alliances and campaigns. This has been well 
received by our customers, achieved good 
brand recall rates and supported the positive 
changes being experienced at BICE.

Press and PR management continued 
to strengthen the presence of our 
spokespersons, both at BICE Inversiones and 
the Bank. They have appeared in the main 
written, radio and television media through 
editorials and interviews. They have kept 
BICE among the top five in the appearances 
rankings and have positioned our experts as 
opinion leaders on current economic issues. 
Spokesperson workshops and theoretical-
practical training were held with group and 
individual exercises for new and established 
spokespersons during 2021 as in previous 
years, to learn how to take advantage of 
every communication opportunity to deliver 
value messages for the brand. We develop 
strategies and media plans for radio, press 

retention model, which will be deployed 
during the first quarter of 2022.
 
The Customer Value pillar involved 
selecting the conceptual design for the 
Customer Lifetime Value indicator, in order 
to build this predictive model during the 
first half of 2022, which will significantly 
help the Bank’s decision making.

Communications, Press and Social Media 
Management
The Brand Strategy and Communications 
department refreshed the brand during 2021, 
in order to universally bring it closer to our 
target segments, using new Banca Joven 
and GO BICE customers and our traditional 
customers who have been with the Bank 
for a longer period. Simple, direct, fresh 
and entertaining communication has been 
used for every Bank initiative this year using 
various channels, and for product launches, 

BICE Benefits value proposition, which 
includes a huge variety of promotions 
and discounts, such as Selección del Chef 
and the BICE Ruta Gourmet, which have 
been very well received by customers. 
We launched our BICE Marketplace Store, 
which provides an additional opportunity 
to use BICE Dollars to purchase products 
from various leading brands.
 
The Customer Engagement pillar involved 
establishing a model that measures 
the extent to which our customers are 
familiar with the Bank, by product holdings, 
usage and profitability. A transactionality 
indicator was added to the latter, which will 
measure the extent to which our customers 
are familiar with the Bank when using our 
products. We created a management tool 
and dashboard for the Bank’s divisions, 
which will provide us with a comprehensive 
overview. We are also developing a proposal 
for a proactive and reactive customer 
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This year our levels of positive interaction were
over 90%, achieving significant growth in our community, 
which today exceeds 10K.

Events and Engagement
We arranged an active agenda of events 
and engagement activities within the 
limitations faced during 2021, not only with 
our customers but also with the general 
public, which raised the brand’s visibility 
and introduced it to new audiences.

We implemented various activities, 
meetings and webinars with customers, 
mostly online, on topics related to strategy, 
economics, portfolios, investment funds, 
markets, etc., which were led by our senior 
executives and supported by leading 
professionals in each topic. 

We organized interesting talks on astronomy 
by the scientist and astronomer, Mario 
Hamuy, who spoke on “An excursion through 
an expanding universe”. There were also 
talks on current affairs and culture, where 
renowned historians like Magdalena Guzmán, 
Magdalena Merbilháa and María José Mora, 

and digital media that support our main 
marketing campaigns. 

We continue to strengthen our relationships 
with our customers and the general public who 
are interested in the content we constantly 
publish on social media. This enables us to 
connect with a broad community who are 
willing to positively interact with us through 
contests, investment podcasts, security tips, 
financial education, invitations to webinars, 
events and various topics of interest that 
support the initiatives we arrange through 
our alliances, such as Teatro del Lago, the 
Universidad Católica soccer team, the 
Montenbaik National Enduro Championship, 
the Chilean Hockey Federation, Prince of Wales 
Country Club, La Parva Ski Club and other 
alliances. All these measures have increased 
positive interaction this year to over 90%, which 
represents significant growth in a community 
that now exceeds 10K and positions us ever 
closer to our main competitors.
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Andrés Velasco, who talked about his 
perspective of current affairs and spoke on 
“Chile and the world, is there a vaccine for 
our economy?”

Another outstanding international speaker 
was the North American social psychologist 
and writer, Daniel Gilbert, and together 
with the Public Research Center Director, 
Leonidas Montes, they spoke on “The Science 
of Happiness: What no one taught us.”

We closed our international season with an 
event organized together with the AHK Chile 
- German Chamber, where the Chairman of 
the strategic and marketing consulting firm 
Simon-Kucher & Partners, Hermann Simon, 
together with the prominent economist and 
academic, José Miguel Benavente, spoke on 
“Hidden Champions, the secrets of success of 
globally successful medium-sized companies: 
Their reinvention in the new Chinese era.”

explained other cultures, countries, religions 
and great figures in world history.

We arranged significant seminars open 
to the general public, with streaming from 
bice.cl and online media. They were led by 
prominent local and international speakers, 
including Max Colodro, sociologist and 
political analyst with a PhD in philosophy, 
who spoke at the beginning of the year about 
the new constitution, while at the end of the 
year, together with former Finance Minister, 
Rodrigo Valdés, they spoke about the main 
issues affecting the second round of the 2021 
presidential election.

The social psychologist and professor of 
Ethical Leadership at NYU, Jonathan Haidt, 
together with the Dean of Law at Universidad 
Adolfo Ibáñez, Isabel Aninat, spoke on “Chile: 
Two crises in search of a story”. We also met 
the economist, politician and academic, 

International BICE Webinar 
“Puentes hacia el futuro” with Hermann Simon
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We used digital media to strengthen specific physical 
experiences, and we achieved high impact and excellent 
customer participation.

high impact and excellent customer 
participation. We created a large amount 
of content associated with various events 
and contests. These included sponsorship 
with Universidad Católica at the San Carlos 
de Apoquindo stadium, the Montenbaik 
National Enduro Championship events, the 
Montenbaik TV broadcasts, field hockey 
matches with the Diablas and Diablos 
teams, sponsorship with the Chilean Hockey 
Federation for women and men, races and 
training days for skiers from the La Parva Ski 
Club, and various sports, social and cultural 
activities at the Prince of Wales Country Club 
that we positively shared with members, 
families and friends of the club.

Sponsorship
We continued with our principal alliances 
during 2021 and enjoyed new experiences with 
the recipients of each sponsorship, thanks to 
the lessons learned last year.  

Mobility restrictions and reduced seating 
capacity for health reasons were not an 
impediment to engaging with our customers 
and partners, as most of our sponsorships 
are related to sports, outdoors and healthy 
living. We achieved a broad scope and good 
connection with the general public.

We used digital media to strengthen specific 
physical experiences, and we achieved 

UC Sponsorship
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Montenbaik Sponsorship

Las Diablas Sponsorship
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Finance, Planning 
and Financial 
Control Division

Pablo Jerez H.

Finance, Planning and Financial Control Executive Director, and 
People and Human Developement Executive Director (interim)

The Corporate Finance, Planning and Financial 
Control Division aims to be a strategic support 
department that helps commercial units within 
Banco BICE to achieve their objectives, using 
evaluation and management tools, timely 
information, rigorous control and support when 
executing their plans. Accordingly, the department 
is structured around its six main functions, which 
are summarized below together with their main 
achievements for 2021.
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Accounting
The Accounting department prepares 
Banco BICE’s financial statements in 
accordance with its accounting policies 
and current regulations. It provides timely 
closing information for the Bank’s internal 
departments and for several regulatory 
entities. It continuously optimizes the Bank’s 
financial control, and it guarantees that 
accounting regulations are correctly applied 
by the Bank and its subsidiaries. 

In 2021, it focused on exhaustive preparations 
to adopt the new Compendium of Accounting 
Standards, which apply International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) to the 
Chilean banking industry.

Taxation
The Taxation department aims to secure 
compliance with current tax regulations, 

core business, and 3) develop disruptive 
initiatives. Furthermore, the entire Basel III 
adoption process was developed during 2021.

Financial Planning
The Financial Planning department prepares 
and publishes management information 
that communicates business segment 
performance for the Bank and its subsidiaries 
to the Board of Directors and senior 
management. Its functions also include 
ensuring compliance with the budgetary 
challenges imposed by management and 
maintaining the risk and efficiency ratios 
that ensure that the Bank’s performance and 
growth is sustainable over time.

During 2021, the department continued to 
improve its tools and processes in order to 
improve the timeliness and quality of this 
information.

Strategic Planning and Capital Management
The Strategic Planning department aims to 
coordinate the planning, structuring and 
follow-up of annual plans, and ensure they 
are consistent. It aims to identify synergies 
between the challenges, visions and projects 
at all the Bank’s departments, and ensure 
that they are compatible with the medium 
and long-term strategic objectives in Banco 
BICE’s three-year plans. It monitors strategic 
projects, to ensure that they achieve the 
Bank’s short and medium-term objectives.

During 2021, it prepared a three-year plan 
and strategic review for 2022-2024. This was 
a corporate process performed jointly with 
our parent company BICECORP and was 
advised by The Boston Consulting Group. It 
resulted in a three-year strategic plan, whose 
strategic projects will: 1) extend our core 
businesses by strengthening transactionality, 
2) address segments that complement our 
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alternative funding sources. These markets 
are expected to become progressively more 
important as a source of funding for Banco BICE 
and the banking industry in general as a result 
of expected political and economic changes.

Administration
The objectives of this department are 
to optimize our physical infrastructure, 
manage the procurement of goods and 
services, ensure optimal risk/insurance 
coverage, manage the Bank’s suppliers 
and their payments, optimize our own 
processes and ensure their compliance.

During 2021, the Administration 
department was assigned the important 

excellence, so we aim to cultivate trusting, long-
term relationships with all our stakeholders. 
Therefore, this department aims to strengthen 
fluid communication with investors using 
various initiatives. These include a regularly 
updated website, which is used to publish 
important and relevant information, the Bank’s 
financial information, corporate presentations, 
credit rating reports, corporate governance 
and contact information for the Investor 
Relations team. This material is published on 
the Bank’s public website (see https://www.
bice.cl/nosotros/inversionista).    

The Investor Relations department jointly with 
the Treasury and Balance Sheet division issued 
the first bond in foreign capital markets during 
2021, in order to identify and diversify into 

mitigate operating and interpretative risks 
and ensure the integrity of the Bank’s equity. It 
continued to improve its tools and processes 
during 2021 in order to achieve its objectives.

Investor Relations 
Timely, relevant and transparent information
Banco BICE has had an exclusive Investor 
Relations department since 2020. Its main 
functions are to inform our investor community 
and any other relevant stakeholders about 
changes, progress and the performances 
of the business and the banking industry, 
by providing them with timely, relevant and 
transparent information.

The Bank is focused on customer service 
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The Bank is focused on customer service excellence, 
so we aim to cultivate trusting, long-term relationships 
with all our stakeholders. 

jointly managed the relocation to our 
new head office, which will enable 
Banco BICE to achieve the standards 
required to implement its ambitious 
digital transformation, by introducing 
an environment and infrastructure that 
encourages collaboration and synergy, 
together with streamlined processes. The 
move to our new head office began at 
the end of 2021 and should be completed 
during the first quarter of 2022.

responsibility of carefully managing 
implementation of a new business 
management software (ERP) for Banco 
BICE. Supplied by SAP and Ariba, it 
will ensure services of the highest 
quality, manage internal processes 
and expenses and introduce several 
initiatives aimed at improving the 
efficiency of the Bank’s expenses and 
achieving savings. Simultaneously, 
this department and the People and 
Human Development department 
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Legal Affairs and
Internal Audit
Department

Rony Jara A.

Eduardo Barrientos B.

Legal Counsel

Comptroller

Our legal and internal audit department are 
structured in such a way as to allow for high 
degrees of specialization to contribute to 
the achievement of the business objectives 
and the development of the bank in all 
of its activities. In the case of the Internal 
Audit Department this structure is also 
characterized by a complete functional 
independence from all of the other entities 
within the companies’ administration.
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During 2021, the Legal Affairs department 
continued to develop its advisory functions 
covering legal, regulatory and legal risk 
management issues aiming to support the 
commercial and back-office departments at 
the Bank and its subsidiaries, in order to avoid 
legal contingencies and legally manage the 
mitigation of any such cases. It contributes 
to business development and compliance 
with corporate and financial governance 
regulations and defends the Bank’s interests in 
administrative or court proceedings, in order 
to achieve its objectives. The Legal Affairs 
department implemented and strengthened 
new technological platforms during the year 
in order to optimize resource use and improve 
the quality and speed of its internal processes.

The Compliance department reports to the 
Legal Affairs department and has optimized 
its Money Laundering and Terrorism Financing 
prevention program, which aims to mitigate 
the risk that money from illicit activities may 
be transformed into licit money using the 
Bank and its subsidiaries as a vehicle. It has 
also implemented several initiatives aimed 
at ensuring that the Bank’s governance and 
management complies with the highest 
standards of business and ethical conduct 
and with the best management practices 
with regard to Compliance issues, highlighting 
the implementation of a renewed Integrity 
Channel, which can be used to report any 
behavior contrary to the law and BICE’s 
principles and values.

The Internal Audit department is structured 
according to specialization within the Bank’s 
processes and businesses and is completely 
functionally independent from all other 
administrative bodies. It aims to help achieve 
the organizational objectives of the Bank and 
its subsidiaries through the systematic and 
continuous practice of evaluating its internal 
control systems, and it comprehensively 
covers all of its businesses, functions and risks, 
using auditing techniques and models that 
use technology and data analysis.
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People and
Human 
Developement 
Division

The main focus of 2021 was for 
each employee to experience 
BICE’s digital and cultural 
transformation and feel 
included in this process while 
learning about progress and 
achievements regarding new 
services for our customers. 

Pablo Jerez H.

Finance, Planning and Financial Control Executive Director, and 
People and Human Developement Executive Director (interim)
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The main focus of 2021 was for each employee 
to experience BICE’s digital and cultural 
transformation and feel included in this process 
while learning about progress and achievements 
regarding new services for our customers. 

We focused heavily on our Experience the 
New BICE project by inviting all employees to 
experience this transformation through “new 
challenges that drive us to go further.” Our 
communication channels were immersed in a 
campaign that invited us to engage with these 
changes by adopting new ways of working 
and acquiring knowledge that challenges 
our approach. Accordingly, 2021 became a 
preparatory year for the great change, which 
is taking shape with the move to our new 
head office and which will make this new BICE 
experience tangible on a daily basis.

Our Cultural plan focused on three aspects: 
1) Leading the transformation: supporting the 
actors and focus areas for this process; 2) 

Experiencing the transformation: developing 
universal action plans and initiatives 
whose focus was to immerse every BICE 
employee in the transformation process, 
and 3) Communicating the transformation: 
designing a communication narrative that 
would encompass the entire organization. A 
central initiative leading transformation was 
the design and coordination of discussions 
between the BICE Lab and IT departments, 
which are directly experiencing this process, 
and other business dimensions that are 
interested in learning about progress with 
products, services and work methods. A total 
of 397 employees from different divisions and 
corporate departments participated in these 
events, which took place between May and 
October 2021. Another important initiative was 
to support the technology teams throughout 
this change, as they were key enablers of 
the transformation. This strengthened their 
collaboration with the business, their adaptive 
leadership and their leading role.

A very important anchor in terms of reaching 
a large number of people and building 
a narrative with a grip on reality was the 
Transformation Ambassadors Program, 
where 62 ambassadors from various 
divisions and corporate departments 
were recognized as change “influencers,” 
based on their core competencies. The 
program included several events involving 
conversations, joint design, identifying 
resistance, sessions for driving change, a 
series of breakfasts in our BICE Lab and other 
events. The ambassadors identified synergies 
and communicated the focuses discussed 
with their respective departments, such as 
the transformation narrative, products and 
services timeline, survey results and other 
focuses. The Transformation Ambassadors 
Program will continue throughout 2022, as we 
strongly believe in two-way communication, 
where employees have a voice within this 
process and are empowered to make the 
transformation happen more naturally. 
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the relocation to our new head office with its 
slogan: ‘New places, new opportunities’. 

Strategic initiatives to strengthen the digital 
culture included participating in surveys and 
market rankings: Employers for Youth (EFY), 
only for employees born after 1986, and Merco 
Talento, a reputational assessment tool that 
uses a multi-stakeholder methodology that 
integrates the perspectives of stakeholders, 
such as society, people management, current 
employees, students and experts, and targets 
a variety of positions with gender equality. Both 
measurements identified the BICE attributes 
that attract young professionals to the brand, 
and identified the organizational characteristics 
that form the basis for candidates’ or future 
employees’ decisions to change, giving us 
objective criteria to enhance our employer 
brand. Our EFY ranking was 74th among 160 
companies, while our Merco Talento ranking 
moved from 73rd to 38th place among the 
top 100 companies and we obtained 7th place 

to help each employee to understand our 
progress with regards to products, platforms 
and systems, thus generating a feeling of 
“pride in BICE’s progress” and 3) Experience 
the New BICE, whose purpose was to help each 
employee perceive the change in the parent 
company as a new stage, where everything 
comes together, such as our approach to 
the workplace, experience and flexibility. 
The main communication channels used to 
publish these focuses were the corporate 
Intranet, which changed its appearance to 
match the color palette of Experience the 
New BICE, our periodical magazine, which 
also changed its format to fully online and is 
available from any platform, and finally, the 
Digital Transformation Newsletter, which has 
informed the entire company about progress 
with our BICE Lab. This year’s iconic campaign 
was: Experience the New BICE, which 
promoted a change in habits through the 
4R campaign: Reorganize, Reduce, Recycle, 
Reinvent yourself, which will culminate with 

We strengthened our recognition program 
based on our corporate values with a focus 
on experiencing the transformation by taking 
it to a fully online platform integrated into our 
corporate Intranet, where employees could 
recognize others through a 360° evaluation of 
employees within the organization regardless 
of their hierarchy or their department, and 
which can highlight employees individually or 
as a group. We also created the digital impulse 
award as a symbol in order to distinguish 
employees who encourage adapting to 
change. During the year, 129 employees 
were distinguished and 11 received the digital 
impulse award in ceremonies held with each 
corporate department.

The annual internal communication plan was 
based on three aspects: 1) Digital ambition, 
whose purpose was to help each employee to 
understand our ambition, based on delivering 
the message “we can all play our part”; 2) 
Products and services, whose purpose was 
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This year’s iconic campaign was: Experience the New 
BICE, which promoted a change in habits through the 4R 
campaign: Reorganize, Reduce, Recycle, Reinvent yourself.

relationships were evaluated covering 116 
services. The ‘Overall Internal Quality’ perception 
has indicated sustained satisfactory results 
since 2017 and this year exceeded previous 
averages with a score of 3.5 on a scale of 1 
to 4. The first-place division was the Treasury 
and Balance Sheet department with its “Cost 
of Funds Issuance” and “Product Consulting 
and Support” services.  Most of the positive 
comments related to its “concern for needs,” 
which demonstrates the importance of 
focusing on our internal customers’ experience. 
Improvement opportunities relate to “speed”, 
which is a significant attribute in the context 
of transformation, given that “agility” is an 
enabler to achieve our digital ambitions.

We are convinced that a company’s culture 
is the idiosyncratic foundation on which to 
build. It always exists and accompanies us in 
every change. A key indicator that measures 
our culture is the working climate survey. 
Our continual good results from the ‘Working 

among 15 within the industry. Our Bank again 
demonstrated its commitment to reinventing 
its approach to work and the business by 
participating for the first time in the Digital 
DNA survey organized by BRINCA Consulting 
and Universidad del Desarrollo. This survey 
evaluates the key aspects of a successful 
transformation. It benchmarked 60 companies 
from various sectors and aimed to establish a 
baseline for our Cultural Transformation. The 
results were shared company-wide, which 
prompted conversations and both similar and 
differentiated action plans were developed for 
each department, which responded to their 
specific needs.

Internal measurements for the year included 
the Internal Customer Survey (ICS), which 
evaluated the quality of service relationships 
between teams, and impacts our ability 
to generate positive experiences for our 
customers. It enjoyed a 90% participation 
rate and 5,104 internal customer-supplier 
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have identified job stability, working climate 
and learning and development as the most 
significant attributes for remaining in or joining 
BICE, regardless of their age. Only the order of 
their priority changes with age, as learning 
and development are the most important 
attributes for attracting young professionals. 
The development and employer branding 
results show a paradigm shift to career 
development, as greater importance was 
assigned to employability, such as up-to-
date knowledge and professional skills, and 
to remuneration over mobility. Accordingly, 
BICE is attracting and retaining talent using 
upskilling and reskilling.

Our Training and Education department has 
focused on improving the digital skills of our 
employees and improving the digital literacy 
of our teams. Therefore, we launched our 
Digital Academy in June this year. This is an 
online learning service that included our 
own platform (LMS) with customized courses 

opportunities to develop positive working 
climates are sufficient, whether they meet our 
employees’ expectations and whether they 
can be adapted to hybrid working. 

The current environment of remote working 
and growth could be a threat to the 
personalized relationship we have currently 
developed within BICE, which should lead us 
to be constantly challenged. Recent studies 
of HR trends have identified that people 
under 40 years old, such as Millennial and 
Zentennials, place high importance on the 
experience and purpose of the organization 
that employs them.

Therefore, we not only monitor our working 
climate but also want to know how each 
employee feels about career development 
and the employer brand, and to identify the 
aspects of remote working that may affect 
them. When comparing these results with the 
EFY survey, we concluded that employees 

Climate Survey’ in recent years reflects the 
excellent performance of leaders, employees 
and business management to make BICE a 
better place to work. Therefore, we are very 
proud to again score 90 points on a scale of 1 to 
100, with commitment measured by our eNPS 
(Employee Net Promoter Score) of 66%. Studies 
show that there is a direct correlation between 
eNPS and individual employee satisfaction, 
as satisfied employees tend to be promoters 
or brand ambassadors. There are very few 
organizations in Chile where more than 94% of 
employees can say with confidence that “I am 
proud to belong to my company.” 

The aspects that employees perceived 
positively included accountability, 
appreciation for collaboration, treatment 
of errors as learning opportunities and 
identification with BICE values. These reflect 
a high correlation with the drivers of our 
cultural transformation. Going forward, we 
face the challenge of assessing whether the 

We launched our Digital Academy in June this year, 
an online learning service that included our own 
platform (LMS) with customized courses that were 
exclusively designed for BICE and accessed by more 
than 1,000 employees.
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was received from our employees. During 
2021, we provided a total of 64,480 hours 
of training, most of which used a virtual 
format, and we achieved an average overall 
satisfaction rate of 93%. 

The year 2021 was a very challenging year 
for attracting and selecting talented people 
and we recruited 280 new employees, which 
represented an increase of 12% over the 
previous year. Of these recruits in 2021, 61.9% 
were men and 38.1% were women. Although we 
still face the challenge of achieving greater 
gender equity among recruits, female recruits 
have increased by almost 5% compared to 
2020, which is leveraged by the wide range 
of candidates, regardless of the fact that the 
final selection is based on the candidate that 

transformation, which reflects the motivation 
of our leaders to learn new methods. 

We provided scholarships to co-finance 
the training of 24 employees this year. We 
completed the sixth Financial Management 
Diploma course together with Pontificia 
Universidad Católica, with 28 employees 
graduating. We focused universal training 
on supporting the preparations to relocate 
the head office with courses related to the 
4R campaign. The courses associated with 
this campaign included Office 365, Outlook, 
Planner, Onedrive and other tools. We 
changed our regulatory courses to a simpler 
and shorter format, which was achieved 
jointly with the Internal Audit and Operational 
Risk departments, and very positive feedback 

that were exclusively designed for BICE and 
accessed by more than 1,000 employees. Our 
LMS has a variety of courses such as Agile 
Mindset, Design Thinking, Agility, Python, SQL 
and other courses. We prepared social learning 
courses in addition to the online courses. 
These attracted more than 200 employees 
with an NPS of 91%, and the aim was to put 
into practice what they had learned from the 
Digital Academy and to socialize with other 
team members. We also generated a specific 
training program for Product Owner (PO) 
trainees, focused on profile reconversion. We 
are proud to say that four of the POs currently 
in the LAB went through this program!

The first group of 128 participants completed the 
Leadership Academy program called leading 
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Despite the pandemic, Banco BICE remained 
committed to the community and continued 
to strongly support schools within the SIP 
Network. Although the Dual Internship program 
was suspended this year, the Bank gave 13 
twelfth grade students from the accounting 
specialty at Colegio Eliodoro Matte Ossa 
the opportunity to carry out their summer 
internships at the Bank, while subject to all 
the required safety measures, which helped 
them to earn their Dual Professional Technical 
Degree. We formed an alliance with Colegio 
Arturo Matte Larraín of the SIP Network to 
support them in the development of a new 
programming specialty. Banco BICE provided 
technological advice for this cooperation 
opportunity covering the most important 
aspects of student professional development. 
Accordingly, the school’s technical team 
created an academic curriculum that meets 
the requirements of companies, which will 
improve its students’ employability. This is a 
long-term alliance that has already defined 

best fits the required profile. 21.8% of recruiting 
processes (61) were for positions involving 
agility, while 25.7% (88) were for incremental 
positions, with the Digital Transformation 
department recruiting the most people 
(32), and the Operations and Technology 
department coming in second place (26).

This year we introduced vacancy information 
meetings given directly by the requesting 
manager, which was also an opportunity to 
publish the functions of each department within 
the organization, as well as the characteristics 
of the required role. During 2021, 54 vacancies 
were published using the Intranet, and 25 or 
46.3% were filled by internal candidates.

During 2021, we recruited 114 students into the 
internship program, 56.1% men and 43.9% 
women, due to strict sanitary care and capacity 
control measures, where 77 came from 
university courses, 37 from technical colleges 
and 13 from professional technical high schools. 

the main contents, and we made progress 
with developing internships and activities that 
will help young people find employment.

During June we arranged a discussion with 
students from Colegio Arturo Matte Larraín on 
entrepreneurship and employability, which 
was attended by more than 70 students 
and teachers. Our Assistant Commercial 
Manager for Voluntary Pension Savings at BICE 
Inversiones gave a talk on Voluntary Pension 
Savings to BICE employees in September, 
within the framework of financial education.

All of these events took place during the 
COVID-19 pandemic, and although the 
vaccination program has successfully reduced 
the infection rate and relaxed the sanitary 
measures, our risk prevention department 
worked hard to ensure the welfare of all our 
employees. Therefore, we developed the 
COVID-19 Occupational Health and Safety 
Protocol as required by health officials. 

Despite the pandemic, Banco BICE remained 
committed to the community and continued to 
strongly support schools within the SIP Network.
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COVID-19 preventive kits have been 
systematically distributed to all employees 
since the beginning of the pandemic. These 
include KN95 masks and individual hand 
sanitizers for each employee, distributing 
more than 25,000 masks so far. The risk 
prevention department has followed the 
guidelines established by health officials 
by providing ongoing advice to employees 
regarding infection traceability to prevent the 
risk of transmission at work. 

The BICE Group was awarded the COVID-19 
Seal Certification for meeting regulatory 
requirements and passing nationwide 
facility audits by experts from the Chilean 
Safety Association Network. This reflects our 
tremendous commitment to maintaining 
high infection prevention standards at 
each branch and at our head office since 
the pandemic began. This achievement 
was due to collaboration between the 
Administration and Operations teams 

It describes the protective measures for 
gradually and safely returning to work during a 
pandemic, and was applied during the health 
alert following the outbreak of this infection. 

This protocol standardized the measures 
required for our nationwide network of 
branches and our head office. These included 
temperature checking points at entrances, 
automatic hand sanitizer dispensers, social 
distancing signs and weekly disinfection 
schedules for our facilities.

Cleaning personnel were trained to disinfect 
surfaces on a regular basis, work stations were 
reviewed for critical on-site departments. 
COVID-19 talks were given by the Chilean Safety 
Association explaining the main preventive 
measures and information was distributed 
on the importance of vaccinating against 
COVID-19. An annual flu vaccination campaign 
was carried out nationwide, to protect our 
employees, external workers and contractors. 

We developed the COVID-19 Occupational Health and 
Safety Protocol as required by health officials. 
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nationwide, who actively worked together with 
the organization’s departments to prevent 
infections at our facilities and protect our 
employees throughout this period. 

The legal provisions in Law 21,156 contain 
an obligation to install Automatic External 
Defibrillators (AED) at each branch to 
safeguard the lives of employees and 
customers visiting our facilities. An AED is 
an electronic device that can examine the 
heart’s rhythm to determine whether an 
electric shock is required for a person in 
cardiac arrest. Therefore, it is an important 
piece of CPR equipment in the event of a 
health emergency within our facilities. 

Accordingly, 33 AED were acquired, then two 
employees per branch were designated as 
those responsible for this equipment and 
trained how to correctly use it.

A risk prevention guide was prepared and 
distributed in order to comply with Law 
21,220 on remote working, which includes 
preventive measures and recommendations 
regarding how to adapt workstations for 
employees working remotely. These were 
reinforced with a regulatory course given 
online by the Chilean Safety Association, 
which trained more than 1,500 employees. 

A Healthy Breaks program was arranged 
to prevent musculo-skeletal injuries, which 
was led by a Chilean Safety Association 
physiotherapist using a streaming format.

During 2021 significant internal process 
milestones were achieved that relate to our 
employees’ experience, as our main focus was 
internal customer satisfaction, which in turn 
benefits external customer satisfaction. The 
main initiatives included:

• All employment contracts and their 
appendices were digitally signed, which 
eliminated using paper, contributed to social 
welfare and benefited the planet.

• The attendance monitoring platform was 
changed to improve system integration and 
streamline the user experience.

• Collective negotiations with Banco BICE 
unions were successfully completed.

• The employee termination process became 
virtual, which efficiently concluded the 
employment relationship with the employee. 

• COVID insurance was introduced, as required 
by the Labor Bureau.

• The Labor Bureau’s digital page was added 
to the recruitment process, which ensured that 
information regarding new recruits is reported 
online to the regulator.

During 2021 significant internal process milestones 
were achieved that relate to our employees’ 
experience, as our main focus was internal customer 
satisfaction, which in turn benefits external customer 
satisfaction.
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Independent 
Auditor’s Report

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS AND BOARD MEMBERS
BANCO BICE AND SUBSIDIARIES

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of 
Banco BICE and subsidiaries, which comprise the consolidated statements 
of financial position as of December 31, 2021 and 2020 and the related 
consolidated statements of income, of other comprehensive income, of 
changes in equity and of cash flows for the years then ended, and the 
related notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Management’s Responsibility for the consolidated financial statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of 
these consolidated financial statements in accordance with accounting 
standards and instructions issued by the Commission for the Financial 
Market. This responsibility includes designing, implementing and maintaining 
internal control relevant for the preparation and fair presentation of 
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial 
statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits in accordance 
with Chilean generally accepted auditing standards.Those standards 
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are 
free of material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence on 
the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. 
The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including 
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated 

financial statements whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk 
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant for the 
preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements 
of the entity in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in 
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on 
the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express 
no such an opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the accounting 
policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates 
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation 
of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above 
present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Banco 
BICE and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the results of 
its operations and its cash flows for the years then ended, in conformity 
with accounting standards and instructions issued by the Commission 
for the Financial Market.

Claudio Hernán Gerdtzen Sepúlveda PWC Chile.
Santiago, January 28, 2022
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Banco BICE and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Financial Position
As of december 31, 2021 and 2020 (In million Chilean pesos - MCh$)

ASSETS NOTES
2021 

MCH$ 2020
MCH$

Cash and deposits in banks 6 1,090,529 1,150,254 

Transactions pending settlement 6 92,658 107,829 

Securities held for trading 7 528,967 435,693 

Investments repurshased under agreements and securities lending 8 696 7,000 

Financial derivative contracts 9 140,770 128,648 

Loans and advances to banks 10      -       -  

Loans and advances to customers 11 6,943,726 6,136,019 

Available-for-sale investment securities 12 841,387 851,390 

Held-to-maturity investment securities 12      -       -  

Investments in other companies 13 501 472 

Intangible assets 14 10,042 4,908 

Property, plant and equipment 15 41,742 30,064 

Assets for the right to use leased assets 15 74,568 67,725 

Current taxes 16 1,401 43,068 

Deferred taxes 16 44,955 46,579 

Other assets 17 180,512 130,949 

TOTAL ASSETS 9,992,454 9,140,598 
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LIABILITIES NOTES 
2021 

MCH$ 
2020

MCH$

Deposits and other on-demand obligations 18  2,585,727 2,077,199 

Transactions pending settlement 6  68,605 90,695 

Investments repurshased under agreements and securities lending 8  63,153 11,895 

Time and on-demand deposits 18  2,698,686 3,077,828 

Financial derivative contracts 9  199,704 133,803 

Bank borrowings 19  1,308,163 896,464 

Debt securities issued 20  1,970,812 1,828,900 

Other financial obligations 20  126,113 125,246 

Obligation for lease contracts 15  70,782 66,134 

Current taxes 16  11,741 2 

Deferred taxes 16  299 411 

Provisions 21  112,162 86,359 

Other liabilities 22  129,810 89,080 

TOTAL LIABILITIES 9,345,757 8,484,016 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements

Banco BICE and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Financial Position
As of december 31, 2021 and 2020 (In million Chilean pesos - MCh$)
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EQUITY NOTES 2021 
MCH$

2020
MCH$

ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE OWNERS: 24 646,644 656,535 

Capital 24 32,142 32,142 

Reserves 24 5,922 6,041 

Valuation accounts 24 (48,669) 3,494 

RETAINED EARNINGS:

Retained earnings from previous years 24 583,657 562,613 

Profit or loss for the year 24 105,131 74,635 

Less: Provision for minimum dividends 24 (31,539) (22,390)

NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST 53 47  

TOTAL EQUITY 646,697 656,582 

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 9,992,454 9,140,598 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements

Banco BICE and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Financial Position
As of december 31, 2021 and 2020 (In million Chilean pesos - MCh$)
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Banco BICE and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Income 
For the years ended december 31, 2021 and 2020 (In million Chilean pesos - MCh$)

NOTES 2021
MCH$

2020
MCH$

Interest and indexation income 25 434,660 338,123 

Interest and indexation expenses 25 (211,687) (163,273)

NET INTEREST AND INDEXATION INCOME 222,973 174,850 

Fee and commission income 26 77,585 58,405 

Fee and commission expenses 26 (10,711) (10,544)

NET FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME 66,874 47,861 

Net loss from financial operations 27 (33,028) (2,209)

Net foreign exchange income 28 49,381 26,601 

Other operating income 33 13,087 6,187 

TOTAL OPERATING INCOME 319,287 253,290 

Allowances for credit risk 29 (47,969) (25,963)

NET OPERATING INCOME 271,318 227,327 

Personnel expenses 30 (80,033) (72,000)

Administrative expenses 31 (40,910) (35,182)

Depreciation and amortization 32 (10,820) (10,232)

Impairment 32 (237) (4,202)

Other operating expenses 33 (12,418) (12,258)

TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES (144,418) (133,874)

OPERATING INCOME 126,900 93,453 

Income from investments in companies 13 152 140

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements
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NOTES 2021
MCH$

2020
MCH$

INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAXES EXPENSE 127,052 93,593 

Income taxes 16 (21,912) (18,951)

Profit from continuing operations 105,140 74,642 

Profit from discontinued operations      -       -  

CONSOLIDATED NET INCOME FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO: 105,140 74,642 

Owners of bank 105,131 74,635 

Non-controlling interest 9 7 

105,140 74,642 

EARNINGS PER SHARE OF OWNERS OF THE BANK (DENOMINATED IN PESOS)

Basic 24  1,775.6  1,260.6 

Diluted 24  1,775.6  1,260.6 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements

Banco BICE and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Income 
For the years ended december 31, 2021 and 2020 (In million Chilean pesos - MCh$)
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2021
MCH$

2020
MCH$

CONSOLIDATED NET INCOME FOR THE YEAR 105,140 74,642 

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME:

Available-for-sale investment securities (53,750) 4,414 

Cash flow hedges 259      -  

Merger of companies under common control      -       -  

Total other comprehensive (loss) gain before income taxes (53,491) 4,414 

Income tax related to other comprehensive income 1,328 (1,192)

TOTAL OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (52,163) 3,222 

TOTAL CONSOLIDATED COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO: 52,977 77,864 

Owners of Bank 52,968 77,857 

Non-controlling interest 9 7

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements

Banco BICE and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Income 
For the years ended december 31, 2021 and 2020 (In million Chilean pesos - MCh$)
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VALUATION ACCOUNTS RETAINED EARNINGS

CAPITAL
MCH$

RESERVES
MCH$

INVESTMENT 
SECURITIES 
AVAILABLE 

FOR SALE
MCH$

CASH FLOW 
HEDGES

MCH$
INCOME TAX 

MCH$

RETAINED
EARNINGS FROM 

PREVIOUS  YEARS
MCH$

PROFIT FOR 
THE YEAR

MCH$

PROVISION FOR
MINIMUM 

DIVIDENDS
MCH$

TOTAL 
ATTRIBUTABLE TO 

OWNERS OF BANK
MCH$

NON-
CONTROLLING

INTEREST
MCH$

TOTAL
EQUITY

MCH$

BALANCES AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2019  32,142  6,041  372      -   (100)  514,218  69,136  (20,741)  601,068  43  601,111 

Distribution of 2019 profit      -       -       -       -       -   69,136  (69,136)      -   -      -       -  

Balances as of January 1, 2020  32,142  6,041  372      -   (100)  583,354      -   (20,741)  601,068  43  601,111 

Dividend distribution      -       -       -       -       -  (20,741)      -  20,741      -       -       -  

Profit or loss for the year      -       -       -       -       -       -  74,635      -   74,635 7 74,642 

Adjustment of available-for-sale investments      -       -  4,414      -  (1,192)      -       -       -   3,222      -  3,222 

Adjustment of cash flow hedge derivatives      -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -   -      -       -  

Provision for minimum dividends      -       -       -       -       -       -       -  (22,390)  (22,390) (3) (22,393)

BALANCES AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2020  32,142  6,041  4,786      -   (1,292)  562,613  74,635  (22,390)  656,535  47  656,582 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements

Banco BICE and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity 
For the years ended december 31, 2021 and 2020 (In million Chilean pesos - MCh$)
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VALUATION ACCOUNTS RETAINED EARNINGS

CAPITAL
MCH$

RESERVES
MCH$

INVESTMENT 
SECURITIES 
AVAILABLE 

FOR SALE
MCH$

CASH FLOW 
HEDGES

MCH$
INCOME TAX 

MCH$

RETAINED
EARNINGS FROM 

PREVIOUS  YEARS
MCH$

PROFIT FOR 
THE YEAR

MCH$

PROVISION FOR
MINIMUM 

DIVIDENDS
MCH$

TOTAL 
ATTRIBUTABLE TO 

OWNERS OF BANK
MCH$

NON-
CONTROLLING

INTEREST
MCH$

TOTAL
EQUITY

MCH$

BALANCES AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2020  32,142  6,041  4,786      -   (1,292)  562,613  74,635  (22,390)  656,535  47  656,582 

Distribution of 2020 profit      -       -       -       -       -   74,635  (74,635)      -       -       -       -  

Balances as of January 1, 2021  32,142  6,041  4,786      -   (1,292)  637,248      -   (22,390)  656,535  47  656,582 

Distribution of dividends 2020 profit      -       -       -       -       -  (22,390)      -  22,390  -      -       -  

Application of CNC as per Circular No. 2,243 (*)      -  (119)      -       -       -       -       -       -   (119)      -  (119)

Distribution of eventual dividends      -       -       -       -       -  (31,201)      -       -   (31,201)      -  (31,201)

Profit or loss for the year      -       -       -       -       -       -  105,131      -   105,131 9 105,140 

Adjustment of available-for-sale investments      -       -  (53,750)      -  1,398      -       -       -   (52,352)      -   (52,352)

Adjustment of cash flow hedge derivatives      -       -       -  259 (70)      -       -       -   189      -   189 

Provision for minimum dividends      -       -       -       -       -       -       -  (31,539)  (31,539) (3)  (31,542)

BALANCES AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2021  32,142  5,922  (48,964) 259  36  583,657  105,131  (31,539)  646,644  53  646,697 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements

(*) Corresponds to the application of the change in the criteria of suspension of income on an accrual basis, the detail of which is 
described in Note No. 3 Accounting changes.

Banco BICE and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity 
For the years ended december 31, 2021 and 2020 (In million Chilean pesos - MCh$)
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2021
MCH$

2020
MCH$

CASH FLOWS FROM (USED IN) OPERATING ACTIVITIES:

Consolidated profit for the year 105,140 74,642 

CHARGES (CREDITS) TO INCOME WHICH DO NOT REPRESENT CASH FLOWS:

Depreciation and amortization 10,820 10,232 

Impairment of investments available for sale 237 4,202 

Provisions for assets at risk 36,478 26,975 

Additional provisions 13,029 55 

Adjustment of investments at market value 3,967 (4,098)

Profit from sale of assets received in lieu of payment and recovered from lease transactions (228) (241)

Write-off of assets in lieu of payment 535 76 

Net income from sales of property, plant and equipment (6,016) (474)

Income tax provision 21,912 18,951 

Net variation in interest, indexation adjustment and fees and commissions accrued of assets and liabilities 17,727 5,587 

Non-controlling interest (9) (7)

CHANGES IN ASSETS AND LIABILITIES THAT AFFECT OPERATING CASH FLOWS: 

 (Increase) net decrease in securities held for trading (288,500) 173,316 

(Increase) net decrease in available-for-sale investment securities (425,194) 86,064 

(Increase) net decrease in loans (700,913) 14,293 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements

Banco BICE and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
For the years ended december 31, 2021 and 2020 (In million Chilean pesos - MCh$)
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2021
MCH$

2020
MCH$

Net decrease (increase) in derivatives 53,779 (14,741)

Decrease in deposits and other term borrowings (379,142) (991,780)

Increase in deposits and other on-demand obligations 508,528 675,213 

Increase of obligations to banks 411,699 599,528 

Net decrease of other obligations (5,672) (12,770)

Net increase (decrease) in investments sold under agreements to repurchase and securities lending 57,562 (46,463)

Net variation of letters of credit (221) (426)

Placement of bonds 145,236 181,323 

Maturity and repayment of bonds (164,247) (62,334)

Net variation in other assets and liabilities (18,444) (1,767)

NET CASH FLOWS (USED IN) FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES (601,937) 735,356 

(USED IN) FROM INVESTMENT ACTIVITIES:

Purchase of property, plant and equipment (16,978) (2,666)

Purchase of intangible assets (10,854) (6,760)

Sale of property, plant and equipment 9,641 817 

Purchase of investment in companies (36)      -  

Sale of investment in companies 7      -  

Sale of assets received in lieu of payment 645 454 

Dividends received from investments in companies 152 140 

NET CASH (USED IN) FROM INVESTMENT ACTIVITIES (17,423) (8,015)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements

Banco BICE and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
For the years ended december 31, 2021 and 2020 (In million Chilean pesos - MCh$)
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2021
MCH$

2020
MCH$

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:

Lease obligation payments (6,696) (4,324)

Redemption of subordinated bonds and interest payments (8,057) (2,148)

Repayment of long-term bank borrowings (1,589) (39,457)

Dividends paid (53,594) (20,745)

Net cash (used in) from financing activities (69,936) (66,674)

VARIATION IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (689,296) 660,667 

OPENING BALANCE OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 1,977,215 1,316,548 

CLOSING BALANCE OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 1,287,919 1,977,215

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements

Banco BICE and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
For the years ended december 31, 2021 and 2020 (In million Chilean pesos - MCh$)
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2020
MCH$

CASH FLOWS  
MCH$

NON-CASH
EXCHANGES 

MCH$
2021

MCH$

RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING 
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Subordinated Bonds  217,397  (8,057)  17,307  226,647 

Dividends  22,393  (22,393)  31,542  31,542 

Eventual dividends  -    (31,201)  -    (31,201)

Obligation for lease contracts  66,134  (6,696)  11,344  70,782 

Other obligations  25,786  (1,589)  2  24,199 

TOTAL LIABILITIES FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES  331,710  (69,936)  60,195  321,969

2019 
MCH$

CASH FLOWS  
MCH$

NON-CASH
EXCHANGES 

MCH$
2020

MCH$

RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING 
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Subordinated Bonds  216,331  (2,148)  3,214  217,397 

Dividends  20,745  (20,745)  22,393  22,393 

Eventual dividends  -    -    -    -   

Obligation for lease contracts  14,307  (4,324)  56,151  66,134 

Other obligations  64,460  (39,457)  783  25,786 

TOTAL LIABILITIES FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES  315,843  (66,674)  82,541  331,710
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements

Banco BICE and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
For the years ended december 31, 2021 and 2020 (In million Chilean pesos - MCh$)
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(1) REPORTING ENTITY

Background of the Bank and its Subsidiaries
Banco BICE is a corporation, regulated by the former Superintendency of 
Banks and Financial Institutions, currently the Financial Market Commission 
(CMF), which was authorized to exist by said body, according to Resolution 
No. 82 of May 28, 1979.

By Resolution No. 128 of August 13, 1979, the Financial Market Commission 
authorized Banco BICE to begin its commercial activities on August 16 
of the same year.

The Bank is the Parent of a group of subsidiaries engaged in different 
business activities and collectively they comprise the Banco BICE Group. 
Its corporate structure corresponds to that of a banking organization 
that offers a wide range of banking services to clients, from individuals 
to large corporations, which are complemented by those services 
offered by its subsidiaries, including securities brokerage, mutual and 
investment fund management, insurance brokerage, factoring and 
confirming services. Its current ownership structure is composed of 
BICECORP S.A. (99.91%), the Bank’s sole controlling shareholder, and non-
controlling shareholders (0.09%).

The background of Banco BICE’s subsidiaries is as follows:

• BICE Inversiones Corredores de Bolsa S.A. was formed via public deed 
of October 1, 1984 and authorized by the Financial Market Commission 
on May 9, 1985. Its corporate purpose is to carry out securities brokerage 
operations, in the terms of Article No. 24 of Law No. 18,045, Securities 

Market Law, both on its own account and on behalf of third parties, and 
it may also carry out such complementary activities as the Financial 
Market Commission may authorize.

• BICE Inversiones Administradora General de Fondos S.A. was incorporated 
by public deed dated February 10, 1987 and authorized by the Financial 
Market Commission through Exempt Resolution No. 23 dated March 
2, 1987. Its corporate purpose is exclusive and consists of managing 
Third Party Funds and Individual Portfolios and any other type of fund 
whose supervision is entrusted to the Financial Market Commission, 
in accordance with the provisions of the Single Fund Law No. 20,712.

• BICE Corredores de Seguros Ltda. was formed via public deed of May 
23, 1997 and authorized by the Financial Market Commission through 
Exempt Resolution No.334 of October 7, 1999. Its corporate purpose 
is to carry out remunerated intermediation activities of general, life 
and social security insurance contracts with any national insurance 
company located in the country.

• BICE Agente de Valores S.A. was formed via public deed of April 1 , 
2009 and registered with the Brokers and Securities Agents Register 
of the Financial Market Commission on October 20, 2009 registered 
under No.198, starting business operations on December 1, 2009. Its 
corporate purpose is to carry out securities brokerage operations, as 
a securities broker, under the terms of Article No. 24 of Law No. 18,045, 
Securities Market Law, and may also carry out the complementary 
activities that the Financial Market Commission authorizes securities 
brokers to perform.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
As of December 31, 2021 and 2020 (En millones de pesos - MM$)
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issued by the Colegio de Contadores de Chile A.G., coinciding with the 
international accounting and financial reporting standards (IFRS) agreed 
by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”). In the event 
of discrepancies between the IFRS and the accounting criteria issued 
by the Financial Market Commission, the latter shall prevail.

The notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements contain information 
in addition to that presented in the Consolidated Statements of Financial 
Position, Consolidated Statements of Income for the Year, Consolidated 
Statements of Other Comprehensive Income for the Year, Consolidated 
Statement of Changes in Equity and Consolidated Statement of 
Cash Flows for the Year. The notes provide narrative descriptions or a 
disaggregation of those statements in a clear, relevant, reliable and 
comparable format. 

(b) Basis of consolidation
The Consolidated Financial Statements comprise the individual 
financial statements of Banco BICE and its subsidiaries (hereinafter 
“the Bank”) as of December 31, 2021 and 2020. The Financial Statements 
of the subsidiaries include the adjustments and reclassifications 
necessary to unify the accounting policies and valuation criteria 
applied by the Bank, in accordance with the standards stipulated in 
the Compendium of Accounting Standards.

Balances and unrealized results arising from intercompany transactions 
are eliminated during the preparation of the Consolidated Financial 
Statements. Unrealized gains from transactions with companies whose 
investment is recognized under the equity method are eliminated 
from the investment to the extent that the Bank ’s interest in the 
investor is realized.

Controlled entities (“subsidiaries”)
Subsidiaries are considered to be those entities over which the Bank has 
the capacity to exercise control, as established by IFRS 10 “Consolidated 
Financial Statements”. There is control when the Bank is exposed, has 
right to variable returns coming from its involvement in the investee 
and has the capability of influencing on returns or through its power 
in the investee. Accordingly, the Bank controls an investee if and only if 
it gathers all the following elements:

• BICE Factoring S.A. was incorporated by public deed dated April 22, 2016 
and on January 27, 2016 the Financial Market Commission authorized its 
existence, starting operations on June 1, 2016. Its corporate purpose is 
to perform factoring operations and confirming services.

All subsidiaries of Banco BICE are subject to the supervision of the 
Financial Market Commission.

The Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended December 31, 
2020, were approved by the Board of Directors of Banco BICE in Session 
No. 502 on January 29, 2021, and audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers 
Consultores Auditores SpA, whose opinion was issued without qualification 
on the same date.

The Interim Consolidated Financial Statements for the period 
ended June 30, 2021 , were approved by the Board of Directors 
of Banco BICE in Session No. 508 on July 30, 2021 and reviewed 
by Pricewaterhousecoopers Consultores Auditores SpA , whose 
conclusion was issued on the same date.

The Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended December 31, 
2021, were approved by the Board of Directors of Banco BICE in Session 
No. 514 on January 28, 2022, and audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers 
Consultores Auditores SpA, whose opinion was issued without qualification 
on the same date.

Banco BICE’s registered office is at Teatinos N°220, Santiago, and its 
website is www.bice.cl.

(2) SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Basis of preparation
These Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared in 
accordance with the Accounting Standards Compendium issued by 
the Financial Market Commission (“CMF”), the supervisory agency, which 
establishes that banks must use the accounting criteria arranged by 
that Commission and in all matters not dealt with by the Commission, 
if not in conflict with its instructions, must adhere to generally accepted 
accounting criteria, which correspond to the technical standards 
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OWNERSHIP

31-12-2021 31-12-2020

ENTITY COUNTRY FUNCTIONAL 
CURRENCY

DIRECT 
(%)

INDIRECT 
(%)

TOTAL 
(%)

DIRECT 
(%)

INDIRECT 
(%)

TOTAL 
(%)

BICE Inversiones Corredores 
de Bolsa S.A. Chile Ch$ 99.99 - 99.99 99.99 - 99.99

BICE Inversiones Administradora 
General de Fondos S.A. Chile Ch$ 99.90 - 99.90 99.90 - 99.90

BICE Corredores de Seguros Ltda. Chile Ch$ 99.90 - 99.90 99.90 - 99.90

BICE Agente de Valores Ltda. Chile Ch$ 99.99 - 99.99 99.99 - 99.99

BICE Factoring S.A. Chile Ch$ 99.99 - 99.99 99.99 - 99.99

Joint ventures
“Joint ventures” are those businesses which are jointly controlled 
by two or more unrelated entities. This is evidenced by contractual 
agreements where two or more entities (“venturers”) have an interest 
in entities (“multigroup”) or perform transactions or hold assets so that 
any strategic financial or operating decision affecting them requires 
the unanimous consent by all the venturers.

Associates
Associates are those entities where the Bank has significant influence 
but does not control them. This capacity is usually expressed in a share 
equal of higher than 20% of the voting rights of the entity and it is valued 
using the equity method. Other factors considered in determining 
significant influence over an entity are representations on the Board 
of Directors and the existence of material transactions, which could 
determine the existence of significant influence over an entity, despite 
holding less than 20% of the voting shares.

I. Power over the investee, this is evidenced when the investor has rights 
that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities, i.e., the 
activities that significantly affect the investee’s returns.
II. Exposure or a right to variable returns arising from its involvement in 
the investee and,
III . Ability to use its power over the investee to influence the amount of 
the investor’s returns.

When the Bank has less than a majority of the voting rights over an 
investee, but such voting rights are sufficient to have the feasible ability 
to unilaterally direct the relevant activities, then it will be concluded 
that the entity is in control. The Bank considers all relevant factors and 
circumstances in the assessment, if voting rights are sufficient to obtain 
control. These include:

• The amount of voting rights held by Bank in relation to the amount and 
dispersion of those held by other voting holders.
• The potential voting rights held by the investor, other voting holders or 
other parties.
• Rights arising from other contractual agreements.
• Any additional facts and circumstances indicating that the investor has, 
or does not have, the current ability to conduct the relevant activities 
at the time those decisions need to be made, including voting behavior 
patterns at previous shareholders’ meetings.

The Bank reassesses whether or not it has control over an investee when 
facts or circumstances indicate that there are changes in one or more 
of the control elements listed above.

The following are the entities in which the Bank has the ability to exercise 
control and therefore are part of the consolidation of these Consolidated 
Financial Statements:
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(f) Transactions in foreign currency
The foreign currency assets and liabilities of the Bank are shown at 
their equivalent value in pesos, calculated at the closing exchange 
rate of Ch$846.95 per US$1 as of December 31, 2021 (Ch$707.85 per 
US$1 as of December 31, 2020).

Gains or losses generated by the effect of exchange rate fluctuations, 
in addition to the results of operations, are recorded in “Net foreign 
exchange income” in the Consolidated Statement of Income for 
the Year.

(g) Measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities
Criteria for measuring assets and liabilities recorded in the accompanying 
Consolidated Statements of Financial Position are as follows:
          
Financial assets and financial liabilities measured at 
amortized cost:
Amortized cost is understood as the acquisition cost of a financial asset 
or financial liability plus, incremental costs for the portion systemically 
charged to profit or loss of any difference between the opening balance 
and the reimbursement value at the maturity date.

For financial assets, amortized cost also includes indexation to its 
carrying amount from any impairment loss, if applicable.

For financial instruments, the portion systematically charged to the 
profit and loss accounts is recorded by the effective rate method. 
The effective interest rate method is the discount rate that equals the 
value of a financial instrument to its total estimated cash flows for all 
items over its remaining life, without considering impairment, which is 
recognized as a result of the period in which it is originated.

Assets measured at fair value:
“Fair value” means the price that would be received to sell an asset or 
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction in the principal (or 
most advantageous) market at the measurement date under current 
market conditions (i.e., an exit price), regardless of whether that price 
is directly observable or estimated using another valuation technique.

Investment in companies
Investments in other companies are those in which the Bank has no 
control or significant influence and are stated at acquisition cost, with 
adjustments for impairment when applicable.

(c) Non-controlling interest
Non-controlling interest represents the portion of profit and loss and 
net assets of which, directly or indirectly, the Bank is not owner. It is 
presented separately in the Consolidated Statement of Income for 
the Year, Consolidated Statement of Other Comprehensive Income for 
the Year and it is included in Equity in the Consolidated Statement of 
Financial Position, separately from Shareholders’ Equity.

(d) Operating segments
The Bank’s operating segments are determined based on the different 
business units, considering for this what required by IFRS 8, which defines 
an operating segment as a component of an entity:

• that engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues 
and incur expenses (including revenues and expenses from transactions 
with other components of the same entity),
• whose operating results are reviewed regularly by the entity’s chief 
operating decision maker to make decisions about resources to be 
allocated to the segment and assess its performance, and
• for which discrete financial information is available.

These business units deliver products and services subject to different 
risks and returns, for which Senior Management evaluates their 
performance separately.

(e) Functional and presentation currency
In accordance with IAS 21 “The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange 
Rates”, the Bank has defined Chilean Peso as its functional and presentation 
currency, which is the currency of the primary economic environment 
in which the entity operates. Such currency also has an impact on the 
Bank’s cost and revenue structure. Therefore, all balances and transactions 
denominated in currencies other than the Chilean Peso are considered 
as “foreign currency”.
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(h) Investment securities
Investment securities are classified in two categories: held-to-maturity 
investments and available-for-sale securities. Held-to-maturity investments 
include only securities that the Bank has the ability and intent to hold 
to maturity.

Investment securities are initially recognized at cost, including acquisition 
costs. Available-for- sale instruments are subsequently measured 
at fair value according to the market prices or valuations obtained 
from the use of models, less impairment losses. Unrealized gains or 
losses arising from changes in fair value are recognized with a charge 
or credit to equity accounts (valuation accounts), except for those 
instruments designated as hedges for accounting hedges of Fair Value 
of existing items. When these investments are disposed of or become 
impaired, the amount of the accumulated fair value adjustments in 
equity is transferred to income and reported in the caption “Net gain 
from financial operations” and in the case of impaired investments the 
transfer to income is reported in the line “Impairment” in the Consolidated 
Statement of Income for the Year.

Held-to-maturity investments are recorded at amortized cost plus 
interests and accrued adjustments, less the impairment provisions 
set up when the recorded amount is higher than the estimated 
recovery amount.

As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Bank holds no investment to 
maturity. All other investment securities are classified as available 
for sale.

Interests and indexation in investments held-to-maturity and available 
for sale securities are included under the caption “Interest and indexation 
income” in the Consolidated Statement of Income for the Year.

Purchases and sales of investment securities that must be delivered 
within the term established by market regulations or conventions are 
recognized on the trade date in which the purchase or sale of the asset 
is committed.

When a price for an asset or liability is unobservable, the Bank shall 
measure fair value using another valuation technique that maximizes the 
use of relevant observable inputs and minimizes the use of unobservable 
inputs. Since fair value is a market-based measurement, it is measured 
using the assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the 
asset or liability, including assumptions about risk.

Valuation techniques include the use of recent arm’s length market 
transactions between knowledgeable, willing parties, if available, as 
well as references to the fair value of another substantially similar 
financial instrument, discounted cash flow and option pricing models. 
Consequently, the Bank’s intention to hold an asset or otherwise settle 
or satisfy a liability is not relevant when measuring fair value.

In cases where it is not possible to determine the fair value of a financial 
asset or liability, it is measured at amortized cost.

In addition, in accordance with Chapter A-2 “Limitations on the use of 
general criteria” of the Compendium of Accounting Standards for Banks 
of the Financial Market Commission, banks may not designate assets or 
liabilities to be measured at fair value instead of the general criterion 
of amortized cost.

The Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared on the 
amortized cost basis except for:

• Derivative financial instruments.
•Non-current assets held for sale are measured at fair value less costs 
to sell, when this amount is less than their carrying value.
• Trading instruments.
• Investment instruments available for sale.
• Loans and advances to customers measured at fair value as part of 
accounting hedging of existing items (Assets).
• The financing obtained from the Central Bank of Chile (Conditional 
Facility on Increase of Loans) as part of an accounting hedge of existing 
items (Liabilities).
• The debt securities (Bonds) as part of an accounting hedge of existing 
items (Liabilities).
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known as Credit Value Adjustment (CVA). The CVA is calculated as the 
difference between the value of cash flows of a derivative financial 
instrument or portfolio of derivatives, discounted at risk-free rates and 
the value of such flows discounted by the curves of each counterparty, 
considering their adjustment for credit risk. For this purpose, the swap 
rates of derivative instruments and the expected positive exposure over 
the life of the derivative instrument are used.

Certain derivatives embedded in other financial instruments are treated 
as separate derivatives when their risk and characteristics are not 
closely related to those of the host contract and the host contract is not 
recorded at fair value with their unrealized gains and losses included 
in the Consolidated Statements of Income for the Year.

At the date of entering into a derivative contract, this is to be designated 
by the Bank as a derivative instrument held for trading or for hedge 
accounting purposes.

Changes in the fair value of derivative instruments designated as 
held for trading are recognized in the caption “Net gain from financial 
operations” in the Consolidated Statements of Income for the Year.

If a derivative instrument is classified for accounting hedge purposes, 
this can be: (1) a hedge of the fair value of existing assets or liabilities or 
firm commitments; (2) a hedge of cash flows related to existing assets 
or liabilities or expected transactions; (3) a hedge of the net investment 
in a foreign operation as defined in IAS 21. A hedging relationship for 
hedge accounting purposes must meet all of the following conditions: 
(a) at the time the hedging relationship is initiated it has been formally 
documented; (b) the hedge is expected to be highly effective; (c) the 
effectiveness of the hedge can be reliably measured; and (d) the 
hedge is highly effective relative to the hedged risk on an ongoing basis 
throughout the hedging relationship.

Certain derivative transactions that do not qualify to be recorded as hedging 
derivatives are treated and reported as derivatives held for trading, even 
though they provide an effective hedge for managing risk positions.

The Bank has evaluated its portfolio classified as “Available-for-sale 
investment securities” to verify whether there are indicators of impairment. 
Based on this evaluation, management considers that these investments 
do not present evidence of impairment, other than those disclosed 
in Note 12 Investment instruments letter b) and Note 32 Depreciation, 
amortization and impairment letter b).

(i) Securities held for trading
Securities held for trading correspond to financial assets acquired for 
the purpose of generating gains from price fluctuations at short-term or 
through margins from their brokerage or at amounts that are included 
in a portfolio for short-term gain taking.

Securities held for trading are recorded at fair value based on market 
prices at the closing date of the Consolidated Financial Statements. 
Gains or losses resulting from fair value adjustments, as well as gains 
or losses from trading activities and accrued interest and indexation 
are included in “Net gain from financial operations” in the Consolidated 
Statement of Income for the Year.

All purchases and sales of securities held for trading that must be delivered 
within the term established by market regulations or conventions are 
recognized on the trade date in which the purchase or sale of the asset 
is committed.

(j) Financial derivative contracts
Financial derivative contracts, which include foreign currency, Unidades 
de Fomento, interest rate Forwards, currency and interest rate Swaps, 
currency and interest rate options and other derivatives are initially 
recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position at cost 
(including the transaction costs) and subsequently measured at fair 
value. This value is obtained from market quotes, discounted cash flow 
models and measurements models for options, as appropriate. Financial 
derivatives are stated as an asset when their fair value is positive and 
as a liability when it is negative, within the caption “Derivatives”.

The Bank has a methodology duly approved by the Board of Directors for 
the fair value of derivatives to reflect the credit risk of its counterparty 
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“Other assets” or “Other liabilities”, depending on the position of the 
hedged portfolio at a given date.

(k) Investments repurchased under agreements and 
securities lending
The Bank engages in repurchase and resale agreements as a form 
of investment. Under these agreements, financial instruments are 
purchased, which are included as assets under the caption “Investments 
repurchased under agreements and securities lending”, which are 
valued according to the interest rate of the agreement.

Agreements to repurchase operations are also carried out as financing. 
Investments that are sold subject to a repurchase obligation and used 
as loan guarantee are part of its respective caption “Securities Held 
for Trading” or “Available-for-sale investment securities”. Investment 
repurchase obligation is classified within liabilities as “Investments 
repurchased under agreements and securities lending”, which is 
measured in accordance with the interest rate in the agreement.

(l) Loans and advance to customers
Loans and advances are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or 
determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market and 
that the Bank does not intend to sell immediately or in the near term.

When the Bank is the lessor in a lease contract and substantially transfers 
all risks and rewards incidental to the leased asset, such transaction is 
presented under loans and advances to customers.

“Loans and advances to customers “are measured at amortized cost 
using the effective interest rate method, less any impairment.

In the case of loans and receivables that are part of an accounting 
hedge of existing items, they are measured at fair value together with 
the derivative designated for this hedge.
 

When a derivative hedges the exposure to changes in the fair value of 
an existing asset or liability, such asset or liability is recorded at its fair 
value with respect to the specific risk hedged. The gains or losses from 
the fair value measurement of the hedging derivative, both from the 
item hedged and the hedge derivative, are recognized through profit 
or loss for the year.

If the object hedged in a fair value hedge is a firm commitment, changes 
in the fair value of the commitment with respect to the hedged risk are 
recorded as an asset or liability with an effect on the results for the 
year. Gains or losses from the measurement of fair value of the hedge 
derivative are recognized with effect in the income statement. When 
an asset or liability is acquired as a result of the commitment, the initial 
recognition of the acquired asset or liability is adjusted to incorporate the 
accumulated effect of the valuation at fair value of the firm commitment 
that was recorded in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position.

When a derivative hedges the exposure to changes in cash flows of 
existing assets or liabilities, or expected transactions, the effective portion 
of changes in the fair value attributable to the risk hedged is recorded 
in the Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity. Any ineffective 
portion is directly recognized in profit or loss for the year.

Amounts directly recognized in the Consolidated Statements of Changes 
in Equity are recorded in profit or loss in the same years in which the 
hedged assets or liabilities affect profit or loss.

For a fair value hedge of the fair value of interest rates in a portfolio, 
and the hedged item is an amount of money rather than separately 
identified assets or liabilities, gains or losses from measuring the fair 
value of both the hedged portfolio and the hedging derivative, are 
recognized with an effect on profit or loss for the year. However, the gain 
or loss from measuring the fair value the hedged portfolio is recorded 
in the Consolidated Statements of Financial Position under the caption 
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Depreciation of right-of-use assets is recognized in the Consolidated 
Statement of Income for the Year on a straight-line basis from the 
inception date to the end of the lease term.

The lease liability is calculated as the present value of the lease payments 
discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease, if that rate can be 
determined. If such rate cannot be determined, the Bank’s incremental 
lending rate determined at the inception date of the contracts will be 
used, based on the duration of each contract. Subsequent to the date 
of initial recognition, the Bank measures the lease liability to recognize: 
interest on the lease liability; lease payments made; and remeasurements 
or modifications to the lease. In the case of obligations in Unidad de 
Fomento, its readjustment must be incorporated to the value of the 
right of use.

Payments associated with those contracts whose non-cancelable 
period is equal to or less than 12 months (short-term leases), and those 
contracts whose underlying is of low value, are recorded directly in the 
income statement for the year in which they are incurred.

The Bank applies IAS 36 “Impairment of Assets” to determine whether the 
right-of-use asset is impaired and, if so, to recognize the corresponding 
impairment losses.

As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Bank has not identified any 
impairment in the value of the Assets for the right to use leased assets.

(ii) The Bank acts as lessor
Assets that are leased to customers under contracts that transfer 
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as 
finance leases. When the retained assets are subject to a finance 
lease, the leased assets are no longer recognized in the accounting 
and the sum of the present values of the installments to be received 
from the lessee plus the purchase option is recorded as financing to 
third parties, and is therefore presented in “Loans and advances to 
customers”. Assets that are leased to customers under contracts that 
do not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are 
classified as operating leases.
 

(m) Factoring transactions
Factoring transactions are measured considering amounts disbursed 
when receiving invoices or other commercial instruments representing 
the credit that the assignor provides to the Bank. The price difference 
between the disbursed amounts and the face value of credits is recorded 
in the Consolidated Statements of Income for the Year as interest income 
through the effective interest method, during the financing period. When 
the transfer of these instruments is performed with no recourse by the 
assignor, the Bank assumes the insolvency risks of those obliged to pay.

(n) Leases contracts
(i) The Bank acts as a lessee
At the inception of a contract, the Bank evaluates whether the contract 
is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if it transfers 
the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in 
exchange for consideration.

To assess whether a contract transfers the right to control the use of an 
identified asset, the Bank assesses whether:

• The contract implies the use of an identified asset. If the supplier has 
the substantive right of substitution then the asset is not identifiable.

• The Bank has the rights to obtain substantially all of the economic 
benefits for the use of the assets during the period of use.

• The Bank has the right to direct the use of the asset.

The Bank recognizes a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the 
inception of the lease in accordance with IFRS 16 “Leases”.

At inception the right-of-use asset is measured at cost, this includes the 
amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability; lease payments 
made prior to or as of the inception date, less lease incentives received; 
initial direct costs; and an estimate of decommissioning costs. The 
right-of-use asset is subsequently measured using the cost model 
less accumulated depreciation, accumulated impairment losses and 
adjusted for any remeasurement of the lease liability.
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An impairment loss related to goodwill is not reversed. In relation to other 
assets, impairment losses recognized in prior periods are evaluated at 
each reporting date of the Consolidated Financial Statements for any 
indication that the loss has decreased or disappeared. An impairment 
loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to 
determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only 
to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the 
carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation 
or amortization, if no impairment loss had been recognized.

(p) Intangible assets
Intangible assets are identified as non-monetary assets (separate 
from other assets) without physical appearance that arise as a result 
of legal or contractual rights. The Bank recognizes a purchased or self-
generated intangible asset (at cost) when the cost of the asset can 
be estimated reliably and it is probable that future economic benefits 
attributable to the asset will flow to the Bank.

Goodwill:
Goodwill acquired is recognized at fair value less impairment losses. 
Subsequent disbursements are capitalized when they increase the 
future economic rewards captured by the corresponding specific asset. 
All other disbursements, including goodwill and internally generated 
trademarks, are recognized in income when they occur.

Software:
Computer software acquired by the Bank is recognized at its cost less 
accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses.

Expenses incurred for computer software developed internally are 
recognized as an asset when the Bank is able to demonstrate its intent 
and ability to complete its development and use it internally to generate 
future economic benefits, and the cost of completing its development 
can be measured reliably. The capitalization of costs of computer 
software developed internally includes all direct costs attributable to 
the development of the software and is amortized based on its useful 
life. Software that is internally developed by the Bank is recognized at 
its capitalized cost less accumulated amortization and accumulated 
impairment losses.

(o) Impairment
Financial assets:
A financial asset is evaluated at each reporting date to determine if 
there is objective evidence of impairment. A financial asset is impaired 
if there is objective evidence that one or more events have had on 
negative effect on the asset’s performance.

Impairment losses on financial assets valued at amortized cost are 
calculated as the difference between the book value of the asset and 
the present value of estimated cash flows discounted at the effective 
interest rate.

An impairment loss related to an available-for-sale financial asset is 
calculated on the basis of its fair value.

Individually significant financial assets are individually assessed to 
determine their impairment. The remaining financial assets are assessed 
collectively in groups that share similar credit risk characteristics.

All impairment losses are recognized in profit or loss for the year. Any 
cumulative loss related to an available-for-sale financial asset previously 
recognized in equity is transferred to profit or loss for the year.

An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that it objectively relates 
to an event occurred after the impairment loss has been recognized. 
For financial assets recorded at amortized cost and available-for-sale 
financial assets that are debt securities, the reversal is recognized in 
profit or loss for the year. For financial assets that are equity securities, 
reversal is recognized directly in equity.

Non-financial assets:
The carrying amounts of the Bank non-financial assets, except for investment 
property and deferred tax assets, are reviewed at each reporting date 
to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such 
indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. For 
the indefinite-lived goodwill and intangible assets or intangible assets 
that are not yet available for use, the recoverable amounts are estimated 
at each reporting date.
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Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are calculated 
at each reporting date. Estimates related to certain property, plant 
and equipment items, are reviewed at each period.

(r) Non-current assets held for sale
Non-current assets (or disposal groups including assets and liabilities) 
expected to be recovered principally from sale rather than continuing 
use are classified as held for sale. Immediately prior to this classification, 
assets (or elements of a disposal group) are measured in accordance 
with the Bank’s accounting policies.

Starting from that date, assets (or disposal group) are measured at 
the lower of their carrying value and fair value less costs to sell. Any 
impairment loss in a disposal group is first allocated to goodwill and 
then to the other assets and liabilities on a pro rata basis, except 
if no loss has been recorded in financial assets, deferred assets, 
employee benefit assets and investment property that continue to 
be evaluated in accordance with the Bank ’s accounting policies. 
Impairment losses in the initial classification as non-current assets 
held for sale and subsequent gains and losses subsequent to the 
revaluation, are recognized in profit or loss for the year. Gains are 
not recognized if they exceed any accumulated loss.

(s) Assets received in lieu of payment
Assets received in lieu of payment and trade receivables are recorded, 
in the case of assets received in lieu of payment at the price agreed by 
the parties, or for those cases where there is no agreement between 
the parties, at the amount for which the Bank is awarded such assets 
in a court-ordered public auction. Subsequently, such assets are 
measured at the lower of the initial carrying amount or net realizable 
value, which corresponds to its fair value (liquidity value determined 
through an independent appraisal) less the related costs to sell .

The subsequent expense in program assets is capitalized solely when 
the economic benefits in the specific asset to which they relate increase. 
All other expenses are recognized in profit or loss for the year.
 
Amortization is recognized in income for the year, on a straight-line 
basis over the estimated useful life of the software, from the date it is 
ready for use.

(q) Property, plant and equipment
Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less 
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition 
of the asset. The cost of self-constructed assets includes the cost of 
materials and direct labor, and any other costs directly attributable to 
bringing the assets to a working condition for their intended use.

If part of an item of property, plant and equipment has a different 
useful life, they are recorded as separate items (important components 
of property, plant and equipment). Depreciation is recognized in the 
Consolidated Statement of Income for the Year based on the method 
of straight-line depreciation over the useful lives of each part of an item 
of property, plant and equipment.

The estimated useful lives as of December 31, 2021 and 2020 are as follows:

ASSETS 2021
YEAR

2020
YEAR

Buildings 50 50

Facilities 10 10

Office furnitures 7 7

Vehicles 5 5

Other 3 3
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(u) Allowances for credit risk
The provisions required to cover the risk of loss of assets have been 
established in accordance with the rules and instructions of the 
Financial Market Commission. Assets are presented net of such 
provisions or showing the reduction, in the case of loans.

For loans subject to collective evaluation, the Bank adopted the 
standard method required by the Financial Market Commission and, 
has also developed internal methodologies for its calculation. Banco 
BICE records the higher value between the internal methodology 
and the standard method indicated above. For debtors subject to 
individual assessment, the allowance policy is applied in accordance 
with the provisions established by the Financial Market Commission.

The methodologies used are:

1. Classification and allowance account for credit risk associated with 
individually assessed debtors
Individual assessment refers to a credit assessment required due to 
the size, complexity or exposure level of companies involved in order 
to perform a detailed analysis of such companies.

The methodology used for classification and making allowances is 
based on the standards issued by the Financial Market Commission 
for such purposes, assigning risk categories to each debtor, according 
to the following detail:
 
• Normal Portfolio: Corresponds to debtors whose payment capacity 
allows them to meet their obligations and commitments, and it is not 
expected that this condition will change, according to the economic-
financial situation. Ratings assigned to this portfolio range from A1 to 
A6. However, the bank must maintain a minimum provision percentage 
of 0.50% on the loans and contingent credits of the Normal Portfolio.

(t) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents correspond to “Cash and deposits in 
banks”, plus (minus) the net balance corresponding to transactions 
with settlement in progress, plus highly liquid trading and available-
for-sale instruments with insignificant risk of change in value, whose 
maturity does not exceed three months from the date of acquisition 
and repurchase agreements that are in this situation. It also includes 
investments in Fixed Income Mutual Funds, which are presented 
together with Trading Instruments in the Consolidated Statement of 
Financial Position.

The indirect method has been used to prepare the Consolidated 
Statement of Cash Flows for the year, in which non-cash transactions, 
as well as income and expenses associated with cash flows from 
activities classified as investing or financing activities, are incorporated 
from the consolidated income for the year.
 
The Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the Year considers the 
following concepts:

1. Operating activities: correspond to the normal activities carried out 
by the Banks, as well as other activities that cannot be classified as 
investment or financing activities.

2. Investing activities: correspond to the acquisition, sale or disposal by 
other means, of long-term assets and other investments not included 
in cash and cash equivalents.

3. Financing activities: are activities that result in changes in the size 
and composition of the contributed equity and of liabilities that are 
not part of operating and investing activities.
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• Substandard Portfolio: Includes debtors with financial difficulties 
or a significant deterioration of their ability to pay and debtors on 
which reasonable doubt exists as to the repayment of principal and 
interest under the contractual terms agreed, showing low margins 
to meet their short-term financial obligations. This portfolio includes 
debtors with past due amounts exceeding 30 days. Classifications 
assigned to this portfolio range from B1 to B4.

• Default Portfolio: Includes debtors and their loans whose recovery 
is deemed to be remote because their ability to pay is deteriorated 
or non-existent. This portfolio includes debtors that have ceased 
paying their creditors (in default) or with clear signs that they will 
cease paying their creditors, as well as those that require a forced 
restructuring of their debt, decreasing the obligation or delaying the 
payment of interest or principal, and also debtors with payments 
of loan interest or principal 90 days or more past due. This portfolio 
includes debtors from C1 to C6.

As part of the individual analysis of debtors, the Bank classifies its 
debtors in the three aforementioned categories, assigning them 
probability of default and loss given default percentages that result 
in the following expected loss percentages:

TYPE OF PORTFOLIO DEBTOR 
CATEGORY

PROBABILITY OF
DEFAULT (PD) 

%

LOSS GIVEN
DEFAULT (LGD) 

%

EXPECTED LOSS 
(EL) 

%

Normal

A1 0.04 90.0 0.03

A2 0.10 82.5 0.08

A3 0.25 87.5 0.21

A4 2.00 87.5 1.75

A5 4.75 90.0 4.27

A6 10.00 90.0 9.00

Sub-standard

B1 15.00 92.5 13.87

B2 22.00 92.5 20.35

B3 33.00 97.5 32.17

B4 45.00 97.5 43.87

For the non-performing portfolio, the Bank, as instructed by the Financial 
Market Commission, must maintain the following provision levels:
 

CLASSIFICATION ESTIMATED LOSS RANGE ALLOWANCE ACCOUNT

C1 Up to 3% 2%

C2 Over 3% up to 20% 10%

C3 Over 20% up to 30% 25%

C4 Over 30% up to 50% 40%

C5 Over 50% up to 80% 65%

C6 Over 80% 90%
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For the recording of provisions for commercial loans in the collective 
portfolio, the Bank recognizes the higher value obtained between the 
amount determined by applying the standard method introduced by 
the Financial Market Commission and the amount calculated using its 
internal methodology.

In the loans evaluated as a collective, two states are distinguished: 
normal and non-performing. The non-performing portfolio includes 
debtors and their loans for which recovery is considered remote, since 
they show a deteriorated or no payment capacity. This portfolio includes 
debtors that have ceased paying their creditors (in default) or with clear 
signs that they will cease paying their creditors, as well as those that 
require a forced restructuring of their debt, decreasing the obligation 
or delaying the payment of interest or principal, and also debtors with 
payments of loan interest or principal 90 days or more past due.
 
(v) Provisions and contingent liabilities
Provisions are liabilities involving uncertainty about their amount or 
maturity. Provisions are recognized in the Consolidated Statement of 
Financial Position when all the following requirements are met:

(a) It is a present obligation (legal or implicit) as a result of past events,

(b) As of the date of the Consolidated Financial Statements, it is 
probable that the Bank will be required to use resources to repay 
the obligation, and

(c) The amount of these resources can be reliably measured.

A contingent asset or liability is a possible obligation or asset that arises 
from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the 
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events 
not wholly within the control of the Bank.

All of the debtor’s loans should be maintained in the Non-Performing 
Portfolio until a normalization of its payment capacity or behavior is 
observed, without prejudice to the write-off of each particular loan that 
meets the condition set forth in Title II of Chapter B-2 of the Compendium 
of Accounting Standards of the Financial Market Commission. In order 
to remove a debtor from the Default Portfolio, once the circumstances 
that led to its classification in this portfolio according to these rules have 
been overcome, at least the following copulative conditions must be met:

• No obligation of the debtor with the Bank is more than 30 days overdue.
• The Company has not been granted any new refinancing to pay 
its obligations.
• At least one of the payments made includes amortization of principal.
• If the debtor has a loan with partial payments in periods of less than 
six months, he/she has already made two payments.
• If the debtor must pay monthly installments for one or more credits, 
he/she has paid four consecutive installments.
•The debtor does not appear with any direct unpaid debts in the 
information compiled by the Financial Market Commission, except for 
insignificant amounts.

2. Collectively assessed debtors
Collective assessments are relevant to address a large number of 
transactions which individual amounts are low and relate to natural 
persons or small-sized entities. Such assessments, as well as the criteria 
for their application, should be consistent with those performed for 
granting loans.

To determinate the allowances, collective assessments require that credit 
groups be formed including debtors sharing similar characteristics and 
agreed upon conditions to establish, both through technically-based 
estimates and following prudential criteria, the payment behavior as 
well as the recovery of unpaid loans.

Collective assessments are based on an expected loss model, using a 
statistic model to estimate default probability and an estimate of loss 
given default, considering the Bank’s historical recoveries.
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in Chapter B-3 of the Compendium of Accounting Standards of the 
Financial Market Commission, the amount of exposure to be considered 
will be equivalent to the percentage of the amounts of contingent loans 
indicated below:

TYPE OF CONTINGENT LOAN EXPOSURE

a) Guaranties and bonds 100%

b) Foreign credit letters confirmed 20%

c) Documentary credit letters issued 20%

d) Guarantee papers 50%

e) Fee credit lines 35%

f) Other credit commitments

- Loans of higher education loans Law No. 20,027 15%

- Other 100%

g) Other contingent loans 100%

However, in the case of transactions with customers with non-performing 
loans as indicated in Chapter B-1 of the Compendium of Accounting 
Standards, such exposure will always be equal to 100% of their contingent 
receivables.

(y) Write-offs
1. Loans and advances to customers written-off - As required by Chapter 
B-2 “Impaired Credits and Write-offs” of the Compendium of Accounting 
Standards Issued by the Financial Market Commission, loans and 
accounts receivable, other than the lease operations indicated in the 
following number, will be written off under the following circumstances, 
whichever occurs first:

(a) On the basis of information available the Bank reaches the conclusion 
that it will not obtain any flows from the loan recorded in assets.
 
(b) When a claim without an enforceable title completes 90 days since 
it was recorded in the assets.

(w) Additional allowances
The Bank establishes its additional provisions in accordance with point 
9 of Chapter B-1 of the Compendium of Accounting Standards issued 
by the Financial Market Commission, i.e., banks may establish additional 
provisions over and above those established in the portfolio evaluation 
models, whether individual or collective, in order to protect themselves 
from the risk of unpredictable economic fluctuations that may affect the 
macroeconomic environment or the situation of a particular economic 
sector. These provisions allow a safeguard to anticipate situations of 
reversal of expansive economic cycles which, in the future, could result 
in a worsening of the economic environment and, thus, function as a 
countercyclical mechanism to accumulate additional provisions when 
the scenario is favorable and to release or allocate them to specific 
provisions when the environmental conditions deteriorate.

The Bank has formal criteria and procedures for their use and constitution 
for the determination of additional provisions, which are approved by 
the Board of Directors.

As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Bank maintains additional allowances 
for its portfolios of commercial, consumer, mortgage loans and exposure 
on contingent loans of MCh$54,103 and MCh$41,074, respectively.
 
(x) Allowances for contingent loans
Contingent loans are those operations or commitments in which the 
Bank is exposed to a credit risk when making a commitment before third 
parties, in the occurrence of a future event, to perform a payment or 
disbursement that must be recovered from its customers.

The Bank records in memorandum accounts the balances related to 
commitments or liabilities inherent to the line of business: guarantees and 
sureties, documentary letters of credit, letters of guarantee, unrestricted 
lines of credit, other credit commitments and other contingent credits.
In order to calculate the provisions on contingent loans, as indicated 
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(c) When the period in which a contract has been maintained in 
delinquency reaches the term indicated below:

TYPE OF LOAN TERM

Consumer leasing 6 months

Other non-real estate lease operations 24 months

Real estate leases (commercial or mortgage) 36 months

 
The term corresponds to the time elapsed from the date on which the 
payment of a rental installment that is in arrears became due.

(z) Personnel benefits
Obligations for short-term employee benefits are measured on an 
undiscounted basis and accounted for as expenses as the related 
service is provided. The types of benefits provided by the Bank to its 
employees are described below:

• Personnel vacations: The annual cost of employee vacations and other 
benefits is recognized on an accrual basis.

• Severance indemnity payments: The Bank records severance indemnity 
payments only when they are effectively made or a formally-detailed 
plan exists identifying significant amendments that will be performed, 
provided that the Bank has started the execution of such plan or its 
main characteristics have been announced publicly or they are inferred 
from objective events on its execution.

• Short-term benefits: The Bank contemplates for its employees an annual 
incentive plan for the achievement of objectives, consisting of a specific 
number or portion of monthly remunerations and is provisioned based 
on the estimated amount to be distributed.

(c) Upon completing the prescription period of the legal procedures 
to demand collection through an executive lawsuit or at the moment 
of the rejection or abandonment of the execution of the enforcement 
order through legal judgment.

(d) When the delinquency period of a transaction reaches the term to 
be written-off as indicated below:

TYPE OF LOAN TERM

Secured or unsecured consumer loans 6 months

Other unsecured transactions 24 months

Secured commercial loans 36 months

Mortgage loans 48 months

The term corresponds to the time elapsed from the date on which the 
payment of a rental installment that is in arrears became due.

2. Write-off of lease transactions - Leased assets must be written off 
under the following circumstances, whichever occurs first:

(a) The Bank reaches the conclusion that there is no likelihood of recovery 
of rentals and that the value of the asset cannot be considered for contract 
recovery purposes, whether because it is no longer in the possession 
of the lessor, due to its condition, as a result of expenses involved in its 
recovery, transfer and maintenance for technological obsolescence or 
because there is no information about its current location and condition.

(b) Upon completing the prescription period of the collection procedures 
or at the moment of the rejection or abandonment of the execution of 
the contract through legal judgment.
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2. If risks and rewards associated with the transferred financial asset 
are substantially retained - which is the case of sales of financial 
assets under a repurchase agreement for a fixed price or the selling 
price plus interest, securities lending contracts in which the borrower 
is obliged to return the securities or similar assets and other similar 
cases - the transferred financial asset is not derecognized in the 
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position and is measured using 
the same criteria used before the transfer. Otherwise the following 
are disclosed in the accounts:

(a) An associated financial liability for an amount equal to consideration 
received, which is later valued at its amortized cost.

(b) Both the income of the financial asset transferred (but not derecognized) 
and the expenses of the new financial liability.

3. If the risks and rewards associated with the transferred financial asset 
are not substantially transferred or retained - which is the case of sales 
of financial assets with an acquired purchase option or sale issued 
which is not deeply in or out of the money, uses in which the assignor 
assumes subordinate financing or other type of credit enhancements 
for part of the transferred asset and other similar cases – distinction 
is made as to:
 
(a) If the assigning entity does not retain the control of the financial 
asset transferred: such asset is derecognized from the Consolidated 
Statement of Financial Position and any right or obligation retained or 
created as a result of the transfer is recognized.

(b) If the assigning entity retains the control of the financial asset 
transferred: the asset continues to be recognized in the Consolidated 
Statement of Financial Position for an amount equal to the exposure to 
changes it may record and recognizes a financial liability associated with 
the financial asset transferred. The net amount of the asset transferred 
and associated liability is the amortized cost of retained rights and 
obligations, if the transferred asset is measured at its amortized cost, or 

(aa) Income tax and deferred taxes
The Bank recognizes corporate income tax expenses at year-end in 
accordance with current Chilean tax legislation.

The Bank recognizes, when appropriate, deferred tax assets/liabilities from 
future estimates of tax effects from differences between the carrying 
value and tax basis of assets and liabilities. Deferred tax assets/liabilities 
are measured, in accordance with current Chilean tax legislation, at the 
tax rates that are expected to be applied in the year in which the liability 
is to be settled or the asset realized. The future effects of changes in 
tax legislation or in tax rates are recognized in deferred taxes starting 
from the date on which the Law approving such changes is published.

Deferred taxes are presented in the Consolidated Statement of Financial 
Position in accordance with IAS 12 “Income Taxes”.

As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Bank has recognized net deferred 
tax assets and liabilities.

As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, for the measurement of deferred tax 
assets and liabilities, the Bank has used a rate of 27%.

(bb) Derecognition of financial assets and financial liabilities
The accounting treatment of transfers of financial assets depends on the 
level and method through which the risks and rewards of the ownership 
of the assets are transferred to third parties:

1. If the risks and rewards are substantially transferred to third parties 
- which is the case of unconditional sales, sales under a repurchase 
agreement for their fair value at the date of the repurchase, sales of 
financial assets with a purchase option acquired or a sale option issued 
deeply out of the money, uses of assets in which the assignor retains no 
subordinate financing or provide any type of credit enhancement to the 
new holders and other similar cases - the transferred financial asset is 
derecognized in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position and 
any right or obligation retained or created as a result of the transfer is 
simultaneously recognized.
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the fair value of retained rights and obligations, if the asset transferred 
is measured at its fair value.

Accordingly, financial assets are only derecognized from the Consolidated 
Statement of Financial Position when the rights over the resulting cash 
flows are extinguished or when embedded risks and benefits are 
substantially transferred to third parties. Similarly, financial liabilities 
are only derecognized from the Consolidated Statement of Financial 
Position when the resulting obligations are discharged or when they are 
acquired with the intent of paying them or replacing them.

(cc) Use of estimates and judgments
The preparation of the Consolidated Financial Statements requires 
Management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that 

affect the application of accounting policies and reported amounts of 
assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from 
these estimates.

The relevant estimates and assumptions are revised regularly by the 
Bank’s executive management in order to quantify some assets, liabilities, 
revenues, expenses and uncertainties. Revision to accounting estimates 
are recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised and any 
future periods affected.

Particularly, the information about significant areas of estimation of 
uncertainty and critical judgments in the applying accounting policies that 
have most significant effect on amounts recognized in the Consolidated 
Financial Statements, are described in the following notes:

NOTE 

9 Measurement of derivative instruments

7 y 12 Measurement of financial instruments

11 Loans and advances to customers (when part of a fair value accounting hedge)

14 y 15 Assignment of useful life to Property, Plant and Equipment leasehold assets and intangible assets

16 Current taxes and deferred taxes

19 Financing obtained from the Central Bank of Chile (Facility Conditional on Increase in Placements) when they are part of a fair value accounting hedge

20 Debt securities issued (when part of a fair value accounting hedge)

21 Provisions

22 Other liabilities (Customer loyalty programs)

23 Contingencies and commitments

29 Allowances for credit risk

32 Depreciation, amortization and impairment losses on certain assets
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The portion of profit for the year that must be distributed in compliance 
with the Public Company Act No. 18.046, or the dividend policy, is recognized 
in equity in the year in which such profit was generated.

(gg) Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing the profit or loss 
attributed to the Bank in the year among the weighted average number 
of outstanding shares during that year.

Diluted earnings per share are calculated in a manner that is similar to 
the calculation of basic earnings, but the weighted average number of 
outstanding shares is adjusted to consider the potential diluting effect 
of share options, warrants and convertible debt.

As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Bank has no instruments that 
generate dilutive effects on Shareholders’ Equity.

(hh) Equity managed by the Bank
Third party assets managed by the Bank, as per Note No.23 (a.1) are 
recognized in off-balance sheet memorandum accounts. Assets managed 
by the subsidiary BICE Inversiones Administradora General de Fondos 
S.A., which are owned by third parties, as described in Note No.23 (a.2) 
are not included in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position. 
Fees and commissions generated by these activities are recorded in the 
caption “Fee and Commission Income”, in the Consolidated Statement 
of Income for the Year.
 
(ii) Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
The Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity included in these 
Consolidated Financial Statements includes all the changes in consolidated 
Equity for the year. This information is shown in two statements: the 
Consolidated Statement of Other Comprehensive Income for the Year 
and the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity for the Year. The 
main characteristics of the information included in both sections of the 
statement are explained below.

As of December 31, 2021, there are no significant changes with respect 
to the estimates made at year-end 2020, other than those disclosed in 
these Consolidated Financial Statements (see Note 3).

(dd) Interest and indexation income and expenses
Interest and indexation income and expense are recognized based on 
their accrual period at the effective rate. However, for loans included in 
the impaired portfolio and when any of these or one of their installments 
is 90 days past due, a prudent criterion has been adopted of suspending 
the accrual of income (interest and readjustments) and they are only 
recognized for accounting purposes when they are effectively received.

The impaired portfolio includes those loans on which there is evidence 
that debtors will not meet one of their obligations originally contracted, 
regardless of the possibility of collecting the amounts due by resorting 
to guarantees through legal collection actions or by the agreement of 
different conditions.

For debtors subject to an individual assessment, all loans classified in 
some of the categories of the impaired portfolio, and categories B3 and 
B4 of the substandard portfolio should be considered as impaired loan 
portfolio. For debtors subject to a collective assessment, the impaired 
portfolio includes all loans included in the non-performing portfolio.
 
(ee) Fee and commission income and expenses
Commission income and expenses are recognized in the Consolidated 
Statement of Income for the Year in accordance with IFRS 15 “Revenue 
from contracts with customers”, i.e., revenue is recognized when or as 
the performance obligation is met by transferring the committed goods 
or services to the customer.

(ff) Ordinary share dividends
Dividends on common shares are recognized in Equity in the year in 
which they were approved by the Bank’s Shareholders.

Dividends for the year are recognized in the Consolidated Statement of 
Financial Position on the date in which they were agreed.

131

An
nu

al
 R

ep
or

t B
an

co
 B

IC
E 

 2
02

1
Fi

na
nc

ia
l

Re
su

lts
 



Consolidated Statement of Other Comprehensive Income for the Year
This section of the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity includes 
income and expenses of the Bank resulting from the performance of 
its activities during the year, distinguishing those recorded as profit in 
the consolidated profit and loss account for the year and other income 
and expenses directly recorded in Equity.

Accordingly, this Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity includes:

(a) The Consolidated Profit or Loss for the year.

(b) The net amount of income and expenses recognized temporarily 
as valuation adjustments in equity, recorded as “Valuation accounts”.

(c) The net amount of income and expenses finally recognized in equity.

(d) Income tax accrued for the items indicated in b) and c) above, except 
for valuation indexation arising from interests in associates or multigroup 
companies measured using the equity method of accounting, which 
are recorded at net amounts.

(e) Total consolidated income and expenses recognized and calculated 
as the total of the preceding letters, showing separately the amount 
allocated to the Parent and non- controlling interests.

This section of the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity includes 
all movements in net equity, including those arising from changes in 
the accounting policies and correction of misstatements. Accordingly, 
this statement shows a reconciliation of the carrying amount at the 
beginning and end of the year of all items that comprise equity, pooling 
movements according to their nature as follows:

(a) Adjustments for changes in accounting criteria and correction of 
errors: which include changes in Shareholders’ equity arising as a result 
of the retroactive restatement of balances in the Consolidated Financial 
Statements due to changes in accounting criteria or correction of errors.

(b) Income and expenses recognized during the year: includes, in 
aggregate, all items recorded in the Consolidated Statement of Income 
for the year.
 
(jj) Customer loyalty programs
The Bank maintains a loyalty program to provide incentives to its customers, 
which allows them to acquire services, based on the application of 
award points called “BICE Dollars”. These points are granted based on 
purchases made mainly with the Bank’s credit cards and compliance 
with certain conditions established in the program. In accordance with 
IFRS 15, these benefit plans have the necessary provisions to meet the 
delivery of committed future performance obligations.

(kk) Reclassifications
Certain reclassifications have been made on some items of the 
Consolidated Financial Statements as of December 31, 2020, in order 
to maintain adequate comparability with respect to the Consolidated 
Financial Statements as of December 31, 2021.

(mm) New accounting pronouncements

Standards issued by the Financial Market Commission

Circular No 2,303 - On December 23, 2021, the Financial Market Commission 
issued a Circular that clarifies the definition of distributable items and 
adjusts instructions on exposure to land acquisition, development and 
construction in Chapters 21-2 - Additional Tier 1 capital instruments 
for the constitution of effective equity: preferred shares and bonds 
without fixed maturity of Article 55 bis of the General Banking Law - and 
21-6 - Determination of assets weighted by credit risk - of the Updated 
Compilation of Standards, respectively.

Circular No. 2,302 - On December 23, 2021, the Financial Market Commission 
issued a Circular that updates Chapter 12-7 - Limit of obligations with 
other banks in the country - of the Updated Compilation of Standards 
(RAN), and file C18 - Daily balances of obligations with other banks in 
the country - of the Information System Manual.
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manner. Early adoption is permitted and will be mandatory according 
to the following schedule:

i.- For those publicly held corporations that exceed the equivalent of 
20 million UF in total consolidated assets calculated as of the opening 
date of the year referred to in the Annual Report, as of December 31, 
2022, for which reason they must submit the Annual Report in the new 
format in March 2023.
ii.- For those publicly held corporations that exceed the equivalent of 1 
million UF in total consolidated assets calculated as of the opening date 
of the year referred to in the Annual Report, as of December 31, 2023.
iii.- For special corporations registered in the Securities Registry kept by 
the Commission, or which according to NCG No. 431 or Circular No. 991 
must submit their Annual Report according to the provisions of NCG 
No. 30, and other issuers of securities not included in the two previous 
numbers, as of December 31, 2024.

Circular No. 2,297 - On November 2, 2021, the Financial Market Commission 
issued a Circular that introduces the new Chapter 12-16 to the Updated 
Compilation of Rules on credit limits granted to business groups. This 
new Chapter establishes the scope and exceptions for the application 
of the aforementioned limit, together with the manner of compiling 
the lists of business groups and the entities that compose them for 
this purpose; it also defines the manner of computing the credits 
granted to entities belonging to the same business group, in order to 
determine their degree of credit concentration and compliance with 
the aforementioned limit.

Circular No. 2,296 - On November 2, 2021, the Financial Market Commission 
issued a Circular amending the instructions of Chapter 1-13 “Management 
and solvency classification” of the Updated Compilation of Standards, 
whose objective was to update the references to the rules that regulate 
the determination of the effective equity and basic capital in the 
framework of the solvency classification of the banking institutions 
established in Chile, making them consistent with those contained in 
the same legal body.

With the latest amendment to the new Compendium of Accounting 
Standards for Banks, which is effective as of 2022, the provisions regarding 
limits on obligations with other banks in the country based on their 
current asset were updated. The changes are summarized below:

1) Regarding Chapter 12-7 of the RAN, the following amendments are 
introduced:

i) The codes that identify the components of current assets that must be 
considered and those that are exempted for purposes of determining 
the limit are updated, in accordance with the new Chapter C-3 of the 
Compendium of Accounting Standards for Banks.

ii) The codes of the obligations that should not be considered for purposes 
of the limit are adjusted.

iii) It is clarified that all term obligations in favor of other banks in the 
country should be considered without including possible obligations 
with the Central Bank of Chile.
 
2) In relation to the instructions in file C18, the codes of the accounting 
information to be considered in various fields are updated, as indicated 
in Chapter 12-7 of the RAN and Chapter C-3 of the Compendium of 
Accounting Standards for Banks.

Circular No. 2,300  - On November 25, 2021, the Financial Market Commission 
issued a Circular that clarifies certain definitions of the sub-factors of 
the systemic importance index, established in Table 106 -Sub-factors 
of the systemic importance index- of the Banking Information System 
Manual, in the context of the implementation of Basel III standards in 
Chile, for a better understanding of the information requested in the 
regulatory file R11 “Rating of systemically important banks”.

General Rule No. 461 - On November 12, 2021, the Financial Market 
Commission issued a pronouncement that modifies the structure 
and content of the annual report of securities issuers, incorporating 
sustainability and corporate governance issues in a comprehensive 
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- Amendments to Chapters 21-6 -Determination of assets weighted by 
credit risk- and 21-8 - Standardized methodology for the computation 
of assets weighted by operational risk- of the Updated Compilation 
of Standards, which are intended to correct typing, transcription and 
omission errors detected in those Chapters, and introduce adjustments 
that by their nature have the prior favorable agreement of the Central 
Bank of Chile.

- Changes in Chapter 21-20 -Market Discipline and Transparency- of 
the Updated Compilation of Standards, correcting reference errors in 
the same Chapter.

- Reference adjustments in Chapters 8-37 -Leasing operations-, 11-6 
-Investments in companies in the country-, 11-7 -Branches and investments 
in banks and other companies abroad-, 12-3 -Individual credit limits and 
guarantees article 84 N°1 of the General Banking Law- and 12-4 -Limit on 
loans granted to related persons article 84 N°2 of the General Banking 
Law- of the Updated Compilation of Standards, various amendments 
are made in order to update a series of references to the rules on cash 
equity, credit equivalents and the ratio between basic capital and 
total assets, currently contained in Chapters 21-1, 21-6 and 21-30 -Ratio 
between basic capital and total assets-.

- Amendment to Chapter B-1 -Provisions for credit risk- of the Compendium 
of Accounting Standards effective as of 2022, incorporating more precise 
conditions (aggregate exposure) to determine the debtors that must 
be evaluated using models based on group analysis.

General Law No. 460 - On August 13, 2021, the Financial Market Commission 
issued a pronouncement that determines the insurance that can be 
contracted in accordance with Article 538 bis of the Code of Commerce.
 
General Rule No. 457 - On July 19 ,  2021 ,  the Financial Market 
Commission issued a pronouncement simplifying the issuance of 
publicly offered securities.

Circular No. 2,295 - On October 7, 2021, the Financial Market Commission 
issued a Circular amending instructions of the Compendium of Accounting 
Standards that were incorporated through Circular No. 2,243, dated 
December 20, 2019, whose main purpose was to reconcile it with the 
implementation of Basel III standards and also with various changes 
observed in the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), 
particularly with respect to provisions of IFRS 9, replacing IAS 39. It also 
introduced concordance adjustments to the Information System Manual, 
in order to make certain normative files of the Accounting and Product 
System, as well as certain tables related to those files, compatible with 
the modifications made to the Compendium.

Circular Letter No. 1,226 - On October 7, 2021, the Financial Market 
Commission issued a pronouncement specifying some aspects of 
the procedure to be followed by banks for the registration of bonds 
without fixed maturity or perpetual bonds referred to in Article 55bis 
of the General Banking Law, in those cases in which the issuance and 
placement is intended to be made entirely abroad.
 
Circular No. 2,292 - On August 19, 2021, the Financial Market Commission 
issued a Circular that introduces various adjustments to the rules described 
below, in the context of the implementation of Basel III standards in Chile:

- Changes to Chapter 21-1 -Equity for legal and regulatory purposes- to 
the Updated Compilation of Standards.

(a) it specifies the treatment of net deferred tax assets arising from 
temporary differences.

(b) it eliminates the references to Chapter 12-1 -Equity for legal and 
regulatory purposes- contained in the transitory instructions of Title 
V, adjusts its instructions in harmony with the implementation of the 
provisions of Chapter 21-1 and, in addition, clarifies the treatment of 
subordinated bonds and additional provisions that may be recognized 
as additional tier 1 capital (AT1), during the transitory period.
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III . Additional considerations, it should be noted that the third article 
of the transitory provisions of Law No. 21,130 allows the posting of AT1 
capital, using additional provisions and/or subordinated bonds, with a 
maximum limit of 1.5% of the risk-weighted assets (RWA) net of required 
provisions, estimated according to the current regulations established 
by the Commission. This limit decreases to 1.0% of RWA, net of required 
provisions, as of December 1, 2021, to 0.5% on December 1, 2022, and then 
to 0% as of December 1, 2023.

Finally, for the purposes of letter b) of Article 66 of the General Banking 
Law, which deals with the relationship between AT1 capital and basic 
capital, the T2 capital to be replaced must be considered, as well as 
the AT1 capital from the issuance of preferred shares and/or bonds with 
no fixed maturity that are made.

Circular No. 2,289 - On April 27, 2021, the Financial Market Commission 
issued a Circular amending Chapter 2-2 - Bank Current Accounts and 
Checks - of the Updated Compilation of Standards, in order to allow the 
opening of bank current accounts that do not contemplate the granting 
of check forms, as well as to persons with no domicile or residence in 
Chile. In addition to this amendment, some adjustments are made to the 
requirements for opening accounts when they are performed remotely.

Circular No. 2,288 - On April 27, 2021, the Financial Market Commission 
issued a Circular that incorporates new regulatory reports in order 
to obtain the information required for the application of the new 
Chapters 21-1 to 21-30 of the Updated Compilation of Standards for 
Banks, on the implementation of the capital framework of the Basel III 
standards, creating the files R01 “Solvency limits and effective equity”, 
R02 “Regulatory capital instruments”, R06 “Assets weighted by credit 
risk”, R07 “Assets weighted by market risk” and R08 “Assets weighted by 
operational risk”, along with the new tables that complement them. 
The information contained in these files relates to the measurement of 
the levels of solvency, effective equity and assets weighted by credit, 
market and operational risk.

Circular No. 2,291 - On July 8, 2021, the Financial Market Commission issued 
a Circular requiring information on deferred credits by incorporating 
the regulatory file C52 “Operations related to commercial deferrals” to 
the Information Systems Manual for banks; this Circular also modifies 
economic activity codes of FOGAPE Reactivation credits (Table 122) and 
updates instructions for Form M2.

Circular No. 2,290 - On May 28, 2021, the Financial Market Commission 
issued a Circular that specifies the dates for sending the new Risk System 
files and adjusts the size of some fields of the files Solvency limits and 
effective equity (R01), Market risk weighted assets (R07) and Operational 
risk weighted assets (R08).

Circular Letter No. 1,207 - On April 28, 2021, the Financial Market Commission 
issued a Circular Letter stating that subordinated bonds and additional 
provisions that are accounted for as equivalent to preferred shares or 
bonds without fixed maturity in accordance with the third transitory article 
of Law No. 21,130, must comply with the limits established in paragraphs 
c) and d) of article 66 of the General Banking Law, in the following terms:

I . Subordinated bonds computed as equivalent to preferred shares 
or bonds with no fixed term to maturity, subordinated bonds that are 
counted as AT1 capital, should not be estimated within the limit of 50% of 
the basic capital provided in letter c) of Article 66 of the LGB, considering 
that the tenor of the transitory provision of Law No. 21,130 is to allow the use 
of T2 capital in the constitution of AT1. However, it should be considered 
that the valuation and form of calculation of the subordinated bonds, 
whether in T2 or AT1 capital, should be in accordance with the provisions 
of Chapter 21-3 of the RAN.

II . Additional provisions computed as equivalent to preferred shares 
or bonds with no fixed maturity, the additional provisions that are 
accounted for as part of AT1 capital should not be computed within 
the limit established in letter d) of Article 66 of the General Banking Law.
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Circular No. 2,284 - On December 31, 2020, the Financial Market Commission 
issued a Circular that creates file R11 “Rating of systemically important 
banks” and the Risk System Information System Manual, related to the 
measurement of the systemic importance index. On February 1, 2021 the 
monthly information corresponding to the year 2020 (12 months) must 
be sent, subsequently, within a period of 9 working days, the information 
must be sent on a monthly basis starting with the information referring 
to January 2021. Subsequently, by means of Circular No. 2,285 dated 
January 26, 2021, the Financial Market Commission extended the deadline 
for sending the requested information until March 1, 2021.

Circular No. 2,283 - On December 1, 2020, the Financial Market Commission 
issued a Circular that incorporates Chapter 21-20 “Market Discipline 
and Transparency” to the Updated Compilation of Rules; this new 
Chapter contains provisions to promote market discipline and financial 
transparency through the disclosure of significant and timely information 
from banking entities to market agents. The information referred to in 
this new Chapter, which is effective as of December 1, 2022, must be 
published for the first time in 2023 with information for the January-
March quarter of that year.

Circular No. 2,282 - On December 1, 2020, the Financial Market Commission 
issued a Circular that introduces Chapter 21-7 “Determination of market 
risk-weighted assets” to the Updated Compilation of Standards, which 
contains the standardized methodology for determining market risk-
weighted assets. For this purpose, the market risk weighting model is 
applied to financial instruments classified in the trading book and has 
a general market component, associated with movements in reference 
interest rates, foreign currencies, commodities and stock prices; and a 
specific component, associated with idiosyncratic aspects of the issuer, 
such as credit spread and default. Additionally, foreign currency and 
commodity risk is considered for positions in the banking book. It should 
be noted that the application of proprietary methodologies (in this first 
instance) for the measurement of this type of risk is not allowed. The 
application of this regulation, which is effective as of December 1, 2020, 
includes a transitional provision that considers a market risk weighting 
equal to zero until December 1, 2021. After that date, market risk-weighted 

In view of the fact that the market risks of the banking book and 
concentration risks are material in the self-assessment process of 
Pillar 2 effective equity as of April 2023, and that these present greater 
challenges in the reporting of information, it has been estimated to 
postpone the final publication of files R13 “Market risk of the banking 
book” and R14 “Concentration risk” for the second half of 2022, informing 
in due time the new dates established for publication and submission 
of information.

Circular No. 2,286 - On February 26, 2021, the Financial Market Commission 
issued a Circular that incorporates or updates its information systems 
requiring the necessary information to evaluate the performance of 
credits covered by the guarantees of the FOGAPE programs of Laws No. 
21,299 and No. 21,307 through the preparation of the following periodic 
information files:

- File C50 on transactions associated with special FOGAPE guarantee 
programs.

- New file C51 on operations associated with mortgage postponements 
guaranteed by FOGAPE.

- New file D59 on daily interest rates for operations guaranteed by FOGAPE 
Reactivation and FOGAPE Postponement.

- New file E22 on the detail of financing requests under the FOGAPE 
Reactivation and FOGAPE Postponement programs.

Circular No. 2,285 - On January 26, 2021, the Financial Market Commission 
issued a Circular that complements the instructions for the preparation 
of the new R11 file, required for the rating of systemically important banks, 
initially established in Circular No. 2,284 of December 31, 2020. It also 
extended until March 1, 2021 the deadline for sending the first report, 
which includes information referring to each of the twelve months 
of 2020. Then, on April 1, 2021 the files corresponding to the months of 
January and February 2021 are sent, and in the following 9 working days, 
the information referring to March of the same year is reported.
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Banking Law” and 21-3 “Tier 2 Capital Instruments for the constitution 
of effective equity: subordinated bonds under Article 55 of the General 
Banking Law” to the Updated Compilation of Standards. These Chapters 
contain the requirements and conditions to be met by subordinated 
bonds, preferred shares and bonds with no fixed term to maturity issued 
by banking companies for the constitution of their effective equity. 
Likewise, the need to have the prior favorable approval of the Board of 
the Central Bank of Chile is also considered.

These regulations will be in effect as of December 1, 2020. However, 
for purposes of compliance with the limits established in Article 66 of 
the General Banking Law, during the first year that this Chapter is in 
effect, subordinated bonds that meet the requirements established in 
Chapter 21- 3 of the RAN and voluntary provisions may be accounted 
for as equivalent to AT1 instruments, with a limit of 1.5% of risk-weighted 
assets net of required provisions. Instruments used as substitutes for 
Additional Tier 1 capital may not be counted in Tier 2 capital and the 
bank must establish the proportions of Tier 2 capital instruments to be 
used for the constitution of Additional Tier 1 capital.

From the second year of effectiveness, the replacement limit will 
decrease progressively, reducing each year by the equivalent of 0.5% 
of risk-weighted assets, net of required provisions, to reach 0% over a 
period of 4 years.

Circular No. 2,276  - On November 2, 2020, the Financial Market Commission 
issued a Circular that incorporates Chapter 21-11 “Factors and methodology 
for banks or group of banks rated as systemically important and 
requirements that may be imposed as a result of this rating” to the 
Updated Compilation of Standards and updates the provisions of Chapter 
12-14 “Application of Article 35 bis of the General Banking Law” of the 
aforementioned legal body. The new Chapter 21-11 contains the general 
rules issued by the Financial Market Commission to establish the factors 
and methodology to determine whether a bank or group of banks can 
be considered systemically important, while the update to Chapter 12-
14 refers to the rules to determine the elements and background to be 
considered when a bank reaches systemic importance.

assets must be calculated according to the guidelines established in this 
new Chapter.

Circular No. 2,281 - On December 1, 2020, the Financial Market Commission 
issued a Circular that incorporates Chapter 21-6 “Determination of credit 
risk-weighted assets” to the Updated Compilation of Standards. The rules 
introduced in this new Chapter, are based on the international standards 
proposed by the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision in 2017, whose 
standard method is more sensitive to risk, as it has categories that 
depend on the type of counterparty and different risk factors, together 
with the possibility of decreasing the weightings that are applicable to 
each type of asset, when credit risk mitigators are considered, as may 
be the case of netting agreements, guarantees and sureties, financial 
guarantees or on- balance sheet offsets. In addition, this new framework 
allows the use of internal methodologies, subject to compliance with 
the minimum requirements for this purpose. This new methodology is 
to be applied as of December 1, 2021. Until that date, the provisions set 
forth in Title II of Chapter 12-1 of the Updated Compilation of Standards 
must be used.

Circular No. 2,280 - On November 30, 2020, the Financial Market Commission 
issued a Circular that incorporates Chapter 21-8 “Standardized methodology 
for the computation of assets weighted by operational risk”  to the Updated 
Compilation of Standards, which indicates the method for calculating 
the amount of assets weighted by operational risk, considering as a 
reference framework the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision. For the 
calculation of operational risk, a single standard method is established, 
in accordance with the recommendations of the aforementioned 
Committee, not allowing the use of proprietary methodologies for this 
type of risk. The application of this regulation, which is effective as of 
December 1, 2020, considers an operational risk weighting equal to zero 
until December 1, 2021. After that date, market risk-weighted assets must 
be calculated according to the guidelines established in this new Chapter.
 
Circular No. 2,279 - On November 24, 2020, the Financial Market Commission 
issued a Circular that incorporated Chapters 21-2 “Additional Tier 1 Capital 
Instruments for the constitution of effective equity: preferred shares 
and bonds without fixed maturity under Article 55 bis of the General 
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regulatory capital contemplated in the new Chapter 21-1 of the Updated 
Compilation of Standards described above in Circular No. 2,274.

Circular No. 2,272 - On September 25, 2020, the Financial Market 
Commission issued a Circular establishing the procedures for the 
calculation, implementation and supervision of additional capital 
requirements (“colchones”) for banks established in Chile.

Circular No. 2,270 - On September 11, 2020, the Financial Market Commission 
issued Circular introducing general criteria and guidelines for determining 
additional equity requirements as a result of the supervisory process 
under Title V and Article 66 quinquies of the General Banking Law. To this 
end, it updated Chapter 1-13 “Management and Solvency Classification” 
and introduced a new Chapter 21-13 “Evaluation of the Adequacy of 
Banks’ Cash Equity” to the Updated Compilation of Standards for Banks. 
These regulations shall be effective immediately upon publication. 
However, the submission of the Equity Self-Assessment Report with the 
totality of the subjects will be required only as of the supervisory cycle 
starting January 2023.

The Equity Self-Assessment Report will progressively expand its coverage:

• April 2021: simplified format, credit risk only (under the transitional approach 
that maintains Basel 1 definitions, throughout the planning horizon).

• April 2022: simplified format, credit, market and operational risk under 
the new approaches in effect at that date.

• April 2023: complete format, considering all material risks of the institution.
 
Circular No. 2,267 - On August 28, 2020, the Financial Market Commission 
issued a Circular allowing the discounting of invoices from assignees 
other than the originator, given the safeguards provided by Law No. 
19,983 in force today. In this respect, the referred modification is based 
on the current mechanisms provided by said law when the requirements 
for the irrevocability of the acceptance of the invoice by the debtor 
and the consequent condition of unenforceability that protects the 
assignees are met.

Chapter 21-11 became effective on December 1 , 2020. However, the 
additional core capital requirement on risk-weighted assets referred 
to therein shall be constituted, at the latest, at the rate of: (i) 0% of the 
total requirement on December 1, 2021, (ii) 25% of the total requirement 
on December 1, 2022, (iii) 50% on December 1, 2023, (iv) 75% on December 
1, 2024, and (v) 100% on December 1, 2025.

In relation to the transitory application of Chapter 12-14, it is established 
that those banks that at the time of the publication of Law No. 21,130 were 
subject to additional effective net worth requirements, must comply with: 
(i) 75% of the total required under the aforementioned Article 35 bis, on 
December 1, 2021, (ii) 50% on December 1, 2022, (iii) 25% on December 1, 
2023, and (iv) 0% on December 1, 2024.
 
Circular No. 2,274 - On October 8, 2020, the Financial Market Commission 
issued a Circular that incorporates Chapter 21-1 “Equity for legal and 
regulatory purposes” to the Updated Compilation of Standards, replacing 
Chapter 12-1 of said Compilation. This Circular updates the rules on capital 
requirements, in order to distinguish and determine the composition of 
the different capital requirements introduced by Law No. 21,130, in Articles 
66, 66 bis and 66 ter.

This standard will be effective as of December 1, 2020. The application of 
the regulatory adjustments and exclusions to the capital components 
referred to in this Chapter will be gradual, with a two-year lag from the 
effective date, starting with a 15% discount on December 1, 2022, rising to 
30% as of December 1, 2023, to 5% as of December 1, 2024, and reaching 
100% as of December 1, 2025.

Circular No. 2,273 - On October 5, 2020, the Financial Market Commission 
issued a Circular that incorporates Chapter 21-30 “Ratio between core 
capital and total assets” to the Updated Compilation of Standards; due 
to the amendments introduced by Law No. 21,130 to the General Banking 
Law, the Financial Market Commission updated the provisions related 
to the ratio between core capital and total assets of banks, for the 
determination of effective equity. This rule is effective from December 1, 
2020, without prejudice to the transitory provisions of the calculation of 
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Circular No. 2,250 - On April 20, 2020, the Financial Market Commission 
issued a Circular establishing an extraordinary provision that allows 
considering as part of the voluntary provisions that make up the effective 
equity, a proportion of the guarantees granted by the Chilean Treasury, 
CORFO and FOGAPE, which cover loans granted by banks. In this respect, 
guarantees corresponding to guarantees or refinancing granted by 
the Chilean Treasury may be added to the additional provisions, 
within the limit of 1 .25%, up to 15% of the guarantees covering the risk-
weighted assets.

Circular No. 2,249 - On April 20, 2020, the Financial Market Commission 
issued a Circular indicating the various measures it has been adopting 
to mitigate the effects that the current health crisis, resulting from the 
Covid-19 pandemic, is having on the supervised institutions. In this regard, 
it decided to extend by one year the period of first application of the 
new provisions of the Compendium of Accounting Standards, so that 
banks have greater flexibility to reallocate their technical and human 
resources during this period of health contingency. Therefore, the first 
application of the updated version of the Compendium of Accounting 
Standards for Banks will be effective January 1, 2022. Notwithstanding the 
foregoing, the change of criteria for the suspension of the recognition 
of interest and indexation income on an accrual basis as set forth in 
Chapter B-2 of the Compendium of Accounting Standards must be 
adopted no later than January 1, 2022.

Circular No. 2,248 - On March 30, 2020, the Financial Market Commission 
issued a Circular regarding the treatment of guarantees in favor of third 
parties in bilateral compensation agreements for purposes of calculating 
capital adequacy assets. This circular established that in the case of 
derivative transactions entered into under a bilateral master netting 
agreement, in which the net fair value of the offset positions is negative, 
such amount may be deducted from the collateral posted under the 
agreement in order to determine the asset subject to risk weighting.

Circular No. 2,265 - On August 21, 2020, the Financial Market Commission 
issued a Circular modifying the risk weighting of that part of the assets 
that are guaranteed by the Chilean Treasury, CORFO and FOGAPE, in 
accordance with the provision of the first transitory article of Law No. 
21,130, which maintains the treatment of the assets weighted by credit 
risk in force at the date of its publication, until the new methodologies 
to cover the risk of the assets are issued. With this new treatment, the 
amounts of loans guaranteed by the Chilean Treasury, CORFO and FOGAPE 
are included in category 2 of the risk-weighted assets classification, 
and consequently, the credit risk weighting is reduced from 100% to 10%.

Circular No. 2,264 - On July 22, 2020, the Financial Market Commission 
issued Circular introducing adjustments to Chapter C-3 “Monthly 
Statements of Financial Position for the Financial Market Commission” of 
the Compendium of Accounting Standards and to the instructions in file 
C50 on “Operations associated with Covid-19 line of credit for working 
capital guaranteed by the State”. The amendment provides information 
to identify both the percentage of the deductible associated with FOGAPE 
COVID-19 guaranteed financing and the provisions made to cover its 
effect on the expected losses of such operations.

Circular No. 2,257 - On May 22, 2020, the Financial Market Commission 
issued a Circular temporarily allowing the recognition of excess home 
mortgage collateral in the standard provisioning model for the commercial 
group portfolio.

Circular No. 2,252 - On April 30, 2020, the Financial Market Commission 
issued a Circular establishing the minimum requirements and conditions 
for the bidding conditions for the granting of Covid 19 Guarantee Lines 
from the Guarantee Fund for Small and Medium Enterprises (FOGAPE), to 
guarantee financing focused mainly on individuals or legal entities that 
have been commercially affected as a result of the Covid 19 pandemic. 
This Circular also established certain guidelines for credit risk provisions, 
both for transactions secured by Covid 19 Guarantees and for the debtor’s 
other loans that are affected by these requirements.
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Circular No. 2,247 - On March 25, 2020, the Financial Market Commission 
issued a Circular stating that it has resolved to grant an additional period 
of eighteen months for the disposal of all assets that financial institutions 
have received in payment or that have been awarded between March 1, 
2019 and September 30, 2020, also allowing the write-off of such assets to 
be made in installments, proportional to the number of months between 
the date of receipt and the date set by the bank for their disposal.

International Accounting Standards Board

At the date of issuance of these Consolidated Financial Statements, 
the following accounting pronouncements had been issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).

a) The following new Standards, Amendments and Interpretations have 
been adopted in these Consolidated Financial Statements:

NEW IFRS There are no new IFRS with application in annual periods beginning on or after 
January 1, 2021

NEW INTERPRETATIONS There are no new Interpretations with application in annual periods beginning on or 
after January 1, 2021

AMENDMENTS TO IFRS

Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16 “Reform to the Reference Interest 
Rate” - Phase 2 Annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2021

Amendment to   IFRS   16   and   covid-19,   the availability of the practical 
expedient was extended to apply to lease concessions (originally until June 30, 
2021) for which any reduction in lease payments affects only amounts payable 
on or before June 30, 2022, provided that the other conditions for applyingthe 
practical expedient are met.

Annual periods beginning on or after April 1, 2021

The application of these Standards, Amendments and Interpretations had 
no significant impact on the amounts reported in these Consolidated 
Financial Statements. In particular with regard to the reference interest 
rate reform, the Bank began its evaluation as of the publication of Phase 
1 on this matter, identifying the customers impacted, the transactions 
involved (analysis of contracts and documentation of each operation) 
and the units or areas affected, establishing interdisciplinary collaboration 
tables whose results (including progress and actions to be taken) are 
reported to Senior Management at the pertinent instances, which 
allows the convergence towards new reference interest rates to be a 
transparent, orderly and controlled process.

Note 36 - Risk management - includes information on the scope and 
steps taken by Management to address this transition.
 
Although the application of IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” began on 
January 1, 2018, Chapter A-2 No. 12 of the Summary of Accounting Standards 
issued by the Financial Market Commission, it has been determined that 
this standard will not be applied while it’s not mandatory for all banks. In 
this regard, it should be noted that with the entry into force of the new 
Compendium of Accounting Standards as of January 01, 2022, IFRS 9 will 
be fully effective and applicable to banks, except for the treatment of 
credit impairment of the items Loans and advances to customers and 
Due from banks, which are classified as financial assets at amortized 
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cost, which will continue to use the provisions indicated in Chapter B-1 
“Provisions for credit risk” of the Compendium of Accounting Standards 
of the Financial Market Commission.

b) The following new standards and amendments have been issued 
but are not yet effective:

NEW IFRS DATE OF MANDATORY APPLICATION

IFRS 17: Insurance Contracts Annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2023. Early adoption is permitted for 
entities that apply IFRS 9 and IFRS 15 on or before that date.

New Interpretations There are no new interpretations in 2021, with a future application date.

Amendments to IFRS

IFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements, and IAS 28, Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures: Transfer 
or contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or jointventure. Effective date deferred indefinitely.

Changes to IFRS 3 correspond to minor amendments for “Business Combinations”, to update the references 
to the Conceptual Framework for financial reporting and to add an exception for the recognition of liabilities 
and contingent liabilities within the scope of IAS 37 and Interpretation 21 “Liens”.

Annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2022.

Amendment to IAS 16, “Property, Plant and Equipment” forbids companies to deduct from the cost of property, 
plant and equipment the revenues received from the sale of items produced while the company is preparing 
the asset for its intended use.

Annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2022.

Amendment to IAS 37, “Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets” clarification for onerous contracts 
unavoidable costs to be included to assess whether a contract will generate losses. Annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2022.

Cycle of annual improvements to the IFRS standards 2018-2021. Annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2022.

Amendments to IFRS 1, IFRS 9, IFRS 16 and IAS 41. Annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2023.

Amendment to IAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements
it clarifies that liabilities shall be classified as current or non-current depending on the rights existing at the 
end of the reporting period.

Annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2023.

Amendment to IFRS 17 “Insurance Contracts” the objective of this amendment is to help entities to implement 
the Standard and to facilitate the explanation of their financial performance. Annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2023.

Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS 2 Practice Statement, provide guidance to entities in deciding which accounting 
policies to disclose. In this regard, it requires companies to disclose their material information on accounting 
policies rather than their significant accounting policies by applying the concept of materiality to the disclosures 
of such accounting policies.

Annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2023.

Amendments to IAS 8 “Accounting policies, changes in accounting estimates and errors”, the amendments 
clarify how companies should distinguish changes in accounting policies from changes in accounting 
estimates. This distinction is important because changes in accounting estimates are applied prospectively 
only to future transactions and other future events, but changes in accounting policies are generally also 
applied retrospectively to past transactions and other past events.

Annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2023.

Amendment to IAS 12 “Income Taxes”, it clarifies that the exemption from initial recognition of deferred tax 
related to assets and liabilities arising from a single transaction does not apply to transactions in which equal 
amounts of deductible and taxable temporary differences arise on initial recognition, such as leases and 
decommissioning obligations.

Annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2023.

Amendment to IFRS 17 “Insurance Contracts”, provides insurers with an option to improve the usefulness of 
comparative information for investors on the initial application of the new Standard. Annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2023.
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On October 7, 2021 , the Financial Market Commission issued Circular 
No. 2,295 which contemplates adjustments to the Compendium 
of Accounting Standards for Banks that came into force as from 
January 1 , 2022 (in accordance with the provisions of Circular No. 
2,243 of December 20, 2019). In what is relevant and with impact for 
Banco BICE, it specifies on the one hand that the criterion for the 
suspension of income recognition on an accrual basis is computed 
after 90 days of delay in payment (Chapter B-2 “ Impaired credits 
and write-offs”) and, on the other hand, with respect to the recording 
for the first application of the new criterion for the suspension of 
income recognition on an accrual basis, which must be adopted 
prospectively, it is specified that the income accrued in 2021 as 
from the 90th day of default must be reversed in the income for 
2021 while, if there is interest and readjustment income accrued 
as from the 90th day of default in previous years of 2021 , its effects 
must be eliminated and recorded in the equity item “Reserves not 
derived from profits” in the month in which the new criterion is 
adopted in 2021 . Accordingly, during the month of October, Banco 
BICE separated the impact recorded in July in order to comply with 
this new requirement of the regulator, whose impact generated a 
charge to income of MCh$110 and a charge to equity of MCh$156. 
The breakdown by type of portfolio is as follows:

TYPE OF PORTFOLIO
BEFORE TO 2021 PERIOD ENDED ON 2021 (*) TOTAL

INTEREST
MCH$

INDEXATION
MCH$

INTEREST
MCH$

INDEXATION
MCH$

INTEREST
MCH$

INDEXATION
MCH$

Loan and advances to banks  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Commercial loans  48  12  38  2  86  14 

Mortgage loans  95  1  62  4  157  5 

Consumer loans  -  -  3  1  3  1 

TOTAL  143  13  103  7  246  20 

(*) Between January and July 2021

The Bank’s management is currently evaluating the impact of the 
adoption of these amendments.
 
(3) ACCOUNTING CHANGES

During the month of June 2021, a change was made in the methodology 
used to determine the provision for the customer loyalty program 
“BICE Dollars”. These modifications generated a lower provision 
with a credit to income of MCh$ 5,024 gross, being recognized as 
a change in the estimate in accordance with IAS 8 “Accounting 
policies, changes in accounting estimates and errors”.

During July 2021 , the new criterion for the suspension of the income 
recognition for interest and readjustments on an accrual basis 
provided in Chapter B-2 - Impaired loans and write-offs - of the 
Compendium of Accounting Standards for Banks was adopted in 
accordance with the instructions established in Circular No. 2,243 
issued by the Financial Market Commission (effective at the end of 
September 2021), which introduces amendments to the Compendium 
of Accounting Standards and is effective as of January 1 , 2022. The 
impact of the application of this criterion amounted to MCh$ 266 
million, the effect of which was recognized in equity in accordance 
with the transitory provisions of Chapter E of the Compendium of 
Accounting Standards for Banks. The breakdown by type of loan 
portfolio is as follows:

  PORTFOLIO TYPE INTEREST
MCH$

INDEXATION
MCH$

Loan and advances to banks                         -                         - 

Commercial loans                       86                       14 

Mortgage loans                     157                         5 

Consumer loans                         3                         1 

TOTAL                     246                       20 
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The net impact recognized in Equity (charged to “Reserves”) amounted 
to MCh$119, which includes the effect of deferred taxes of MCh$37 (see 
Note 16 Current and deferred taxes) determined by the differences 
generated between the tax and financial basis after making the 
corresponding adjustments.

During the year ended December 31, 2021, there have been no other 
significant changes in accounting estimates or policies that affect the 
presentation of these Consolidated Financial Statements as compared 
to the year ended December 31, 2020.

(4) SIGNIFICANT EVENTS

(i) On October 14, 2021, Banco BICE issued and placed in the Swiss market, 
under the Swiss Financial Services Act and its regulation called Financial 
Services Ordinance of the Swiss Confederation, unsecured bonds for an 
amount of CHF$110,000,000 (one hundred and ten million Swiss francs) 
maturing in 2026.

(ii) At Extraordinary Shareholders’ Meeting, held on September 10, 2021, the 
shareholders approved the distribution charged to retained earnings of 
a contingent dividend of Ch$526.96 per share (MCh$31,201), which was 
paid as of September 21, 2021, to the holders of shares registered in the 
Shareholders’ Registry as of September 13, 2021.

(iii) On July 2, 2021, Mr. Bernardo Fontaine Talavera resigned as Director 
of Banco BICE, being replaced by Mr. Juan Carlos Altmann Martín, who 
began his duties as Director of the Bank on August 2 of the present year.

(iv) At Ordinary Shareholders’ Meeting, held on April 21, 2021, the shareholders 
approved the distribution of a dividend of Ch$378.17 per share (MCh$22,390) 
charged to income for the year 2020, which was paid as of May 19, 2021, 
to the holders of shares registered in the Shareholders’ Registry as of 
May 12, 2021.

(v) On February 3, 2021, the Ministry of Finance published Law 21,307, which 
modified the guarantee fund for small and medium-sized entrepreneurs 

(FOGAPE), in order to promote the reactivation and recovery of the 
economy, alleviate the financial burden of companies in the initial stage 
of reactivation, and contribute to financial normalization, by expanding 
the benefits and uses of the Guarantee Fund for Small and Medium-
Sized Entrepreneurs (FOGAPE), which may now be used for investment 
or payment of current debts (such as the payment of COVID credits), 
in addition to working capital, the pooling of financial maturities as of 
October of this year, among others.

(vi) On January 4, 2021, the Ministry of Finance published Law 21,299, 
which allows the postponement of mortgage loan installments and 
creates the state guarantee to secure postponed installments, within 
the framework of the economic crisis generated by the COVID- 19 
Coronavirus pandemic. This law became effective on February 6, 2021. 
The state guarantee will be granted by the Guarantee Fund for Small and 
Medium-Sized Entrepreneurs, which will be valid for 60 months and will 
only be able to pay up to a maximum of 6 installments, for properties 
whose commercial appraisal does not exceed 10,000 UF.

(vii) At the Board of Directors’ Meeting No. 495 held on June 26, 2020, the 
Chief Executive Officer updated the Board of Directors on the measures 
adopted by the Crisis Team as a result of Covid
19. In this regard, he indicated that due to the Government’s decree of 
extended quarantine in the Metropolitan Region as of May 15, the Bank 
adopted new measures aimed at maintaining normal operations while 
safeguarding the safety of its employees.

(viii) At the Forty-first Ordinary Shareholders’ Meeting, held on April 21, 2020, 
the shareholders approved the distribution of a dividend of Ch$350.30 
per share (MCh$20,741) charged against the results of fiscal year 2019, 
which was paid as of May 19, 2020, to the holders of shares registered 
in the Shareholders’ Registry as of May 12, 2020. In addition, the Board 
approved the distribution of part of the profit for the year ended 2020 
as a contingent dividend fund, in the amount of MCh$48,395.

(ix) By means of Decree No. 420, enacted on March 30, 2020 and published 
in the Official Gazette on April 1, 2020, the Ministry of Finance established 
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several tax measures to support the impact of the COVID-19 virus, and 
by means of Law 21,225 published in the Official Gazette on April 2, 2020, 
reduced to 0% the Stamp Tax rate for all money credit operations carried 
out between April 1 and September 30, 2020, both dates inclusive.

(x) At the Extraordinary Board of Directors’ Meeting No. 6, held on March 18, 
2020, convened in response to the advance of the Coronavirus (COVID-19) 
infection in the country and the effects that could affect the operation 
of the Bank and its subsidiaries, the health care of its employees, the 
relationship with customers and regulators, the Chief Executive Officer 
indicated that the Bank has been developing measures and action plans 
to face the national contingency. In this regard, he indicated that the 
President of the Republic declared a State of Constitutional Exception 
of Catastrophe for 90 days throughout the country, starting at 0:00 
hours on March 19, 2020 (being successively extended every 90 days, 
with Supreme Decree No. 153 dated June 30, 2021, which maintains the 
State of Exception until December 31, 2021, date on which the State of 
Exception was terminated) and that regarding the financial/economic 
state of the country, he indicated that the Central Bank of Chile has taken 
measures to ensure the market’s liquidity. He explained to the Board of 
Directors the action plans and mitigation/reaction measures that have 
been implemented to ensure the operational continuity of the Bank and 
its subsidiaries, and to safeguard the health of employees, customers 
and suppliers. The General Manager indicated that on March 13, 16 and 
17, 2020, the Bank’s Crisis Team met, in accordance with the document 
entitled “Business Continuity Governance”, which is part of the Bank’s 
continuity plans. In this regard, the Crisis Team adopted several action 
plans and mitigation/reaction measures, which has allowed the Bank 
and Subsidiaries to operate properly in their main business areas, with 

the clients of the different banks, and also to manage the liquidity of 
the market. The Board of Directors agreed that members of the Board 
would participate jointly and actively in the Crisis Team, considering 
their experience in the industry. Finally, Senior Management shall keep 
the Board of Directors permanently informed of the most relevant 
measures adopted by the Crisis Team and of any other event related 
to this contingency that should be brought to its attention, without 
prejudice to the possibility of calling other Extraordinary Board Meetings, 
should the situation so require.

(xi) On March 18, 2020, the Financial Market Commission issued General 
Rule No. 435, which regulates the participation and remote voting 
in Shareholders’ Meetings, Bondholders’ Meetings and Contributors’ 
Meetings. This Standard amends General Standard No. 273. In this regard, 
the Financial Market Commission authorized the use of technological 
means that allow the participation of shareholders, bondholders or 
contributors who are not physically present at the venue, together with 
remote voting mechanisms, provided that such systems duly guarantee 
the identity of the participants. The Board of Directors of the Corporations, 
the Fund Administrators or the Bondholders’ Representative, as the case 
may be, shall be responsible for implementing the necessary systems 
or procedures to accredit the identity of the persons who participate 
remotely in the Meeting or Assembly.

(xii) On February 13, 2020, the Financial Market Commission issued General 
Rule No. 434, which authorizes mechanisms for the use of electronic 
signatures in the subscription of Board of Directors’ minutes of the 
companies supervised by the Financial Market Commission.
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Treasury
The Treasury segment includes the management and brokerage of 
its own investments and derivatives portfolio, and the management 
and optimization of the financing structure, rate, term and foreign 
currency mismatches.

Subsidiaries and others
This segment includes services rendered through subsidiaries for 
funds management, stock market trading and brokerage, factoring 
operations, P&C insurance and life insurance brokerage. In addition, this 
segment includes income not attributable to any of the aforementioned 
business segments.
 
The Bank does not record transactions with a single external customer in 
particular that means recognizing revenues equal to or greater than 10% 
of the total corresponding revenues as of December 31, 2021 and 2020.

(5) OPERATING SEGMENTS

The Bank operates and measures its management using the following 
operating segments:

Corporate banking
The corporate banking segment provides products and services to 
domestic and foreign companies, multinational corporations, financial 
institutions, State-owned companies and subsidiaries of economic groups 
in Chile. Services provided include current accounts, commercial lease 
operations, deposits, working capital financing, financing of projects or 
foreign trade activities, revolving credit facilities and different non-credit 
services, such as collections, payment of supplies, payroll payment 
management and a wide range of treasury products.

Retail banking
The Retail banking segment provides current account products and 
services for individuals and investment companies, savings, deposits, 
custody, credit and debit cards, consumer loans and mortgage loans 
for housing purposes.
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The tables below show the composition of profit or loss as of December 
31, 2021 and 2020 and assets as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, by 
operating segment:

(a) Profit or loss

 

2021

CORPORATE BANKING
MCH$

RETAIL BANKING
MCH$

TREASURY
MCH$

SUBSIDIARIES 
AND OTHER

MCH$
TOTAL
MCH$

Net interest and indexation income 96,501 39,530 79,898 7,044 222,973 

Net fee and commission income 9,078 15,354 (522) 42,964 66,874 

Net loss from financial operations 591    -  (32,438) (1,181) (33,028)

Net foreign exchange rate income 4,532 1,497 40,987 2,365 49,381 

Other operating income 8,435 6,428 452 (2,228) 13,087 

TOTAL OPERATING INCOME 119,137 62,809 88,377 48,964 319,287 

Allowances for credit risk (41,122) (6,385) (4) (458) (47,969)

NET OPERATING INCOME 78,015 56,424 88,373 48,506 271,318 

Personnel expenses (28,197) (20,756) (9,020) (22,060) (80,033)

Administrative expenses (13,955) (11,673) (6,312) (8,970) (40,910)

Depreciation and amortization (4,112) (3,297) (1,863) (1,548) (10,820)

Impairment    -     -  (237)    -  (237)

Other operating expenses (4,633) (6,775) (79) (931) (12,418)

TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSE (50,897) (42,501) (17,511) (33,509) (144,418)

OPERATING INCOME 27,118 13,923 70,862 14,997 126,900 

Income from investments in companies    -     -     -  152 152 

INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAXES EXPENSE 27,118 13,923 70,862 15,149 127,052 

Income taxes (6,330) (2,940) (11,094) (1,548) (21,912)

CONSOLIDATED NET INCOME FOR THE YEAR 20,788 10,983 59,768 13,601 105,140 
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2020

CORPORATE BANKING
MCH$

RETAIL BANKING
MCH$

TREASURY
MCH$

SUBSIDIARIES 
AND OTHER

MCH$
TOTAL
MCH$

Net interest and indexation income 77,209 34,471 58,012 5,158 174,850 

Net fee and commission income 10,449 4,158 (298) 33,552 47,861 

Net loss from financial operations 447    -  (7,910) 5,254 (2,209)

Net foreign exchange rate income 3,756 879 19,805 2,161 26,601 

Other operating income 4,089 3,850 439 (2,191) 6,187 

TOTAL OPERATING INCOME 95,950 43,358 70,048 43,934 253,290 

Allowances for credit risk (22,010) (3,800) (5) (148) (25,963)

NET OPERATING INCOME 73,940 39,558 70,043 43,786 227,327 

Personnel expenses (28,041) (18,699) (7,889) (17,371) (72,000)

Administrative expenses (13,707) (10,337) (5,137) (6,001) (35,182)

Depreciation and amortization (4,317) (3,428) (1,323) (1,164) (10,232)

Impairment    -     -  (4,202)    -  (4,202)

Other operating expenses (4,685) (6,173) (427) (973) (12,258)

TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSE (50,750) (38,637) (18,978) (25,509) (133,874)

OPERATING INCOME 23,190 921 51,065 18,277 93,453 

Income from investments in companies    -     -     -  140 140 

INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAXES EXPENSE 23,190 921 51,065 18,417 93,593 

Income taxes (4,707) (219) (10,407) (3,618) (18,951)

CONSOLIDATED NET INCOME FOR THE YEAR 18,483 702 40,658 14,799 74,642 
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(b) Assets
2021

CORPORATE BANKING
MCH$

RETAIL BANKING
MCH$

TREASURY
MCH$

SUBSIDIARIES 
AND OTHER

MCH$

ASSETS 
NOT DISCLOSED

IN SEGMENTS
MCH$

TOTAL
MCH$

Cash and deposits in banks    -     -  1,076,241 14,288    -  1,090,529 

Transactions pending settlement Securities held for trading    -     -  67,440 25,218    -  92,658 

Investments repurchased under agreements and securities lending    -     -  379,621 149,346    -  528,967 

Financial derivative contracts Loans and advances to customers    -     -  696    -     -  696 

Available-for-sale investment securities Other assets 67,290 2,998 66,830 3,652    -  140,770 

Other assets not included in segments 4,703,630 2,205,381    -  34,715    -  6,943,726 

Available-for-sale investment securities    -     -  841,387    -     -  841,387 

Other assets 26,173    -     -  15,819    -  41,992 

Other assets not included in segments    -     -     -     -  311,729 311,729 

TOTAL ASSETS 4,797,093 2,208,379 2,432,215 243,038 311,729 9,992,454 

2020

CORPORATE BANKING
MCH$

RETAIL BANKING
MCH$

TREASURY
MCH$

SUBSIDIARIES 
AND OTHER

MCH$

ASSETS 
NOT DISCLOSED

IN SEGMENTS
MCH$

TOTAL
MCH$

Cash and deposits in banks    -     -  1,143,511 6,743    -  1,150,254 

Transactions pending settlement Securities held for trading    -     -  56,904 50,925    -  107,829 

Investments repurchased under agreements and securities lending    -     -  342,970 92,723    -  435,693 

Financial derivative contracts Loans and advances to customers    -     -  7,000    -     -  7,000 

Available-for-sale investment securities Other assets 55,419 5,803 66,583 843    -  128,648 

Other assets not included in segments 4,079,768 1,975,603    -  80,648    -  6,136,019 

Available-for-sale investment securities    -     -  851,390    -     -  851,390 

Other assets 26,322    -     -  20,967    -  47,289 

Other assets not included in segments    -     -     -     -  276,476 276,476 

TOTAL ASSETS 4,161,509 1,981,406 2,468,358 252,849 276,476 9,140,598 
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(6) CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

(a) The detail of the balances included under cash and cash equivalents 
and their reconciliation to the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 
for the years ended December 31 , 2021 and 2020 is as follows:

2021
MCH$

2020
MCH$

CASH AND DEPOSITS IN BANKS

Cash 33,312 23,867

Deposits in Central Bank of Chile (*) 1,030,853 644,243

Deposits in domestic banks 8,081 10,629

Deposits in foreign banks 18,283 471,515

SUBTOTAL CASH AND DEPOSITS IN BANKS 1,090,529 1,150,254

Transactions pending settlement, net 24,053 17,134

Highly liquid financial instruments (**) 172,641 802,827

Repurchase agreements 696 7,000

TOTAL CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 1,287,919 1,977,215

 
(*) The level of cash funds in the Central Bank of Chile respond to the reserve requirement 

regulations that the Bank must maintain on average in monthly periods. These funds are 

immediately available.

(**) Corresponds to instruments held for trading MCh$172,641 as of December 31, 2021 (MCh$367,867 

as of December 31, 2020). As of December 31, 2021, Banco BICE has no instruments available for 

sale with a maturity of less than three months from the date of acquisition. As of December 31, 

2020, Banco BICE has instruments available for sale amounting to MCh$434,960, and therefore, 

they meet the definition of cash and cash equivalents described in Note 2 t).
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(b) The operations pending settlement correspond to transactions in 
which only settlement is left and which will increase or decrease the 
funds in the Central Bank of Chile, foreign or domestic banks, usually 
within 24 or 48 working hours. As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, such 
operations are detailed as follows:

2021
MCH$

2020
MCH$

ASSETS

Securities held by other banks (documents to be cleared)  23,594  18,305 

Funds receivable  69,064  89,524 

SUBTOTAL ASSETS  92,658  107,829 

LIABILITIES

Funds payable  68,605  90,695 

SUBTOTAL LIABILITIES  68,605  90,695 

TRANSACTIONS PENDING SETTLEMENT, NET  24,053  17,134 
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(7) SECURITIES HELD FOR TRADING

As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the detail of instruments designated 
as financial instruments held for trading is as follows:

2021
MCH$

2020
MCH$

INSTRUMENTS OF GOVERNMENT AND CENTRAL BANK OF CHILE (*): 93,921 351,990 

Bonds issued by Central Bank of Chile 6,157 62 

Promissory notes issued by Central Bank of Chile 27,148 317,234 

Other instruments issued by the Government 60,616 34,694 

INSTRUMENTS ISSUED BY OTHER DOMESTIC INSTITUTIONS: 129,032 11,401 

Bonds 116,937 5,882 

Promissory notes 10,208 3,130 

Other instruments 1,887 2,389 

INSTRUMENTS ISSUED BY FOREIGN INSTITUTIONS: 260,077 19,896 

Bonds 260,077 19,896 

Promissory notes    -     -  

Other instruments    -     -  

INVESTMENTS IN MUTUAL FUNDS: 45,937 52,406 

Funds managed by related entities 45,937 52,406 

Funds managed by third parties    -  

TOTAL 528,967 435,693 

As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, trading instruments include instruments 
for an amount of MCh$172,641 and MCh$367,867, respectively, whose 
maturity does not exceed three months from the date of acquisition 
and which are considered cash equivalents (see Note 6 letter a).

(*) As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the caption Government and Central Bank of Chile 
instruments includes instruments sold under repurchase agreements to third parties (customers 
and financial institutions), amounting to MCh$12,015 and MCh$11,921, respectively.

As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the repurchase agreements in the 
trading portfolio have an average maturity of 4 and 8 days, respectively.
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(8) INVESTMENTS REPURCHASED UNDER AGREEMENTS AND 
SECURITIES LENDING

(a) Assets investments repurchased under agreements 
and securities lending
As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Bank records balances for securities 
acquired under agreements to resale as follows:

AGREEMENTS TO RESALE ASSETS 
2021

FROM DAY 1 AND
LESS THAN 3 

MONTHS
MCH$

OVER 3
MONTHS AND LESS

THAN 1 YEAR
MCH$

OVER 1 
YEAR

MCH$
TOTAL
MCH$

INSTRUMENTS OF GOVERNMENT AND CENTRAL BANK OF CHILE:

Instruments of Central Bank of Chile    -     -     -     -  

Bonds and promissory notes issued by the General Treasury of the Republic    -     -     -     -  

Other fiscal instruments    -     -     -     -  

OTHER INSTRUMENTS ISSUED BY CHILE:

Instruments issued by other domestic banks 696    -     -  696 

Corporate bonds and commercial papers    -     -     -     -  

Other instruments issued in Chile    -     -     -     -  

INSTRUMENTS ISSUED ABROAD:

Instruments from government and foreign central banks    -     -     -     -  

Other instruments issued abroad    -     -     -     -  

TOTAL 696    -     -  696 
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(8) INVESTMENTS REPURCHASED UNDER AGREEMENTS AND 
SECURITIES LENDING (CONTINUED)

AGREEMENTS TO RESALE ASSETS 
2020

FROM DAY 1 AND
LESS THAN 3 

MONTHS
MCH$

OVER 3
MONTHS AND LESS

THAN 1 YEAR
MCH$

OVER 1 
YEAR

MCH$
TOTAL
MCH$

INSTRUMENTS OF GOVERNMENT AND CENTRAL BANK OF CHILE:

Instruments of Central Bank of Chile    -     -     -     -  

Bonds and promissory notes issued by the General Treasury of the Republic 3,603    -     -  3,603 

Other fiscal instruments    -     -     -     -  

OTHER INSTRUMENTS ISSUED BY CHILE:

Instruments issued by other domestic banks 3,397    -     -  3,397 

Corporate bonds and commercial papers    -     -     -     -  

Other instruments issued in Chile    -     -     -     -  

INSTRUMENTS ISSUED ABROAD:

Instruments from government and foreign central banks    -     -     -     -  

Other instruments issued abroad    -     -     -     -  

TOTAL 7,000    -     -  7,000 
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(8) INVESTMENTS REPURCHASED UNDER AGREEMENTS AND 
SECURITIES LENDING (CONTINUED)

(b) Liabilities investments repurchased under agreements 
and securities lending
The Bank obtains funds from selling financial instruments and agreeing 
to purchase them on future dates plus interest at a rate determined 
previously. As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the instruments sold under 
agreements to repurchase are as follows:

AGREEMENTS TO REPURCHASE LIABILITIES 
2021

FROM DAY 1 AND
LESS THAN 3

MONTHS
MCH$

OVER 3
MONTHS AND LESS

THAN 1 YEAR
MCH$

OVER 1 YEAR
MCH$

TOTAL
MCH$

INSTRUMENTS OF GOVERNMENT AND CENTRAL BANK OF CHILE:

Instruments of Central Bank of Chile 12,012    -     -  12,012 

Bonds and promissory notes issued by the General Treasury of the Republic    -     -     -     -  

Other fiscal instruments    -     -     -     -  

OTHER INSTRUMENTS ISSUED BY CHILE:

Instruments issued by other domestic banks 51,141    -     -  51,141 

Corporate bonds and commercial papers    -     -     -     -  

Other instruments issued in Chile    -     -     -     -  

INSTRUMENTS ISSUED ABROAD:

Instruments from government and foreign central banks    -     -     -     -  

Other instruments issued abroad    -     -     -     -  

TOTAL 63,153    -     -  63,153 
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(8) INVESTMENTS REPURCHASED UNDER AGREEMENTS AND 
SECURITIES LENDING (CONTINUED)

AGREEMENTS TO REPURCHASE LIABILITIES
2020

FROM DAY 1 AND
LESS THAN 3

MONTHS
MCH$

OVER 3
MONTHS AND LESS

THAN 1 YEAR
MCH$

OVER 1 YEAR
MCH$

TOTAL
MCH$

INSTRUMENTS OF GOVERNMENT AND CENTRAL BANK OF CHILE:

Instruments of Central Bank of Chile 11,895    -     -  11,895 

Bonds and promissory notes issued by the General Treasury of the Republic    -     -     -     -  

Other fiscal instruments    -     -     -     -  

OTHER INSTRUMENTS ISSUED BY CHILE:

Instruments issued by other domestic banks    -     -     -     -  

Corporate bonds and commercial papers    -     -     -     -  

Other instruments issued in Chile    -     -     -     -  

INSTRUMENTS ISSUED ABROAD:

Instruments from government and foreign central banks    -     -     -     -  

Other instruments issued abroad    -     -     -     -  

TOTAL 11,895    -     -  11,895 
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(9) FINANCIAL DERIVATIVE CONTRACTS AND 
ACCOUNTING HEDGES

a) As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Bank and its subsidiaries have 
the following derivative instruments portfolio:

2021

NOTIONAL AMOUNT OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES OF CONTRACTS WITH

FINAL MATURITY FAIR VALUE

UP TO 3 MONTHS
MCH$

OVER 3 MONTHS 
UP TO YEAR

MCH$
OVER 1 YEAR

MCH$
TOTAL
MCH$

ASSETS
MCH$

LIABILITIES
MCH$

FAIR VALUE HEDGING DERIVATIVES

Forwards    -     -     -     -     -     -  

Swaps    -  14,558 447,294 461,852 4,525 21,061 

Call Options    -     -     -     -     -     -  

Put Options    -     -     -     -     -     -  

Future contracts    -     -     -     -     -     -  

Other    -     -     -     -     -     -  

SUBTOTAL    -  14,558 447,294 461,852 4,525 21,061 

TRADING DERIVATIVES

Forwards 1,061,166 912,568 94,462 2,068,196 42,137 51,411 

Swaps 130,362 124,583 2,317,886 2,572,831 93,981 124,539 

Call Options    -     -     -     -     -     -  

Put Options    -     -     -     -     -     -  

Future con-tracts    -     -     -     -     -     -  

Other    -     -     -     -     -     -  

SUBTOTAL 1,191,528 1,037,151 2,412,348 4,641,027 136,118 175,950 
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2021

NOTIONAL AMOUNT OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES OF CONTRACTS WITH

FINAL MATURITY FAIR VALUE

UP TO 3 MONTHS
MCH$

OVER 3 MONTHS 
UP TO YEAR

MCH$
OVER 1 YEAR

MCH$
TOTAL
MCH$

ASSETS
MCH$

LIABILITIES
MCH$

CASH FLOW HEDGING DERIVATIVES

Forwards    -     -     -     -     -     -  

Swaps    -  223,141 61,983 285,124 127 2,693 

Call Options    -     -     -     -     -     -  

Put Options    -     -     -     -     -     -  

Future contracts    -     -     -     -     -     -  

Other    -     -     -     -     -     -  

SUBTOTAL    -  223,141 61,983 285,124 127 2,693 

TOTAL 1,191,528 1,274,850 2,921,625 5,388,003 140,770 199,704 

(9) FINANCIAL DERIVATIVE CONTRACTS AND 
ACCOUNTING HEDGES (CONTINUED)
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2020

NOTIONAL AMOUNT OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES OF CONTRACTS WITH

FINAL MATURITY FAIR VALUE

UP TO 3 MONTHS
MCH$

OVER 3 MONTHS 
UP TO YEAR

MCH$
OVER 1 YEAR

MCH$
TOTAL
MCH$

ASSETS
MCH$

LIABILITIES
MCH$

FAIR VALUE HEDGING DERIVATIVES

Forwards    -     -     -     -     -     -  

Swaps    -  2,888 39,232 42,120 4,286    -  

Call Options    -     -     -     -     -     -  

Put Options    -     -     -     -     -     -  

Future contracts    -     -     -     -     -     -  

Other    -     -     -     -     -     -  

SUBTOTAL    -  2,888 39,232 42,120 4,286    -  

TRADING DERIVATIVES

Forwards 810,203 483,757 69,126 1,363,086 37,981 34,356 

Swaps 192,654 109,635 1,848,869 2,151,158 86,381 99,447 

Call Options    -     -     -     -     -     -  

Put Options    -     -     -     -     -     -  

Future contracts    -     -     -     -     -     -  

Other    -     -     -     -     -     -  

SUBTOTAL 1,002,857 593,392 1,917,995 3,514,244 124,362 133,803 

CASH FLOW HEDGING DERIVATIVES

Forwards    -     -     -     -     -     -  

Swaps    -     -     -     -     -     -  

Call Options    -     -     -     -     -     -  

Put Options    -     -     -     -     -     -  

Future contracts    -     -     -     -     -     -  

Other    -     -     -     -     -     -  

SUBTOTAL    -     -     -     -     -     -  

TOTAL 1,002,857 596,280 1,957,227 3,556,364 128,648 133,803 

(9) FINANCIAL DERIVATIVE CONTRACTS AND 
ACCOUNTING HEDGES (CONTINUED)
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(9) FINANCIAL DERIVATIVE CONTRACTS AND 
ACCOUNTING HEDGES (CONTINUED)

b) Fair value hedges:
As described in Note 2 j) “Financial derivative contracts” and as indicated 
in the General Policy for Accounting Hedges, Banco BICE uses interest 
rate swaps to hedge its exposure to changes in the fair value of securities 
classified in the portfolio as available for sale. These hedges are intended 
to redenominate cash flows associated with a fixed-to-variable interest 
rate component, expressed in functional currency.

Hedged assets and liabilities are recorded at their fair value. Variances 
generated subsequent to the designation of the hedge in the valuation 

of the financial securities designated as hedged items, as well as the 
financial securities assigned for hedge accounting, are recorded in 
the caption “Interest and indexation income and expenses” in the 
Consolidated Statement of Income.

The notional amounts of hedged items and hedging instruments 
outstanding at December 31, 2021 and 2020, are presented below, 
separated by maturity:

2021

NOTIONAL AMOUNT

WITHIN 1 YEAR
MCH$

1 TO 3 YEARS
MCH$

3 TO 6 YEARS
MCH$

OVER 6 YEARS
MCH$

TOTAL
MCH$

Loans and advances to customers 14,558 72,141 27,939 51,897 166,535

Financing Central Bank of Chile (FCIC)    -  193,431    -     -  193,431

Financing Bond (CHF)    -     -  101,886    -  101,886

Currency swaps 14,558 265,572 129,825 51,897 461,852

2020

NOTIONAL AMOUNT

WITHIN 1 YEAR
MCH$

1 TO 3 YEARS
MCH$

3 TO 6 YEARS
MCH$

OVER 6 YEARS
MCH$

TOTAL
MCH$

Loans and advances to customers 2,888 6,006 9,756 23,470 42,120

Currency swaps 2,888 6,006 9,756 23,470 42,120
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(9) FINANCIAL DERIVATIVE CONTRACTS AND 
ACCOUNTING HEDGES (CONTINUED)

c) Cash flow hedge
In accordance with Note 2 j) “Financial derivative contracts” and the 
General Accounting Hedging Policy, the Bank uses swaps to mitigate 
the risk of inflation variation of assets that pay flows indexed to the 
Unidades de Fomento or UF. The UF is built on inflation, and it is the 
volatility of the latter that exposes the Bank to cash flow uncertainty. As a 
risk management strategy, the Bank has determined that it is necessary 

to mitigate such risk by contracting one or more derivative instruments 
that allow the Bank to fix the uncertainty in the flows of UF-denominated 
assets, which is expected to be highly effective in hedging such risk. 
The nominal amounts of the hedged item as of December 31, 2021, and 
the period in which the cash flows will occur are presented below (as 
of December 31, 2020 there were no cash flow hedges):

2021

NOTIONAL AMOUNT

WITHIN 1 YEAR
MCH$

1 TO 3 YEARS
MCH$

3 TO 6 YEARS
MCH$

OVER 6 YEARS
MCH$

TOTAL
MCH$

Cash flows in UF 223,141 61,983 - - 285,124

Currency swaps 223,141 61,983 - - 285,124

The following is an estimate of the fiscal years in which the cash flows 
are expected to occur:

2021

PROJECTION OF FLOWS BY RISK DEFINED IN THE HEDGING RELATIONSHIP

WITHIN 1 YEAR
MCH$

1 TO 3 YEARS
MCH$

3 TO 6 YEARS
MCH$

OVER 6 YEARS
MCH$

TOTAL
MCH$

HEDGED ITEM:

Inflows 223,141 61,983 - - 285,124

TOTAL 223,141 61,983 - - 285,124

HEDGING INSTRUMENT:

Outflows 223,141 61,983 - - 285,124

TOTAL 223,141 61,983 - - 285,124
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Below is the income generated by those cash flow derivatives whose 
effect was transferred from other comprehensive income to income for 
the year:   

2021
MCH$

2020
MCH$

Hedging of flows in UF 5,517    -  

NET PROFITS ON CASH FLOWS HEDGES 5,517    -  

d) Ineffective hedges:
Banco BICE has no fair value hedges or ineffective cash flow hedges. 

(10) LOANS AND ADVANCES TO BANKS
As of December 31 ,  2021 and 2020, the Bank records no balances 
for this caption .

(11) LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS

(a) Loans and advances to customers
As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the composition of the loans portfolio 
is as follows:

161

An
nu

al
 R

ep
or

t B
an

co
 B

IC
E 

 2
02

1
Fi

na
nc

ia
l

Re
su

lts
 



2021

 ASSETS BEFORE ALLOWANCES ALLOWANCES

 UNIMPAIRED 
PORTFOLIO 

MCH$ 

 IMPAIRED 
PORTFOLIO 

 MCH$ 
 TOTAL 
 MCH$ 

 INDIVIDUAL 
ALLOWANCES 

 MCH$ 

COLLECTIVE 
ALLOWANCES 

 MCH$ 
 TOTAL 
MCH$ 

 NET ASSETS 
 MCH$ 

COMMERCIAL LOANS

Commercial loans  4,333,944  142,075  4,476,019  92,374  4,651  97,025  4,378,994 

Foreign trade loans  294,884  871  295,755  8,027  325  8,352  287,403 

Checking accounts debtors  53,195  718  53,913  440  375  815  53,098 

Factoring transactions  114,507  255  114,762  1,647  520  2,167  112,595 

Student loans  6,819  -  6,819  -  373  373  6,446 

Commercial leasing transactions  457,520  13,830  471,350  3,179  349  3,528  467,822 

Others loans and accounts receivable  4,507  1,507  6,014  840  178  1,018  4,996 

SUBTOTAL  5,265,376  159,256  5,424,632  106,507  6,771  113,278  5,311,354 

MORTGAGE LOANS

Loans with letters of credit  263  -  263  -  -  -  263 

Transferable mortgage loans  555,643  2,790  558,433  -  373  373  558,060 

Bond-financed loans  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Other mortgage mutual loans  870,551  6,184  876,735  -  914  914  875,821 

Mortgage leasing transactions  134  -  134  -  1  1  133 

Other mortgage loans and receivables  7,312  70  7,382  -  7  7  7,375 

SUBTOTAL  1,433,903  9,044  1,442,947  -  1,295  1,295  1,441,652 

CONSUMER LOANS

Installment consumer loans  126,589  3,669  130,258  -  2,050  2,050  128,208 

Checking account debtors  9,545  433  9,978  -  676  676  9,302 

Credit card debtors  53,525  570  54,095  -  885  885  53,210 

Consumer leasing transactions  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Others loans and accounts receivable  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

SUBTOTAL  189,659  4,672  194,331  -  3,611  3,611  190,720 

TOTAL  6,888,938  172,972  7,061,910  106,507  11,677  118,184  6,943,726 

(11) LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS
(a) Loans and advances to customers (Continued)
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2020

 ASSETS BEFORE ALLOWANCES ALLOWANCES

 UNIMPAIRED 
PORTFOLIO 

MCH$ 

 IMPAIRED 
PORTFOLIO 

 MCH$ 
 TOTAL 
 MCH$ 

 INDIVIDUAL 
ALLOWANCES 

 MCH$ 

COLLECTIVE 
ALLOWANCES 

 MCH$ 
 TOTAL 
MCH$ 

 NET ASSETS 
 MCH$ 

COMMERCIAL LOANS

Commercial loans  3,849,988  143,670  3,993,658  77,256  5,829  83,085  3,910,573 

Foreign trade loans  209,731  1,833  211,564  4,963  211  5,174  206,390 

Checking accounts debtors  38,746  799  39,545  273  402  675  38,870 

Factoring transactions  91,309  61  91,370  1,516  445  1,961  89,409 

Student loans  5,129  35  5,164  -  359  359  4,805 

Commercial leasing transactions  425,888  15,714  441,602  3,105  383  3,488  438,114 

Others loans and accounts receivable  3,178  667  3,845  174  220  394  3,451 

SUBTOTAL  4,623,969  162,779  4,786,748  87,287  7,849  95,136  4,691,612 

MORTGAGE LOANS

Loans with letters of credit  599  -  599  -  -  -  599 

Transferable mortgage loans  497,696  2,975  500,671  -  582  582  500,089 

Bond-financed loans  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Other mortgage mutual loans  760,295  6,747  767,042  -  1,186  1,186  765,856 

Mortgage leasing transactions  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Other mortgage loans and receivables  10,215  65  10,280  -  11  11  10,269 

SUBTOTAL  1,268,805  9,787  1,278,592  -  1,779  1,779  1,276,813 

CONSUMER LOANS

Installment consumer loans  115,166  3,523  118,689  -  1,788  1,788  116,901 

Checking account debtors  9,008  364  9,372  -  563  563  8,809 

Credit card debtors  42,074  486  42,560  -  676  676  41,884 

Consumer leasing transactions  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Others loans and accounts receivable  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

SUBTOTAL  166,248  4,373  170,621  -  3,027  3,027  167,594 

TOTAL  6,059,022  176,939  6,235,961  87,287  12,655  99,942  6,136,019 

(11) LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS
(a) Loans and advances to customers (Continued)
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Guarantees received by the Bank intended to secure the collection of the 
loan portfolio are mortgage guarantees and pledges on tangible assets, 
shares and financial instruments, among others. As of December 31, 2021 
and 2020, the fair value of guarantees was 99% and 97% respectively, of 
loans and advances to customers.

For mortgage guarantees, as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, their fair 
value is 83% and 80% respectively, of loans and advances to customers.

The Bank provides financing to its customers to acquire movable assets 
and real estate through finance leases agreements included in this 
caption. As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, MCh$204,420 and MCh$187,550, 
correspond to finance lease agreements on movable assets and 

MCh$266,930 and MCh$254,052 to finance lease agreements on real 
estate property, respectively.

In accordance with the provisions of Chapters 2.1 and 3.3 of the 
Compendium of Monetary and Financial Regulations of the Central Bank 
of Chile, as of December 31, 2021, Banco BICE has provided loans to this 
Institution in the amount of MCh$790,995 (MCh$ 561,375 as of December 
31, 2020), to guarantee the funds obtained under the Conditional Credit 
Facility to Increase Loans (FCIC).

As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Bank has foreclosed mortgage 
assets of MCh$883 and MCh$1,090, respectively.

(11) LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS
(a) Loans and advances to customers (Continued)
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(11) LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS (CONTINUED)

(b) Portfolio characteristics
As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the effective placements before 
allowances, record a detail which is in accordance with the economic 
sector to which they belong, as follows:

  LOCAL LOANS  FOREIGN LOANS TOTAL  RATE 

2021
MCH$ 

2020
 MCH$

2021
 MCH$ 

2020
MCH$ 

2021
MCH$ 

2020
 MCH$ 

2021
 MCH$ 

2020
 MCH$ 

COMMERCIAL LOANS:

Real estate companies 1,149,141 1,074,387    -     -   1,149,141 1,074,387 16.27% 17.23%

Agriculture, fruits and livestock 623,467 510,505    -     -   623,467 510,505 8.83% 8.19%

Real estate returns 636,917 523,743    -     -   636,917 523,743 9.03% 8.41%

Investment companies 381,683 391,613    -     -   381,683 391,613 5.40% 6.28%

Power generation 302,333 270,811    -     -   302,333 270,811 4.28% 4.34%

Commercial loans (natural person) 277,325 239,022    -     -   277,325 239,022 3.93% 3.83%

Services 205,614 215,302    -     -   205,614 215,302 2.91% 3.45%

Financial not linked to banks 207,953 185,274    -     -   207,953 185,274 2.94% 2.97%

Financial linked to banks and AFPs 262,403 146,998 29,484 27,419  291,887 174,417 4.13% 2.80%

Concessions 144,437 164,295    -     -   144,437 164,295 2.05% 2.63%

Construction 163,219 154,520    -     -   163,219 154,520 2.31% 2.48%

Commerce 161,916 146,228 3,717 1,082  165,633 147,310 2.35% 2.36%

Automobile 121,608 121,741    -     -   121,608 121,741 1.72% 1.95%

Fishing 100,947 74,193    -     -   100,947 74,193 1.43% 1.19%

Manufacturing 139,699 83,691    -     -   139,699 83,691 1.98% 1.34%

Public service companies 89,591 89,610    -     -   89,591 89,610 1.27% 1.44%

Transportation 69,035 67,477 24,773 22,314  93,808 89,791 1.33% 1.44%

Entertainment 72,200 59,790    -     -   72,200 59,790 1.02% 0.96%

Metalworking 57,267 52,997 2,715 1,231  59,982 54,228 0.85% 0.87%

Cellulose, paper and forest industry 47,809 40,606    -     -   47,809 40,606 0.68% 0.65%

Mining 26,440 14,551    -     -   26,440 14,551 0.37% 0.23%
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  LOCAL LOANS  FOREIGN LOANS TOTAL  RATE 

2021
MCH$ 

2020
 MCH$

2021
 MCH$ 

2020
MCH$ 

2021
MCH$ 

2020
 MCH$ 

2021
 MCH$ 

2020
 MCH$ 

Communication sector 52,491 46,275    -     -   52,491 46,275 0.74% 0.74%

Health 42,488 44,648    -     -   42,488 44,648 0.60% 0.72%

Other minor 27,960 16,425    -     -   27,960 16,425 0.40% 0.26%

SUBTOTAL 5,363,943 4,734,702 60,689 52,046 5,424,632 4,786,748 76.82% 76.76%

Mortgage loans  1,442,947 1,278,592  -    -  1,442,947 1,278,592 20.43% 20.50%

Consumer loans  194,331 170,621  -    -  194,331 170,621 2.75% 2.74%

TOTAL 7,001,221 6,183,915 60,689 52,046 7,061,910 6,235,961 100.00% 100.00%

(c) Allowance
The movement in Allowance as of December 31, 2021 and 2020 was 
as follows:

ALLOWANCE  ALLOWANCE 

 INDIVIDUAL
 MCH$ 

COLLECTIVE
MCH$

TOTAL
MCH$

BALANCES AS OF JANUARY 1, 2020 67,590 12,845 80,435 

Impaired portfolio write-offs:

Commercial loans    -  (2,550) (2,550)

Mortgage loans    -  (19) (19)

Consumer loans    -  (2,252) (2,252)

TOTAL WRITE-OFFS    -  (4,821) (4,821)

Allowances established 19,697 4,631 24,328 

Allowances released    -     -     -  

Allowances application    -     -     -  

Impairment losses    -     -     -  

Reversal of impairment losses    -     -     -  

BALANCES AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2020 87,287 12,655 99,942 

(11) LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS (CONTINUED)
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(11) LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS (CONTINUED)

ALLOWANCE  ALLOWANCE 

 INDIVIDUAL
 MCH$ 

COLLECTIVE
MCH$

TOTAL
MCH$

BALANCES AS OF JANUARY 1, 2021 87,287 12,655 99,942 

Impaired portfolio write-offs:

Commercial loans (8,476) (2,646) (11,122)

Mortgage loans    -  (182) (182)

Consumer loans    -  (1,789) (1,789)

TOTAL WRITE-OFFS (8,476) (4,617) (13,093)

Allowances established 32,831 3,941 36,772 

Allowances released    -  (302) (302)

Allowances application (5,135)    -  (5,135)

Impairment losses    -     -     -  

Reversal of impairment losses    -     -     -  

BALANCES AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2021 106,507 11,677 118,184 

In addition to these allowances for credit risk, the Bank maintains provisions 
for country risk to hedge transactions conducted abroad, contingent 
loan provisions, as well as additional provisions agreed by the Board 
of Directors, which are recorded within liabilities in the Consolidated 
Statement of Financial Position under the caption “Provisions” (Note 
21), for MCh$429, MCh$10,276 and MCh$54,103, as of December 31, 2021 
(MCh$382, MCh$10,268 and MCh$41,074, as of December 31, 2020).

(d) Sale of loans from the loan portfolio
During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Bank has made sales of 
loan portfolio for MCh$3,138, the income of which amounted to MCh$373. 
During the year ended December 31, 2020, there was a sale of loan 
portfolio for MCh$18,316, the income of which amounted to MCh$48.
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(12) INVESTMENT INSTRUMENTS

(a) As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, securities designated as investments 
available-for-sale and held-to-maturity are detailed as follows:

2021 2020

AVAILABLE
FOR SALE

MCH$

HELD TO 
MATURITY

MCH$
TOTAL
MCH$

AVAILABLE
FOR SALE

MCH$

HELD TO 
MATURITY

MCH$
TOTAL
MCH$

INVESTMENTS QUOTED IN ACTIVE MARKETS:

GOVERNMENT AND CENTRAL BANK: 635,898    -  635,898 781,850    -  781,850 

Instruments of Central Bank of Chile 1,991    -  1,991 434,960    -  434,960 

Bonds and promissory notes issued by the General Treasury of the Republic 633,907    -  633,907 346,890    -  346,890 

Other fiscal instruments    -     -     -     -  

OTHER INSTRUMENTS ISSUED IN CHILE: 86,434    -  86,434 54,289    -  54,289 

Instruments issued by other domestic banks 14,290    -  14,290 209    -  209 

Corporate bonds and commercial papers 72,144    -  72,144 54,080    -  54,080 

Other instruments issued in the country    -     -     -     -  

INSTRUMENTS ISSUED ABROAD: 119,055    -  119,055 15,251    -  15,251 

Instruments of governments or foreign central banks 104,025    -  104,025    -     -     -  

Other instruments issued abroad 15,030    -  15,030 15,251    -  15,251 

TOTAL 841,387    -  841,387 851,390    -  851,390 

As of December 31, 2021, Banco BICE has no instruments available for sale 
with a maturity of less than three months from the date of acquisition. 
As of December 31, 2020, Banco BICE has available-for-sale instruments 
amounting to MCh$434,960, whose maturity does not exceed three 
months from the date of acquisition to be considered Cash Equivalents 
(see Note 6 letter a).

As of December 31, 2021, available-for-sale instruments include unrealized 
loss balances of MCh$48,964 (unrealized gain of MCh$4,786 as of 
December 31, 2020), recognized as “Valuation Accounts” in the Consolidated 
Statement of Changes in Equity.

As of December 31, 2021, there are available-for-sale instruments pledged 
as collateral in favor of the Central Bank of Chile (FCIC) for MCh$36,000. 
As of December 31, 2020, available-for- sale instruments that are held 
as FCIC collateral amount to MCh$35,795.

(b) As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, in accordance with IAS 39 “Financial 
Instruments”, the Bank has recognized impairment on the debt instruments 
position of Latam Airlines, such impairment amounted to MCh$237 and 
MCh$4,202, respectively.
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(13) INVESTMENTS IN COMPANIES

As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the main investments in investees 
and other companies are summarized below:

OTHER COMPANIES
OWNERSHIP

INTEREST

BALANCES AS 
OF JANUARY 1

2021
ADDITIONS OTHER INCREASES

(DECREASES)

BALANCES AS 
OF DECEMBER 31

2021

MCH$ MCH$ MCH$ MCH$

Soc. Operadora de la Cámara de Compensación de Pagos de Alto Valor S.A. 
(COMBANC) 7.429% 216 36    -  252 

Soc. Interbancaria de Depósito de Valores S.A. 2.878% 58    -     -  58 

Transbank S.A. 0.000% 23    -     -  23 

CCLV, Contraparte Central S.A. 0.152% 8    -     -  8 

Enel Chile S.A 0.000% 7    -  (7)    -  

Redbanc S.A. 0.002%    -     -     -     -  

Servicios de Infraestructura de Mercado OTC S.A 

(IMERC - OTC SA) 1.300% 160    -     -  160 

TOTAL 472 36 (7) 501 

OTHER COMPANIES
OWNERSHIP

INTEREST

BALANCES AS 
OF JANUARY 1

2020
ADDITIONS OTHER INCREASES

(DECREASES)

BALANCES AS 
OF DECEMBER 31

2020

MCH$ MCH$ MCH$ MCH$

Soc. Operadora de la Cámara de Compensación de Pagos de Alto Valor S.A. 
(COMBANC) 6.880000% 216 -    -  216 

Soc. Interbancaria de Depósito de Valores S.A. 2.877700% 58    -     -  58 

Transbank S.A. 0.000003% 23    -     -  23 

CCLV, Contraparte Central S.A. 0.152000% 8    -     -  8 

Enel Chile S.A 0.000000% 7    -  - 7 

Redbanc S.A. 0.001600%    -     -     -     -  

Servicios de Infraestructura de Mercado OTC S.A 

(IMERC - OTC SA) 1.300000% 160    -     -  160 

TOTAL 472 - - 472 
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(13) INVESTMENTS IN COMPANIES (CONTINUED)

As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Bank’s investments in companies 
generated a profit of MCh$152 and MCh$140, respectively, from 
dividends received.

On September 1, 2021, Banco BICE purchased 53 shares of Sociedad 
Operadora de la Cámara de Compensación de Pagos de Alto Valor S.A. 
(COMBANC) for MCh$36.

As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Bank has not identified 
indications of impairment for its investments in other companies.

(14) INTANGIBLE ASSETS

(a) The composition of the item as of December 31, 2021 and 
2020 is as follows:

USEFUL LIFE
      YEARS

YEARS OF
REMAINING

AMORTIZATION

2021 2020

CONCEPT GROSS 
BALANCE

MCH$

AMORTIZATION
AND ACCUMULATED

IMPAIRMENT
MCH$

NET BALANCE
MCH$

GROSS 
BALANCE

MCH$

AMORTIZATION
AND ACCUMULATED

IMPAIRMENT
MCH$

NET BALANCE
MCH$2021 2020 2021 2020

Intangible assets acquired independently    -     -     -     -     -     -     -     -  

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination    -     -     -     -     -     -     -     -  

Intangible assets generated internally 3 3 1.7 1.3 43,081 33,039 10,042 32,227 27,319 4,908 

TOTAL 43,081 33,039 10,042 32,227 27,319 4,908 

(b) As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, movements in intangible assets 
are as follows:

INTANGIBLE
ASSETS

ACQUIRED
INDEPENDENTLY

MCH$

INTANGIBLE
ASSETS ACQUIRED 

IN A BUSINESS
COMBINATION

MCH$

INTANGIBLE 
ASSETS

GENERATED 
INTERNALLY

MCH$
TOTAL
MCH$

GROSS BALANCE, 2020

Balances as of January 1, 2020    -     -  26,468 26,468 

Acquisitions    -     -  6,760 6,760 

Withdrawals    -     -  (1,001) (1,001)

Reclassifications    -     -     -     -  

BALANCES AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2020    -     -  32,227 32,227 
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INTANGIBLE
ASSETS

ACQUIRED
INDEPENDENTLY

MCH$

INTANGIBLE
ASSETS ACQUIRED 

IN A BUSINESS
COMBINATION

MCH$

INTANGIBLE 
ASSETS

GENERATED 
INTERNALLY

MCH$
TOTAL
MCH$

GROSS BALANCE, 2021

Balances as of January 1, 2021    -     -  32,227 32,227 

Acquisitions    -     -  10,854 10,854 

Withdrawals    -     -     -     -  

Reclassifications    -     -     -     -  

BALANCES AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2021    -     -  43,081 43,081 

(c) The effect on the amortization and accumulated impairment of 
intangible assets as of December 31, 2021 and 2020 is detailed below:

AMORTIZATION AND ACCUMULATED IMPAIRMENT

INTANGIBLE
ASSETS

ACQUIRED
INDEPENDENTLY

MCH$

INTANGIBLE
ASSETS ACQUIRED 

IN A BUSINESS
COMBINATION

MCH$

INTANGIBLE 
ASSETS

GENERATED 
INTERNALLY

MCH$
TOTAL
MCH$

GROSS BALANCE, 2020

Balances as of January 1, 2020    -     -  23,372 23,372 

Amortization for the year    -     -  4,770 4,770 

Withdrawals    -     -  (823) (823)

BALANCES AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2020    -     -  27,319 27,319 

GROSS BALANCE, 2021

Balances as of January 1, 2021    -     -  27,319 27,319 

Amortization for the year    -     -  5,720 5,720 

Withdrawals    -     -     -     -  

BALANCES AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2021    -     -  33,039 33,039 

(d) Banco BICE has no restrictions on intangible assets as of December 
31, 2021 and 2020. In addition, no intangible assets have been pledged 
as collateral in compliance with obligations.

(14) INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)
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(15) PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT, AND RIGHT TO 
USE ASSETS AND OBLIGATION FOR LEASE

(a) As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the composition and movement 
of property, plant and equipment is as follows:

LAND AND
CONSTRUCTIONS

MCH$
EQUIPMENT

MCH$
OTHER
MCH$

TOTAL
MCH$

GROSS BALANCES

Balances as of January 1, 2020 29,231 23,029 11,849 64,109 

Additions 18 802 1,846 2,666 

Withdrawals    -     -  (96) (96)

Impairment    -     -     -     -  

Reclassifications    -     -     -     -  

SUBTOTAL AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2020 29,249 23,831 13,599 66,679 

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION

Balances as of January 1, 2020 (10,255) (19,862) (4,677) (34,794)

Additions (365) (1,259) (293) (1,917)

Withdrawals    -     -  96 96 

Impairment    -     -     -     -  

Reclassifications    -     -     -     -  

SUBTOTAL AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2020 (10,620) (21,121) (4,874) (36,615)

TOTAL NET PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2020 18,629 2,710 8,725 30,064 
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(15) PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT, AND RIGHT TO 
USE ASSETS AND OBLIGATION FOR LEASE (CONTINUED)

LAND AND
CONSTRUCTIONS

MCH$
EQUIPMENT

MCH$
OTHER
MCH$

TOTAL
MCH$

GROSS BALANCES

Balances as of January 1, 2021 29,249 23,831 13,599 66,679 

Additions 7 678 16,293 16,978 

Withdrawals (10,783) (9,725) (1,462) (21,970)

Impairment    -     -     -     -  

Reclassifications    -     -     -     -  

SUBTOTAL AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2021 18,473 14,784 28,430 61,687 

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION

Balances as of January 1, 2021 (10,620) (21,121) (4,874) (36,615)

Additions (343) (1,227) (239) (1,809)

Withdrawals 7,358 9,659 1,462 18,479 

Impairment    -     -     -     -  

Reclassifications    -     -     -     -  

SUBTOTAL AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2021 (3,605) (12,689) (3,651) (19,945)

TOTAL NET PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2021 14,868  2,095 24,779 41,742 
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(15) PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT, AND RIGHT TO 
USE ASSETS AND OBLIGATION FOR LEASE (CONTINUED)

On March 31, 2021, Banco BICE and BICE Vida Compañía de Seguros S.A. 
entered into a real estate purchase and sale agreement. As of December 
31, 2021, the sale of the real estates committed in the transaction was 
materialized, therefore, the Bank recorded the derecognition of such 
assets for an amount of MCh$3,625, its sale price was MCh$9,638 and 
recognized a gain of MCh$6,013 before tax (see Note 33) in the operation, 
since the performance obligations were fulfilled.

(b) As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, Banco BICE has leased property, 
plant and equipment, whose tax value is as follows:

2021 2020

LEASED ASSETS MCH$ MCH$

Opening balance 474,087 504,034 

Additions 143,964 98,636 

Price-level restatement 35,114 13,952 

Depreciation (105,897) (107,417)

Cost of sales (34,635) (35,118)

CLOSING BALANCE 512,633 474,087 

(c) Banco BICE does not have any restrictions on property, plant and 
equipment as of December 31, 2021 and 2020. In addition, no property, 
plant and equipment have been pledged as collateral for the fulfillment 
of obligations.

(d) As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Bank has operating leases 
that cannot be terminated unilaterally:

FUTURE OPERATING LEASE PAYMENTS

REAL ESTATES LEASING

UP TO
1 YEAR
MCH$

1 TO
5 YEARS

MCH$

OVER
5 YEARS

MCH$
TOTAL 
MCH$

2021  371 -  -   371 

2020  249 -  -   249

(e) As of December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, the composition 
and Assets for right to use leased assets is as follows:

ASSETS FOR THE RIGHT TO USE LEASED ASSETS
BUILDINGS AND 

CONSTRUCTIONS
MCH$

IMPROVEMENTS 
IN LEASED
PROPERTY

MCH$
TOTAL
MCH$

GROSS BALANCES

Balances as of January 1, 2020 15,977 8,075 24,052 

Additions 56,860 1,196 58,056 

Withdrawals (623)    -  (623)

Impairment    -     -     -  

Liability remeasurements (readjustment) 1,105    -  1,105 

Liability remeasurements (2,029)    -  (2,029)

SUBTOTAL AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2020 71,290 9,271 80,561 
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ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION

Balances as of January 1, 2020 (2,286) (7,211) (9,497)

Depreciation for the year (2,496) (1,049) (3,545)

Withdrawals 206    -  206 

Impairment    -     -     -  

Reclassifications    -     -     -  

SUBTOTAL AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2020 (4,576) (8,260) (12,836)

TOTAL AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2020 66,714 1,011 67,725 

As of December 31, 2020, the recognition of the right-of-use asset is 
included, which corresponds to the starting of 2 new lease contracts for 
the Alsacia and Torres Las Condes buildings, whose owner is BiceVida 
(related company) amounting to MCh$41,562 and MCh$12,891 respectively.

ASSETS FOR THE RIGHT TO USE LEASED ASSETS
BUILDINGS AND 

CONSTRUCTIONS
MCH$

IMPROVEMENTS 
IN LEASED 
PROPERTY

MCH$
TOTAL
MCH$

GROSS BALANCES

Balances as of January 1, 20201 71,290 9,271 80,561 

Additions 6,707 53 6,760 

Withdrawals (1,699) (1,989) (3,688)

Impairment    -     -     -  

Liability remeasurements (readjustment) 4,507    -  4,507 

Liability remeasurements    -     -     -  

SUBTOTAL AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2021 80,805 7,335 88,140 

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION

Balances as of January 1, 2020 (4,576) (8,260) (12,836)

Depreciation for the year (2,587) (704) (3,291)

Withdrawals 1,275 1,133 2,408 

Impairment    -     -     -  

Reclassifications (1,345) 1,492 147 

SUBTOTAL AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2021 (7,233) (6,339) (13,572)

TOTAL AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2021 73,572 996 74,568 

(15) PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT, AND RIGHT TO 
USE ASSETS AND OBLIGATION FOR LEASE (CONTINUED)
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(15) PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT, AND RIGHT TO 
USE ASSETS AND OBLIGATION FOR LEASE (CONTINUED)

(f) The effects on income from Rights to use leased assets are as follows:

2021
MCH$

2020
MCH$

Income from subleases of rights to use assets  20  17 

Short-term lease expenses (1,022) (743)

Low-value rental expense (557) (173)

(g) Lease contract obligations as of December 31, 2021 and 2020 are 
as follows:

OBLIGATION FOR LEASE CONTRACT 2021
MCH$

2020
MCH$

Balances as of January 1  66,134  14,307 

New contracts 6,707  56,860 

Termination of contracts (424)  - 

Remeasurements  - (2,196)

Interests 554 383

Remeasurements (readjustment) 4,507 1,105

Payments (6,696) (4,325)

CLOSING BALANCES  70,782 66,134

(h) Flows in accordance with IFRS 16 “Leases” are presented below:

FUTURE OPERATING LEASE PAYMENTS IFRS 16

REAL ESTATES LEASING UP TO 1
      YEAR

1 TO 2
    YEARS 

2 TO 3
    YEARS 

3 TO 4
   YEARS 

4 TO 5
   YEARS 

OVER 5
     YEARS 

TOTAL

2021  5,005  4,889  4,687  4,369  4,322  47,510  70,782 

2020  5,041  4,334  4,197  4,006  3,706  44,850  66,134 
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(16) CURRENT AND DEFERRED TAXES

(a) Current taxes
As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Bank has recorded a Corporate 
income tax provision of MCh$19.749 and MCh$24,015 respectively, 
which was determined in accordance with current tax legislation. The 
detail of this provision discounted from monthly provisional income 
tax payments and other credits, is as follows:

2021
MCH$

2020
MCH$

TAX CURRENT YEAR (RATE 27%) (19,749) (24,015)

TAXES PREVIOUS YEARS    -     -  

LESS:

Monthly Provisional Payments 7,285 50,222 

Credit for training expenses 358 320 

Credit for acquisition of property, plant and equipment    -  26 

4% credit for financial instruments Art. 104 of the income Tax Law 431 289 

Credit for donations 79 141 

Recoverable taxes 1,256 16,083 

NET CURRENT TAX RECEIVABLE (PAYABLE) (10,340) 43,066 

2021
MCH$

2020
MCH$

Current tax assets 1,401 43,068 

Current tax liabilities (11,741) (2)

NET CURRENT TAX ASSETS (LIABILITIES) (10,340) 43,066
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(16) CURRENT AND DEFERRED TAXES (CONTINUED)

(b) Effect on net income
The tax expense during the periods ended between January 1, and 
December 31, 2021 and 2020 is as follows:

2021
MCH$

2020
MCH$

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Current year tax 19,749 24,015 

(CREDIT) DEBIT FOR DEFERRED TAXES

Origination and reversal of temporary differences current year 2,123 (4,107)

Deferred tax previous year 754 803 

SUBTOTAL 22,626 20,711 

Tax for non-deductible expenses under Art. N° 21 of the Income 46 96 

Tax differences, previous tax year (760) (1,856)

SUBTOTAL (714) (1,760)

NET DEBIT TO NET INCOME FOR INCOME TAX 21,912 18,951 

(c) Reconciliation of effective income tax rate
The reconciliation of the income tax rate to the effective tax rate applied 
in the determination of the tax expense as of December 31, 2021 and 
2020 is shown below: 

2021 2020

TAX RATE
%

AMOUNT
MCH$

TAX RATE
%

AMOUNT
MCH$

Theorical income tax 27.00 34,304 27.00 25,270

Permanent differences (9.78) (12,432) (5.73) (5,361)

Current tax previous year   - (6) (1.13) (1,053)

Other 0.04 46 0.10 95

EFFECTIVE TAX RATE AND INCOME TAX EXPENSE 17.26% 21,912 20.24% 18,951 
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(16) CURRENT AND DEFERRED TAXES (CONTINUED)

(d) Effect of deferred taxes on equity 
As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, deferred taxes recognized in equity 
are composed as follows:

2021
MCH$

2020
MCH$

Available for sale financial investments 106 (1,292)

Cash flow hedge (70)   - 

SUBTOTAL CREDIT (CHARGE) IN EQUITY 36 (1,292)

Application of CNC as per Circular No. 2,243 (*) 37   - 

TOTAL 73 (1,292)

(*) Corresponds to the application of the change in the criterion of suspension of income on 
an accrual basis, the details of which are described in Note No. 3 Accounting changes.
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(16) CURRENT AND DEFERRED TAXES (CONTINUED)

(e) Effect of deferred taxes on profit or loss
As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Bank recorded the effects of 
deferred taxes in accordance with IAS 12.

The accumulated effects of deferred taxes on assets and liabilities are 
as follows:

2021 2020

ASSETS 
(LIABILITIES)

MCH$

ASSETS 
(LIABILITIES)

MCH$

ASSETS 
(LIABILITIES)

MCH$

ASSETS 
(LIABILITIES)

MCH$

CONCEPTS

Provision on loans 42,919 4 36,398 14 

Accrued vacations 1,098 153 963 119 

Effective tax rate (2,083)    -  (1,665)    -  

Provisions related to staff (BNC) (1,060) (111)    -     -  

Tax loss 1,471    -     -     -  

Accrued interest and adjustments, past due portfolio 2,331    -  1,108    -  

Fair value 333 (363) 1,018 (547)

Net provision for premiums and discounts 11,175    -  13,419    -  

Total deferred tax assets 1,280    -  1,781    -  

Depreciation of plant and equipment (927) 4 (1,112) 3 

Intangible assets (4,904) 14 (3,825) (1)

Leases IFRS 16 (1,073)    -  (311) 1 

Derivative operations (1,791)    -  3,399    -  

Leasing operations (3,745)    -  (3,336)    -  

Other deferred tax liabilities (142)    -  34    -  

TOTAL NET ASSETS THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS 44,882 (299) 47,871 (411)

Available for sale investments 106    -  (1,292)    -  

Cash flow hedge (70)    -     -     -  

Other deferred taxes to equity 37    -     -     -  

TOTAL NET ASSETS 44,955 (299) 46,579 (411)
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(16) CURRENT AND DEFERRED TAXES (CONTINUED)

(f) Supplementary note to current taxes and deferred taxes
As of December 31 , 2021 and 2020, the Bank presents the following 
tax information related to provisions , write-offs , renegotiations 
and remissions of credits .  This information only includes the 
Bank ’s operations:

2021

A. LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS ASSETS AT 
FINANCIAL VALUE

 MCH$ 

ASSETS AT TAX VALUE

TOTAL 
MCH$ 

OVERDUE PORTFOLIO 
WITH

GUARANTEE
 MCH$ 

UNSECURED 
OVERDUE PORTFOLIO

MCH$ 

Commercial loans 4,916,400 4,917,916 31,912 23,556

Consumer loans 194,331 193,451 582 709

Mortgage loans 1,442,948 1,439,466 2,443   - 

  TOTAL 6,553,679 6,550,833 34,937 24,265

B. PROVISIONS OVER OVERDUE PORTFOLIO 2020
MCH$ 

WRITE-OFFS 
AGAINST 

PROVISIONS
MCH$

ALLOWANCES 
ESTABLISHED 

MCH$ 

ALLOWANCES 
RELEASED

MCH$ 
2021

MCH$ 

Commercial loans 17,971 7,213 26,099 13,301 23,556

Consumer loans 780 832 1,139 378 709

Mortgage loans 1   -   - 1   - 

  TOTAL 18,752 8,045 27,238 13,680 24,265

C. DIRECT WRITE-OFFS AND RECOVERIES MCH$ D. APPLICATION OF ART.31 N°4 MCH$ 

Direct write-offs, Art. 31 Nº4 second paragraph 12,514 WRITE-OFFS ACCORDING 
TO FIRST PARAGRAPH 258

Remissions which originated provision releases   - REMISSIONS ACCORDING 
TO THIRD PARAGRAPH   - 

Recovery or renegotiation of written off loans 1,525

2020
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A. LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS ASSETS AT 
FINANCIAL VALUE

 MCH$ 

ASSETS AT TAX VALUE

TOTAL 
MCH$ 

OVERDUE PORTFOLIO 
WITH

GUARANTEE
 MCH$ 

UNSECURED 
OVERDUE PORTFOLIO

MCH$ 

Commercial loans 4,314,854 4,320,447 21,651 17,971

Consumer loans 170,621 169,790 945 780

Mortgage loans 1,278,592 1,274,857 2,213 1

  TOTAL 5,764,067 5,765,094 24,809 18,752

B. PROVISIONS OVER OVERDUE PORTFOLIO
2019

MCH$ 

WRITE-OFFS 
AGAINST 

PROVISIONS
MCH$

ALLOWANCES 
ESTABLISHED 

MCH$ 

ALLOWANCES 
RELEASED

MCH$ 
2020

MCH$ 

Commercial loans 4,565 976 16,477 2,095 17,971

Consumer loans 223 1,446 2,061 58 780

Mortgage loans 6 18 14   - 2

  TOTAL 4,794 2,440 18,552 2,153 18,753

C. DIRECT WRITE-OFFS AND RECOVERIES MCH$ D. APPLICATION OF ART.31 N°4 MCH$ 

Direct write-offs, Art. 31 Nº4 second paragraph 3,510 WRITE-OFFS ACCORDING 
TO FIRST PARAGRAPH 645

Remissions which originated provision releases   - REMISSIONS ACCORDING 
TO THIRD PARAGRAPH   - 

Recovery or renegotiation of written off loans 594

(17) OTHER ASSETS

(16) CURRENT AND DEFERRED TAXES (CONTINUED)
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(a) As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, Other assets were as follows:

2021
MCH$ 

2020
 MCH$ 

ASSETS FOR LEASING (*) 26,173 26,322 

ASSETS RECEIVED IN LIEU OF PAYMENT OR AWARDED 641 1,262 

Assets received in lieu of payment    -     -  

Assets obtained through court-ordered public auction 641 1,262 

Provision for assets received in lieu of payment or awarded    -     -  

OTHER ASSETS 153,698 103,365 

Cash deposits in guarantee 49,360 29,771 

Notes and accounts receivable 33,701 21,275 

Market Value of accounting hedge FCIC 13,978    -  

Advanced payments to suppliers 11,863 10,114 

Rights for simultaneous transactions 11,155 16,532 

Value added tax 10,278 10,730 

Prepaid expenses 6,003 2,090 

Term shares 4,664 4,435 

Accounts receivable lease IFRS 16 696 875 

Checks in collection 293 899 

Assets recovered from leasing for sale (**) 135 60 

Receivables associated with lease transactions 129 180 

Portfolio management fee 16 77 

Other assets 11,427 6,327 

TOTAL 180,512 130,949 

(*) Relates to property and equipment under construction or available for delivering under 
financial lease agreements.

(**) These assets are assets available for sale, and their sale is considered to be highly likely. 
The sale of most assets is expected to be completed in one year starting from the date on 
which the asset is classified as “Assets recovered from lease transactions available- for-sale”.

(b) As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, movements in the provision for 
assets received in lieu of payment or awarded are as follows:
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 PROVISIONS FOR ASSETS 
RECEIVED IN LIEU OF 

PAYMENT OR AWARDED

2021
 MCH$ 

2020
 MCH$ 

Balances as of January 1    -     -  

Provisions established    -     -  

Provisions used    -     -  

Write-offs    -     -  

Exchange differences    -     -  

Other changes in the book value of the year    -     -  

TOTAL    -     -  

  

In accordance with Chapter B-5 of the Summary of Accounting Standards 
issued by the Financial Market Commission, the initial value of the assets 
received in lieu of payment or awarded in settlement of obligations is 
the value agreed with the debtor in the settlement or the awarding value 
in a legal auction, as appropriate. Subsequently, these are measured 
at the lower of the initial value plus its additions and the net realizable 
value, which corresponds to the fair value less the expenses required 
to maintain and dispose of these.

The net realizable value of each asset is recognized through a provision 
equal to the difference with respect to the initial value plus its additions, 
if the latter is higher.

Assets received in payment or awarded in payment of obligations must 
be disposed of within one year from the date of acquisition, except in 
the case of shares, for which the law stipulates a period of six months. 
Notwithstanding the foregoing, under certain conditions, banks have an 
additional period of up to eighteen months to dispose of these assets, 
after their accounting write-off. According to Circular No. 2,247, issued 
on March 25, 2020, the Financial Market Commission resolved to grant 

(17) OTHER ASSETS (CONTINUED)

an additional period of eighteen months for the disposal of all assets 
that financial institutions have received in payment or have been 
awarded between March 1, 2019 and September 30, 2020, also allowing 
the write-off of such assets to be made in installments, proportional to 
the number of months between the date of their receipt and the date 
set by the bank for their disposal.

As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, there are no fully written-off awarded 
assets pending sale.

(18) DEPOSITS AND OTHER ON -DEMAND LIABILITIES AND 
TIME DEPOSITS

As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the composition of this caption is 
as follows:

2021
 MCH$ 

2020
 MCH$ 

A) DEPOSITS AND OTHER DEMAND LIABILITIES

Current accounts 2,219,679 1,816,401 

Other on-demand deposits 147,635 110,240 

Loans in collection process with customers 14,159 11,646 

Other on-demand obligations 204,254 138,912 

TOTAL 2,585,727 2,077,199 

B) TIME AND ON-DEMAND DEPOSITS

Time deposits 2,693,850 3,074,542 

Time savings accounts 4,836 3,286 

Other time creditor balances    -     -  

TOTAL 2,698,686 3,077,828 
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(19) BANK BORROWINGS

As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the composition of this caption is as follows:
2021

MCH$ 
2020

MCH$ 

BORROWINGS AND OTHER LIABILITIES OBTAINED FROM CENTRAL BANK OF CHILE (*) 1,043,889 768,881

BORROWINGS FROM DOMESTIC FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS 16,030 9,001

BORROWINGS FROM FOREIGN FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS 248,244 118,582

Financing for domestic exports 156,947 88,666

Financing for domestic imports 55,142 17,736

Transactions between other countries 589 441

Borrowings and other liabilities 35,566 11,739

TOTAL 1,308,163 896,464

 
(*) It corresponds to financing obtained under the Liquidity Line of Credit (LCL), in local currency, 
regulated by Chapter 4.1 of the Compendium of Monetary and Financial Regulations of the 
Central Bank of Chile, whose limit corresponds to the reserve requirement of the average 
reserve required in the immediately preceding monthly period and to the Facility Conditional 
to the Increase in Loans (FCIC) with pledge guarantee, regulated by Chapters 2.1 and 2.3 of the 
Compendium of Monetary and Financial Regulations of the Central Bank of Chile.

(20) DEBT SECURITIES ISSUED AND OTHER FINANCIAL 
OBLIGATIONS

As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the composition of this caption is as follows:
2021

MCH$ 
2020

MCH$ 

A) DEBT SECURITIES ISSUED:

Letters of credit  526  863 

Current bonds  1,743,639  1,610,640 

Subordinated Bonds  226,647  217,397 

TOTAL  1,970,812  1,828,900 

Current (short term)  251,671  194,211 

Non-current (long term)  1,719,141  1,634,689 

TOTAL  1,970,812  1,828,900 
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B) OTHER FINANCIAL OBLIGATIONS:

Obligations with the public sector  65,690  68,278 

Other obligations in the country  36,362  31,331 

Obligations abroad  24,061  25,637 

TOTALES  126,113  125,246 

Current (short term)  47,066  41,704 

Non-current (long term)  79,047  83,542 

TOTAL  126,113  125,246 

As of December 31, 2021, the Bank holds current and subordinated bonds, 
detailed as follows:

CURRENT BONDS

SERIES CURRENCY ISSUANCE 
AMOUNT TERM ISSUANCE RATE

%
ISSUANCE 

DATE
MATURITY 

DATE PLACEMENT
OUTSTANDING 

AMOUNT

BBIC490710 UF 2,000,000 25 years 3.75% Jul-10 Jul-35  1,100,000  1,100,000 

BBIC530312 UF 5,000,000 10 years 3.00% Mar-12 Mar-22  5,000,000  5,000,000 

BBIC560313 USD 60,000,000 10 years 4.50% Mar-13 Mar-23  60,000,000  60,000,000 

BBIC590314 UF 5,000,000 10 years 3.00% Mar-14 Mar-24  5,000,000  5,000,000 

BBIC610515 UF 2,000,000 11 years 3.50% May-15 May-26  2,000,000  2,000,000 

BBIC620515 USD 50,000,000 7 years 3.50% May-15 May-22  50,000,000  50,000,000 

BBIC630515 USD 70,000,000 10 years 4.25% May-15 May-25  70,000,000  70,000,000 

BBIC650116 CLP 35,000,000,000 7 years 5.75% Jan-16 Jan-23  35,000,000,000  35,000,000,000 

BBIC660316 UF 2,000,000 10 years 3.00% Mar-16 Mar-26  2,000,000  2,000,000 

BBIC670316 UF 5,000,000 11 years 3.00% Mar-16 Mar-27  5,000,000  5,000,000 

BBIC680717 UF 4,000,000 11 years 2.50% Jul-17 Jul-28  4,000,000  4,000,000 

BBIC690717 USD 70,000,000 7 years 4.00% Jul-17 Jul-24  50,000,000  50,000,000 

BBIC700717 USD 50,000,000 10 years 4.50% Jul-17 Jul-27  -  - 

(20) DEBT SECURITIES ISSUED AND OTHER FINANCIAL 
OBLIGATIONS (CONTINUED)
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BBIC710618 CLP 70,000,000,000 6 years 4.25% Jun-18 Jun-24  -  - 

BBIC720618 CLP 50,000,000,000 8 years 4.25% Jun-18 Jun-26  -  - 

BBIC730218 UF 5,000,000 6 years 2.00% Feb-18 Feb-24  5,000,000  5,000,000 

BBIC740218 UF 5,000,000 11 years 2.50% Feb-18 Feb-29  5,000,000  5,000,000 

BBIC750219 UF 5,000,000 11 years 2.50% Feb-19 Feb-30  5,000,000  5,000,000 

BBIC770520          UF 5,000,000 11 years 1.50% May-20 May-31  3,710,000  3,710,000 

BBIC780520          UF 2,000,000 22 years 2.00% May-20 May-42  1,000,000  1,000,000 

CH1139995802 CHF 110,000,000 5 years 0.75% Oct-21 Oct-26 110,000,000 110,000,000

SUBORDINATED BONDS

SERIES CURRENCY ISSUANCE 
AMOUNT TERM ISSUANCE RATE

%
ISSUANCE 

DATE
MATURITY 

DATE PLACEMENT
OUTSTANDING 

AMOUNT

UBICS20399 UF 1,400,000 25 years 6.25% Mar-99 Mar-24  1,400,000  420,000 

UBICS30207 UF 2,000,000 20 years 4.00% Feb-07 Feb-27  1,600,000  1,600,000 

UBICS40612 UF 2,000,000 22 years 4.00% Jul-12 Jun-34  2,000,000  2,000,000 

UBICS50314 UF 2,000,000 25 years 3.50% Mar-14 Mar-39  2,000,000  2,000,000 

UBICS60216 UF 2,000,000 25 years 3.75% Feb-16 Feb-41  1,000,000  1,000,000 

UBICS70120 UF 2,000,000 15 years 2.00% Jan-20 Jan-35  -  - 

During fiscal year ended December 31, 2021, the Bank placed corporate 
bonds of series CH1139995802 for CHF110,000,000, series BBIC770520 for 
UF1,200,000 and series BBIC780520 for UF1,000,000. During the same period, 
the following series bonds matured: BBIC570214 for UF3,900,000 and 
BBIC640116 CLP25,000,000. During the same year, the payment of the junior 
bond UBICS20399 was made for UF168,000.

During fiscal year 2020, the Bank placed corporate bonds of series BBIC750219 
for UF1,000,000, series BBIC730218 for UF3,000,000 and series BBIC770520 for 
UF2,510,000. During the same period, the following series bonds matured: 
BBIC480510 for UF5,000,000 and BBIC600515 for UF3,000,000.
 

(20) DEBT SECURITIES ISSUED AND OTHER FINANCIAL 
OBLIGATIONS (CONTINUED)
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(21) PROVISIONS

a) As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, this caption is composed of the following:

2021
 MCH$ 

2020
 MCH$ 

Provisions for benefits and personnel expenses 15,792 12,229 

Allowances for contingent credit risk 10,276 10,268 

Additional allowances for loans 54,103 41,074 

Provisions for minimum dividends 31,542 22,393 

Provisions for country risk 429 382 

Other provisions 20 13 

TOTAL 112,162 86,359

 
(b) As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, movements in provisions are 
as follows:

BENEFITS AND 
PERSONNEL 

EXPENSES
MCH$

ALLOWANCES FOR 
CONTINGENTES

     CREDIT RISK 
MCH$

ADDITIONAL 
ALLOWANCES

    FOR LOANS 
MCH$

PROVISIONS FOR
  MINIMUM 
DIVIDENDS  

MCH$

PROVISIONS FOR
   COUNTRY RISK 

MCH$

OTHER
   PROVISIONS  

MM$
TOTAL

MM$

Balances as of January 1, 2020  expenses 41,019 20,745 380 13 80,242 

Provisions established 12,679 2,647 55 22,393 2    -  37,776 

Provisions application / release (10,914)    -     -  (20,745)    -     -  (31,659)

Other movements    -     -     -     -     -     -     -  

BALANCES AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2020 12,229 10,268 41,074 22,393 382 13 86,359 

Balances as of January 1, 2021 12,229 10,268 41,074 22,393 382 13 86,359 

Provisions established 16,492 28 13,029 31,542 47 214 61,352 

Provisions application / release (12,929) (20)    -  (22,393)    -  (207) (35,549)

Other movements    -     -     -     -     -     -     -  

BALANCES AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2021 15,792 10,276 54,103 31,542 429 20 112,162 
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(21) PROVISIONS (CONTINUED)

(c) Provisions for staff benefits and remuneration
As of December 31 , 2021 and 2020, the composition of this item is 
as follows:

2021
 MCH$ 

2020
MCH$ 

Accrued vacations 4,631 4,005 

Provisions for indemnity payments    -     -  

Provisions for severance benefits    -     -  

Provisions for share-based employee benefits    -     -  

Provision for other staff benefits 11,161 8,224 

TOTAL 15,792 12,229 

   

The movement in Provisions for employee benefits and remuneration 
as of December 31, 2021 and 2020 is shown below.

ACCRUED 
VACATIONS

MCH$

PERFORMANCE 
BONUS PROVISION

MM$

Balance as of January 01, 2020 2,776 7,688

Provisions established 4,506 8,173

Provisions application (3,277) (7,507)

Provisions release    -  (130)

Other movements    -     -  

BALANCES AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2020 4,005 8,224

Balance as of January 1, 2021 4,005 8,224

Provisions established 4,539 11,953

Provisions application (3,913) (8,188)

Provisions release    -  (828)

Other movements    -     -  

BALANCES AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2021 4,631 11,161

   
(d) Severance indemnities
As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, in accordance with Note 2 (z) “Personnel 
benefits”, the Bank records no balances with respect to such concept.
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(22) OTHER LIABILITIES

As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the composition of this caption is 
as follows:

2021
 MCH$ 

2020
 MCH$ 

Accounts and notes payable 70,705 38,502 

Creditors through intermediation 28,578 14,265 

Obligations for simultaneous transactions 11,155 16,532 

Local and external market collateral 4,718 3,820 

Loyalty programs 3,345 8,182 

Income received in advance 2,856 1,851 

Other liabilities 8,453 5,928 

TOTAL 129,810 89,080
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(23) CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS

(a) Commitments and responsibilities

(a.1) Recorded in off-balance sheet memorandum accounts
As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Bank records in off-balance 
memorandum accounts the following balances related to commitments 
or liabilities associated with its line of business:

2021
 MCH$ 

2020
 MCH$ 

CONTINGENT LOANS: 1,519,587 1,315,771 

Co-debt and collateral 26,292 12,475 

Foreign confirmed letters of credit 52,732 16,236 

Supporting letters of credit issued 83,641 33,015 

Bank guarantee certificates 418,435 411,776 

Readily available revolving credit facilities 766,039 712,607 

Other credit commitments 164,731 121,391 

Other contingent loans 7,717 8,271 

OPERATIONS ON BEHALF OF THIRD PARTIES: 2,309,419 2,037,731 

COLLECTIONS: 43,064 35,202 

Foreign collection 42,813 34,967 

Domestic collection 251 235 

PLACEMENT OR SALE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS:    -  

Placement of securities for public bid    -     -  

Sale of letter of credit from bank operation    -     -  

Sale of other instruments    -     -  

FINANCIAL ASSETS TRANSFERRED TO AND MANAGED BY THE BANK:    -  

Assets assigned to insurance companies    -     -  

Securitized assets    -     -  

Other assets assigned to third parties    -     -  

THIRD PARTY RESOURCES MANAGED BY THE BANK: 2,266,355 2,002,529 
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2021
 MCH$ 

2020
 MCH$ 

Financial assets managed on behalf of third parties 2,266,355 2,002,529 

Other assets managed on behalf of third parties    -     -  

Financial assets acquired for its own    -     -  

Other assets acquired for its own    -     -  

CUSTODY OF SECURITIES: 4,489,651 4,599,301 

Securities held by the Bank 426,108 454,304 

Securities held in custody deposited in another entity 1,504,205 1,220,235 

SECURITIES ISSUED BY THE BANK: 2,559,338 2,924,762 

Promissory notes for time deposits 2,559,338 2,924,762 

Letter of credit for sale    -     -  

Other documents    -     -  

COMMITMENTS:    -     -  

Guarantees for underwriting operations    -     -  

Commitments related to acquisition of assets    -     -  

TOTAL 8,318,657 7,952,803

   

(23) CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS (CONTINUED)
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(23) CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS (CONTINUED)

(a.2) Other
The subsidiary BICE Inversiones Administradora General de Fondos 
S.A. as of December 31, 2021, managed net equity of 42 Mutual Funds 
and 23 Investment Funds for an amount of MCh$2,838,228 and 
MCh$523,690. As of December 31, 2020, it managed net equity of 33 
Mutual Funds and 18 Investment Funds amounting to MCh$2,543,451 
and MCh$495,127, respectively.

(b) Lawsuits and legal proceedings

(b.1) Normal legal contingencies for the industry
At the issue date of these Consolidated Financial Statements there are 
lawsuits filed against the Bank and subsidiaries that are related to its 
line of business. The detail of lawsuits is presented below, together with 
Management’s opinion on their results:

(i) Three lawsuits filed with the Free Competition Tribunal, Surbtc SpA, 
Cryptomkt SPA and Orionx SPA against Banco BICE and other banks. 
On June 5 and 15, 2018, the Bank was noticed of lawsuits against it, and 
against other banks, for alleged practices against free competition. With 
respect to Banco BICE, the lawsuits requests the Bank to be sanctioned 
with a fine for fiscal benefit of 15,000 Annual Tax Units for each of the 
lawsuits. These three lawsuits are in the evidentiary stage.

(ii) Lawsuit filed with the 5th Civil Court of Santiago, Case entitled “Rodrigo 
Andrés Rojas Barros against Banco BICE”. On June 23, 2017, the Bank was 
noticed of the lawsuit for damages of MCh$126, as a result of two returned 
checks during January 2014. This claim is dismissed in all its parts, with 
legal costs. Appeal from the plaintiff is pending.

(iv) Lawsuit filed before the 2nd Civil Court of Rancagua “García Huidobro 
against Banco BICE”, for the compensation for damages as a result of 
fraud committed by Jorge Palacio Figari against the Bank. The claim for 
compensation for the moral damages incurred amounts to MCh$180 plus 
compensation for business interruption. The claim for moral damage 
and business interruption was accepted plus costs. Pending appeal for 
dismissal and remedy of appeal filed by Banco BICE.
 

(iv) There are five more claims of compensation for damages, 
corresponding to traffic accidents involving leased vehicles, which 
by their nature are insured.

In Management’s judgment and based on the opinion of the legal 
advisors, it is considered unlikely that these lawsuits will result in losses 
for the Bank. Consequently, as of December 31, 2021, the Bank has not 
recorded provisions for these concepts.

(b.2) Other contingencies due to significant demands
As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, there are no other significant demands 
filed in the Courts that could affect these Consolidated Financial 
Statements.

(c) Guarantees granted for operations

In accordance with Articles N° 30 and N° 31 of Law No.18.045 (Securities 
Market Law), BICE Inversiones Corredores de Bolsa S.A. has constituted a 
guarantee, through HDI Seguros de Garantía y Crédito S.A., for UF20,000, 
maturing on April 22, 2022, and for which the Santiago Stock Exchange 
was designated the representative of the beneficiaries, holder and 
custodian of the insurance policy.

BICE Inversiones Corredores de Bolsa S.A. maintains a comprehensive 
insurance policy with Orion Seguros Generales S.A. for employee loyalty, 
in the amount of ThUS$11,000. This policy is effective until March 29, 2023.
In accordance with Articles N° 30 and N° 31 of Law No.18,045 (Securities 
Market Law), BICE Agente de Valores S.A. has constituted a guarantee, 
through Compañía de Seguros Mapfre Garantías y Créditos S.A. for 
UF4,000, maturing on June 11 , 2022, and for which Banco BICE was 
designated the representative of the beneficiaries, holder and custodian 
of the insurance policy.
 
As of December 31, 2021, in order to guarantee the transactions carried 
out in BICE Inversiones Corredores de Bolsa S.A. through CCLV Contraparte 
Central S.A., the Broker has pledged fixed income instruments with a 
market value of MCh$4,380. 193
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As of December 31, 2021, BICE Inversiones Corredores de Bolsa S.A., 
holds shares as collateral in the Stock Exchange to guarantee term 
transactions amounting to MCh$4,664, and fixed income instruments 
amounting to MCh$1,398.

The company BICE Inversiones Corredores de Bolsa S.A., in order to 
operate as a broker in the Chilean Electronic Stock Exchange, constituted 
cash guarantees amounting to MCh$183.

Additionally, BICE Inversiones Corredores de Bolsa S.A., in order to allow 
its clients to carry out transactions abroad, provided guarantees for 
ThUS$250 with broker Pershing LLC.

The subsidiary BICE Corredores de Seguros Ltda. took out two insurance 
policies to guarantee compliance with of all the obligations arising from 
its insurance policy brokerage operations, in accordance with Circular 
No.1,160 of September 6, 1994 issued by the Financial Market Commission. 
One of such policies was engaged from Consorcio Nacional de Seguros 
Generales S.A. for UF60,000, which is effective between April 15, 2021 and 
April 14, 2022. The second policy was engaged from the same company, 
as guarantee for insurance brokers, for UF500 considering the same 
term of the first policy.

BICE Inversiones Administradora General de Fondos S.A., contracted 
Performance bonds for General Fund Managing Companies to guarantee 
performance of its obligations related to the management of third 

(23) CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS (CONTINUED)

party funds and the compensation for damages caused by failure to 
meet such obligations, in accordance with Article 12 of Law No. 20,712 
(Single Fund Law). The total value of the performance bonds taken for 
this concept amounts to UF1,463,676.99.
 
The Bank has acquired various irrevocable commitments and contingent 
liabilities, although these liabilities are not recognized in the balance 
sheet, they contain credit risks and are therefore part of the Bank’s 
global risk.

The table below shows the contractual amounts of transactions that 
oblige the Bank to grant credits and the amount of the provisions created 
for the assumed credit risk:

2021
 MCH$ 

2020
 MCH$ 

Co-debt and collateral 26,292 12,475 

Foreign confirmed letters of credit 52,732 16,236 

Supporting letters of credit issued 83,641 33,015 

Bank guarantee certificates 418,435 411,776 

Readily available revolving credit facilities 766,039 712,607 

Other credit commitments 164,731 121,391 

Other contingent loans 7,717 8,271 

Provision established (10,276) (10,268)

TOTAL 1,509,311 1,305,503 
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(e) Other

On March 18 and December 30, 2015, Banco BICE obtained loans with 
the International Finance Corporation (IFC) amounting to US$20,000,000 
and US$35,000,000, respectively, both payable in a 10-year term.

These loans include financial obligations, which correspond to:

• Capital Adequacy Ratio of at least 10%.

• Aggregate Ratio of Currency Maturity of not less than minus 200%.

• Total Risk Ratio of a single Sub-Borrower to Cash Equity not exceeding 
10% and up to 30%, if what exceeds 10% corresponds to credits secured 
by collaterals on real or personal property of a value equal to or greater 
than such excess, in accordance with the applicable laws.

• Total Risk Ratio of a single Sub-Borrower Related Party not exceeding 
5% and up to 25%, if what exceeds 5% corresponds to credits secured by 
collaterals on real or personal property of a value equal to or greater 
than such excess, in accordance with the applicable laws.

• Ratio of Provisions for loan losses and past-due loan portfolio of not 
less than 125%.

• Ratio of non-performing loans to total loans not exceeding 3%.

The financial requirements previously mentioned for the International 
Finance Corporation (IFC) are monitored and complied with at all times 
by the Bank.

(23) CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS (CONTINUED) (24) EQUITY

(a) Share capital and preference shares
As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the equity of the owners of the Bank 
amounts to MCh$646,644 and MCh$656,535, respectively, divided in to 
59,152,952 subscribed and fully paid-in ordinary shares no-par value.

As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, movements in shares are as follows:
 

NUMBER OF ORDINARY SHARES

2021 2020

ISSUED AS OF JANUARY 1  59,207,691  59,207,691 

Issuance of fully-paid shares  -  - 

Issuance of shares pending payment  -  - 

Share options exercised  -  - 

TOTAL ISSUED AND PAID  59,207,691  59,207,691 

    
As of December 31, 2021 and 2020 the Bank holds no treasury shares.

(b) As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, shareholders’ distribution 
is as follows: 

2021 2020

N° OF 
SHARES

OWNERSHIP 
%

N° OF 
SHARES

OWNERSHIP 
%

BICECORP S.A. 59,152,952 99.91% 59,152,952 99.91%

Other  54,739 0.09%  54,739 0.09%

TOTAL 59,207,691 100.00% 59,207,691 100.00%
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(24) EQUITY (CONTINUED)

c) Share transactions
During the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, there have been 
no share transactions.

(d) Dividends
(i) At Extraordinary Shareholders’ Meeting, held on September 
10, 2021, the shareholders approved the distribution charged to 
retained earnings of a contingent dividend of Ch$526.96 per 
share (MCh$31,201), which was paid as of September 21, 2021, to the 
holders of shares registered in the Shareholders’ Registry as of 
September 13, 2021.

(ii) At Ordinary Shareholders’ Meeting, held on April 21, 2021, the 
shareholders approved the distribution of a dividend of Ch$378.17 
per share (MCh$22,390) charged to income for the year 2020, which 
was paid as of May 19, 2021, to the holders of shares registered in the 
Shareholders’ Registry as of May 12, 2021.

(iii) At Ordinary Shareholders’ Meeting, held on April 21, 2020, the 
shareholders approved the distribution of a dividend of Ch$350.30 
per share (MCh$20,741) charged to income for the year 2019, which 
was paid as of May 19, 2020, to the holders of shares registered in the 
Shareholders’ Registry as of May 12, 2020.

(e) As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the composition of 
diluted earnings and basic earnings of the Bank’s owners 
is as follows

2021 2020

BASIC AND DILUTED EARNINGS

BASIC EARNINGS PER SHARE

Profit for the year MCh$ 105,131 74,635 

Weighted average number of outstanding shares 59,207,691 59,207,691 

Assumed translation of convertible debt    -     -  

Adjusted number of shares 59,207,691 59,207,691 

Basic earnings per share (Chilean pesos)  1,775.6  1,260.6 

DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE

Profit for the year MCh$ 105,131 74,635 

Weighted average number of outstanding shares 59,207,691 59,207,691 

Diluted effect of:

    Assumed translation of convertible debt   -    -  

Conversion of ordinary shares   -    -  

Option rights   -    -  

Adjusted number of shares 59,207,691 59,207,691 

Diluted earnings per share (Chilean pesos)  1,775.6  1,260.6
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(f) Net foreign currency exchange differences
As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, there are no net foreign currency 
exchange differences as a separate component of equity.

(g) Valuation accounts:
Accounting hedges of cash flows:
Includes the effects of hedges of exposure to changes in cash flows 
attributable to a particular risk associated with a recognized asset 
and/or liability, which may affect the results for the year.

(24) EQUITY (CONTINUED)

Adjustments to the fair values of investment instruments available 
for sale:
Includes the net accumulated changes in the fair value of investments 
available for sale not designated as accounting hedge, until the 
investment is realized or impaired.
 
(25) INTEREST AND INDEXATION INCOME AND EXPENSE

(a) As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, interest and indexation income 
are detailed as follows:

2021 2020

INTERESTS
MCH$

INDEXATION
MCH$

TOTAL
MCH$

INTERESTS
MCH$

INDEXATION
MCH$

TOTAL
MCH$

NORMAL PORTFOLIO

Repurchase agreements 86    -  86 23    -  23 

Loans to banks    -     -     -  89    -  89 

Commercial loans 166,237 119,757 285,994 184,598 49,462 234,060 

Mortgage loans 35,587 87,474 123,061 33,024 31,350 64,374 

Consumer loans 11,252 808 12,060 10,857 268 11,125 

Investment securities 12,745 2,812 15,557 8,953 1,331 10,284 

Gain (loss) from accounting hedges (16,868)    -  (16,868) 4,816    -  4,816 

Other interest and indexation income 3,342 2,343 5,685 2,987 600 3,587 

SUBTOTAL 212,381 213,194 425,575 245,347 83,011 328,358 

IMPAIRED PORTFOLIO

Repurchase agreements    -     -     -     -     -     -  

Loans to banks    -     -     -     -     -     -  

Commercial loans 5,528 1,912 7,440 7,087 360 7,447 

Mortgage loans 313 178 491 317 210 527 

Consumer loans 1,136 18 1,154 1,791    -  1,791 
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2021 2020

INTERESTS
MCH$

INDEXATION
MCH$

TOTAL
MCH$

INTERESTS
MCH$

INDEXATION
MCH$

TOTAL
MCH$

Investment securities    -     -     -     -     -     -  

Gain (loss) from accounting hedges    -     -     -     -     -     -  

Other interest and indexation income    -     -     -     -     -     -  

SUBTOTAL 6,977 2,108 9,085 9,195 570 9,765 

TOTAL INCOME AND INDEXATION 219,358 215,302 434,660 254,542 83,581 338,123 

(b) As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the detail of interest income and 
suspended readjustments of the impaired portfolio is as follows: 

2021 2020

INTERESTS
MCH$

INDEXATION
MCH$

TOTAL
MCH$

INTERESTS
MCH$

INDEXATION
MCH$

TOTAL
MCH$

CONCEPT

Commercial loans 7,469 655 8,124 3,696 429 4,125 

Mortgage loans 17 295 312   -   -   - 

Consumer loans 7   - 7   -   -   - 

Investment securities   -   -   -   -   -   - 

TOTAL 7,493 950 8,443 3,696 429 4,125 
            

(25) INTEREST AND INDEXATION INCOME AND EXPENSE  
(CONTINUED)
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(c) As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the detail of interest and indexation 
expenses is as follows:

2021 2020

INTERESTS
MCH$

INDEXATION
MCH$

TOTAL
MCH$

INTERESTS
MCH$

INDEXATION
MCH$

TOTAL
MCH$

CONCEPT

On-demand deposits    -  (796) (796)    -  (354) (354)

Repurchase agreements (973) (9) (982) (306) (48) (354)

Time and on-demand deposits (14,407) (42,785) (57,192) (41,103) (24,153) (65,256)

Bank borrowings (5,916)    -  (5,916) (6,795)    -  (6,795)

Debt securities issued (44,423) (98,816) (143,239) (46,884) (38,933) (85,817)

Other financial obligations (2,824)    -  (2,824) (4,445) (10) (4,455)

Obligation for lease contract (238)    -  (238) (216)    -  (216)

Gain (loss) from accounting hedges (478)    -  (478)    -     -     -  

Other interest and indexation expense (22)    -  (22) (26)    -  (26)

TOTAL INTEREST AND INDEXATION EXPENSE (69,281) (142,406) (211,687) (99,775) (63,498) (163,273)

(25) INTEREST AND INDEXATION INCOME AND EXPENSE  
(CONTINUED)
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(26) FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME AND EXPENSES

As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the detail of fees and commission 
income and expenses is as follows:

2021
 MCH$ 

2020
 MCH$ 

FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME

Investment in mutual fund deposits or other 27,429 23,775 

Securities brokerage and management 14,720 10,280 

Credit card services 10,946 5,324 

Credit facilities and bank overdraft 6,589 5,498 

Collection and payments 5,453 4,339 

Insurance brokerage 3,900 3,525 

Credit restructuring 2,351 1,367 

Other services to clients 1,506 685 

Factoring operations 1,076 729 

Foreign trade 1,052 850 

Commissions for guarantees and letters of credit 924 694 

Account management 764 616 

Financial advisory services 520 408 

Leasing operations 207 236 

Issuance of on-demand deposits 22 21 

Other commissions obtained  126  58 

TOTAL FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME 77,585 58,405 
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As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the detail of fees and commission 
income and expenses is as follows:

2021
MCH$

2020
MCH$

FEE AND COMMISSION EXPENSES

Credit card operations (4,712) (4,642)

Placement of mutual funds quotas (2,223) (2,868)

Security operations (1,272) (1,377)

Commission paid to foreign correspondent banks (1,492) (933)

Commission paid to Fogape (406) (314)

Commission for advisory services property projects (143) (187)

Other (463) (223)

TOTAL FEE AND COMMISSION EXPENSES (10,711) (10,544)

(27) NET LOSS FROM FINANCIAL OPERATIONS

As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the gain or loss from financial operations 
is as follows:

2021
MCH$

2020
MCH$

Financial instruments for trading 5,978 14,699 

Contracts of financial derivative instruments held for trading (38,242) (23,824)

Sale of available for sale securities (1,137) 6,868 

Sale of loans portfolio 373 48 

TOTAL INCOME FROM FINANCIAL OPERATIONS (33,028) (2,209)

(26) FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME AND EXPENSES (CONTINUED)
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(28) NET FOREIGN EXCHANGE INCOME

Net foreign exchange income as of December 31, 2021 and 2020 was 
as follows:

2021
MCH$

2020
MCH$

EXCHANGE RATE DIFFERENCES:

Foreign currency exchange gain, net - exchange position 38,273 26,482 

Other 2,544 2,042 

SUBTOTAL 40,817 28,524 

ADJUSTABLE ITEMS IN FOREIGN CURRENCY:

Result from assets indexed in foreign currency - profit (loss) 20,147 (5,202)

Result from liabilities indexed in foreign currency - profit (loss) (11,583) 3,279 

SUBTOTAL 8,564 (1,923)

TOTAL FOREIGN EXCHANGE INCOME NET 49,381 26,601 
   

202

An
nu

al
 R

ep
or

t B
an

co
 B

IC
E 

 2
02

1
Fi

na
nc

ia
l

Re
su

lts
 



(29) ALLOWANCES FOR CREDIT RISK

Movements recorded during the periods ended December 31, 2021 
and 2020 in allowances and impairment recorded in profit or loss 
are as follows:

2021

LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS

INTERBANK
       LOANS

MCH$

COMMERCIAL
  LOANS

MCH$

MORTGAGE
  LOANS

MCH$

CONSUMER
  LOANS

MCH$

DEDUCTIBLE 
FOGAPE COVID 19

MCH$

CONTINGENT
LOANS
MCH$

TOTAL
MCH$

Allowance established

- Individual allowance    -  (30,889)    -     -  (1,942)    -  (32,831)

- Collective allowance    -  (1,568)    -  (2,373)    -  (28) (3,969)

NET PROFIT (LOSS) FROM ALLOWANCES ESTABLISHED    -  (32,457)    -  (2,373) (1,942) (28) (36,800)

Impairment charges:

- Individual impairment    -     -     -     -     -     -     -  

- Collective impairment    -     -     -     -     -     -     -  

NET PROFIT (LOSS) FROM IMPAIRMENT    -     -     -     -     -     -     -  

Allowance established

- Individual allowance    -     -     -     -     -  20 20 

- Collective allowance    -     -  302    -     -     -  302 

NET GAIN (LOSS) FROM ALLOWANCES RELEASE    -     -  302    -     -  20 322 

Recovery of assets written-off    -  848 32 658    -     -  1,538 

Reversal of impairment losses    -     -     -     -     -     -     -  

Additional allowances    -  (11,890) (927) (212)    -     -  (13,029)

NET GAIN OR LOSS FROM ALLOWANCE FOR CREDIT RISK    -  (43,499) (593) (1,927) (1,942) (8) (47,969)
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2020

LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS

INTERBANK
       LOANS

MCH$

COMMERCIAL
  LOANS

MCH$

MORTGAGE
  LOANS

MCH$

CONSUMER
  LOANS

MCH$

DEDUCTIBLE 
FOGAPE COVID 19

MCH$

CONTINGENT
LOANS
MCH$

TOTAL
MCH$

Allowance established

- Individual allowance    -  (18,467)    -     -  (1,230) (2,572) (22,269)

- Collective allowance    -  (1,450) (489) (2,692)    -  (75) (4,706)

NET PROFIT (LOSS) FROM ALLOWANCES ESTABLISHED    -  (19,917) (489) (2,692) (1,230) (2,647) (26,975)

Impairment charges:

- Individual impairment    -     -     -     -     -     -     -  

- Collective impairment    -     -     -     -     -     -     -  

NET PROFIT (LOSS) FROM IMPAIRMENT    -     -     -     -     -     -     -  

Allowance established

- Individual allowance    -     -     -     -     -     -     -  

- Collective allowance    -     -     -     -     -     -     -  

NET PROFIT (LOSS) FROM ALLOWANCES RELEASE    -     -     -     -     -     -     -  

Recovery of assets written-off    -  617 98 352    -     -  1,067 

Reversal of impairment losses    -     -     -     -     -     -     -  

Additional allowances    -  1,869 (1,257) (667)    -     -  (55)

NET PROFIT OR LOSS FROM ALLOWANCE FOR CREDIT RISK    -  (17,431) (1,648) (3,007) (1,230) (2,647) (25,963)

(29) ALLOWANCES FOR CREDIT RISK (CONTINUED)
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(29) ALLOWANCES FOR CREDIT RISK (CONTINUED)

In the Management’s opinion, allowances established for credit risk and 
impairment cover all the possible losses that might arise from non-
recovery of assets, based on the information analyzed by the Bank.

(30) PERSONNEL EXPENSES

Staff remuneration for the periods ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 
are as follows:

2021
 MCH$ 

2020
 MCH$ 

Payroll (66,061) (60,033)

Bonuses (4,413) (3,324)

Severance indemnity payments (3,255) (3,365)

Contribution to social security service (1,986) (1,962)

Unemployment insurance (1,595) (1,289)

Other contributions (402) (664)

Training expenses (416) (392)

Transport (147) (129)

Other expenses (1,758) (842)

TOTAL (80,033) (72,000)

(31) ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES   

As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the composition of this caption is 
as follows:

2021
 MCH$ 

2020
 MCH$ 

ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES  (27,353)  (23,051)

IT and communications expenses  (16,870)  (14,368)

Maintenance and repair of property, plant and equipment  (2,196)  (2,073)

Expenses from lease contracts  (2,144)  (916)

Technical report and audit fees  (1,052)  (956)

Communal expenses  (900)  (875)

Insurance premiums  (626)  (478)

Office supplies and photocopy  (481)  (566)

Postage  (478)  (442)

Lighting, heating and other utilities  (470)  (574)

Legal and notary expenses  (442)  (305)

Security and valuables transport services  (113)  (177)

Penalties applied by other agencies (5) (11)

Other general administrative expenses (1,576) (1,310)

SUBCONTRACTED SERVICES (3,449) (2,837)

REMUNERATION TO THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS  (1,051)  (746)

PUBLICITY AND ADVERTISING  (4,448)  (4,358)

TAXES AND CONTRIBUTIONS  (4,609)  (4,190)

TOTAL  (40,910)  (35,182)
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(32) DEPRECIATION, AMORTIZATION AND IMPAIRMENT

(a) As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the amounts corresponding to 
charges to income for depreciation and amortization are detailed below:

2021
 MCH$ 

2020
 MCH$ 

DEPRECIATION AND AMORTIZATION

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (1,809) (1,917)

Amortization of intangible assets (5,720) (4,770)

Amortization and depreciations of the asset for right to use leased assets (3,291) (3,545)

TOTAL (10,820) (10,232)

    
(b) As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the detail of impairment expenses 
is as follows:

2021
 MCH$ 

2020
 MCH$ 

Impairment of available-for-sale investment securities (237) (4,202)

Impairment of held-to maturity investment securities    -     -  

TOTAL (237) (4,202)

206

An
nu

al
 R

ep
or

t B
an

co
 B

IC
E 

 2
02

1
Fi

na
nc

ia
l

Re
su

lts
 



(33) OTHER OPERATING INCOME AND EXPENSES

(a) Other operating income
As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, other operating income is detailed 
as follows:

CONCEPT 2021
 MCH$ 

2020
 MCH$ 

INCOME FROM ASSETS RECEIVED IN LIEU OF PAYMENT:

Proceeds from sale of assets received in lieu of payment 219    -  

Other income 9 241 

SUBTOTAL 228 241 

Release of provisions for contingencies:

Provisions for country risk    -     -  

Special provisions for foreign loans    -     -  

Other provisions for contingencies    -     -  

SUBTOTAL    -     -  

OTHER INCOME:

Profit from disposal of property, plant and equipment (*) 6,016 474 

Reimbursement of expenses 2,932 3,036 

Income from lease transaction 1,327 313 

Income from VISA transactions 1,236 924 

Income from leasing 655 796 

Other operating income 693 403 

SUBTOTAL 12,859 5,946 

TOTAL 13,087 6,187

(*) On March 31, 2021, Banco BICE and BICE Vida Compañía de Seguros S.A. entered 
into a real estate purchase and sale agreement. As of December 31, 2021, the sale of 
some of the real estates committed in the transaction was materialized, therefore, 
the Bank recorded the derecognition of such assets for an amount of MCh$3,625, 
its sale price was MCh$9,638 and recognized a gain of MCh$6,013 before tax in the 
operation, since the performance obligations were fulfilled, (there are MCh$3 of 
other minor sales).
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(33) OTHER OPERATING INCOME AND EXPENSES (CONTINUED)

(b) Other operating expenses
As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, other operating expense is detailed 
as follows:

2021
 MCH$ 

2020
 MCH$ 

PROVISIONS AND EXPENSES FROM ASSETS RECEIVED IN LIEU OF PAYMENT:

Provisions from assets received in lieu of payment    -     -  

Write-off of assets received in lieu of payment (535) (76)

Maintenance expenses from assets received in lieu of payment (109) (102)

SUBTOTAL (644) (178)

PROVISIONS FOR CONTINGENCIES:

Provisions for country risk (47) (2)

Special provisions for foreign loans    -     -  

Other provisions for contingencies (10)    -  

SUBTOTAL (57) (2)

OTHER EXPENSES:

Transfer expenses C.C.A. (Centro de Compensación Automatizado) (3,994) (2,982)

Credit card expenses (1,438) (1,515)

Losses due to operational risk (1,297) (1,741)

Services to customers (1,008) (792)

Expenses for debit and ATM transactions (884) (532)

Santiago Stock Exchange Expenses (509) (444)

Other expenses for leasing operation (475) (533)

Real Estate Tax Surcharge Expenses (387) (201)

BIA products expenses (189) (181)

Notarial charges (51) (92)

Collection expenses (20) (25)

Write-off of non-current assets    -  (1,839)

Other expenses (1,465) (1,201)

SUBTOTAL (11,717) (12,078)

TOTAL (12,418) (12,258)
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(34) TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES

As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, 99.91% of the Bank’s shares, corresponding 
to 59,152,952 shares, are owned by BICECORP S.A. as indicated in Note 
24(b).

(a) Loans with related parties
Loans and receivables, contingent loans and assets related to securities 
and investments held for trading with related parties are as follows:

2021 2020

PRODUCTIVE
COMPANIES

MCH$

INVESTMENT
COMPANIES

MCH$

NATURAL
PERSONS

MCH$
TOTAL
MCH$

PRODUCTIVE
COMPANIES

MCH$

INVESTMENT
COMPANIES

MCH$

NATURAL
PERSONS

MCH$
TOTAL
MCH$

LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS:

Commercial loans 81,420 32,236 2,485 116,141 88,897 31,824 938 121,659 

Mortgage loans    -     -  3,989 3,989    -     -  3,285 3,285 

Consumer loans    -     -  959 959    -  553    -  553 

GROSS LOANS 81,420 32,236 7,433 121,089 88,897 32,377 4,223 125,497 

Allowance for loan losses (335) (60) (51) (446) (4,113) (61) (26) (4,200)

Net loans 81,085 32,176 7,382 120,643 84,784 32,316 4,197 121,297 

CONTINGENT LOANS:

Commercial 11,230 9,705 1,771 22,706 19,939 7,639 1,416 28,994 

Total contingent loans 11,230 9,705 1,771 22,706 19,939 7,639 1,416 28,994 

Provisions for contingent loans (70) (24) (95) (156) (6) (2) (164)

NET CONTINGENT LOANS 11,160 9,681 1,771 22,611 19,783 7,633 1,414 28,830 

 
As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the fair value of the guarantees 
received by the Bank to insure the collection of loans granted to related 
parties amounted to MCh$104,789 and MCh$106,960, respectively.
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(34) TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES (CONTINUED)

(b) As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, other transactions with related 
parties are detailed as follows:

2021

RELATIONSHIP
WITH RELATED 
PARTY

TYPE OR NATURE OF THE TRANSACTION AMOUNT OF 
TRANSACTIONS

MCH$

AMOUNT OF
BALANCES 

OUTSTANDING
MCH$

BICE VIDA Compañía de Seguros SA.  Common parent Pension payment agreement 356   - 

Health and life insurance (2,011)   - 

Commissions for insurance brokerage 1,811 173 

Commission for placement of mutual funds quotas (618)   - 

Purchase and sale of foreign currency 11   - 

Brokerage of term transactions 56,291   - 

Accounts payable/receivable for own portfolio operations 2,956   - 

Reimbursement of expenses 4   - 

Sale building Teatinos 220 - 248 - 251 9,638   - 

BICE Chileconsult Servicios Financieros Ltda.  Common parent  Advisory services research department (335)   - 

Internal audit (32)   - 

Purchase and sale of foreign currency 331   - 

Financial Services (220)   - 

BICE Carteras S.A. Common parent Purchase and sale of foreign currency   -   - 

BICE Renta Urbana SA.  Common parent  Purchase and sale of foreign currency (141)   - 

Brokerage of term transactions 7,205   - 

BICECORP SA Parent Brokerage of term transactions 80,781   - 

 Financial advisory services 14   - 

Forestal  O’Higgins SA.  By property Brokerage of term transactions Other expense recovery   -   - 

 Other expense recovery   -   - 

Compañía Industrial El Volcan S.A. By property Brokerage of term transactions   -   - 

Tolhuaca Capital SpA (Former Inmobiliaria Tolhuaca Ltda.) By property Brokerage of term transactions 400   - 
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2020

RELATIONSHIP
WITH RELATED 
PARTY

TYPE OR NATURE OF THE TRANSACTION AMOUNT OF 
TRANSACTIONS

MCH$

AMOUNT OF
BALANCES 

OUTSTANDING
MCH$

BICE VIDA Compañía de Seguros SA.  Common parent  Pension payment agreement 354   - 

Health and life insurance (2,030)   - 

Commissions for insurance brokerage 1,191 228 

Commission for placement of mutual funds quotas (1,484)   - 

Purchase and sale of foreign currency   -   - 

 Brokerage of term transactions 67,750   - 

Accounts payable/receivable for own portfolio operations 4,973   - 

 Reimbursement of expenses 3   - 

BICE Chileconsult Servicios Financieros Ltda. Common parent Advisory services research department (321)   - 

Internal audit (31)   - 

Purchase and sale of foreign currency 2,197   - 

Financial Services (209)   - 

BICE Carteras S.A  Common parent Purchase and sale of foreign currency 9   - 

BICE Renta Urbana SA. Common parent  Commission for advisory services property projects (135) 11 

Brokerage of term transactions 1,103   - 

BICECORP SA  Parent Brokerage of term transactions 140,284   - 

Financial advisory services 31   - 

Forestal  O’Higgins SA.  By property Brokerage of term transactions 1,692   - 

 Other expense recovery 1   - 

Forestal  Consultora y Comercial del Pacifico Sur By property Brokerage of term transactions 330   - 

Compañía Industrial El Volcan S.A. By property Brokerage of term transactions 55,811   - 

Tolhuaca Capital SpA (Former Inmobiliaria Tolhuaca Ltda.) By property Brokerage of term transactions 7,987   - 
 

(34) TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES (CONTINUED)
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(34) TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES (CONTINUED)

(c) Other assets and liabilities with related parties as of December 31, 
2021 and 2020:

2021
 MCH$ 

2020
 MCH$ 

ASSETS

Financial derivative contracts    -  1,257 

Other assets 173 239 

TOTAL ASSETS 173 1,496 

LIABILITIES

Financial derivative contracts 781 1,738 

On-demand deposits 109,198 41,831 

Time and on-demand deposits 66,780 42,595 

TOTAL LIABILITIES 176,759 86,164 

TOTAL (176,586) (84,668)

(d) As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, results of transactions with related 
parties are as follows:

TYPE OF INCOME OR EXPENSE RECOGNIZED
2021 2020

INCOME
MCH$

EXPENSE
MCH$

INCOME
MCH$

EXPENSE
MCH$

Interest and indexation income and expenses 10,671 (654) 8,499 (1,110)

Fee and commission income and expenses 1,461 (759) 1,191 (1,619)

Net profit (loss) from financial operations 3,186 (1,757) 1,653 (4,888)

Gain or loss from other financial transactions    -     -     -     -  

Foreign exchange income    -     -     -     -  

Business support expenses    -  (2,011)    -  (2,030)

Other income and expenses 656 (1,850) 512 (2,953)

TOTAL 15,974 (7,031) 11,855 (12,600)
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(34) TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES (CONTINUED)

(e) As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, contracts with related parties are 
as follows:

(e.1) The Bank has contracts with related companies and natural persons 
whose effect on profit for the year is as follows:

COMPANY DESCRIPTION OF CONTRACT
LEASE FEE 

UF
LEASE FEE 

UTM PERIOD

INCOME (EXPENSES)

2021
MCH$

2020
MCH$

Cominco S.A. Lessee Teatinos 248 p6 115.50 Monthly (43) (40)

Minera Valparaíso S.A. Lessee Teatinos 220 p5 254.80 Monthly (95) (88)

René Lehuedé Fuenzalida Service delivery 104 Monthly (66) (63)

BICE Chileconsult Serv. Financieros Ltda. Service delivery 200.00 Monthly (74) (69)

Juan Carlos Eyzaguirre Echeñique Service delivery 400.00 Monthly (149) (140)

BICE Vida Compañía de Seguros SA Sublessee Teatinos 280 p16 128.31 Monthly 48 51 

BICE Chileconsult Serv. Financieros Ltda. Building Alsacia Level 10 - Offices 1001 and 1002 216 Monthly 80 31 

BICE Chileconsult Serv. Financieros Ltda. Building Alsacia Level 15 - Offices 1501 and 1502 56.57 Monthly 21 8 

BICE Chileconsult Serv. Financieros Ltda. Building Alsacia Level 16 - Offices 1601 and 1602 54.75 Monthly 20 4 

BICE Servicios Financieros S.A. Sublessor Teatinos 280 p18 175.66 Monthly 65 61 

BICE Chileconsult Asesorías Financieras S.A. Building Alsacia Level 18 - Offices 1801 and 1802 29.46 Monthly 11 4 

BICECORP S.A. Building Alsacia Level 10 - Offices 1001 and 1002 20.57 Monthly 8 3 

PROFIN Sublessee offices p19 Torre Las Condes 196.02 Monthly 73   - 

ECOTERRA Spa Building Alsacia Level 19 - Offices 1901 and 1902 144.86 Monthly 54 21 

Clever Spa Torre las Condes Level 19 Office 191 166.58 Monthly 62 5 
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(34) TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES (CONTINUED)

(e.2) The Bank has the following contracts with related companies and 
natural persons within the scope of IFRS 16 “Leases”:

COMPANY DESCRIPTION OF CONTRACT

ACCOUNT RECEIVABLE / 
(PAYABLE)  

PERÍODO

EFFECT ON INCOME

2021 2020
2021

MCH$
2020

MCH$

Cominco S.A. Lessee Teatinos 220 p11   - (3) Monthly (3) (7)

Cominco S.A. Lessee Teatinos 248 p7   - (19) Monthly (20) (40)

Minera Valparaíso S.A. Lessee Teatinos 220 p6   - (44) Monthly (45) (88)

Inversiones El Raulí S.A. Lessee Teatinos 280 p4-5-13 to 19   - (486) Monthly (497) (970)

BICE Vida Compañía de Seguros SA Lessee Isidora Goyonechea 3120 p9   - (529) Monthly (159) (153)

BICE Vida Compañía de Seguros SA Lease Avenida del parque 4160 Local 102 and 103 (746) (793) Monthly (107) (52)

BICE Vida Compañía de Seguros SA Avda. Apoquindo N°3846 - Edificio Alsacia (41,619) (40,842) Monthly (26)   - 

BICE Vida Compañía de Seguros SA Avda. Gertrudis Echeñique N°30 (Of.21-41-44-51-61) - Torre Las Condes (12,881) (12,663) Monthly (8)   - 

BICE Vida Compañía de Seguros SA Avda. Gertrudis Echeñique N°30 (Of. p8) - Torre Las Condes (4,180)   - Monthly (2)   - 

BICE Vida Compañía de Seguros SA Avda. Gertrudis Echeñique N°30 (Of.201 p20) - Torre Las Condes (1,266) (1,303) Monthly   - 

Securitizadora BICE S.A. Sublessor Teatinos 280 p17   - 2 Monthly 2 4 

BICE Chileconsult Serv. Financieros Ltda. Lessor Isidora Goyonechea 3120 p10   - 20 Monthly   - 39 

BICE Chileconsult Serv. Financieros Ltda. Sublessor Teatinos 280 p4 and 5   - 5 Monthly 7 10 

BICE Chileconsult Serv. Financieros Ltda. Sublessor Teatinos 280 p17   - 13 Monthly 13 26 

BICE Chileconsult Asesorías Financieras S.A. Sublessor Teatinos 280 p19   - 18 Monthly 19 39 

BICECORP S.A. Lessor Teatinos 220 p4   - 2 Monthly 2 4 

BICE Vida Compañía de Seguros SA Sublessor offices Temuco  181 215 Monthly 55 53 

BICE Vida Compañía de Seguros SA Sublessor offices Antofagasta  254 252 Monthly 34 33 

BICE Vida Compañía de Seguros SA Sublessor offices Talca  262 287 Monthly 57 55 
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(34) TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES (CONTINUED)

(f) Directors and key management personnel compensation as of 
December 31, 2021 and 2020.

Compensation of key management personnel is detailed as follows: 

2021
MCH$

2020
MCH$

Short-term employee benefits 2,565 5,314 

Board of Directors’ compensation 1,051 746 

TOTAL 3,616 6,060

The Shareholder’s meeting, the Bank’s directors receive compensation 
associated with profit- sharing for a maximum amount of up to 1% of 
profit for the year deducting fees for attending the Board of Directors’ 
meeting. The Bank has made a provision to cover both these concepts 
with a charge to profit or loss of MCh$1,051 and MCh$746, as of December 
31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

(g) Key Management personnel
As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Bank’s key management personnel 
includes Senior Management represented by the General Manager, Division 
Managers and other Managers of the Bank’s respective management 
support areas.
 
(35) FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AT FAIR VALUE

The fair value of the principal financial assets and liabilities at December 
31, 2021 and 2020, including those not recognized at fair value in the 
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position, are as follows:

(a) Financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at fair value in the 
Consolidated Statements of Financial Position:

The financial instruments that in the Consolidated Statement of Financial 
Position are recognized at fair value refer to securities held for trading, 
financial derivative contracts and available-for-sale instruments and 
credits that are part of Fair Value accounting hedges of existing items, 
obligations with the Central Bank of Chile (Conditional Credit Facility to 
the Increase Loans) and debt securities (Bonds), the latter two concepts 
when they are part of Fair Value accounting hedges of existing items.

Fair value hierarchy

(a) Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets 
or liabilities (Level 1);

(b) Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are 
observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e., as prices) or 
indirectly (i.e., derivative from prices) (Level 2); and

(c) Inputs used for the asset and liability that are not based on market 
observable data (unobservable inputs) (Level 3).

As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Bank has classified the mutual 
fund deposits as level 1. Financial instruments: securities held for trading 
(except those classified as Level 1), loans and receivables that are 
part of a fair value accounting hedge, financial derivative contracts, 
available-for-sale instruments, obligations with the Central Bank of 
Chile (Conditional Facility to Increase Placements) and debt securities 
(Bonds), the latter two concepts when they are part of a Level 2 fair 
value accounting hedge, in accordance with the provisions of IFRS 7. 

That is, since there is not a sufficiently active market that allows using 
market prices from current real transactions observable in the market 
for the same securities in the portfolio, the entity establishes its fair 
value using valuation techniques. The different valuation techniques 
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(yield curves, bootstrapping, etc.) of common use in the market include 
the use of market operations observed in stock exchange transactions 
or reported by different brokers in order to ensure the independence of 
information. The purpose of using a valuation technique is to establish, 
at the valuation date, the price of a transaction carried out in an arm’s 
length basis and motivated by ordinary business considerations.

Assets and liabilities measured at fair value as of December 31, 2021 and 
2020 are detailed as follows:

2021 TOTAL
MCH$

LEVEL 1 
MCH$

LEVEL 2
MCH$

LEVEL  3
MCH$

ASSETS

Securities held for trading  528,967 45,937  483,030 - 

Derivatives  140,770 -  140,770 - 

Loans and advanced to customers  114,639 -  114,639 - 

Available for sale investment securities  841,387 -  841,387 - 

TOTAL  1,625,763  45,937  1,579,826 - 

LIABILITIES TOTAL
MM$

LEVEL 1 
MM$

LEVEL 2
MM$

LEVEL 3
MM$

Derivatives  199,704 -  199,704 - 

Obligations to banks (FCIC)  193,431 -  193,431 - 

Issued debt securities  101,886 - 101,886 - 

TOTAL  495,021 -  495,021 - 

(35) FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AT FAIR VALUE
(CONTINUED)
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2020 TOTAL
MCH$

LEVEL 1 
MCH$

LEVEL 2
MCH$

LEVEL  3
MCH$

ASSETS

Securities held for trading  435,693  52,406  383,287 - 

Derivatives  128,648 -  128,648 - 

Loans and advanced to customers 47,772 -  47,772 - 

Available for sale investment securities  851,390 -  851,390 - 

TOTAL  1,463,503  52,406  1,411,097 - 

LIABILITIES TOTAL
MCH$

LEVEL 1 
MCH$

LEVEL 2
MCH$

LEVEL  3
MCH$

Derivatives  133,803 -  133,803 - 

TOTAL  133,803 -  133,803 - 

(b) Financial assets and financial liabilities that are not recognized at 
fair value in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position:

This category includes all other financial instruments, including most 
notably the Bank’s loans, obligations with FCIC banks and debt instruments 
issued (except those part of a fair value hedge of existing items) and 
deposits. In the Consolidated Statements of Financial Position, these 

(35) FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AT FAIR VALUE
(CONTINUED)

financial assets and liabilities are presented at amortized cost and 
correspond to the “Book value” column in the table below. The values 
under the column “Estimated fair value” correspond to estimates of cash 
flows expected to be received or paid, discounted at the relevant market 
interest rate in effect at that date for each type of transaction. Values 
included in this note do not aim to estimate the value of the income 
generating assets of the Bank, nor do they consider future credit risk.
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As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the estimated fair value of these 
financial instruments is as follows:

2021 2020

CARRYING
AMOUNT

MCH$ 

ESTIMATED
FAIR VALUE 

MCH$ 

CARRYING
AMOUNT

MCH$ 

ESTIMATED
FAIR VALUE 

MCH$ 

ASSETS

Cash and deposits in banks 1,090,529 1,090,529 1,150,254 1,150,254 

Transactions pending settlement 92,658 92,658 107,829 107,829 

Investments repurshased under agreements and securities lending 696 696 7,000 7,000 

Loans and advances to banks    -     -     -     -  

Loans and advances to customers (*) 7,061,910 6,474,189 6,235,961 6,296,878 

Held-to-maturity investment securities    -     -     -     -  

LIABILITIES

Deposits and other on-demand obligations 2,585,727 2,585,727 2,077,199 2,077,199 

Transactions pending settlement 68,605 68,605 90,695 90,695 

Investments repurshased under agreements and securities lending 63,153 63,153 11,895 11,895 

Time and on-demand deposits 2,698,686 2,688,198 3,077,828 3,085,617 

Bank borrowings (*) 1,308,163 1,203,809 896,464 906,129 

Debt securities issued (*) 1,970,812 1,788,814 1,828,900 2,025,774 

Other financial obligations 126,113 124,155 125,246 125,317 

Lease contract obligations 70,782 70,782 66,134 66,134 

(*) Includes items that are at fair value as part of an accounting hedge.

(35) FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AT FAIR VALUE
(CONTINUED)
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(36) RISK MANAGEMENT

A. Introduction
For financial institutions, effective risk management is a necessary condition 
to create value that is sustainable over time. Such management should 
not focus on eliminating risk since risk is a significant part of benefits 
in financial activity, but on its efficient control, trading and governance 
within the limits of tolerance defined by the Bank.

For Banco BICE, the quality of risk management is one of its strong points 
and, therefore, a priority. In line with this, the Bank’s risk management is 
based on the principle of the independence from risk function and the 
involvement of the Board of Directors in defining the philosophy and 
the risk tolerance level.

The Divisional Manager of this area, who reports to the General Manager, 
is in charge of the Bank’s risk management. This Division is made up of 
the Evaluation Managements of Company Banking Risk, Retail Banking 
Risk, Operational Risk, Standardization, Financial Risk and Market Risk.

As part of its operations, the Bank is exposed to risks, the main of which 
are detailed below:

Credit Risk: Credit risk is the risk of loss if a customer or counterparty in 
a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations.

Market and financial risk: Is the risk of losses due to the adverse impact 
of variances in market factors (exchange rates, value of Unidad de 
Fomento, interest rate, interest rate volatility and other type of prices).

Liquidity Risk: Is the risk of not meeting the payment obligations at the 
corresponding moment.

Operational risk: Is the risk of loss due to inappropriate or failure in the 
processes, individuals and internal systems, or due to external issues. 
Legal risk is included, but excludes the strategic and reputational risk.

B. Risk management structure
B.1 Credit Risk
The credit risk management framework allows the identification, 
assessment, management and communication of risks throughout 
the organization. The Bank has a robust governance structure based 
on policies and procedures clearly established and with a high level of 
involvement from the Board of Directors, Credit Executive Committee 
and Senior Management.

The Bank’s approach to credit risk management aims to:

• Maintaining the level of credit exposure within acceptable parameters 
and consistent with the risk appetite.
• Be embedded in all aspects of the business activities carried out.
• Delivering a guidance on existing risks and those that can appear in 
the future.

The credit risk management is conducted by three managements of the 
Risk Division: Corporate Banking Risk Management, Personal Banking Risk 
Management and Normalization Management, which are supported by 
areas specialized in risk analysis, model and methodology development, 
validation and follow-up of risk models, as well as guarantee valuation.

The Bank’s Board of Directors actively participates in the credit process 
by reviewing and approving the policies and standards, risk classification 
and provisioning methodologies used by the Bank, and the annual 
analysis and approval of the adequacy of provisions on the loan portfolio. 
Likewise, the Board of Directors regularly analyzes and approves credit 
risk management reports prepared by the Risk Division Management, 
which assesses the Bank’s loan portfolio as well as the loan concentration 
by economic group, sector and business area.

Credit and investment standards are approved by the Board of Directors. 
These standards establish policies and the attributions of the Bank’s 
managers, assistant managers and executives. These attributions 
are personal and relate to maximum limits for loan approvals by the 
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aforementioned managers and executives and must be exercised within 
the credit committees of which they are members.

Additionally, such standards establish that all revolving credit facilities 
that exceed the aforementioned approvals limits must be presented 
to the Bank’s senior committees. All revolving credit facilities that are 
presented to these committees require the prior analysis, evaluation 
and approval by the Credit Risk Department.

The Bank has several special committees, where the Corporate Banking 
and Personal Banking Risk Managements, together with the commercial 
areas, permanently evaluate the risk of the loan portfolio. Also, the 
Credit Department has systems and statistical tools to timely monitor 
the customer payment behavior.

B.2 Market and financial risk:
The Board of Directors establishes overall limits for positions in financial 
instruments for trading and liquidity mismatches, as well as the structural 
exposures to interest rate, currency and adjustment index risks. The Board 
of Directors establishes policies for activities with derivative instruments, 
either for trading or accounting hedge purposes. Among other aspects, 
those guidelines establish criteria for the approval of new products, 
setting limits to open positions in those instruments and associated 
risks. Those policies also require documented methodologies to value 
instruments and measure risks. All those limits are reviewed by the Board 
of Directors at least once a year.
 
The main function of the Financial and Market Risk Management is assessing 
and monitor that risks assumed by the Bank during its operations are 
within the threshold and guidelines established in the Bank’s policies 
and have no effect on the Bank’s profit or equity.

(36) RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

As regulatory requirements on liquidity matters should be complied 
with on an individual and consolidated basis, the Finance Division is 
responsible for managing the Bank’s liquidity risk.

The Financial and Market Risk Management acts as a counterparty in 
this matter, monitoring the strict control of internal regulatory limits, 
as well as the quality of reports regularly issued to manage liquidity.

Decisions on policies related to financial risks are assessed and 
approved by the Finance Committee which meets on a monthly basis. 
This Committee is made up of four Directors; the General Manager; the 
Divisional Manager, Managers and Assistant Managers of the Treasury 
and Balance Sheet Division; the Divisional Manager and the Financial 
and Market Risk Manager of the Risk Division; the Corporate Manager 
of Financial Planning and Control, and other Managers of the different 
Business Areas.

The Finance Committee should review the Annual Plan prior to the 
Board of Directors’ approval, including the assessment of its effects on 
the financial structure and on the levels of interest rate and liquidity 
risk, as well as its effects on the threshold structure. The purpose of this 
committee is to coordinate expectations for the evolution of the balance 
sheet, the growth of assets and liabilities and liquidity requirements 
to meet the Bank’s business growth. In addition, a Weekly Committee 
exists, which is composed by two Directors, the General Manager, the 
Divisional Manager, Managers and Assistant Managers of the Finance 
Division and the Divisional Manager and the Financial and Market Risk 
Manager of the Risk Division.

It should be noted that the Bank Comptroller has a specialized Financial 
and Market Risk area, whose scope of action includes the Finance 
function and the Financial and Market Risk Management.
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The measurement of the positions market risk is mainly based on 
procedures and standards established by the Board of Directors, which 
address the management of two main Books: the Trading Book and 
Banking Book.

The Trading Book includes mainly investments measured at fair value, free 
of any restrictions for their immediate sale, and frequently acquired to be 
sold at short-term. The Banking Book includes positions in instruments, 
contracts and other transactions, both for assets and liabilities, not 
included in the trading book, but including the derivative financial 
instruments designated for accounting hedges.

• Trading Book
The Bank has a consolidated position composed of fixed income 
investments, derivatives and a position in foreign currency. This portfolio 
is mainly composed of bonds issued by Banco Central de Chile and the 
Chilean Treasury, bank deposits and low risk corporate bonds.

The Bank uses models to project impacts of prepayments of mortgage 
loans financed by mutual fund deposits. For other long-term loans the 
impact of prepayment is not estimated as most of loans agreements 
include prepayment clauses.

To measure the market risk of its positions, the Bank applies a historical 
VaR model, for which a time horizon of two years of data is chosen. The 
Bank also applies stress testing to estimate losses in the presence of 
changes in the interest rate structure and parities between currencies.

In the measurement of the position market risk, in addition to the 
VaR estimate, the Bank estimates the mismatch of assets/liabilities 
(by currencies and terms), economic value and scenario analysis, 
among others.

(36) RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Because VaR is an integral part of the Bank’s market risk control, VaR 
limits are established and reviewed by the Board of Directors on an 
annual basis. Within this context, the interest rate VaR limit includes 
the Trading Book operations, both at individual and consolidated level, 
with a 10-day horizon. With respect to VaR limit by currency risk, this 
includes the entire Balance Sheet with a 10-day horizon. These limits 
are monitored on a daily basis.
 
• Banking Book
The Bank uses a sensitivity analysis to measure the market risk in local 
and foreign currency for instruments included in the Banking Book. The 
Bank measures sensitivity by calculating the difference between the 
present value of cash flows in the selected scenario (curve with 100 
bp parallel shift in all its tranches and absolute value for currencies) 
and its value in the baseline scenario (current market). In addition, the 
Bank has established limits in relation to the maximum loss that these 
types of interest rate movements may have on capital and net finance 
income forecasted for the year.

The Banking Book includes the available-for-sale portfolio, composed of 
all investments in debt securities that are not considered in the trading 
portfolio, and derivative instruments designated for accounting hedges.

For accounting hedges, these are measured on a monthly basis in 
order to determine their effectiveness. In the event of a breach to the 
limits established by the International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS) considering the retrospective and prospective assessments, is the 
Finance Committee that sanctions such compliance, in accordance 
with the aforementioned standards (IFRS).
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The actions to control market risk include the monitoring of interest rate 
mismatches and sensibilities of profit or loss changes in interest rate 
levels, through Value at Risk (VaR) and scenario analyses, in addition 
to regulatory market risk reports (C40, C41 and C43) required by the 
Financial Market Commission.

Accordingly, files that are internally monitored and sent to the Financial 
Market Commission are the following:

File C40: These file reports cash flows associated with interest rate and 
adjustment risks in the banking book.

File C41: This file reports cash flows associated with market risks according 
to a standard methodology.

File C43: This file reports consolidated cash flows associated with market 
risks according to a standard methodology.
 
The exposure to risk of C40 (interest rate and adjustment risk of the 
Individual Bank book) and C43 (interest rate risk of the Trading Book and 
currency mismatches for the entire Balance Sheet) as of December 31, 
2021 and 2020 are as follows:

BACKGROUND 2021
MCH$

2020
 MCH$ 

EXPOSURE TO MARKET RISK, TRADING BOOK (C43)

Interest rate risk 8,449 5,829 

Currency risk 6,110 3,863 

EXPOSURE TO MARKET RISK, TRADING BOOK 14,559 9,692 

SHORT-TERM EXPOSURE, BANKING BOOK (C40)

Rate risk 23,484 19,030 

Indexation risk 9,138 7,448 

TOTAL SHORT-TERM EXPOSURE, BANKING BOOK 32,622 26,478 

LONG-TERM EXPOSURE, BANKING BOOK (C40) 72,786 65,583

Also, the Bank follows up positions on a daily basis by means of a 
thorough control over changes in portfolios to identify possible incidents 
for their immediate correction. The daily preparation of the profit and 
loss account is a risk indicator that allows identifying the impact that 
changes in financial variables have had on portfolios.

(36) RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
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B.3 Operational risk
Because of the importance of the proper management and control 
of operational risk, the Bank implemented a management model that 
considers a policy and governance framework, specialized management, 
methodologies, tools and specific programs. The Board of Directors’ 
responsibilities, among others, include establishing adequate risk 
policies and levels, exposure limits, risk monitoring and assurance of best 
practices through the permanent evaluation of the Bank’s operational 
risk aspects. Noteworthy is the existence of an Executive Committee 
for Operational Risk, Business Continuity and Information Security. This 
Committee meets on a regular basis, including the attendance of 
Board of Directors representatives, and aims to the proper and timely 
management of operational risks, as well as the support of mitigation 
actions and projects. The operational risk management is included in 
the comprehensive risk management model, which also addresses 
information security, cybersecurity and business continuity matters, which 
allows supporting the model and maintaining this risk under control.

Operational risks are managed through the active involvement of 
individuals responsible for the areas and processes. Three types of 
committees exist that manage such matters: a) Operational Risk 
Management Committee, b) Information Security Committee and c) 
Business Continuity Committee. The three Committees are composed 
of two Directors, the General Manager, the Risk Division Manager, and 
the Operational Risk Manager.

The objectives and functions are established in each of the statutes of 
these Committees and mainly correspond to the following:

a) Approving policies and models for operational risk management, 
information security, cybersecurity and business continuity, ensuring 
that they are properly aligned with the recommendations of the Basel 
Committee and with the local regulatory agencies.

b) Approving the strategy and criteria for operational risk management, 
information security, cybersecurity and business continuity.

c) Establishing and monitoring levels of operational risk appetite and 
tolerance. With respect to this, each year the Bank defines the limit of 
risk appetite and tolerance, which is periodically monitored, exercising 
corrective actions as appropriate.

d) Approving the security measures designed to prevent, detect and 
timely respond to potential damage to the information security, as 
well as working plans on information security, and the related budget, 
if appropriate.

e) Approving and financing the measures to mitigate interruptions of 
the Bank’s activities due to the effects of disasters or situations affecting 
its normal operation. Also, improvement or risk mitigation projects 
associated with the business continuity.

f) Approving scenarios, strategies, responsibilities and roles defined in 
the Business Continuity plans and its related tests.

g) Being aware of operational risk, information security, cybersecurity and 
business continuity issues and making decisions requiring a resolution 
by the Senior Management.

h) Approving the outsourcing of services considered as critical prior to 
sending them for approval by the General Manager and the Board of 
Directors, reviewing the requirements and risks involved by outsourcing 
a part or the entire processing chain that is to be outsourced.

i) Becoming aware of the status of, and compliance with, operational risk 
in processes that are partially or fully outsourced, as well as operational 
risk events generated in suppliers.

(36) RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

223

An
nu

al
 R

ep
or

t B
an

co
 B

IC
E 

 2
02

1
Fi

na
nc

ia
l

Re
su

lts
 



j) Safeguarding compliance with the programs, policies and procedures 
related to information security, cybersecurity and business continuity.

C. Main risks affecting the Bank

C.1 Credit risk
C.1.1 General Aspects
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Bank if a customer or 
counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual 
obligations and arises principally from the Group’s loans and advances 
to customers.

The exposure to credit risk is actively managed, assessing on a regular 
basis the capacity and payment behavior of counterparties and potential 
counterparties, and through the timely modification of credit revolving 
facilities or credit conditions, if appropriate.

The credit risk function plays a significant role in the credit process 
management, development and maintenance of tools supporting 
the decision-making process and in assisting the business units in 
the management of portfolios and customers. Additionally, it has the 
following responsibilities:

• Maintaining updated policies and procedures of credit risk.
• Maintaining the organization aware of credit risk policies and procedures.
• Having the appropriate tools for risk identification, follow-up and 
management.
• Managing clients in default and those with financial difficulties.
• Ensuring that the Bank’s policies comply with current standards and 
regulations.
• Developing, monitoring and validating credit risk models and 
methodologies.

The Board of Directors establishes concentration limits by economic 
sector, which are consistent with the Bank’s risk appetite. These limits 
are regularly monitored and are reviewed by the Credit Executive 
Committee and the Board of Directors at least once a year.

The credit risk function is materialized, among others, through different 
committees which assess and approve revolving credit facilities, assess 
the risk rating of the individual commercial loan portfolio, and monitor 
customers with higher risk or potential higher risk.

The credit risk function is independent from the business areas, of which 
is an effective counterparty; and is actively involved in the assessment, 
approval, follow-up and classification of customers. In addition, the 
function involves credit committees where more complex revolving 
credit facilities and larger amounts are assessed.

To control and mitigate credit risks, the policy approved by the Board 
establishes that each customer must have a revolving credit facility 
authorized by a credit committee. Approvals by these committees may 
be for individual customers and/or customers in an economic group.

To measure the credit risk level involved in the loan portfolio, the Bank 
uses allowance methodologies aligned with the amount and complexity 
of the customers. In this regard, for larger or more complex companies, 
the Bank assesses them individually, as established in the Chapter B-1 
of the Summary of Accounting.

Standards issued by the Financial Market Commission. The commercial 
executives and the Risk Division Management are in charge of classifying 
the individual commercial loan portfolio in the different levels of normal 
and substandard risk.

(36) RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
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For the consumer portfolio, mortgage portfolio and the commercial 
portfolio of smaller clients, the Bank uses a group methodology 
to determine provisions, which is based on statistical models of 
expected loss.

Notwithstanding the above, in the case of the mortgage portfolio and 
the group commercial portfolio, provisions are calculated simultaneously 
according to the corresponding standard methods established by the 
Financial Market Commission, whose methodology is based mainly on 
delinquency and the loan-to-collateral ratio of the loans. In any case, the 
provision recorded is the highest between the value obtained from the 
statistical models of expected loss and the standard models established 
by the Financial Market Commission.

C.1.2 Credit risk in derivative contracts
The Bank keeps strict controls on open positions in derivative contracts 
negotiated directly with its counterparties. Credit risk applies to the 
expected positive exposure through the useful life of contracts, which only 
represents a small fraction of the notional amounts of those instruments. 
This exposure to credit risk is managed as part of the limits on loans to 
customers with potential exposure due to market fluctuations.

The calculation of the charge for derivatives embedded credit risk or 
counterparty default risk of the Credit Valuation Adjustment (CVA), is the 
responsibility of the Financial and Market Risk Management. However, 
the Credit Risk Managements are responsible for assigning risk ratings 
to derivative debtors. The Credit Managements provide information of 
counterparties which have general guarantees, reducing the expected 
loss in case of bankruptcy of the debtor.
 

CVA is defined by the following formula:
CVA = PD * LGD * EPE
Where:
PD (Probability of Default): is the probability that the counterparty is 
unable to pay the contractual amounts at some time in the future.
LGD (Loss Given Default): corresponds to that part which cannot be 
recovered upon bankrupting of the debtor.
EPE (Expected Positive Exposure): is the estimated amount of derivatives at 
different times due to changes in market risk and collateral agreements.

C.1.3 Credit Risk in contingent commitments
The Bank operates using several instruments that, although they assume 
an exposure to credit risk, are not reflected in the Consolidated Statement 
of Financial Position: guarantees and sureties, documented letters of 
credit, performance bonds, unused readily available revolving credit 
facilities, contractually committed loans and not disbursed, etc.

Collaterals and security bonds represent an irrevocable payment 
obligation. If a secured customer does not meet his/her/its obligations 
with third parties secured by the Bank, the Bank will make the related 
payments; so that, these operations represent the same exposure to 
credit risk as an ordinary loan.

Documentary letters of credit are commitments documented by the 
Bank on behalf of the client that are guaranteed by shipped goods 
related to the documentary letters of credit and, accordingly, have 
lower risk than direct indebtedness. Performance bonds are contingent 
commitments that are paid only if the client does not comply with the 
covenants agreed with a third party.

(36) RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
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For commitments to grant credit, either through unused readily available 
revolving credit facilities (unused amounts of overdraft facilities and credit 
cards) and loans contractually committed and disbursed, the Bank is 
potentially exposed to losses equal to the total unused amounts of the 
commitments. The Bank monitors the maturity period of the revolving 
credit facilities as long- term commitments have a higher credit risk 
than short-term commitments.
 
C.1.4 Credit risk in investments held for trading and available for sale
For these assets, the Bank measures the probability of default of issuers 
using internal and external ratings such as risk rating agencies that are 
independent from the Bank.

(36) RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

C.1.5 Maximum exposure to loan losses
As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the detail of the gross and net maximum 
exposure to credit risk for different components in the Consolidated 
Statement of Financial Position, including contingent loans and not 
including guarantees and other credit enhancements, are as follows:

2021 2020

COMPONENT: NOTE
MAXIMUM

EXPOSURE GROSS
MCH$

MAXIMUM
NET EXPOSURE

MCH$

MAXIMUM
EXPOSURE GROSS

MCH$

MAXIMUM
NET EXPOSURE

MCH$

Cash and deposits in banks 6 1,090,529 1,090,529 1,150,254 1,150,254 

Transactions pending settlement 6 92,658 92,658 107,829 107,829 

Securities held for trading 7 528,967 528,967 435,693 435,693 

Investments repurshased under agreements and securities lending 8 696 696 7,000 7,000 

Financial derivative contracts 9 144,939 140,770 132,268 128,648 

Loans and advances to banks 10    -     -     -     -  

Loans and advances to customers 11 7,061,910 6,943,726 6,235,961 6,136,019 

Available-for-sale investment securities 12 841,387 841,387 851,390 851,390 

Held-to-maturity investment securities 12    -     -     -  

Other assets 17 180,527 180,512 130,992 130,949 

Contingent loans 23 1,519,587 1,509,311 1,315,771 1,305,503 

TOTAL 11,461,200 11,328,556 10,367,158 10,253,285 
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Guarantees     
As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, in order to mitigate credit risk, the 
Bank holds collateral in its favor for MCh$6,966,958 and MCh$$6,010,608 
respectively. The guarantees correspond mainly to mortgage guarantees 
and pledges on shares and financial instruments.
 
C.1.6 Credit quality by class
As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the detail by credit quality is summarized 
as follows:

2021
NORMAL

PORTFOLIO
MCH$ 

SUBSTANDARD
PORTFOLIO

MCH$ 

NON-PERFORMING
PORTFOLIO

MCH$ 
TOTAL
MCH$ 

Loans and advances to banks    -     -     -     -  

SUBTOTAL    -     -     -     -  

Loans and advances to customers:

Individual Classification 4,497,722 237,624 110,003 4,845,349 

Collective Classification 2,187,893    -  28,668 2,216,561 

SUBTOTAL 6,685,615 237,624 138,671 7,061,910 

Investment securities    -     -     -     -  

SUBTOTAL    -     -     -     -  

TOTAL 6,685,615 237,624 138,671 7,061,910 

(36) RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
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2020
NORMAL

PORTFOLIO
MCH$ 

SUBSTANDARD
PORTFOLIO

MCH$ 

NON-PERFORMING
PORTFOLIO

MCH$ 
TOTAL
MCH$ 

Loans and advances to banks    -     -     -     -  

SUBTOTAL    -     -     -     -  

Loans and advances to customers:

Individual Classification 4,060,787 214,155 88,998 4,363,940 

Collective Classification 1,843,445    -  28,576 1,872,021 

SUBTOTAL 5,904,232 214,155 117,574 6,235,961 

Investment securities    -     -     -     -  

SUBTOTAL    -     -     -     -  

TOTAL 5,904,232 214,155 117,574 6,235,961 

C.1.7 Ageing of assets past due but not impaired
As of December 31, 2021 and 2020 the detail of assets past due but 
not impaired by type of financial asset, is as follows:

2021

UNDER
30 DAYS

MCH$

BETWEEN 30
AND 59 DAYS

MCH$

BETWEEN 60
AND 89 DAYS

MCH$
TOTAL
MCH$

Loans and advances to banks    -     -     -     -  

Loans and advances to customers 27,124 3,613 1,179 31,916 

Investment securities    -     -     -     -  

TOTAL 27,124 3,613 1,179 31,916

(36) RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
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2020

UNDER
30 DAYS

MCH$

BETWEEN 30
AND 59 DAYS

MCH$

BETWEEN 60
AND 89 DAYS

MCH$
TOTAL
MCH$

Loans and advances to banks    -     -     -     -  

Loans and advances to customers 21,598 2,764 469 24,831 

Investment securities    -     -     -     -  

TOTAL 21,598 2,764 469 24,831 

As of December 31 , 2021 and 2020, the fair value of guarantees on 
assets past due but not impaired amounts to MCh$20,277 and 
MCh$39,906, respectively.

C.2 Financial and market risk
C.2.1 Liquidity risk
This is the risk of having difficulties in obtaining the funds with which to 
meet payment commitments.

The Bank is exposed to cash requirements on a daily basis from current 
account withdrawals payments of time deposits of guarantees, 
disbursements for derivative transactions, payment of debt securities 
etc. As it is inherent to banking activity, the Bank does not hold cash to 
cover the balance of those positions which can be predicted with a 
high level of certainty.

The Bank’s approach to liquidity management involves having sufficient 
resources to meet its obligations as they fall due, under normal 
circumstances and stress conditions, without incurring extreme losses 
or running the risk of reputational damage. The Board of Directors sets 
limits in terms of a minimum portion of Central Bank of Chile paper 
available to meet such payments, in addition to having to maintain a 
30-day oversecuritized position in normal or stressed scenarios, as the 
case may be, according to internal liquidity models, which take into 
account the behavior of wholesale and retail customers.

(36) RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

The Bank monitors its liquidity position on a daily basis, determining 
future cash flows derived from its expenses or income in normal or 
stress scenarios. In addition, at each quarter-end, detailed stress 
tests are conducted, using several scenarios covering normal market 
conditions and systemic and idiosyncratic illiquidity conditions. The 
liquidity policy and procedures are subject to review and approval by 
the Bank’s Board of Directors. Regular reports are generated indicating 
the liquidity position of the Bank and its subsidiaries, including any 
corrective actions adopted and exceptions, which are subject to the 
review of the Liquidity Committee and Finance Committee.

The Finance Committee is responsible for preparing policies for managing 
the Bank’s market and liquidity risks following the guidelines established 
by the Board of Directors and regulatory requirements issued by the 
Chilean the Financial Market Commission (CMF). Such policies have 
been prepared mainly to verify and analyze the risk faced by the 
Bank in these matters, establishing risk limits and proper controls, and 
monitoring risks and the compliance with limits. Risk management 
policies and Bank systems are reviewed on a regular basis to reflect 
changes in market conditions and products and services offered. This 
committee is composed of four appointed Directors. Also participating 
in this Committee are the General Manager, the Risk Division Manager, 
the Finance Division Manager, the Manager of Financial and Market Risk, 
the Corporate Manager of Financial Planning and Control.
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One of the main tools used to handle and manage the Bank’s liquidity 
is the Liquidity Status file (C46). In Board of Directors’ Meeting No. 492 
dated March 27, 2020, the suspension of the internal regulatory limit of 
File C46 “Liquidity Status” was approved, as a result of the action taken 
by the Central Bank of Chile and the Financial Market Commission to 
face the market and liquidity problems generated by the Coronavirus 
(COVID-19). This measure has resulted in the temporary suspension 
of this file (in its 30- and 90-day limits, in local and foreign currency), 
defining a Liquidity Coverage Ratio (LCR) limit of 70% for this period. As 
a result, the Board of Directors approved the measure and authorized 
the replacement of the limit, establishing an internal limit of 100% for LCR 
with an alert when it reaches 110% with monthly monitoring.
 
All of the above, for as long as the aforementioned measure remains 
in effect, which at the date of these Consolidated Financial Statements 
is still in force.

It should be noted that the Liquidity Coverage Ratio (LCR) is obtained 
daily from the regulatory files C48 and C49, also called “Liquidity 
Ratios”. The Net Stable Funding Ratio (NSFR), which does not yet require 
compliance, is also obtained from these regulatory filings. In this regard, 
as of January 1, 2019, as instructed by the Financial Market Commission, 
the LCR ratio is being monitored, requiring a compliance of 60%, a limit 
that, as described above, became 70% in 2020, 80% in 2021, and should 
become 90% in 2022.

The LCR is a tool for managing individual and consolidated liquidity 
in all currencies and measures the ratio of Liquid Assets (ALAC), at 
different levels, to Net Outflows (inflows minus outflows) over a 30-day 
time horizon. The consolidated LCR in all currencies as of December 31, 
2021 is as follows:

LCR
212%

(36) RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

There is also another normative file called C47, which includes some 
indicators such as: Concentration by type of counterparty, Renewal 
rate by type of counterparty, Concentration by funding product and 
Residual term by funding product. This index is not yet measured by 
the regulator.

The Financial Risk and Market Management has a liquidity management 
tool. This tool consists of a normal liquidity daily cash flow, based on 
the historical behavior of liabilities and asset growth projection. This is 
intended to systemically determine daily management that the Bank 
should perform for the renewal of liabilities, distinguishing between 
wholesalers and retailers. In addition, minimum cash flow internal limits 
are set to 30 days in local and foreign currency according to this normal 
reform liquidity scenario.
 
The limits affecting the mismatches between the Bank’s future income 
and expense flows, considered individually and consolidated according 
to file C46, are as follows:

(i) Flow mismatches up to 30 days for all currencies, up to one time the 
basic capital.

(ii) Flow mismatches up to 30 days for foreign currencies, up to one 
time the basic capital.

(iii) Flow mismatches up to 90 days for all currencies, two times the 
basic capital.

Considering the nature of its operations, the Bank uses a standard 
methodology to measure its mismatches and comply with regulatory 
limits (C46). The Bank uses a conservative methodology that does not 
allow considering in the measurement of mismatches the fact that part 

230

An
nu

al
 R

ep
or

t B
an

co
 B

IC
E 

 2
02

1
Fi

na
nc

ia
l

Re
su

lts
 



of demand deposits, time deposits and deposits in savings accounts of 
retail customers tends to be held in the Bank for relatively long periods 
of time, a behavior that the Bank may estimate reliably. However, note 
that this methodology assumes that the Trading book’s debt security 
portfolio can be settled at short term, regardless of its contractual terms, 
as its nature is being used for trading purposes.

(36) RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

This is supplemented through the regular performance of Liquidity 
Stress testing, which defines a clear action plan if they are not within 
previously-defined parameters.
 
The following are the mismatches mentioned above as of December 
31, 2021 and 2020, according to file C46:

2021

CASH FLOWS
BY ASSETS

MCH$

CASH FLOWS
BY LIABILITIES

MCH$
MISMATCH

MCH$

File C46 (*)

Consolidated currency

Up to 30 days 3,184,432 4,507,405 (1,322,973)

Up to 90 days 4,306,534 6,184,333 (1,877,799)

Foreign currency 

Up to 30 days 1,160,711 1,291,364 (130,653)

2020

CASH FLOWS
BY ASSETS

MCH$

CASH FLOWS
BY LIABILITIES

MCH$
MISMATCH

MCH$

File C46 (*)

Consolidated currency

Up to 30 days 3,134,484 3,476,209 (341,725)

Up to 90 days 4,029,288 4,675,829 (646,541)

Foreign currency 

Up to 30 days 677,910 805,495 (127,585)

 
(*) Limit suspended as established by the Central Bank of Chile and the Financial Market 
Commission as a measure to face the market and liquidity problems generated by the 
Pandemic (Covid -19).
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C.2.2 Market risk
The risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument 
could fluctuate as result of changes in market prices. Market risk comprise 
the following type of risks:

(a) Currency risk
The risk that the fair value of or future cash flows from a financial risk 
change as a result of changes in exchange rates for foreign currencies.

(36) RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

The Bank is exposed to the effect of volatility in foreign exchange rates 
in which its financial positions and cash flows are expressed or indexed. 

The Board of Directors sets limits for net exposure to currency levels and 
total end-of-day or end-of-the-year positions, which are monitored on 
a daily basis.

As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the consolidated currency positions 
for off-balance asset and liability balances are as follows:

2021 US$
MCH$

EURO
MCH$

YEN
MCH$

POUND
MCH$

SWISS FRANC
MCH$

OTHER 
FOREIGN

CURRENCIES
MCH$

UF
MCH$

CHILEAN PESOS
MCH$

Cash and deposits in banks 525,421 7,876 21 226 421 22    -  556.542 

Transactions pending settlement 48,862 2,473 26    -  112 54    -  41.131 

Securities held for trading 237,999 22,078    -     -     -     -  136.771 132.119 

Investments repurshased under agreements and securities lending    -     -     -     -     -     -     -  696 

Financial derivative contracts 1,630,003 31,863 76,582 6,951 102,112 19,002 771.035 2.964.752 

Loans and advances to banks    -     -     -     -     -     -     -     -  

Loans and advances to customers 991,970 5,419    -  1,956    -     -  3.414.223 2.530.158 

Available-for-sale investment securities 130,642 1,694    -     -     -     -  43.100 665.951 

Assets for the right to use leased assets    -     -     -     -     -     -  73.572 996 

Other assets 3,111 724    -     -     -     -  642 176.035 

Contingent loans 305,801 6,722 8,054    -     -  7,774 362.471 828.765 

TOTAL ASSETS 3,873,809 78,849 84,683 9,133 102,645 26,852 4.801.814 7.897.145 

Deposits and other on-demand obligations (740,340) (28,851) (2) (133) (28) (2) (8.815) (1.807.556)

Transactions pending settlement (15,153) (732) (35) (85)    -     -     -  (52.600)

Investments repurshased under agreements and securities lending    -     -     -     -     -     -     -  (63.153)

Time and on-demand deposits (447,223) (12,983)    -     -     -     -  (567.641) (1.670.839)
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2021 US$
MCH$

EURO
MCH$

YEN
MCH$

POUND
MCH$

SWISS FRANC
MCH$

OTHER 
FOREIGN

CURRENCIES
MCH$

UF
MCH$

CHILEAN PESOS
MCH$

Financial derivative contracts (1,684,851) (33,831) (78,845) (6,947)    -  (19,003) (1.581.891) (2.255.866)

Bank borrowings (247,653) (591)    -     -     -     -     -  (1.059.919)

Debt securities issued (198,251)    -     -     -  (102,501) (49) (1.634.751) (35.260)

Other financial obligations (119,232)    -     -     -     -     -  (3) (6.878)

Obligation for lease contracts    -     -     -     -     -     -  (70.782)    -  

Other liabilities (60,082)    -     -     -     -     -  (45) (69.683)

Contingent liabilities (305,801) (6,722) (8,054)    -     -  (7,774) (362.471) (828.765)

TOTAL LIABILITIES (3,818,586) (83,710) (86,936) (7,165) (102,529) (26,828) (4.226.399) (7.850.519)

Net asset (liability) position 55,223 (4,861) (2,253) 1,968 116 24 575.415 46.626 

2020 US$
MCH$

EURO
MCH$

YEN
MCH$

POUND
MCH$

SWISS FRANC
MCH$

OTHER 
FOREIGN

CURRENCIES
MCH$

UF
MCH$

CHILEAN PESOS
MCH$

Cash and deposits in banks 467,676 22,754 737 2,552 15 45    -  656.475 

Transactions pending settlement 35,048 1,174 70 106    -     -     -  71.431 

Securities held for trading 24,189    -     -     -     -     -  22.970 388.534 

Investments repurshased under agreements and securities lending    -     -     -     -     -     -     -  7.000 

Financial derivative contracts 1,239,164 44,717 36,781 5,442    -     -  482.522 1.811.153 

Loans and advances to banks    -     -     -     -     -     -     -     -  

Loans and advances to customers 815,650 5,996    -  2,826    -     -  3.141.465 2.170.082 

Available-for-sale investment securities 17,135    -     -     -     -     -  38.834 795.421 

Assets for the right to use leased assets    -     -     -     -     -     -  65.034 2.691 

Other assets 6,001 275    -     -     -     -  810 123.863 

Contingent loans 187,447 7,987 7    -     -     -  195.415 924.915 

TOTAL ASSETS 2,792,310  82,903 37,595 10,926 15 45 3.947.050 6.951.565 

(36) RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
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2020 US$
MCH$

EURO
MCH$

YEN
MCH$

POUND
MCH$

SWISS FRANC
MCH$

OTHER 
FOREIGN

CURRENCIES
MCH$

UF
MCH$

CHILEAN PESOS
MCH$

Deposits and other on-demand obligations (543,102) (22,392) (145)    -  (3) (16) (9.096) (1.502.445)

Transactions pending settlement (10,490) (45) (658) (752)    -     -     -  (78.750)

Investments repurshased under agreements and securities lending    -     -     -     -     -     -     -  (11.895)

Time and on-demand deposits (195,617) (6,686)    -     -     -     -  (1.171.231) (1.704.294)

Financial derivative contracts (1,397,452) (44,851) (41,712) (5,486)    -     -  (560.184) (1.575.249)

Bank borrowings (117,535) (1,047)    -     -     -     -     -  (777.882)

Debt securities issued (166,023)    -     -     -     -     -  (1.600.343) (62.534)

Other financial obligations (121,276)    -     -     -     -     -  (6) (3.964)

Obligation for lease contracts    -     -     -     -     -     -  (66.134)    -  

Other liabilities (26,723)    -     -     -     -     -  (40) (62.317)

Contingent liabilities (187,447) (7,987) (7)    -     -     -  (195.415) (924.915)

TOTAL LIABILITIES (2,765,665) (83,008) (42,522) (6,238) (3) (16) (3.602.449) (6.704.245)

Net asset (liability) position 26,645 (105) (4,927) 4,688 12 29 344.601 247.320 

The analysis by contractual maturity of assets and liabilities is shown 
in Note 37.

(b) Interest rate risk
The risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument 
may flow as a result of variations in market interest rates.
 
(c) Inflation risk
The risk that the Bank may record financial losses as a result of inflation 
arises from market expectations, considering that the Bank has an asset 
structural position in Unidad de Fomento.

(d) Prepayment risk
Prepayment risk is the risk of financial losses to the Bank may incur if 
customers decide to request making prepayments.

(36) RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

The Bank uses models to project impacts of prepayments of mortgage 
loans financed by mutual fund deposits. For other long-term loans the 
impact of prepayment is not estimated as most of loans agreements 
include prepayment clauses. Such models are statistical prediction 
models that allow predicting the situation of the Bank’s mortgage loan 
prepayment considering historical rates of prepayment of notes of 
Banco BICE classified by issue and maturity. Using such information, 
prepayment rates on the notes issued by the Bank are estimated with 
a certain level of confidence by the range of issue and maturity.

(e) Other price risks
Other price risks are the risks that the fair value or future cash flows of 
a financial instrument may fluctuate as a result of changes in market 
prices (other than those from interest rate risk and currency risk), which 
are caused by factors specific to the financial instrument or its issuer, or 
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factors that affect all similar financial instruments traded in the market. 
Additionally, and for specific positions, other risks, such as: spread, basis, 
volatility and correlation, among others should be considered.

C.3 Operational risk
Corresponds to the risk of loss to which the Bank is exposed as a result 
of human error, inadequate or defective internal processes, system 
failures or as a consequence of external events. In other words, this 
risk exists in each of the Bank’s business and support activities and 
can materialize in the form of financial losses, regulatory sanctions or 
reputational damage.
 
Operational Risk Management is a continuous and transversal process 
in the Bank, therefore the model of the three lines of defence has been 
adopted, which provides a simple and effective way to manage risks and 
control by clarifying the essential related functions and duties. The first 
line of defence in operational risk management is the employees and 
the control of the various management departments, the second is the 
supervision activities of the Operational Risk Management Department, 
and the third is the independent assurance provided by the Comptroller.

The Operational Risk Management manages this risk framed within a 
comprehensive management model, which also covers the security 
of information, cybersecurity and business continuity of the Bank and 
main suppliers, which allows the model to be sustained and this risk to 
be minimized.

This area has specialists in different areas of operational risk, information 
security and business continuity, allowing to comply with the following 
objectives and functions:

a) Monitor compliance with operational risk appetite and tolerance. 
Compliance is monitored and in case of unacceptable behavior in these 
matters, corrective actions are established. With respect to this, for the 
year 2021 the estimated risk ratio is 0.34%.

b) Identify and assess operational risks. Operational risk assessments are 
performed on products, activities, processes, systems and outsourced 
activities using the methodologies and/or tools established for 
operational risk.

c) Monitor operational risk indicators (KRI). A systematic follow-up of the 
defined key indicators is performed.

d) Record and track data on losses and incidents due to operational risk. 
Procedures have been implemented to guarantee the timely capture and 
measurement of operational risk losses and events, in order to support 
decision-making for their mitigation. In addition, operating losses due 
to operational risk are monitored against a budget assigned to each 
Divisional Management.

e) Report periodically and timely to the Executive Committee of Operational 
Risk and to the organizational units, about the results of the process of 
monitoring and managing operational risks, through reports specifically 
designed for the level of management that corresponds to each instance.
 
Regarding specific issues such as information security, cybersecurity 
and business continuity, the following is established:

Banco BICE as information security policies and procedures, in which 
all the members of the organization, including its Senior Management 
are involved. The organization has made the decision to protect the 
information regarding its customers, suppliers, personnel and the 
business through the active and committed involvement of each of 
its members.

The Operational Risk Management monitors the compliance with policies 
and procedures and provides training to its employees in the proper 
management of personal information and its customers. Likewise, it 
performs specific trainings on risks, threats and means to perform 
cybersecurity attacks.

(36) RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
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Banco BICE has an information security and cybersecurity program with 
permanent investments to strengthen the technological infrastructure 
and specific procedures for operation and monitoring of cybersecurity, 
aimed to prevent, detect and stop this type of attacks.

The Bank ensures the operating continuity and accordingly, it has defined 
and prepared a business continuity plan (BCP) intended to undertake 
efforts and implement continuity procedures that, safeguard employees, 
information assets and business critical processes against disasters or 
major failure and the possible consequences that may arise as a result 
of the absence of organizational resources available and/or components 
required for rendering critical services.

The Business Continuity Plan of Banco BICE follows the guidelines 
established by international standards (ISO31000 - ISO22301) related to 
business continuity and is composed of five relevant documents in its 
core structure:

a) Business Continuity Plan Governance.
b) Business Continuity Policy.
c) Business Continuity Plan (BCP).
d) Business Impact Assessment - BIA.
e) Risk identification – Assessment of RIA.

As part of the Business Continuity Plan, the execution of a test management 
program is considered, which establishes the minimum activities 
necessary for desk and technological exercises that are performed with 
the objective of ensuring that the implementation of the PCN is effective 
against the occurrence of a catastrophic event or major failure.

C.4 Normalization
It manages the administration, renegotiation and collection of credit 
operations that are unpaid, have a negative commercial history with 

(36) RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

the Bank and/or the financial system, do not demonstrate payment 
capacity, or are classified in impairment categories.

The objective of this Management is to minimize credit risk losses and 
maximize the recovery of loans in different stages of delinquency. 
This is achieved through efficient management of the risk portfolio of 
debtors with an impaired capacity to pay, based fundamentally on 
negotiation with the debtor at the different stages of the normalization 
and collection process.

The area is made up of a Manager, Sub-Manager, Chief and two 
executives, one for Corporate Normalization and the other for Retail.

The Normalization Management, through its Corporate and Retail 
Normalization area, administers and manages the portfolio of debtors 
of the Commercial Divisions with above- normal risk, leading the 
relationship with all the agents involved in the collection process, such 
as: Debtor, Creditors, Bankruptcy Liquidators, Bankruptcy Overseers, 
External attorneys, among others.

D. Capital Requirements
The Financial Market Commission began the process of implementing 
Basel III standards in Chile following the publication of Law No. 21,130 in 
2019, which modernizes banking legislation and, for this purpose, prepared 
a series of rules that establish a new framework for the measurement 
of capital adequacy and the main risks of banking, establishing:

i) standardized methodologies to cover relevant risks, including credit, 
market and operational risk, authorizing proprietary methodologies 
when appropriate,

ii) requirements and conditions applicable to the issuance of instruments 
that qualify as regulatory capital,
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iii) adjustments or exclusions of asset or liability items, including risk 
mitigants, for the determination of effective equity, and

iv) additional capital or conservation buffer, countercyclical buffer, 
charges for systemically important banks and Pillar II requirements.

In order to guarantee the proper implementation of the standards issued, 
a permanent and constant flow of information is required. For this reason, 
the Financial Market Commission developed a new information system 
called Risk System, which contains the regulatory files that request 
detailed information on the new capital framework and the main risks 
to which banks are subject in accordance with the new Basel standards.
 

(36) RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

The regulatory files that make up the Risk System correspond to 8 
reports through which the regulator compiles permanent information in 
accordance with the instructions provided in the Manual of the Information 
System for Banks (MSI), establishing aspects such as periodicity, timely 
submission dates, among others, allowing the reporting of information 
to be a fluid and continuous process. The details of the reporting are 
presented below:

REGULATORY REPORTS SUBMISSION DATES

R01 “Solvency limits and effective net worth” First submission September 13, 2021

R02 “Regulatory capital instruments” First submission 14, 2022

R06 “Assets weighted by credit risk” First submission July 13, 2021 This new methodology will be applied starting 
December 1, 2021

R07 “Market risk-weighted assets” First submission July 7, 2021 This new methodology, although in application as of 
December 1, 2020, considers a weighting equal to zero until December 2021

R08 “Assets weighted by operational risk” First submission July 13, 2021, This new methodology, although in application since 
December 1, 2020, considers a zero weighting until December 2021

R11 “Rating of systemically important banks” First submission, April 1, 2021

R13 – Market risk of banking book Postponed

R14 – Concentration risk (RCC) Postponed
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Both Basic Capital and Effective Equity are applied on a consolidated 
basis for the calculation of all the limits established in the General 
Banking Law related to such concepts . The limit of 6% over the 
RWA net of specific provisions required, referred to in paragraph 
b) of article 66 of the General Banking Law, is measured with Tier 
1 Capital . In the particular case of the limits established in article 
66, 66 bis and 66 ter of the same legal body, they are measured 
at the consolidated and local consolidated level .  The second 
measurement corresponds to that which does not consider foreign 
subsidiaries in the consolidation. It is important to mention that 
Banco BICE does not have any subsidiaries abroad.

The Bank’s Effective Equity may not be less than 8% of its Risk Weighted 
Assets (RWA), net of required provisions. Basic Capital may not be less 
than 4.5% of its Risk Weighted Assets (RWA), nor less than 3% of the Total 
Assets, both net of required provisions.

Accordingly, Banco BICE presents the following information on regulatory 
capital and capital adequacy indicators as of December 31, 2021:

REF. CAPITAL MCH$

1 Basic capital 646,697

2 Additional Assets Tier 1 (AT1) 69,339

3 Capital Tier 1 (1+2) 716,036

4 Subordinated Bonds Tier 2 144,013

5 Additional Provisions 54,102

6 Capital Tier 2 (4+5) 198,115

7 Effective equity (3+6) 914,151

8 Total Assets 9,992,454

(36) RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

REF. SOLVENCY RATIOS ACCORDING TO BIS III MCH$

10 TOTAL RISK-WEIGHTED ASSETS (RWA) 6,933,883

Credit risk-weighted assets (CRWA) 6,305,393

Market risk-weighted assets (MRWA) 162,722

Operational risk-weighted assets (ORWA) 465,768

Ratio CET1 (Basic capital) (1/10) 9.33%

Ratio BIS III (Effective Capital) (7/10) 13.18%

The regulations prior to the implementation of Basel III established 
that the measurement and monitoring of the requirements related 
to the capital adequacy of banking institutions is performed with the 
regulatory file C04 “Basic Capital and Effective Equity”, belonging to the 
Accounting System of the Information System for Banks of the Financial 
Market Commission. In this file, the components of effective equity are 
reported, as well as the values related to the credit risk-weighted assets 
for each of the asset categories established in Chapter 12-1 of the RAN:

Assets are weighted according to risk categories, which are assigned 
a risk percentage according to the capital necessary to support each 
one of those assets.

The information contained in the aforementioned Regulatory Report 
C04 will continue to be submitted until the Financial Market Commission 
indicates otherwise. As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the ratio of assets 
to risk-weighted assets is as follows:
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2021 2020

CONSOLIDATED
ASSETS

MCH$

RISK- WEIGHTED
ASSETS

MCH$

CONSOLIDATED
ASSETS

MCH$

RISK- WEIGHTED
ASSETS

MCH$

BALANCE-SHEET ASSETS (NET OF PROVISIONS)

Cash and deposits in banks 1,090,529 1,214 1,150,254 917 

Transactions pending settlement 92,658 46,456 107,829 57,416 

Securities held for trading 528,967 107,101 435,693 66,597 

Investments repurchased under agreements and securities lending 696 696 7,000 7,000 

Financial derivative contracts 226,029 131,723 197,668 113,462 

Loans and advances to banks    -     -     -     -  

Loans and advances to customers 6,943,726 6,245,482 6,136,019 5,564,525 

Available-for-sale investment securities 841,387 163,825 851,390 104,062 

Held-to-maturity investment securities    -     -     -     -  

Investments in other companies 501 501 472 472 

Intangible assets 10,042 10,042 4,908 4,908 

Property, plant and equipment 41,742 41,742 30,064 30,064 

Right to use leased assets 74,568 74,568 67,725 67,725 

Current taxes 1,401 140 43,068 4,307 

Deferred taxes 44,955 4,495 46,579 4,658 

Other assets 180,512 180,512 130,949 130,949 

OFF-BALANCE SHEET ASSETS    -     -  

Contingent loans 694,531 416,719 663,857 398,314 

TOTAL RISK-WEIGHTED ASSETS 10,772,244 7,425,216 9,873,475 6,555,376 

(36) RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
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2021 2020

AMOUNT
MCH$

RATIO
%

AMOUNT
MCH$

RATIO
%

Basic capital 646,644 6.00 656,535 6.65

Subordinated Bonds 213,348    -  202,502 -

Additional allowances for loans 54,103    -  41,074 -

Goodwill    -     -     -  -

Equity attributable to non-controlling interest 53    -  47 -

EFFECTIVE EQUITY 914,148 12.31 900,158 13.73

E. Libor transition process
In November 2017, the Financial Conduct Authority (FCA), stated that 
as of the closing of 2021, the panel of banks will not be summoned to 
participate in the IBOR delivery process and the monitoring of benchmark 
rates will be stopped.

As a result, both the United Kingdom and the United States are in the 
process of phasing out IBOR to transition to a new benchmark known as 
Risk Free Rates (RFR) by the end of 2021. A similar process is taking place 
for IBOR rates in all those currencies in which there is a publication, most 
of which ceased to exist as of the current year end.

In the process of transition to replacement rates, the Bank evaluated 
and detected that the most relevant impacts and their mitigating effects 
are the following:

• Contractual modifications, this implies modifying promissory notes, 
credit contracts and general conditions contracts to operate derivatives 
with clients and other financial counterparties.

In order to solve the contractual impacts with international financial 
derivative counterparties, Banco BICE adhered to the “ISDA 2020 IBOR 
Fallback Protocol” in January 2021, which consists of the parties to the OTC 
contracts in force as of October 2020 agreeing to modify the terms and 

conditions of such derivative contracts, incorporating, among others, 
mechanisms that allow the replacement of LIBOR once it ceases to be 
published or upon its temporary cessation. For derivative contracts 
entered into after that date, ISDA published, at the same time, a document 
(IBOR Fallbacks Supplement) modifying the definitions contained in its 
Master Agreement format relevant to interest rate derivatives.

There are two relevant dates to take into consideration:

• As of 12/31/2021 , the 1-week and 60-day USD LIBOR will no longer 
be published.

• As of 06/30/2023, the 1-day, 1, 3, 6 and 12-month USD LIBOR, which are 
the most widely used, will cease to be published.

Management evaluated different variable rate alternatives in dollars and 
decided to offer credit operations to customers based on the following 
rates: (i) “Term SOFR” rate (variant of the Secured Overnight Financing 
Rate) at 1, 3, 6 and 12 months managed by Chicago Mercantile Exchange 
(CME); (ii) “BSBY” rates (Bloomberg Short Term Bank Yield) at 1, 3, 6 and 12 
months managed by Bloomberg; and (iii) SOFR rate (Secured Overnight 
Financing Rate) which corresponds to an overnight rate (1 business day 
term) published daily by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York based 
on repo market transactions. These rates will be made available upon 

(36) RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
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completion of the usual cycle of new product approvals. Notwithstanding 
the above, the market is expected to be subject to many pressures for 
change, so it will be necessary to make a continuous evaluation so as 
to decide on the adoption of new rate alternatives.

It is important to mention that the use of a rate other than LIBOR does not 
require a new recognition or authorization by the Central Bank of Chile.

Finally, most LIBOR-indexed credit agreements and notes have an 
associated swap, which facilitates the future task of modifying note 
replacement clauses by aligning the parties’ interests.

• Systems development, due to the change of the front-to-back 
system by the Finance Division, is working on the implementation of 
a new system (“Calypso”) that solves the maintenance and migration 
of historical contracts, and also manages new contracts. The new 
program will manage derivatives indexed to the USD SOFR rate, which 
serves as the basis for the Fallback Rate and has an advantage over 
alternative rates to become the new benchmark of the derivatives 
market. Systemic developments for credit products are still awaiting 
new background information.

Within the governance framework defined by the Bank, a working group 
was formed to lead the transition process towards the new reference 
interest rates, which is composed of the Risk Division Manager, the 
Finance Division Manager, the Operations and Technology Division 
Manager, the Corporate Manager of Financial Planning and Control, 
and the Corporate Tax Officer.

The Operational Risk Management is applying the “Evaluation of New 
Products, Systems or Changes” methodology, which involves identifying, 
evaluating and mitigating the different risks involved in the transition 
process of this project. Then, the project will be presented in a formal 
“Evaluation of new initiatives”, in which the Bank’s main Managers, 
including the General Manager, participate, where the risks and their 
mitigating factors are discussed, and the action plan is then approved.

In addition, resources from all areas of the Bank have been designated 
to form interdisciplinary work teams that are involved according to 
their degree of specialty and involvement of the unit they represent 
in the project, establishing a defined action plan that considers 
operational processes and transactional support systems that allow 
to face the transition.

(36) RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
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As of December 31, 2021, the detail of exposure of the items impacted 
by the reform to the reference rates is shown below.

DESCRIPTION
EXPOSURE

ASSETS
MCH$

LIABILITIES
MCH$

Non-derivative financial instruments  280,478  27,282 

      Loans and advances to customers  280,478  - 

      Bank borrowings  -  4,068 

     Other financial obligations  -  23,214 

Financial derivative instruments  (1) (2)  46,817  80,455 

TOTAL  327,295  107,737

(1) Correspond to the fair value of operations

(2) The total notional amounts related to derivative transactions correspond to MCh$1,230,076.

The Bank has nine accounting hedges related to loans indexed to LIBOR 
rate in dollars, which total a principal amount of MUS$92. Eight of these 
loans have associated rate swaps with customers, which will facilitate the 
process of adapting the replacement clauses of the promissory notes 
to the replacement clauses of the general conditions for derivatives, a 
fundamental requirement to keep these hedges alive.

(36) RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

As of December 31, 2021, no risks have been identified that imply a 
relevant modification in the risk management strategy executed by 
the Bank. Work is being carried out with the different areas of the Bank 
to mitigate any risk (legal, financial, commercial and systemic).
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(37) MATURITIES OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the detail by maturity of assets and 
liabilities is as follows:

2021 ON DEMAND
MCH$

UP TO 1 
MONTH

MCH$

BETWEEN 
1 AND 3 

MONTHS
MCH$

BETWEEN 
3 AND 12 
MONTHS

MCH$

SUBTOTAL
UP TO1 YEAR

MCH$

BETWEEN 
1 AND 5 YEARS

MCH$
OVER 5 YEARS

MCH$

SUBTOTAL
OVER 1 YEAR

MCH$
TOTAL
MCH$

ASSETS

Cash and deposits in banks 1,090,529    -     -     -  1,090,529    -     -     -  1,090,529 

Transactions pending settlement    -  92,658    -     -  92,658    -     -     -  92,658 

Securities held for trading    -  136,008 128,941 195,402 460,351 50,551 18,065 68,616 528,967 

Investments repurchased under agreements 
and securities lending    -  696    -     -  696    -     -     -  696 

Financial derivative contracts    -  5,676 14,059 25,264 44,999 55,103 40,668 95,771 140,770 

Loans and advances to banks    -     -     -     -     -     -     -     -     -  

Loans and advances to customers (*)    -  693,605 630,920 1,595,912 2,920,437 1,947,632 2,129,396 4,077,028 6,997,465 

Available-for-sale investment securities    -     -  1,991 157,641 159,632 591,126 90,629 681,755 841,387 

Held-to-maturity investment securities    -     -     -     -     -     -     -     -     -  

TOTAL ASSETS 1,090,529 928,643 775,911 1,974,219 4,769,302 2,644,412 2,278,758 4,923,170 9,692,472 

LIABILITIES

Deposits and other on-demand obligations 2,585,727    -     -     -  2,585,727    -     -     -  2,585,727 

Transactions pending settlement    -  68,605    -     -  68,605    -     -     -  68,605 

Investments repurchased under agreements 
and securities lending    -  63,153    -     -  63,153    -     -     -  63,153 

Time and on-demand deposits (**)    -  1,306,662 752,013 577,079 2,635,754 58,096    -  58,096 2,693,850 

Financial derivative contracts    -  6,762 17,030 36,461 60,253 118,349 21,102 139,451 199,704 

Bank borrowings    -  46,348 47,717 170,209 264,274 1,043,889    -  1,043,889 1,308,163 

Debt securities issued    -  251,471 51 149 251,671 828,228 890,913 1,719,141 1,970,812 

Other financial obligations    -  17,193 17,656 12,217 47,066 39,912 39,135 79,047 126,113 

Obligation for lease contracts    -  421 844 3,740 5,005 18,267 47,510 65,777 70,782 

TOTAL LIABILITIES 2,585,727 1,760,615 835,311 799,855 5,981,508 2,106,741 998,660 3,105,401 9,086,909 
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2020 ON DEMAND
MCH$

UP TO 1 
MONTH

MCH$

BETWEEN 
1 AND 3 

MONTHS
MCH$

BETWEEN 
3 AND 12 
MONTHS

MCH$

SUBTOTAL
UP TO1 YEAR

MCH$

BETWEEN 
1 AND 5 YEARS

MCH$
OVER 5 YEARS

MCH$

SUBTOTAL
OVER 1 YEAR

MCH$
TOTAL
MCH$

ASSETS

Cash and deposits in banks 1,150,254    -     -     -  1,150,254    -     -     -  1,150,254 

Transactions pending settlement    -  107,829    -     -  107,829    -     -     -  107,829 

Securities held for trading    -  368,019 4,121 10,224 382,364 18,196 35,133 53,329 435,693 

Investments repurchased under agreements 
and securities lending    -  7,000    -     -  7,000    -     -     -  7,000 

Financial derivative contracts    -  7,293 12,681 16,234 36,208 42,524 49,916 92,440 128,648 

Loans and advances to banks    -     -     -     -     -     -     -     -     -  

Loans and advances to customers (*)    -  461,321 567,230 1,413,366 2,441,917 1,798,416 1,951,533 3,749,949 6,191,866 

Available-for-sale investment securities    -  435,149    -  3,278 438,427 351,728 61,235 412,963 851,390 

Held-to-maturity investment securities    -     -     -     -     -     -     -     -     -  

TOTAL ASSETS 1,150,254 1,386,611 584,032 1,443,102 4,563,999 2,210,864 2,097,817 4,308,681 8,872,680 

LIABILITIES

Deposits and other on-demand obligations 2,077,199    -     -     -  2,077,199    -     -     -  2,077,199 

Transactions pending settlement    -  90,695    -     -  90,695    -     -     -  90,695 

Investments repurchased under agreements 
and securities lending    -  11,895    -     -  11,895    -     -     -  11,895 

Time and on-demand deposits (**)    -  939,202 611,311 1,355,192 2,905,705 168,837    -  168,837 3,074,542 

Financial derivative contracts    -  7,154 15,044 14,312 36,510 65,512 31,781 97,293 133,803 

Bank borrowings    -  6,736 102,655 18,192 127,583 768,881    -  768,881 896,464 

Debt securities issued    -  194,020 12 179 194,211 748,003 886,686 1,634,689 1,828,900 

Other financial obligations    -  20,482 10,910 10,312 41,704 46,478 37,064 83,542 125,246 

Obligation for lease contracts    -  479 959 3,603 5,041 16,243 44,850 61,093 66,134 

TOTAL LIABILITIES 2,077,199 1,270,663 740,891 1,401,790 5,490,543 1,813,954 1,000,381 2,814,335 8,304,878 

(*) Excludes amounts whose payment date already expired. 
(**) Excludes term savings accounts.

(37) MATURITIES OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)
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(38) SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On January 1, 2022, the amendments issued by the Financial Market 
Commission to the Compendium of Accounting Standards for Banks 
(CNCB) came into effect, which mainly incorporate the adoption of IFRS 
9 “Financial Instruments” with the exception of the impairment section 
(Chapter 5) for the items “Due from banks” and “Loans and advances to 
customers” classified in the category of “Financial assets at amortized 
cost”, and “Contingent receivables”, since the criteria for these are defined 
in Chapters B-1 to B-3 of the updated Compendium. Other matters 
introduced correspond to the accounting treatment of new financial 
instruments of regulatory capital to be issued (AT1) such as: bonds 
with no fixed maturity and preferred shares; accounting treatment of 
financial instruments of tier 2 capital (T2) such as subordinated bonds; 
percentages to determine the exposure to credit risk in contingent credits; 
it modified the presentation of the Financial Statements providing a new 
structure for the Statement of Financial Position, Statement of Income, 
Statement of Other Comprehensive Income, Statement of Changes in 
Equity and Statement of Cash Flows and it is in this sense that the first 
Financial Statement to be issued adopting these modifications together 
with the application of the new presentation structure will correspond 
to the report for the first quarter of 2022, that is, as of March 31, which 
must be published and submitted to the regulator in April 2022.

This allows for greater convergence with IFRS, as well as an improvement 
in financial information disclosures, in order to contribute to the 
financial stability and transparency of the banking system. Similarly, 
this updated version of the Compendium of Accounting Standards is 
a necessary adjustment to include the relevant matters arising from 
the Basel III regulations.

As a result of these changes, adjustments will be made, whose first 
application impact will be recognized in the Bank’s equity accounts as 
of January 1, 2022 and will also affect the determination of the income 
of future years.

For comparative purposes, the Consolidated Financial Statements for 
2021 must also be presented in accordance with the new criteria, and 
will therefore differ from those presented here.

The preliminary estimate of the adjustments and their impact on equity 
(without tax effects) due to the application of the new version of the 
Compendium of Accounting Standards for Banks as of January 1, 2022, 
is a credit of MCh$42,989, which represents 6.7% of the Bank’s equity as 
of December 31, 2021.
 
Between January 1, 2022, and the date these Consolidated Financial 
Statements were issued (January 28, 2022), there have been no further 
subsequent events that could significantly affect their presentation.

Pablo Jerez Hanckes
Finance, Planning and Financial 

Control Executive Director
Carlos Navarrete Morales
Accounting and Financial 

Control Managing Director

Alberto Schilling Redlich
 Chief Executive Officer
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